
 
 

  

This Offering Memorandum pertains to an offering of securities only in those jurisdictions and only to those persons to whom they may be 
lawfully offered for sale. This Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as , a prospectus or advertisement 
or a public offering of these securities. No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained in 
this Offering Memorandum. Any such information or representation which is given or received must not be relied upon. 

Continuous Private Placement Offering            May 7, 2021 

OFFERING MEMORANDUM 

 

EQUITYLINE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION 

The Issuer 

Name: Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation (the “Corporation”) 

Head office: 550 Highway 7 Ave E. Suite 338, Richmond Hill, Ontario, L4B 3Z4 

Phone #: T: 1-888-269-1988   Office: 416-999-3993   Fax: 416-999-3336 

Website www.EquityLineMic.com 

E-mail address: info@equitylinemic.com 

Currently listed or quoted: No. These securities do not trade on any exchange or market in Canada. 

Reporting issuer: No. 

SEDAR filer: Yes, but only as required pursuant to section 2.9 of National Instrument 45-106 –
Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”). The Corporation is not a reporting issuer 
and does not file continuous disclosure documents on SEDAR that are required to 
be filed by reporting issuers. 

The Offering 

Securities Offered: The offering by the Corporation (the “Offering”) consists of: (a) Series A Preferred 
Shares, (b) Series B Preferred Shares, (c) Series F Preferred Shares and (d) 
Series H Non-Voting Shares (collectively, the “Offered Shares”). The Series A 
Preferred Shares, the Series B Preferred Shares and the Series F Preferred 
Shares are non-voting shares of the Corporation. The Corporation may also issue 
Interim Debentures (as defined herein) in certain circumstances in order to ensure 
that its status as a mortgage investment corporation is maintained.  

Price per Security: Series A Preferred Shares: US$2.00 per share 

Series B Preferred Shares: C$10.00 per share 

Series F Preferred Shares: C$10.00 per share 

Series H Non-Voting Shares: C$10.00 per share   

Minimum Offering: There is no minimum Offering for the Series A Preferred Shares, the Series B 
Preferred Shares and the Series F Preferred Shares. You may be the only 
subscriber of the Series B Preferred Shares or Series F Preferred Shares, in which 
case Interim Debentures may be issued. There is a minimum Offering of 
$1,000,000 (100,000 shares) for the Series H Non-Voting Shares. 

Maximum Offering: There is a maximum Offering of $40,000,000 in Series B Preferred Shares 
(4,000,000 Series B Preferred Shares) and a maximum Offering of $10,000,000 in 
Series H Non-Voting Shares (1,000,000 Series H Non-Voting Shares). There is no 
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maximum Offering for the Series A Preferred Shares or Series F Preferred Shares. 
The Corporation is targeting an Offering of US$10,000.000 in Series A Preferred 
Shares (5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares) and $40,000,000 in Series F 
Preferred Shares (4,000,000 Series F Preferred Shares). Funds available under 
the Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish the Corporation’s investment 
objectives. 

Minimum Subscription 
Amount: 

Series A Preferred Shares: US$2,000 (1,000 Series A Preferred Shares), subject 
to the Manager’s right, at its sole discretion, to accept a subscription which is for 
less than the minimum subscription amount. 

Series B Preferred Shares, Series F Preferred Shares and Series H Non-Voting 
Shares: C$5,000 (500 Offered Shares), subject to the Manager’s right, at its sole 
discretion, to accept a subscription which is for less than the minimum subscription 
amount. 

Payment Terms: The purchase price may be paid by cheque, bank draft, wire transfer or such 
manner as is acceptable to the Corporation in its sole discretion.  

The subscription price for the Series F Preferred Shares is payable upon 
subscription, by electronic funds transfer via the FundSERV network 
(www.fundserv.com) or other means satisfactory to the Manager. 

See Item 5.2 “Subscription Procedure”. 

Proposed Closing Date: The Corporation intends to have its first closing on or about May 13, 2021, subject 
to receipt of sufficient subscriptions to ensure that the Corporation can meet the 
shareholding limitations under tax rules applicable to mortgage investment 
corporations as described herein. Thereafter closings will occur on the 1st and 3rd 
Thursday of each calendar month, on subscriptions received up to the date that is 
three (3) Business Days prior to any such closing, unless otherwise determined by 
the Manager in its sole discretion, in respect of the Series B Preferred Shares, until 
the date on which the Aggregate Gross Proceeds in the amount of $40,000,000 
has been raised by the Corporation, and in respect of the Series H Non-Voting 
Shares, until the date on which the Aggregate Gross Proceeds in the amount of 
$10,000,000 has been raised by the Corporation. 

Selling Agents: Yes, Agents will be involved in the Offering of Series A Preferred Shares and 
Series B Preferred Shares only. No Agents will be retained by the Corporation for 
the Offering of Series H Non-Voting Shares. Series F Preferred Shares will be sold 
through the settlement network operated by FundSERV Inc. See “Item 7 – 
Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

The Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares offered under this 
Offering will be distributed through one or more registered dealers, dealing 
representatives, financial advisors, sales persons, brokers, intermediaries or other 
eligible persons, who are involved in the purchase and sale of the Offered Shares 
in connection with the Offering (each being an “Agent”) on a best efforts basis. It is 
expected that selling commissions to the Agents will consist of an aggregate of up 
to 7% of the subscription price. In addition, starting on the date that is 36 months 
following the date of issuance of a Series B Preferred Share, the Corporation will 
pay to each Agent (or other registered dealer) a servicing fee equal to 1% of the 
Series B Preferred Share Purchase Price per annum (payable at the end of each 
fiscal quarter) in respect of each such Series B Share that is held by clients of such 
Agent (or other registered dealer) (the “Trailer Fee”), provided that the Series B 
Preferred Share on which the Trailer Fee is paid has not been redeemed at the 
time payment is to be made. For clarity, the Trailer Fee is payable only in respect 
of Series B Preferred Shares that are held for at least 36 months.   See “Item 7 – 
Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

FundSERV: Subscriptions for the Series F Preferred Shares may be effected through the 
settlement network operated by FundSERV Inc. using the FundSERV code. Orders 
will be processed by electronic means through FundSERV Inc., provided that the 
eligibility criteria for the Series F Preferred Shares are met.  
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Redemptions may be submitted through the FundSERV system at least 30 days 
prior to the applicable Redemption Date. Payment of redemption proceeds are 
made within 30 days following the applicable Redemption Date in accordance with 
the terms of the Series F Preferred Shares. 

Redemption Matters: Series A Preferred Shares: Cash redemptions are subject to certain limits as 
described in Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A Preferred Shares – 
Redemption by Shareholder”. 

Series B Preferred Shares: Cash redemptions are limited to the greater of 
$500,000 and 3% of the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series B 
Preferred Shares determined at the beginning of such calendar month (the “Series 
B Preferred Share Redemption Limit”). To the extent the Corporation has 
received notices of redemption where the aggregate number of Series B Preferred 
Shares (including previously submitted notices of redemption that have not been 
satisfied due to the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit being applied in a 
previous month (the “Series B Cutback Redemption Requests”)) would exceed 
the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit, the Corporation shall redeem only 
such aggregate number of Series B Preferred Shares equal to the Series B 
Preferred Share Redemption Limit. The Manager, on behalf of the Corporation, 
shall administer the foregoing and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with 
respect to the aggregate number of Series B Preferred Shares represented by 
redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions thereof) which are not 
honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series B Monthly Redemption 
Date (as defined in this Offering Memorandum) with the Corporation redeeming the 
Cutback Redemption Requests from the oldest to the newest before redeeming 
any Series B Preferred Shares for the current month, subject in all cases to the 
Corporation’s right to suspend redemptions and the Series B Preferred Share 
Redemption Limit described herein. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series B 
Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholder”. 

Series F Preferred Shares: Cash redemptions are limited to the greater of 
$500,000 and 3% of the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series F 
Preferred Shares determined at the beginning of such calendar month (the “Series 
F Preferred Share Redemption Limit”). To the extent the Corporation has 
received notices of redemption where the aggregate number of Series F Preferred 
Shares (including previously submitted notices of redemption that have not been 
satisfied due to the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit being applied in a 
previous month (the “Series F Cutback Redemption Requests”)) would exceed 
the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit, the Corporation shall redeem only 
such aggregate number of Series F Preferred Shares equal to the Series F 
Preferred Share Redemption Limit. The Manager, on behalf of the Corporation, 
shall administer the foregoing and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with 
respect to the aggregate number of Series F Preferred Shares represented by 
redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions thereof) which are not 
honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series F Monthly Redemption 
Date (as defined in this Offering Memorandum) with the Corporation redeeming the 
Cutback Redemption Requests from the oldest to the newest before redeeming 
any Series F Preferred Shares for the current month, subject in all cases to the 
Corporation’s right to suspend redemptions and the Series F Preferred Share 
Redemption Limit described herein. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series F 
Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholder”. 

Series H Non-Voting Shares: Cash redemptions are limited to the greater of 
$500,000 and 3% of the total capital of the issued and outstanding Non-Voting 
Shares determined at the beginning of such calendar month (the “Series H Non-
Voting Share Redemption Limit”). To the extent the Corporation has received 
notices of redemption where the aggregate number of Series H Non-Voting Shares 
(including the Cutback Redemption Requests) would exceed the Series H Non-
Voting Share Redemption Limit, the Corporation shall redeem only such aggregate 
number of Series H Non-Voting Shares equal to the Series H Non-Voting Share 
Redemption Limit. The Manager, on behalf of the Corporation, shall administer the 
foregoing and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with respect to the aggregate 
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number of Series H Non-Voting Shares represented by redemption notices. Any 
redemption notices (or portions thereof) which are not honoured shall be honoured 
at the next following Series H Monthly Redemption Date (as defined in this Offering 
Memorandum) with the Corporation redeeming the Cutback Redemption Requests 
from the oldest to the newest before redeeming any Series H Non-Voting Shares 
for the current month, subject in all cases to the Corporation’s right to suspend 
redemptions and the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit described 
herein. However, no Series H Non-Voting Shares may be redeemed if the board of 
directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) has suspended the redemption of any 
series of Preferred Shares or if there are any Preferred Shares of any series that 
have been tendered for redemption but that may not be redeemed due to any 
applicable limits on such redemptions under the terms of the applicable shares, 
under the law or as a result of a decision or other action of the Board. See Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series H Non-Voting Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions 
by Shareholder”. 

Ownership Restrictions: No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted to hold at any time, directly or 
indirectly, together with Related Persons, more than 25% of any class or series of 
the issued shares of the Corporation. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A 
Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”, Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – 
Series B Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”, Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series F Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”  and Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series H Non-Voting Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”. 

Limits on Subscriptions; 
Interim Debentures: 

In the event that a purchaser’s subscription would be for Offered Shares of a class 
in an amount that exceeds 25% of the issued shares of that class or series, the 
subscription may be completed to the amount of 25% of the shares of that class or 
series but the balance will be structured in a manner compliant with section 130.1 
of the Income Tax Act as a subscription for a separate class or series or as a debt 
instrument, compliant with the conditions of s. 130.1 of the Income Tax Act, 
reflecting similar rights and benefits as the holding of the intended shares, as 
agreed between the subscriber and  the Corporation. The subscription will be in 
accordance with the terms of this Offering and the negotiated debt issue will be on 
the basis of terms substantially similar as to rights and return to those of the 
Offered Shares under this Offering. The amount that constitutes 25% of the issued 
shares of a class or series will, as of the initial closing and for a period of time 
thereafter, depend on the aggregate number and amounts of other subscriptions 
and therefore may be substantially less than the amount that is subscribed for. A 
purchaser’s full subscription amount may need to be for another class or series or 
a debt instrument. Shares of one class or series may not be converted into another 
class or series. Purchasers wishing to switch classes or series when permissible 
will need to redeem their shares (subject to restrictions thereon) and subscribe for 
the other class or series. At present, it is expected that, if necessary, the 
Corporation will issue to the purchaser an unsecured, non-convertible debenture 
(an “Interim Debenture”) in the form attached as Appendix D.  The Interim 
Debentures will not be convertible but will be repaid by the Corporation at such 
time as such amount may be applied to the purchase of Offered Shares. If Interim 
Debentures are to be issued to the purchaser then the following applies: 

i. The Corporation will notify the purchaser that the purchaser will be issued 
Interim Debentures and the principal amount of such Interim Debentures 
as are to be issued.  

ii. The purchaser’s subscription agreement shall be deemed to be for Interim 
Debentures, to the extent that Interim Debentures are to be issued, and for 
the applicable Offered Shares, if permitted to be issued, and references in 
that subscription agreement and in this Offering Memorandum to what is to 
be issued and what is subscribed for shall be deemed to be so amended. 

iii. Upon notice (the “MIC Qualification Repayment Notice”) from the 
Corporation to the purchaser that the subscription proceeds used to 
purchase Interim Debentures may be used to purchase Offered Shares as 
originally subscribed for pursuant to the criteria for qualification as a 
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mortgage investment corporation under the Income Tax Act (Canada), the 
Interim Debentures shall be deemed repaid and the amount to be repaid 
shall be considered payment for a subscription for the Offered Shares 
pursuant to the subscription agreement that have not already been issued. 
The purchaser will be responsible for confirming that all information in the 
subscription agreement remains correct at such time.   

Resale Restrictions: You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period. See Item 
10 “Resale Restrictions”. However, the Offered Shares are redeemable in certain 
circumstances. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities”. Series A Preferred Shares 
purchased hereunder may not be resold, including on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange, except in accordance with exemptions under applicable securities 
laws.  

Purchaser’s Rights: For purchasers purchasing the Offered Shares under the offering memorandum 
exemption pursuant to section 2.9 of NI 45-106, you have 2 Business Days to 
cancel your subscription agreement to purchase these securities. If there is a 
misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have the right to sue either 
for damages or to cancel the subscription agreement, subject to the securities 
legislation applicable in your province. See Item 11 “Purchasers’ Rights” and 
Appendix C attached to this Offering Memorandum. 

For purchasers purchasing the Offered Shares pursuant to a prospectus exemption 
in NI 45-106 other than the offering memorandum exemption, if there is a 
misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have the right to sue either 
for damages or to cancel the agreement, subject to the securities legislation 
applicable in your province. See Item 11 “Purchasers’ Rights” and Appendix C 
attached to this Offering Memorandum, except with respect to the provinces of 
British Columbia and Quebec wherein no statutory rights will be available to 
purchasers who do not purchase the Offered Shares in reliance of the offering 
memorandum exemption under section 2.9 of NI 45-106. Such purchasers in 
British Columbia and Quebec shall be entitled to the same rights as purchasers in 
Ontario as described in Appendix C. 

No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assessed the merits of these securities or 
reviewed this Offering Memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is an offence. This is a risky 
investment. See Item 8 “Risk Factors”. 
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GLOSSARY 

The following terms appear throughout this Offering Memorandum. Care should be taken to read each 
term in the context of the particular provision of this Offering Memorandum in which such term is used. 

“Affiliate” has the meaning given to it under the Securities Act (Ontario). 

“Agent” has the meaning given to it under Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

“Agents’ Fee” has the meaning given to it under Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

“Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets” means (a) all existing mortgage investments and interim 
investments comprising the Portfolio; plus (b) all mortgage investments previously approved and 
mortgage investments committed by or on behalf of the Corporation; plus (c) in the context of a mortgage 
loan approval review, the proposed mortgage investment being considered for approval; plus (d) cash 
and cash equivalents. 

“Aggregate Gross Proceeds” means, collectively, the aggregate gross proceeds raised for each of the 
Offered Shares. 

“Alt-A Mortgages” means mortgages on second homes, investment properties and rural real estate. 

“Applicable Securities Laws” means the securities laws, regulations and rules in each province of 
Canada where the Offered Shares are sold and the requirements, rules and policies of the Canadian 
securities regulatory authorities that are then applicable to the Corporation in the circumstances.  

“Articles of the Corporation” means the articles of incorporation of the Corporation filed under the 
OBCA, as amended or amended and restated from time to time, which set out the attributes of the 
authorized share capital of the Corporation, including the Voting Shares, the Non-Voting Shares and the 
Preferred Shares. 

“Automatic Repurchase” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A 
Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”. 

“Automatic Repurchase Shareholder” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – 
Series A Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”. 

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Corporation. 

“Business Day” means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the Province of 
Ontario. 

“Corporation” means Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation, a corporation incorporated under the 
OBCA. 

“Conflict of Interest Matter” means (a) a situation where a reasonable person would consider the 
Corporation, the Manager, or an entity related to the Manager, to have an interest which may conflict with 
their ability to act in good faith and in the best interests of the Corporation; or (b) a conflict of interest or 
self-dealing provision set out in Part XXI of the Securities Act (Ontario) that restricts or prohibits the 
Corporation, the Manager or an entity related to the Manager from proceeding with a proposed action. 

“Conflicts Policy” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.2 “Our Business – Conflicts of Interest and 
Independence of Equityline Group Members”. 

“Conventional Mortgages” means mortgage loans for which the principal amount of the loan, at the time 
of commitment, together with all other equal and prior ranking mortgages, does not exceed 80% of the 
value of the underlying real property securing the loan. 

“Custodial Agreement” means the custodial agreement entered into between the Corporation, the 
Manager and the Custodian effective as of August 24, 2018. 
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“Custodian” means Computershare Trust Company of Canada. 

“Custodian Indemnitees” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.7 “Material Agreements – Custodial 
Agreement – Indemnity”. 

“Deposited Property” means, as such term is used in the Custodial Agreement, legal and registered title 
to a mortgage loan or a pool of mortgage loans of the Corporation and any proceeds arising therefrom 
with respect to mortgage loans of the Corporation for which legal title is identified as being registered in 
the name of the Custodian. 

“DPSP” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Equityline Financial” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.1 “Structure”. 

“Equityline Group Members” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.2 “Our Business – Conflicts of 
Interest and Independence of Equityline Group Members”. 

“forward-looking statements” has the meaning given to it under “Forward-Looking Statements”. 

“Independent” means the person in question has no material relationship with the Manager, the 
Corporation, or an entity related to the Manager. 

“Interim Debenture” means an unsecured, non-convertible debenture of the Corporation in the form 
attached as Appendix D. 

 “IPP” means individual pension plan. 

“JSE” means the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

“Lender Fees” means the mortgage origination and servicing fees generated in connection with 
mortgages sourced and managed by the Manager and acquired by the Corporation. 

“Management Agreement” means the management and administration agreement entered into between 
the Manager and the Corporation with respect to the management of the Corporation, effective as of 
January 31, 2018 and as amended and restated as of December 19, 2019. 

“Management Fee” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.2 “Our Business – Management Fees and 
Operating Expenses”. 

“Manager” means Equityline Services Corp., a corporation incorporated under the OBCA. 

“Manager Indemnitees” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.7 “Material Agreements – Management 
Agreement – Indemnification”. 

“Material Relationship” has the meaning given to it under National Instrument 81-107 – Independent 
Review Committee for Investment Funds, subject to the Conflicts Policy. 

“MIC” means a “mortgage investment corporation” as defined under the Tax Act. 

“mortgage” means an interest in a mortgage, a mortgage of a leasehold interest (or other like instrument, 
including an assignment of or an acknowledgement of an interest in a mortgage), a hypothecation, a deed 
of trust, a charge or other security interest of or in real property used to secure obligations to repay 
money by a charge upon the real property. 

“NAV” means the net asset value of the Corporation and is the value of the consolidated assets of the 
Corporation less (a) the consolidated liabilities of the Corporation and (b) the stated capital of the Voting 
Shares, Non-Voting Shares and Preferred Shares. 

“NI 45-106” means National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions. 
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“Non-Conventional Mortgages” means mortgage loans that do not satisfy the criteria for Conventional 
Mortgages. 

“Non-Resident Shareholder” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.2 “Certain Canadian Federal 
Income Tax Considerations – Taxation of Non-Resident Shareholder”. 

“Non-Voting Shares” means the non-voting common shares of the Corporation, with the rights, privileges 
and restrictions as set forth in the Articles of the Corporation (as amended) set out in Appendix A. 

“OBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario), as may be amended from time to time. 

“Offered Shares” means collectively, the Series B Preferred Shares and Series H Non-Voting Shares. 

“Offering” means the offering of Offered Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum. 

“OM Marketing Materials” has the meaning ascribed thereto in NI 45-106. 

“Plans” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Portfolio” means the portfolio of mortgages of the Corporation. 

“Portfolio Restrictions” means, collectively, the set of investment guidelines governing the allocation of 
investments in which the Corporation’s assets are placed, as summarized under Item 2.2 “Our Business – 
Portfolio Restrictions”. 

“Preferred Shares” means the preferred shares of the Corporation, with the rights, privileges and 
restrictions as set forth in the Articles of the Corporation (as amended) set out in Appendix A. 

“Proposed Amendments” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.2 “Certain Canadian Federal Income 
Tax Considerations”. 

“Qualifying Property” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.2 “Our Business – Structure of a 
Mortgage Investment Corporation”. 

“real property” means land, rights or interest in land in Canada (including, without limitation, leaseholds, 
air rights and rights in condominiums, but excluding mortgages) and any buildings, structures, 
improvements and fixtures located thereon. 

“RDSP” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Related Persons” has the meaning as defined in the Tax Act. 

“Repurchased Shares” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Terms of 
Series A Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”. 

“Required Property” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.2 “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations – Status of the Corporation – MIC Requirements”. 

“RESP” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“RRIF” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“RRSP” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Series A Corporation Redemption Start Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series A Preferred Shares – Redemption by Corporation”. 

“Series A Dividend Payment Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities –
Series A Preferred Shares – Dividends”. 
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“Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period” means the period from and including the initial issue date 
of the Series A Preferred Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the month in which 
the Series A Preferred Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next succeeding period that is from 
and including the last day of such month, to but excluding the last day of the next succeeding month. 

“Series A Preferred Share Redemption Price” means US$2.00 per Series A Preferred Share. 

“Series A Preferred Shares” means the series A Preferred Shares of the Corporation, with the rights, 
privileges and restrictions as set forth in the Articles of the Corporation (as amended), as set out in 
Appendix A attached hereto. 

“Series A Redemption Period” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series 
A Preferred Shares – Redemption by Shareholder”. 

Series A Shareholder Redemption Start Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series A Preferred Shares – Redemption by Shareholder”. 

“Series A Threshold” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A 
Preferred Shares – Redemption by Shareholder”. 

“Series B Additional Return Dividends” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities 
– Series B Preferred Shares – Target Return Dividends”. 

“Series B Corporation Redemption Start Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – Redemption by Corporation”. 

“Series B Cutback Redemption Requests” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholder”. 

“Series B Dividend Payment Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities –
Series B Preferred Shares – Dividends”. 

“Series B Monthly Redemption Date” means the last Business Day of a calendar month. 

“Series B Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline” means 4:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the 30th day 
preceding the Series B Monthly Redemption Date. 

“Series B Monthly Redemption Payment Date” means the 30th day following the relevant Series B 
Monthly Redemption Date. 

“Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period” means the period from and including the initial issue date 
of the Series B Preferred Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the month in which 
the Series B Preferred Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next succeeding period that is from 
and including the last day of such month, to but excluding the last day of the next succeeding month. 

“Series B Preferred Share Purchase Price” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – Purchase Price”. 

“Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholder”. 

“Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price” means $10.00 per Series B Preferred Share. 

“Series B Preferred Shares” means the series B Preferred Shares of the Corporation, with the rights, 
privileges and restrictions as set forth in the Articles of the Corporation (as amended), as set out in 
Appendix A attached hereto. 

“Series F Additional Return Dividends” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities 
– Series F Preferred Shares – Target Return Dividends”. 
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“Series F Cutback Redemption Requests” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series F Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholder”. 

“Series F Dividend Payment Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities –
Series F Preferred Shares – Dividends”. 

“Series F Monthly Redemption Date” means the last Business Day of a calendar month. 

“Series F Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline” means 4:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the 30th day 
preceding the Series F Monthly Redemption Date. 

“Series F Monthly Redemption Payment Date” means the 30th day following the relevant Series F 
Monthly Redemption Date. 

“Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period” means the period from and including the initial issue date 
of the Series F Preferred Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the month in which 
the Series F Preferred Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next succeeding period that is from 
and including the last day of such month, to but excluding the last day of the next succeeding month. 

“Series F Preferred Share Purchase Price” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series F Preferred Shares – Purchase Price”. 

“Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series F Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholder”. 

“Series F Preferred Share Redemption Price” means $10.00 per Series F Preferred Share. 

“Series F Preferred Shares” means the series F Preferred Shares of the Corporation, with the rights, 
privileges and restrictions as set forth in the Articles of the Corporation (as amended), as set out in 
Appendix A attached hereto. 

“Series H Additional Return Dividends” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities 
– Series H Non-Voting Shares – Target Return Dividends”. 

“Series H Corporation Redemption Start Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series H Non-Voting Shares – Redemption by Corporation”. 

“Series H Dividend Payment Date” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities –
Series H Non-Voting Shares – Minimum Dividend”. 

“Series H Dividend Period” means the period from and including the initial issue date of the Series H 
Non-Voting Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the month in which the Series H 
Non-Voting Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next succeeding period that is from and 
including the last day of such month, to but excluding the last day of the next succeeding month. 

“Series H Monthly Dividends” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series 
H Non-Voting Shares – Minimum Dividend”. 

“Series H Monthly Redemption Date” means the last Business Day of a calendar month. 

“Series H Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline” means 4:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the 30th day 
preceding the Series H Monthly Redemption Date. 

“Series H Monthly Redemption Payment Date” means the 30th day following the relevant Series H 
Monthly Redemption Date. 

“Series H Non-Voting Share Purchase Price” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series H Non-Voting Shares – Purchase Price”. 
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“Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series H Preferred Shares – Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholders”. 

“Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Price” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities – Series H Preferred Shares – Redemption by Shareholder”. 

“Series H Non-Voting Shares” means the series H Non-Voting Shares of the Corporation, with terms of 
issue as set forth in the Articles of the Corporation (as amended), as set out in Appendix A attached 
hereto. 

“Series Net Assets” at any particular time, means in respect of a particular series of shares of the 
Corporation, those assets of the Corporation which are referable to that series at the relevant time less 
those liabilities of the Corporation that are referable to that series or to such assets at that time. 

“Servicer” has the meaning given to it under Item 2.7 “Material Agreements – Custodial Agreement – 
Limitation of Liability of Custodian”. 

“Shareholders” means the holders of the Offered Shares. 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended from time to time. 

“TFSA” has the meaning given to it under Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Termination Date” means the last Business Day of the 60th month from the initial issuance date of the 
Series A Preferred Shares. 

“Trailer Fee” has the meaning given to it under Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

“Triggering Transaction” has the meaning given to it under Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A 
Preferred Shares – Restrictions on Ownership”. 

“Voting Shares” means the voting common shares of the Corporation. 

 

CANADIAN CURRENCY 

All dollar amounts stated herein, unless otherwise stated, are expressed in currency of Canada. 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements contained in this Offering Memorandum, constitute forward-looking statements and 
forward-looking information (collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”) within the 
meaning of Applicable Securities Laws. Such forward-looking statements relate to future events or the 
Corporation’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-
looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of 
words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “budget”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, 
“will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar 
expressions. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking 
statements. The Corporation believes the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are 
reasonable but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such 
forward-looking statements included in, or incorporated by reference into, this Offering Memorandum 
should not be unduly relied upon. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this 
Offering Memorandum or as of the date specified in the documents incorporated by reference into this 
Offering Memorandum, as the case may be. 

In particular, this Offering Memorandum contains forward-looking statements, pertaining to the following: 
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 the Corporation’s intentions or expectations about its ability to raise capital under this Offering 
(including the issue and sale of the Offered Shares) or otherwise, including the ability of the 
Corporation to complete the Offering; 

 long-term or short term plans and objectives of the Corporation for future operations or 
refinancing of the properties, forecast business results and anticipated financial performance, 
including any targeted returns to purchasers of Offered Shares; 

 the Corporation’s intentions or expectations about its ability to distribute cash (if any) to 
Shareholders and any targeted returns to Shareholders; 

 the use of proceeds from this Offering; and 

 the annualized yield of the Corporation that the Manager is targeting and the amount and the 
timing of the payment of targeted dividends. 

Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum are based upon 
assumptions which management of the Corporation believes to be reasonable, the Corporation cannot 
assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. With respect 
to forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum, the Corporation has made 
assumptions regarding, but not limited to: 

 the Corporation’s ability to fulfill all of the conditions and obtain all of the approvals required in 
relation to the Offering;  

 the completion of the Offering; 

 the ability of the Corporation to maintain a portfolio of mortgages capable of generating the 
necessary annual yield or returns to enable the Corporation to achieve its investment 
objective and to pay targeted dividends; 

 the ability of the Corporation to establish and maintain relationships and agreements with key 
strategic and financial partners; 

 the qualification of the Corporation as a MIC under the Tax Act at all relevant times; 

 the maintenance of prevailing interest rates at favourable levels; 

 the ability of borrowers to service their obligations under the mortgages of the Corporation; 

 the ability of the Manager to effectively perform its obligations owed to the Corporation; 

 anticipated costs and expenses; 

 competition; 

 changes in general economic conditions; 

 the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, in terms of duration and degree, upon the current and 
future mortgage portfolio of the Corporation and the ability of mortgagees to pay their 
mortgages in accordance with their contractual commitments; 

 no material variations in the current tax and regulatory environments; and 

 future levels of indebtedness and the current economic conditions remaining unchanged. 

The Corporation’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking 
statements as a result of the risk factors set forth herein, including but not limited to: 
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 general business, economic, competitive, political and social uncertainties; 

 general capital market conditions and market prices for securities; 

 delay or failure to receive regulatory approvals; 

 the actual results of future operations; 

 competition; 

 changes in legislation, including environmental legislation, affecting the Corporation; 

 the timing and availability of external financing on acceptable terms; 

 conclusions of economic evaluations and appraisals; 

 lack of qualified, skilled labour or loss of key individuals; 

 changes in operating and capital costs; 

 the availability of mortgages; 

 discretion in the use of proceeds of the Offering; 

 interest and exchange rate changes; 

 fluctuations in dividends; 

 unforeseen potential liabilities of the Portfolio or other mortgages acquired by the 
Corporation; and 

 other factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Corporation, which are discussed 
under Item 8 “Risk Factors” in this Offering Memorandum. 

Forward-looking statements and other information contained herein concerning the residential mortgage 
industry in Canada and the Corporation’s general expectations concerning this industry are based on 
estimates prepared by management of the Corporation using data from publicly available industry 
sources as well as from market research and industry analysis and on assumptions based on data and 
knowledge of this industry, which the Corporation believes to be reasonable. However, this data is 
inherently imprecise, although generally indicative of relative market positions, market shares and 
performance characteristics. While the Corporation is not aware of any material misstatements regarding 
any industry data presented herein, the mortgage industry involves numerous risks and uncertainties and 
is subject to change based on various factors. 

Management of the Corporation has included the above summary of assumptions and risks related to 
forward-looking information provided in this Offering Memorandum in order to provide Shareholders with 
a more complete perspective on the Corporation’s current and future operations and such information 
may not be appropriate for other purposes. The Corporation’s actual results, performance or achievement 
could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements and, 
accordingly, no assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking 
statements will transpire or occur, or if any of them do so, what benefits that the Corporation will derive 
therefrom. 

Investors are cautioned that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive and they should not 
unduly rely on the forward-looking statements included in this Offering Memorandum. These forward-
looking statements are made as of the date of this Offering Memorandum and the Corporation disclaims 
any intent or obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or results or otherwise. All forward looking statements contained in this Offering 
Memorandum are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 



- 14 - 

 

MARKETING MATERIALS 

Any “OM Marketing Materials” (as such term is defined in NI 45-106) related to each distribution under 
this Offering Memorandum and delivered or made reasonably available to a prospective Shareholder 
before the termination of the distribution is, and is deemed to be, incorporated by reference into this 
Offering Memorandum. Notwithstanding the foregoing, OM Marketing Materials incorporated by reference 
as described above are no longer incorporated by reference, and no longer form part of this Offering 
Memorandum, to the extent to which such materials have been modified or superseded by a statement or 
statements contained in (i) an amendment to the Offering Memorandum, or an amended and restated 
Offering Memorandum, or (ii) subsequent OM Marketing Materials delivered to or made reasonably 
available to a prospective Shareholder prior to the execution of the subscription agreement by the 
Shareholder. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a 
prior statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. 
The making of a modifying or superseding statement is not deemed an admission for any purposes that 
the modified or superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement 
of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so 
modified or superseded is not deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this 
Offering Memorandum. 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

This Offering Memorandum, and OM Marketing Materials incorporated by reference herein, may contain 
statistical data, market research and industry forecasts that were obtained from government or other 
industry publications and reports or are based on estimates derived from such publication and reports. 
Government and industry publications and reports generally indicate that they have obtained their 
information from sources believed to be reliable, but do not guarantee the accuracy and completeness of 
their information. While the Corporation believes this data to be reliable, market and industry data is 
subject to variations and cannot be verified with complete certainty due to limits on the availability and 
reliability of raw data, the voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations and 
uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. The Corporation has not independently verified any of the 
data from independent third party sources referred to in this Offering Memorandum or ascertained the 
underlying assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

Item 1: Use of Available Funds 

1.1 Funds 

Offering of Series A Preferred Shares 

The Aggregate Gross Proceeds available to the Corporation pursuant to the Offering of Series A 
Preferred Shares are as follows: 
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Assuming 
Minimum 
Offering 

Assuming Target 
Maximum 
Offering(1) 

A. 
Amount to be raised by this Offering of Series A 
Preferred Shares 

N/A 
US$10,000,000 

($12,600,000(2)) 

B. Selling commissions and fees(3) N/A 
US$500,000 

($630,000(2)) 

C. 
Estimated offering costs (e.g., legal, accounting, 
audit)(4) 

N/A $60,000 

D. Available funds: D = A - (B+C) N/A $11,910,000 

E. Additional Sources of Funding Required N/A $0 

F. Working Capital Deficiency N/A $0 

G. Total: G = (D + E) – F N/A $11,910,000 

Notes: 

(1) The Corporation is targeting a maximum Offering of US$10,000,000 of Series A Preferred Shares but may raise more or 
less than such target amount. Assumes amounts will be paid in cash. 

(2) Based on the exchange rate of 1 USD = 1.26 CAD as at April 1, 2021. 

(3) In consideration of the services rendered by the Agents in connection with the Offering of Series A Preferred Shares, the 
Corporation has agreed to pay any such Agent a cash fee equal to 5% of the Aggregate Gross Proceeds from the sale of 
the Series A Preferred Shares. No trailer fees will be paid in connection with the Series A Preferred Shares. See Item 7 
“Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

(4) Offering costs as shown are estimated, and include legal and accounting costs, printing and other administrative costs 
associated with the Offering of Series A Preferred Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum. These costs will be paid 
as a general expense from revenues generated after investment of the net proceeds of the Offering. The figures 
presented do not include the Management Fee, as it will not be paid out of the net proceeds of the Offering. The 
Management Fee will be paid out of the Corporation’s Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets. 

 

Offering of Series B Preferred Shares 

The Aggregate Gross Proceeds available to the Corporation pursuant to the Offering of Series B 
Preferred Shares are as follows: 

  
Assuming 
Minimum 
Offering 

Assuming 
Maximum 
Offering 

A. 
Amount to be raised by this Offering of Series B 
Preferred Shares 

N/A $40,000,000 

B. Selling commissions and fees(1) N/A $2,800,000 

C. 
Estimated offering costs (e.g., legal, accounting, 
audit)(2) 

N/A $60,000 

D. Available funds: D = A - (B+C) N/A $37,140,000 

E. Additional Sources of Funding Required N/A $0 

F. Working Capital Deficiency N/A $0 

G. Total: G = (D + E) – F N/A $37,140,000 

Notes: 

(1) In consideration of the services rendered by the Agents in connection with the offering of Series B Preferred Shares, the 
Corporation has agreed to pay any such Agent a cash fee equal to 7% of the Aggregate Gross Proceeds from the sale of 



- 16 - 

 

the Series B Preferred Shares. In addition, starting on the date that is 36 months following the date of issuance of a Series 
B Preferred Share, the Corporation will pay to each Agent (or other registered dealer) a servicing fee equal to 1% of the 
Series B Preferred Share Purchase Price per annum (payable at the end of each fiscal quarter) in respect of each such 
Series B Preferred Share that is held by clients of such Agent (or other registered dealer) (the “Trailer Fee”), provided that 
the Series B Preferred Share on which the Trailer Fee is paid has not been redeemed at the time payment is to be made. 
For clarity, the Trailer Fee is payable only in respect of Series B Preferred Shares that are held for at least 36 months. 
The exact amount of the Trailer Fee will be determined by the Manager from time to time. See “Item 7 – Compensation 
Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

(2) Offering costs as shown are estimated, and include legal and accounting costs, printing and other administrative costs 
associated with the offering of Series B Preferred Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum. These costs will be paid 
as a general expense from revenues generated after investment of the net proceeds of the Offering. The figures 
presented do not include the Management Fee, as it will not be paid out of the net proceeds of the Offering. The 
Management Fee will be paid out of the Corporation’s Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets. 

 

Offering of Series F Preferred Shares 

The Aggregate Gross Proceeds available to the Corporation pursuant to the Offering of Series F 
Preferred Shares are as follows: 

  
Assuming 
Minimum 
Offering 

Assuming Target 
Maximum 
Offering(1) 

A. 
Amount to be raised by this Offering of Series F 
Preferred Shares 

N/A $40,000,000 

B. Selling commissions and fees(2) N/A $0 

C. 
Estimated offering costs (e.g., legal, accounting, 
audit)(3) 

N/A $60,000 

D. Available funds: D = A - (B+C) N/A $39,940,000 

E. Additional Sources of Funding Required N/A $0 

F. Working Capital Deficiency N/A $0 

G. Total: G = (D + E) – F N/A $39,940,000 

Notes: 

(1) The Corporation is targeting a maximum Offering of $40,000,000 of Series F Preferred Shares but may raise more or less 
than such target amount. Assumes amounts will be paid in cash. 

(2) The Corporation does not expect to pay any up-front selling commissions and fees. However, there is a transaction fee of 
approximately $12.50 per trade for sales of Series F Preferred Shares settled through FundSERV Inc. See Item 7 
“Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

(3) Offering costs as shown are estimated, and include legal and accounting costs, printing and other administrative costs 
associated with the offering of Series F Preferred Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum. These costs will be paid 
as a general expense from revenues generated after investment of the net proceeds of the Offering. The figures 
presented do not include the Management Fee, as it will not be paid out of the net proceeds of the Offering. The 
Management Fee will be paid out of the Corporation’s Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets. 

 
Offering of Series H Non-Voting Shares 

The Aggregate Gross Proceeds available to the Corporation pursuant to the Offering of Series H Non-
Voting Shares are as follows: 
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Assuming 
Minimum 
Offering 

Assuming 
Maximum 
Offering 

A. 
Amount to be raised by this Offering of Series H 
Non-Voting Shares 

$1,000,000 $10,000,000 

B. Selling commissions and fees(1)  $0 $0 

C. 
Estimated offering costs (e.g., legal, accounting, 
audit)(2) 

$60,000 $60,000 

D. Available funds: D = A - (B+C) $940,000 $9,940,000 

E. Additional Sources of Funding Required $0 $0 

F. Working Capital Deficiency $0 $0 

G. Total: G = (D + E) – F $940,000 $9,940,000 

Notes: 

(1) The Corporation does not expect to pay any up-front selling commissions and fees. See Item 7 “Compensation Paid to 
Sellers and Finders”. 

(2) Offering costs as shown are estimated, and include legal and accounting costs, printing and other administrative costs 
associated with marketing the Series H Non-Voting Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum. These costs will be 
paid as a general expense from revenues generated after investment of the Aggregate Gross Proceeds of the Offering. 
The figures presented do not include the Management Fee, as it will not be paid out of the Aggregate Gross Proceeds of 
the Offering. The Management Fee will be paid out of the Corporation’s Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets. Such 
offering costs are the same, and not in addition to, the offering costs described in the table “Offering of Series B Preferred 
Shares”. 

 

1.2 Use of Available Funds 

The available funds will be used by the Corporation for the purposes set forth in the table below. 

Description of intended 
use of available funds 
listed in order of 
priority 

Assuming 
Target Maximum 

Offering of 
Series A 
Preferred 
Shares(1) 

Assuming 
Maximum 

Offering of Series 
B Preferred 

Shares 

Assuming Target 
Maximum 

Offering of Series 
F Preferred 

Shares(2) 

Assuming 
Maximum 
Offering of 

Series H Non-
Voting Shares 

The net proceeds from the 
sale of this Offering will be 
used to invest in 
accordance with the 
investment objectives and 
strategies of the 
Corporation, subject its 
Portfolio Restrictions and 
lending criteria. This 
includes using funds to 
invest in mortgages and 
general working capital 
purposes and operational 
expenses. 

$11,910,000 $37,140,000 $39,940,000 $9,940,000 

Total: $11,910,000 $37,140,000 $39,940,000 $9,940,000 
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Notes: 

(1) The Corporation is targeting a maximum Offering of US$10,000,000 of Series A Preferred Shares but may raise more or 
less than such target amount. 

(2) The Corporation is targeting a maximum Offering of $40,000,000 of Series F Preferred Shares but may raise more or less 
than such target amount. 

 

1.3 Reallocation 

The Corporation intends to spend the available funds as stated. The Offered Shares are redeemable in 
accordance with their terms and applicable law. The available funds may be used to satisfy redemptions.  

Item 2: Business of the Corporation 

2.1 Structure 

The Corporation was incorporated under the OBCA by articles of incorporation dated January 18, 2018. 
The head and registered office of the Corporation is located at 550 Highway 7 Avenue East, Suite 338, 
Richmond Hill, Ontario L4B 3Z4. The Corporation’s business and affairs are also regulated by By-Law 
No. 1 adopted by the Board on January 18, 2018. The Corporation does not have any subsidiaries. 

Equityline Services Corp. is the Manager of the Corporation pursuant to the terms of the Management 
Agreement. It is a corporation incorporated under the OBCA on January 18, 2018. The Manager’s head 
and registered office is located at 550 Highway 7 Avenue East, Suite 338, Richmond Hill, Ontario L4B 
3Z4. The Manager provides its services directly or indirectly through Equityline Financial Corporation 
(“Equityline Financial”), an affiliated company to the Manager. 

On July 11, 2019, the Corporation filed an amendment to its Articles of the Corporation to amend the 
rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Non-Voting Shares.  

On March 5, 2020, the Corporation filed amendments to its Articles of the Corporation to amend the 
rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Non-Voting Shares and to create the Series 
B Preferred Shares and the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching thereto. See Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities”. 

In January 2021, the Corporation filed an amendment to its Articles of the Corporation to amend the 
rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Non-Voting Shares and Series B Preferred 
Shares. 

On May 7, 2021, the Corporation filed an amendment to its Articles of the Corporation to create the Series 
F Preferred Shares. 

The current relationships between the Corporation, the Manager, Equityline Financial and the Custodian 
are set out below. 
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2.2 Our Business 

General 

The Corporation qualifies as a MIC (within the meaning of the Tax Act). By qualifying as a MIC, the 
Corporation is a non-bank provider of residential, and to a lesser extent, commercial, real estate finance. 
The Corporation finances loans that are secured by real estate assets but that may be identified as too 
risky by conventional bank lenders or loans which need to be funded quicker or are more customized 
than conventional bank lenders can accommodate. The Corporation’s investment objective is to preserve 
investors’ capital while providing a consistent stream of cash distributions. Investing predominantly in 
short-term residential, and to a lesser extent, commercial, real estate mortgage loans, the Corporation 
seeks to make loans in the alternative mortgage market principally in the residential mortgage market.  

Home Equity Lines of Credit 

The mortgages provided by the Corporation are in most circumstances “home equity lines of credit”, 
which are second mortgages that have interest rates that fluctuate with the prime rate. The Corporation’s 
home equity lines are revolving credit lines that provide property owners with additional financing for debt 
consolidation, renovations and other uses. The mortgages typically involve an interest only payment each 
month and can be called at anytime.  

Qualification as MIC under Tax Act 

The Corporation intends to carry on its business in a matter so that it qualifies and continues to qualify as 
a MIC under the Tax Act. As a MIC, when calculating its income tax payable in Canada, the Corporation 
may deduct dividends that are paid from income to reduce corporate income tax. The Corporation intends 
to make distributions to the extent necessary so that it will generally have no taxes payable under Part I of 
the Tax Act and to generally elect to have dividends be capital gains dividends to the maximum extent 
allowable. Taxable dividends, other than capital gains dividends are treated as interest income to 
Shareholders for Canadian tax purposes. See Item 6 “Income Tax Consequences and Eligibility for 
Investment”. 
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Corporation is not a Trust Company or Investment Fund 

The Corporation is not a trust company and, accordingly, is not registered under the trust company 
legislation of any jurisdiction. The Offered Shares are not “deposits” within the meaning of the Canadian 
Deposit Insurance Corporation Act (Canada) and are not insured under the provisions of that act or any 
other legislation. For greater certainty, the Corporation is not considered to be an investment fund or 
mutual fund under applicable Canadian securities legislation. Consequently, the Corporation is not 
subject to certain policies and regulations that apply to publicly offered investment funds or mutual funds 
and accordingly is permitted to invest in mortgages to borrow funds. 

Series A Preferred Shares are Listed on the Jamaican Stock Exchange 

The Corporation’s Series A Preferred Shares are listed on the JSE and trade under the symbol “ELMIC”. 
The Corporation filed a prospectus dated November 21, 2018 for the offering of 2,683,400 Series A 
Preferred Shares at US$2.00 per Series A Preferred Share for gross proceeds of US$5,366,800. 
Information about the Corporation and the Series A Preferred Shares can be found on the website of the 
JSE at https://www.jamstockex.com/tag/equityline-mortgage-investment-corporation/, however, such 
information is not incorporated by reference into, and its does not form part of this Offering Memorandum. 
Series A Preferred Shares purchased hereunder may not be resold, including on the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange, except in accordance with exemptions under applicable securities laws. 

The Manager 

The Manager is responsible for directing the affairs and managing the business of the Corporation. As a 
group, the directors, officers and principals of the Manager have experience sourcing, underwriting, and 
structuring mortgages. The Manager provides directly or indirectly through licensed service providers, 
principally Equityline Financial (an Affiliate), mortgage management and day-to-day mortgage 
administration services, including the sourcing, structuring and management of mortgages on behalf of 
the Corporation. The Manager directly or indirectly sources mortgages, evaluates projects, collects 
payments from borrowers, deals with enforcement proceedings and administers the mortgages. The 
Manager may charge Lender Fees (as hereinafter defined) directly to borrowers as compensation for 
such services. Through direct marketing to the industry, and through a network of mortgage brokers, the 
Manager sources real estate investment opportunities for which the Corporation can provide loans. The 
Corporation charges premium interest rates due to the inefficient nature of this marketplace and its focus 
on Non-Conventional Mortgages, Alt-A Mortgages and off-market terms sectors.  

Equityline Financial 

Equityline Financial offers mortgage brokering services, mortgage lending and private mortgage loan 
administration services. It is licensed as a mortgage brokerage, and through the Manager, operates as a 
licenced mortgage administration company, each through the Financial Services Regulatory Authority 
(formerly, Financial Services Commission of Ontario prior to June 8, 2019). 

Structure of a Mortgage Investment Corporation 
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A MIC must meet the requirements of Section 130.1 of the Tax Act as of the end of its taxation year, 
which include the following: 

 the corporation was a Canadian corporation as defined in the Tax Act; 

 the corporation’s only undertaking was the investing of funds and it did not manage or develop 
any real or immovable property; 

 no debts were owed to the corporation by non-residents unless such debts are secured on real or 
immovable property situation in Canada; 

 the corporation did not own shares of non-resident corporations; 

 the corporation did not hold real or immovable property or leasehold interests located outside of 
Canada; 

 the corporation did not loan funds where the security for such loans is real or immovable property 
located outside of Canada; 

 the cost amount of the corporation’s property represented by mortgages on houses or on property 
within a housing project (as those terms are defined in the National Housing Act), together with 
cash on hand and deposits with a bank or any other corporation whose deposits are insured by 
the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, Regie de L’assurance-depots du Quebec, or a credit 
union (collectively, the “Qualifying Property”) was at least 50% of the cost amount to it of all of 
its property; 

 the cost amount of real or immovable property (including leasehold interests therein but excluding 
real or immovable property acquired as a consequence of foreclosure or defaults on a mortgage 
held by the corporation) owned by the corporation did not exceed 25% of the cost amount to it of 
all of its property; 

 the corporation had at least 20 shareholders (in its first taxation year the corporation must have at 
least 20 shareholders on the last day of that year) and no person would have been a ‘specified 
shareholder’ of the corporation at any time in the taxation year; 

 holders of preferred shares had a right, after payment to them of their preferred dividends, and 
payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of the common shares to 
participate pari passu with the holders of common shares in any further payment of dividends; 
and 

 the corporation’s liabilities did not exceed three times the amount by which the cost amount to it 
of all of its property exceeded its liabilities where at any time in the year the cost amount to it of its 
Qualifying Property is less than 2/3 of the cost amount to it of all of its property or, which 
throughout the taxation year the cost amount to it of its Qualifying Property equalled or exceeded 
2/3 of the cost amount of all of its property, the corporation’s liabilities did not exceed five times 
the amount by which the cost amount to it of all of its property exceeded its liabilities. 

The Corporation’s Mortgage Offering 

In order to achieve the Corporation’s investment objective, the Manager will invest primarily, but not 
exclusively, in first and subordinate charge Non-Conventional Mortgages and Alt-A Mortgages. The 
mortgages provided by the Corporation can benefit the borrower by providing: 

 loan terms in line with the real estate investor’s investment model; 

 the ability to execute quickly on real estate investment opportunities; 

 potentially lower monthly payments; and 
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 access to credit for more challenged borrowers and properties. 

As a result of the above, borrowers are willing to pay the higher interest rates that the Corporation 
charges for mortgages. 

Investment Objectives 

The investment objective of the Corporation is, with a focus on capital preservation, to acquire and 
maintain a Portfolio consisting primarily of (i) Non-Conventional Mortgages and (ii) Alt-A Mortgages that 
generate attractive returns relative to their risk in order to permit the Corporation to pay distributions to its 
Shareholders. However, there is no assurance that the Corporation will be able to declare any dividends 
in any period or at all. See Item 8 “Risk Factors”. 

Investment Strategies 

The Corporation works to achieve its investment objective by investing in a Portfolio consisting primarily 
of residential, and to a lesser extent, commercial, mortgages that are secured by residential (including 
multi-residential) or commercial (if applicable) real property. The Corporation will seek to invest in first and 
second mortgages that combine the highest yields and lowest loan to value ratios it can reasonably 
source. The Corporation’s Portfolio Restrictions (as described below) restrict the Corporation from making 
a mortgage loans with a loan-to-value ratio in excess of 80%. The Corporation intends to focus its 
investments primarily in urban markets and their surrounding areas, which the Corporation believes are 
typically more liquid and provide less volatile security for mortgage loans. Independent appraisals 
produced by an accredited member of the Appraisal Institute of Canada are obtained for properties on 
which the Corporation seeks to invest in mortgages. The Corporation intends to focus its investments in 
Ontario, particularly the Greater Toronto Area and Ottawa. However, the Corporation’s Portfolio 
Restrictions permits the Corporation to invest in mortgages across Canada, if the Manager determines it 
to be advisable. As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Corporation has not engaged and does 
not currently intend to engage licensed mortgage brokers outside of Ontario. The Corporation’s focus on 
short-term (6 to 12 months) mortgages, such as home equity lines, and high value and high value-to-loan 
mortgages requiring prepayment of interest is primarily designed to reduce risk in the Portfolio and 
increase liquidity of the investments. 

The Manager believes that these strategies combined provide the Corporation with opportunities to: 

 obtain favourable yields and maximize returns through efficient sourcing and management of 
mortgage loans secured by real property; 

 take advantage of yield benefits which arise from the Corporation’s quick access to capital 
through efficient processing and management of opportunities; 

 take advantage of yield benefits which arise from the Corporation’s ability to offer more flexibility 
with the loans; 

 gain access to a continuous supply of mortgage investment opportunities; and 

 mitigate risk in the investment selection process through the significant experience and 
comprehensive underwriting practices of the Corporation and Manager. 

The long-term strategy of the Corporation is to grow the Portfolio by continuing to fund mortgages. The 
mortgages that have been sourced and funded over the past four years by Equityline Financial have had 
an average interest rate of above 10%. The return on the Corporation’s currently funded mortgages from 
February 1, 2019 to September 1, 2020 is more than 11.00%, with a loan-to-value ratio ranging between 
68% - 74%. This continuing growth will enhance the economies of scale and returns achieved by the 
Corporation as a whole. Moreover, the Manager expects that a larger size Portfolio will provide the 
Corporation with greater diversification of mortgages and increased mortgage funding capacity and 
flexibility. However, past Portfolio investment returns are not indicative of future Portfolio returns. 
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In order to facilitate the timely funding of mortgages, bridging the maturity of mortgages and to manage 
working capital timing requirements, the Corporation may obtain a loan facility with a financial institution 
or other lender. This facility shall not exceed 30% of the Corporation’s total assets. As at the date of this 
Offering Memorandum, the Corporation does not have a loan facility outstanding and has not entered into 
any discussions with lenders regarding any potential loan facilities. 

Investment Process 

The Corporation utilizes an investment process that is characterized by a macro-to-micro approach to 
identify attractive mortgage investment opportunities, beginning first with a macro-level economic analysis 
of various geographic housing markets and properties, and second with the identification of individual 
mortgage investment opportunities and the assessment of specific details of each project and borrower.  

Mortgage investments will be sourced by the Manager directly and through Equityline Financial and 
through independent third party mortgage brokers. Equityline Financial has an extensive broker network 
of external mortgage brokers. The Corporation will fund mortgage loans that meet the Corporation’s 
lending criteria and the Portfolio Restrictions, resulting from: (i) the reputation, experience and marketing 
ability of the Manager; (ii) the timely credit analysis and decision making processes followed by the 
Manager; and (iii) significant demand for capital in the market segments in which the Corporation will 
provide loans. At an early stage of the identification and evaluation process, the Manager will confirm that 
a mortgage opportunity satisfies the Corporation’s lending criteria and Portfolio Restrictions. 

Once determined by the Manager to be satisfactory based on an initial review, the Manager is required to 
perform comprehensive due diligence of the underlying assets. This due diligence process revolves 
around the Manager’s system of underwriting loans, and evaluating properties and borrowers. The due 
diligence procedures undertaken by the Manager generally include, but are not limited to, the following 
considerations: 

Duties Performed Matters Considered 

A. General Market Analysis  Macroeconomic variables 

o Demographic characteristics 
o Socioeconomic outlook 

B. Local Market Analysis  Assessment of local market conditions 

o Level of infrastructure development 
o Assessment of potential liquidity of local market 

C. Project Analysis  Financial status of borrower 

D. Type of Due Diligence  Financial due diligence 

o Legal due diligence - including title and off-title 
searches (property tax payments, work orders, fire 
code compliance, etc.) 

o Analysis of taxes/utilities/expenses 
o Independent valuation/appraisal report produced by 

an accredited member of the Appraisal Institute of 
Canada 

 

Funding Mortgages 

The Corporation currently has approximately $12.6 million assets under management. The Manager 
considers each mortgage lending opportunity and makes the lending decision on behalf of the 
Corporation. Mortgages that are determined to be satisfactory by the Manager upon completion of its due 
diligence and that comply with its lending criteria and meet the requirements of the Portfolio Restrictions 
(on a stand-alone basis as well as in the context of the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets), or 
which are otherwise considered desirable due to certain attractive features, are funded. 
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Equityline Financial and its broker network source mortgages. The Corporation is not precluded from 
making any purchases from third parties. The Manager may source additional mortgages through various 
methods, including, but not limited to, asset acquisitions, origination, syndication with other participants or 
in such other manner deemed advisable. 

Portfolio Restrictions/Lending Criteria 

The Manager has adopted the Portfolio Restrictions to manage the risk profile of the Portfolio. 
Accordingly, the Manager actively and regularly evaluates the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets 
for compliance with the Portfolio Restrictions.  

The Portfolio Restrictions is a dynamic investment tool that assists the Manager in its development and 
maintenance of the Portfolio with a view to achieving the investment objectives of the Corporation.  

The Portfolio Restrictions, as summarized below, dictate the allocation of the Aggregate Funded and 
Committed Assets based upon various criteria as set out below:  

1. Maximum percentage allocation to a mortgage loan secured by any one property – not more than 
10% of the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets can be allocated to a mortgage loan 
secured by any one property; 

2. Maximum percentage allocation to a mortgage with any one borrower/borrower group – not more 
than 20% of the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets can be allocated to a mortgage loan 
with any one borrower or group of related borrowers; 

3. Average term to maturity on mortgage loans – the average term to maturity on mortgage loans, 
comprising the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets, shall not exceed 12 months. The 
target term to maturity on any one mortgage investment shall be 6-12 months; 

4. Maximum allocation to second mortgage positions – not more than 80% of the Aggregate Funded 
and Committed Assets shall be secured by second mortgage positions; 

5. Geographic restriction – not more than the following percentages set out below of the Aggregate 
Funded and Committed Assets can be invested in the corresponding regions: 

Ontario 100% 

 
6. Product type restriction –  not more than the following percentages set out below of the 

Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets can be invested in mortgages secured by the product 
type set out below: 

Residential  70% 

Multi-Residential Buildings 30% 

Commercial 30% 

7. Maximum loan-to-value ratio of any one mortgage loan – on the date of funding, the maximum 
loan-to-value ratio of any one mortgage loan comprising the Aggregate Funded and Committed 
Assets shall not exceed 80%; and 

8. Maximum borrowing restriction – the Corporation will not borrow money in excess of 30% of the 
Corporation’s NAV at the time of borrowing. 

Based on evolving market conditions and the investment history of the Portfolio, the Portfolio Restrictions 
may be amended from time to time by the Manager, subject to the unanimous approval of the 
Independent directors, in order to maintain the currency and relevance of the model on the overall 
investment approach of the Corporation, provided the unanimous approval of the Independent directors is 
required: (a) for changes to  items 1 and 2 above and (b) if any lending criteria would be made materially 
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less restrictive, which for a percentage or numerical threshold, is a change of more than a factor of 15%. 
All such changes also require the approval of the Board of Directors. 

The Portfolio Restrictions will be assessed prior to the funding of each mortgage loan, assuming the 
subject mortgage loan is made. The Corporation uses mortgage portfolio monitoring and tracking 
software to assist in ensuring the Portfolio Restrictions are being met at the time a mortgage is made. 
Exceptions to the Corporation’s Portfolio Restrictions may be made by the Manager, subject to the 
unanimous approval of the Independent directors, provided that (i) each individual exception upon funding 
a subject mortgage, excluding the effect of any subsequent exceptions, must be remedied within 120 
days from the date of funding of the subject mortgage; and (ii) in the aggregate at any given time, 
permitted exceptions to the Portfolio Restrictions shall not represent more than 10% of the Corporation’s 
NAV.  

Management Fees and Operating Expenses 

For acting as manager of the Corporation, the Manager receives from the Corporation a management fee 
(the “Management Fee”) equal to 1% per annum of the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets of the 
Corporation, calculated daily, aggregated and paid monthly in arrears, plus applicable taxes. In addition, 
the Manager charges, collects and retains certain “Lender Fees” from borrowers. Lender Fees are 
charged as compensation for services rendered by the Manager in the origination, undertaking and 
oversight of mortgages. Generally, the Lender Fees charged to the borrower will equal 2% of the 
approved loan amount.  

The Manager is also entitled to statement fees, early pre-payment, discharge fees, bonus fees, inspection 
fees and all other fees which could be included in the commitment upon the origination of the mortgage 
loan. 

Governance Matters 

The current directors of the Corporation are: 

Name of Director Independence Status Discussion of Independence 

SERGIY 
SHCHAVYELYEV 

Not Independent Mr. Shchavyelyev is not considered an Independent 
director since he is the President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Secretary of the Corporation and the 
Manager and the broker owner of Equityline Financial. 
Further, Mr. Shchavyelyev owns 25% of the Voting 
Shares in the capital of the Corporation. See Item 3.1 
“Compensation and Securities Held”. 

ROBERT C. KAY Not Independent Mr. Kay is not considered an Independent director since 
he is the Executive Vice President of the Corporation. 
Further, Mr. Kay owns 25% of the Voting Shares in the 
capital of the Corporation. See Item 3.1 “Compensation 
and Securities Held”. 

ERIC KLEIN Independent Mr. Klein does not have any interest, business or other 
relationship that could or could reasonably be perceived 
to materially interfere with his ability to act in the best 
interests of the Corporation. Mr. Klein does not receive 
remuneration from the Corporation other than directors’ 
fees. See Item 3.1 “Compensation and Securities Held”. 

SERGIY 
PRZHEBELSKYY 

Not Independent Mr. Przhebelskyy is not considered an Independent 
director since he is the Chief Operating Officer of the 
Manager. Further, Mr. Przhebelskyy is a mortgage agent 
of Equityline Financial and holds preferred shares 
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(which are not voting shares) in Equityline Financial. 

MARK KOROL Independent Mr. Korol does not have any interest, business or other 
relationship that could or could reasonably be perceived 
to materially interfere with his ability to act in the best 
interests of the Corporation. Mr. Korol does not receive 
remuneration from the Corporation other than directors’ 
fees. See Item 3.1 “Compensation and Securities Held”. 

WILLIE HANDLER Independent Mr. Handler does not have any interest, business or 
other relationship that could or could reasonably be 
perceived to materially interfere with his ability to act in 
the best interests of the Corporation. Mr. Handler does 
not receive remuneration from the Corporation other 
than directors’ fees. See Item 3.1 “Compensation and 
Securities Held”. 

DONALD 
HATHAWAY 

Independent Mr. Hathaway does not have any interest, business or 
other relationship that could or could reasonably be 
perceived to materially interfere with his ability to act in 
the best interests of the Corporation. Mr. Hathaway does 
not receive remuneration from the Corporation other 
than directors’ fees. See Item 3.1 “Compensation and 
Securities Held”. 

UNGAD CHADDA Independent Mr. Chadda does not have any interest, business or 
other relationship that could or could reasonably be 
perceived to materially interfere with his ability to act in 
the best interests of the Corporation. Mr. Chadda does 
not receive remuneration from the Corporation other 
than directors’ fees. See Item 3.1 “Compensation and 
Securities Held”. 

 
One way the Corporation facilitates the exercise of Independent supervision over management is by 
ensuring that the majority of the Board is composed of directors who are Independent from management 
of the Corporation. The Board of Directors currently has eight directors, five of whom are considered to be 
Independent (Messrs. Klein, Handler, Korol, Hathaway and Chadda) of the Corporation’s management. In 
addition, three directors are officers of the Corporation or hold positions at Equityline Financial or the 
Manager. As such, the applicable directors are not considered Independent. 

All of the directors, both non-Independent and Independent, are required by applicable law at all times to 
act in good faith and with a view to the best interests of the Corporation and are required to exercise the 
degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable 
circumstances. All of the directors of the Corporation are sensitive to conflicts of interest and are required 
by the terms of the By-Law No. 1 of the Corporation to provide full written disclosure of any conflicts to the 
Corporation and recuse themselves from deliberations and voting relating to any conflicts of interest. The 
extensive knowledge of the Independent directors of the Corporation’s business is beneficial to both the 
other directors and the Corporation, and their participation as directors is an important element in the 
overall effectiveness of the Board of Directors. Although the Board of Directors considers Independence 
from the Corporation as a factor in assessing its own effectiveness as well as the qualification of potential 
candidates, the Board of Directors’ primary objective is to ensure that directors are qualified candidates 
and are selected on the basis of their overall qualifications and ability to contribute to the effective 
governance of the Corporation. It is believed that all of the directors make a valuable contribution to the 
Board of Directors and the Corporation.  
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Mortgage Approvals 

Each mortgage loan that is made by the Corporation shall be subject to the following approvals: 

Principal Amount of $1,000,000 or more Principal Amount of less than $1,000,000 

A total of 3 directors must approve: Any two 
directors of the Corporation, plus one Independent 
director. 

Any two directors of the Corporation must approve. 

 
Conflicts of Interest and Independence of Equityline Group Members 

The Corporation, the Manager and Equityline Financial (collectively, the “Equityline Group Members”) 
have each adopted a conflicts of interest policy (collectively, the “Conflicts Policy”). Under the Conflicts 
Policy, an Equityline Group Member will not proceed with any Conflict of Interest Matter unless such 
matter has obtained the prior unanimous approval of the Independent directors, in addition to the 
approval of the Board of Directors. On an annual basis, the Independent directors of the Board will 
prepare and make available to Shareholders a report of all Conflict of Interest Matters identified in the 
year preceding the report, including how such Conflict of Interest Matters were addressed and resolved. 

The Independent directors of an Equityline Group Member may review applicable valuations required or 
conducted from time to time and, if it disagrees with such valuation(s) or conclusions it may refer the 
issue to the auditor of the Corporation or such other independent professional as deemed appropriate by 
the Independent directors in such circumstances.  

The Independent directors of an Equityline Group Member may meet, as needed, to monitor and assess 
the performance of the Corporation relative to the investment objectives stated herein.  

Before taking any action, the Independent directors of an Equityline Group Member may obtain legal or 
other advice, as to the effect of its proposed action.  

The Equityline Group Members are not subject to National Instrument 81-107 – Independent Review 
Committee for Investment Funds, and accordingly is not subject to the same regulations as a reporting 
issuer. However, the Independent directors may look to the provisions of National Instrument 81-107 – 
Independent Review Committee for Investment Funds as guidance from time to time. 

Conflicts Policy 

The following is a summary of the Conflicts Policy and is subject to the complete terms and provisions of 
the Conflicts Policy, which may be requested from the Corporation during normal business hours at the 
offices of the Corporation at 550 Highway 7 Ave E. Suite 338, Richmond Hill, Ontario, L4B 3Z4 or by 
contacting the Corporation at 1-888-269-1988 or info@equitylinemic.com, and a copy of such requested 
Conflicts Policy will be e-mailed to a prospective investor. 

The Equityline Group Members have each adopted a Conflicts Policy to address and manage Conflicts of 
Interest Matters and certain related party transactions. When carrying out their obligations, directors, 
officers, senior management and employees must conduct themselves in a manner that avoids conflicts 
of interest with the Corporation and the Corporation must itself manage conflicts and comply with 
applicable legal requirements. 

Pursuant to the Conflicts Policy, all directors, in connection with any Conflict of Interest Matter, the 
conflicted director or officer shall disclose in writing to the directors of the Corporation or request to have 
entered into the minutes of meetings of the directors of the Corporation, the nature and extent of the 
conflict as follows: 

(a) the disclosure required in the case of a director shall be made: 
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(i) at the meeting of directors or the applicable committee thereof, as the case may 
be, at which a Conflict of Interest Matter is first considered; 
 

(ii) if such director was not then interested in a Conflict of Interest Matter, at the first 
such meeting after such director becomes so interested; 
 

(iii) if such director becomes interested after an agreement pertaining to the Conflict 
of Interest Matter is entered into, at the first such meeting after such director 
becomes so interested; or 
 

(iv) if an individual who is interested in a material transaction later becomes a 
director, at the first such meeting after such director becomes a director; 
 

(b) the disclosure required in the case of an officer, who is not a director, shall be made: 
 
(i) forthwith after such officer becomes aware that the Conflict of Interest Matter is to 

be considered or has been considered at a meeting of the directors, or the 
applicable committee thereof, as the case may be; 
 

(ii) if such officer becomes interested after an agreement pertaining to the Conflict of 
Interest Matter is entered into, forthwith after such officer becomes aware that he 
or she has become so interested; or 
 

(iii) if an individual who is interested in a Conflict of Interest Matter later becomes an 
officer of the Corporation, forthwith after such individual becomes an officer; and 
 

(c) notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the holding of shares of the Corporation by the 
Corporation, the Manager or any of their respective affiliates shall not be deemed to be a 
Conflict of Interest Matter, and (ii) if a Conflict of Interest matter is one that, in the 
ordinary course of the affairs of the Corporation or the Manager, would not require 
approval by the directors or the shareholders of the Corporation, a director or officer shall 
disclose, in writing to the directors or applicable committee thereof, as the case may be, 
the nature and extent of his interest immediately after he becomes aware of the Conflict 
of Interest Matter. 
 

If a matter is determined to be a Conflict of Interest Matter, the Equityline Group Member will not proceed 
with such Conflict of Interest Matter unless such matter has obtained the prior unanimous approval of the 
Independent directors. 

Senior management will also determine which proposed transactions are potential related party 
transactions, and will review them before they are entered into by the Corporation. If there is reason to 
believe that another party to a transaction is a related party of the Corporation, the Corporation will take 
all reasonable steps to obtain from such other party full disclosure, in writing, of any interest, direct or 
indirect, that would make the other party a related party of the Corporation. Senior management will 
determine (based on legal advice) and record whether or not related party transactions are subject to or 
exempt from the requirements of applicable securities laws or corporate laws, and will provide a current 
report on related party transactions (and summarizing such determinations) to each meeting of the Board 
of Directors. The Corporation shall not effect a related party transaction unless the transaction is 
determined to be on commercially reasonable terms by, and is approved by, the Independent directors 
who have no interest in such transaction. 

Directors and senior management are required to disclose relationships that they believe may result in 
the determination that the person making disclosure, or about whom disclosure is made, is a related party 
of the Corporation. Particular attention will be paid to ensuring the directors, senior management, and 
senior officers understand the potential application of the related party transaction provisions to certain 
investments and family members. 
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Under the Conflicts Policy, senior management will maintain a current listing of (a) persons and entities 
which are believed to be related parties of the Corporation; and (b) agreements currently in place 
between the Corporation and related parties. Senior management will report all Conflict of Interest 
Matters to the Board at its next regularly scheduled meeting.  

Each director and member of senior management is required to complete a declaration indicating that: 

(i) they have read and understood the Conflicts Policy; 
 

(ii) they are not party to a material contract or proposed contract as defined in the Conflicts 
Policy; and 
 

(iii) they have listed all companies that they have a significant interest in or are directors or 
officers of.  

This declaration will be completed annually and given to the Board, who will arrange for the declaration to 
be included in the Corporation’s records. 

Under the Conflicts Policy, a director will not vote on any resolution to approve a contract that he or she 
may have a material interest in. 

Additionally, pursuant to the Conflicts Policy, as the Manager secures mortgage funding opportunity from 
a client it will seek to fund that mortgage in the following order:  

(i) first, to the Corporation; 
 

(ii) if the Corporation is unable or unwilling to fund such mortgage, then to Velev Capital Limited 
Partnership and its affiliates, or other funds that the Manager has an interest in (collectively, 
“Related Funds”); and 
 

(iii) if the Related Funds are unable or unwilling to fund such mortgage, then to any other third 
party mortgage provider as may be selected by the Corporation. 

The Conflicts Policy and its associated processes and controls will be reviewed and updated, if required, 
and at least annually. The review will be completed in order to ensure that the Conflicts Policy remains 
consistent with business strategy, internal practices, industry practices and applicable regulatory 
requirements. 

COVID-19 

There has been and continues to be a global pandemic related to an outbreak of the novel coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19). The Corporation has experienced minimal adverse effects of the pandemic and is 
actively monitoring its mortgages and regulatory developments and will adjust to any regulatory changes 
that may arise as a result of the COVID19 outbreak. This outbreak (and any future outbreaks) of COVID-
19 has led (and may continue to lead) to disruptions in global economic activity, resulting in, among other 
things, a general decline in equity prices and lower interest rates. These circumstances may have an 
adverse effect on levels of employment, which may adversely impact the ability of borrowers to make 
timely payments on their mortgages, which may negatively affect the Corporation’s financial position. 
While governments are closely monitoring the rapidly evolving situation, no assurance can be made 
regarding the policies that may be adopted by the Bank of Canada, the Canadian federal, provincial or 
municipal governments, their agencies, or any other foreign or sub-national government to address the 
effects of COVID-19 or any resulting market volatility. Following multiple interest rate cuts by the Bank of 
Canada in March 2020, which cuts were announced in an attempt to curb the economic effects of COVID-
19, it is possible that the Bank of Canada may make further interest rate cuts or that it may in the future 
resume interest rate increases. Any such increases or decreases may occur at a faster rate than 
expected. To the extent that interest rates increase as a result of the Bank of Canada’s actions or 
otherwise, the availability of refinancing alternatives for credit facilities, mortgage and other loans may be 
reduced. No assurance can be made regarding such matters or their effect on real estate markets 
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generally and on the value and performance of mortgage loans. The full extent of the duration and impact 
that COVID-19, including any regulatory responses to the outbreak, will have on the Canadian economy 
and the Corporation’s business is highly uncertain and difficult to predict at this time. 

2.3 Development of Business 

The Corporation was incorporated on January 18, 2018 under the OBCA. See Item 2.2 “Our Business”. 

The Corporation entered into the Custodial Agreement with Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
dated August 24, 2018. Computershare is a federally regulated trust company duly licensed to provide 
trust services throughout Canada. As custodian, Computershare will hold title to the mortgages, providing 
additional assurance to the investors of the acquisition, and holding of the mortgages acquired. The form 
of the agreement is consistent with the form mandated by the government agency, Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation. 

Offering of Series A Preferred Shares and Listing on Jamaican Stock Exchange 

On January 18, 2019, the Corporation completed an offering of 2,683,400 Series A Preferred Shares to 
purchasers in Jamaica at a price of US$2.00 per share for gross proceeds of US$5,366,800. The offering 
was made pursuant to a prospectus of the Corporation dated November 21, 2018 that was filed with the 
Financial Services Commission of Jamaica and the JSE. The Series A Preferred Shares are currently 
listed for trading on the JSE and trade under the symbol “ELMIC”. The net proceeds from the issuance of 
the Series A Preferred Shares were used to acquire an initial mortgage portfolio. Series A Preferred 
Shares purchased hereunder may not be resold, including on the Jamaica Stock Exchange, 
except in accordance with exemptions under applicable securities laws. 

The Portfolio 

The Corporation has specifically targeted investments in mortgages where the yield and other fees 
generated from the mortgages enable it to pay out the monthly cumulative dividends equivalent to 8% per 
annum on the Series A Preferred Shares.  

The Portfolio has had ongoing changes since January 18, 2019. The current Portfolio is described in 
Appendix B and consists of a diversified pool of mortgages or interests therein, meeting the criteria 
established in the Portfolio Restrictions. The mortgage loans comprising the Portfolio include the following 
attributes: 

 primarily secured by residential, and to a lesser extent, commercial, properties; 

 primarily home equity lines of credit with interest only payment terms; 

 approximately 35% of the Portfolio consists of first mortgages and 65% consists of second 
mortgages; 

 terms of up to 12 months, with a historic average of 8.3 months; 

 average mortgage size of $230,000; 

 loan-to-value ratios of no more than 80%, with a historic average of 73%; 

 prepayment of interest required for 35% of mortgages; 

 invested primarily in urban markets in Ontario; and 

 secured by the properties to which they relate and typically include corporate and/or personal 
guarantees of the borrowers. 

Subject to the Conflicts Policy of the Equityline Group Members, certain of our mortgages can be shared 
with other investors, including members of the Board and/or officers of an Equityline Group Member. In 
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every case, the Corporation’s mortgage participation either ranks equally or in priority to other members 
of the syndicate as to receipt of principal and interest. 

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Portfolio  

The rapid spread of COVID-19 Pandemic has grown into a worldwide a health crisis and is impacting the 
world’s economies and financial markets on an unprecedented global scale. The spread of COVID-19 has 
led to mass quarantines, supply chain and production disruption, unavailability of personnel, reductions in 
sales, earnings, or productivity, disruptions in or stoppages of nonessential business travel, business 
closures/disruptions, international border closures/restrictions and reduced consumer spending. All 
indicators are that the world economy, inclusive of the North American economy, will suffer from a severe 
recession as a result of the economic impact of COVID-19.  

Management’s Assessment of the COVID-19 Pandemic in relation to the Business of the Corporation 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Corporation’s strategy for the deployment of capital into 
mortgages has not changed due to the COVID-19 Pandemic as the fundamentals for underwriting 
mortgages has not shifted materially, in the Manager’s view. The Portfolio has not been impacted by the 
COVID-19 Pandemic and there have been no mortgage defaults. The Manager has not offered any 
mortgage deferrals to mortgagees. Notwithstanding Manager’s belief, there can be no guarantee that the 
Manager’s views will be accurate, and they may materially differ from actual events or results. Although 
the Manager believes its views are reasonable, future results cannot be guaranteed since such 
expectations are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive, political and social 
uncertainties and contingencies, particularly in light of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Many factors could 
cause actual results to differ materially from the Manager’s views.  

The COVID-19 Pandemic has resulted in historic unemployment, gross domestic product retraction, 
interest rate cuts, stock market losses and volatility and implementation of financial relief programs at all 
levels of government. The North American economy began to reopen on a localized and graduated basis 
in most provinces in May of 2020 and continued to do so during the summer of 2020, but the impact of a 
possible second wave of the COVID-19 Pandemic in the fall/winter of 2020 and into 2021 are unknown 
and uncertain at this time. The Manager is unable to estimate when the North American economy will be 
fully reopened and on what basis the economy will perform once reopening has occurred, or it is closed 
partially or wholly in the future (the “Recovery Period”). There continues to exist the possibility of on-
going or renewed local or national shutdowns if the spread and danger of COVID-19 cannot be controlled 
or re-emerges. All levels of government are expected to experience significant deficits for a prolonged 
period of time. The current recession could continue for an indeterminate amount time. Continued 
government pandemic financial relief initiatives may not be able to be continued in their current form or at 
current levels. Any one or more of the above factors could continue for a prolonged period of time. There 
is no guarantee that the investment strategy of the Corporation can be effectively implemented in a 
manner to provide a positive return to investors of the Corporation and/or the return of their investment 
capital.  See also “Risk Factors – COVID-19 Pandemic Risk” 

2.4 Long Term Objectives 

See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Investment Objectives” and Item 2.2 “Our Business – Investment 
Strategies”. 

In order for the Corporation to accomplish its long-term objectives, the following must occur: 

a) the Corporation must complete its short-term objectives described under “2.5 Short Term 
Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them” below; and 

b) the Manager must prudently manage the business and affairs of the Corporation and the Portfolio 
on an ongoing basis, subject to the lending criteria and the Portfolio Restrictions. 
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2.5 Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them 

The Corporation’s objectives over the next twelve months are to raise sufficient funds to expand the 
Corporation’s diversified Portfolio of mortgages and to build a larger shareholder base.  

The costs associated with achieving the Corporation’s short-term objectives include the costs of the 
Offering and ongoing compliance and administrative costs, including the organizational costs of the 
Corporation, the fees payable to the Manager and its Affiliates and the commissions paid by the 
Corporation, if any, to the Agents in connection with the distribution of Series A Preferred Shares and 
Series B Preferred Shares. 

What We Must Do and How We Will Do It Target Completion 
Date 

Cost to Complete(1) 

Raise proceeds up to the target maximum 
Offering of Series A Preferred Shares, maximum 
Offering of Series B Preferred Shares, target 
maximum Offering of Series F Preferred Shares 
and the maximum Offering of Series H Non-
Voting Shares 

Ongoing Up to C$3,430,000(2) 

Deploy net proceeds from the Offering in a 
manner consistent with the Corporation’s 
investment objectives, investment strategies 
and Portfolio Restrictions to expand the 
Corporation’s diversified Portfolio of mortgages 
and to build a larger shareholder base 

Ongoing Up to C$98,930,000(3) 

Notes: 

(1) Assumes a target maximum Offering of Series A Preferred Shares, maximum Offering of Series B Preferred Shares, 
target maximum Offering of Series F Preferred Shares and maximum Offering of Series H Non-Voting Shares. See Item 
1.2 “Use of Available Funds”.  

(2) Consists of commissions and Offering costs. See Item 1.1 “Funds – Offering of Series A Preferred Shares”, Item 1.1 
“Funds – Offering of Series B Preferred Shares”, Item 1.1 “Offering of Series F Preferred Shares” and Item 1.1 “Funds – 
Offering of Series H Non-Voting Shares”. 

(3) Consists of the net proceeds to be used to invest in mortgages. See Item 1.2 “Use of Available Funds”. 

 

2.6 Insufficient Funds 

The funds raised by the Corporation pursuant to the Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish all of the 
Corporation’s proposed objectives and there is no assurance that alternative financings will be available. 

In order to facilitate the timely funding of mortgages, bridging the maturity of mortgages and to manage 
working capital timing requirements, the Corporation may enter a demand operating loan facility with a 
financial institution or another lender. This facility may be collateralized by a general security agreement 
that provides the lender with a first charge on all of the Corporation’s assets and undertakings and may 
not exceed 30% of the Corporation’s Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets without approval by the 
Board. See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Investment Strategies”. 

2.7 Material Agreements 

The following summarizes all material agreements, and the material terms thereof, to which the 
Corporation is currently a party or which have been entered into with an Affiliate. Prospective investors 
may inspect a copy of each of the material agreements described below, to the extent any such 
agreement has been entered into by the parties thereto, during normal business hours at the offices of 
the Corporation at 550 Highway 7 Ave E. Suite 338, Richmond Hill, Ontario, L4B 3Z4 or by contacting the 
Corporation at 1-888-269-1988 or info@equitylinemic.com, and a copy of such requested material 
agreements will be e-mailed to a prospective investor. 
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Management Agreement 

The Corporation and the Manager entered into a management and administration agreement on January 
31, 2018, which is summarized below. 

This is a summary only and is subject to the complete terms and conditions of the Management 
Agreement. 

General 

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, Equityline Services Corp. was appointed as the Manager of the 
Corporation. The Manager will manage and control the mortgage investments and activities of the 
Corporation (directly or indirectly) and to provide administrative and management services, and as 
appropriate, act as agent or trustee for the Corporation in exchange for compensation in the amount of 
the Management Fee.  

The Management Agreement, unless terminated as described below, will continue until the dissolution 
and winding-up of the Corporation. Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager agrees to act 
on a basis which is fair and reasonable and exercise its powers and duties under the Management 
Agreement honestly, prudently, in good faith and in the best interests of the Corporation and, in 
connection therewith, to exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that might reasonably be 
expected from a prudent manager of a business of similar nature, having similar responsibilities, and in 
the same general business. The Manager will not be liable in connection with the performance of its 
activities under the Management Agreement except in cases of wilful misconduct, bad faith, negligence , 
breach of its standard of care owed under the Management Agreement or material breach or default of its 
obligations under the Management Agreement. 

Management Services 

The Manager shall provide full management services for the Corporation in relation to the business and 
activity of the Corporation, consisting of the day-to-day supervision, management and operation of 
mortgage investments and real estate as follows: 

1) comply with the portfolio diversification requirements and investment objectives of the 
Corporation; 

2) supervise the preparation of mortgage agreements, security documents and opinions and the 
disbursement of funds; 

3) conduct monitoring of the investment exposures and covenant compliance of each mortgage 
investment; and 

4) provide day-to-day management and administration of the portfolio of investments, including 
monitoring and servicing the collection. 

As to the management of the portfolio of investments, the Manager will: 

1) undertake the day-to-day management, including the following but excluding those activities 
which require licensing as a mortgage broker or administrator which activities will be delegated to 
a duly licensed Affiliate or third party: 

a) preparation of a monthly report on the costs and expenses incurred by the Corporation, 
the balance of the Corporation’s bank accounts and the contributions and distributions 
during the previous month such report to be delivered by the 15th day of each calendar 
month using data from the previous month; 

b) quarterly unaudited accounting and reporting of the performance of the Portfolio 
investments and the activity of the Corporation, such quarterly report or review to be 
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prepared by the 15th day after the last day of each of April, July and October in each 
calendar year during the term of the Management Agreement; and 

c) quarterly reviews of (i) the Portfolio; and (ii) each Portfolio investment, such quarterly 
report or review to be prepared by the 20th day of each April, July and October in each 
calendar year during the term of the Management Agreement. 

2) manage the minimization of losses, including the monitoring of all investments which form the 
activity of the Corporation, and with credit oversight pursuant to the credit and collection policy of 
the Corporation and Manager in furtherance of appropriate monitoring and oversight for similar 
businesses; 

3) ensure that each investment in the Portfolio is undertaken in accordance with the requirement for 
a compliant portfolio for a “mortgage investment corporation” and so as to achieve the intended 
credit quality, including undertaking portfolio acquisitions specifically in accordance with the 
portfolio diversification requirements of the Corporation; 

4) prepare an annual report and review of the activity of the Corporation, including audited annual 
financial statements; 

5) recommend to the Corporation and manage the dividend payments to the shareholders of the 
Corporation. 

As to the general management of the Portfolio of investments, the Manager will do the following: 

1) undertaking matters in relation to: (i) the proactive investment origination (identification and 
evaluation of prospects, relationship management with prospects, investment opportunity 
evaluation and initial due diligence, etc.); and (ii) the acquisition of investments forming the 
activity of the Corporation; 

2) evaluation of investment proposals from brokers, agents and other sources; 

3) negotiation, preparation and presentation of investment documentation, including negotiation of 
terms and conditions (subject to the involvement of duly licensed mortgage brokers and 
administrators as required by the law); 

4) coordinating and supervising the provision of services of any person or company retained on 
behalf of or as agent of the Corporation or including mortgage brokerage and administration; 

5) enforcing any rights of the Corporation or defending any claims made against the Corporation on 
such terms and conditions as the Manager may in is sole discretion deem satisfactory; 

6) taking all such action as may be required to maintain the existence of the Corporation; and 

7) providing such other advice and services as the Corporation may from time to time request in 
connection with the activity of the Corporation and the investments held. 

Administrative Services 

The Manager shall provide administrative services for the Corporation as follows: 

1) at all times maintain appropriate books of account and records for the Corporation in accordance 
with good accounting practice; 

2) deliver financial information and reports in the form and at the times as are reasonably required; 

3) provide the clerical, administrative and operational services necessary for the proper head office 
administration of the Corporation, including, without limitation, the provision of office 
accommodation and office equipment and facilities and personnel for the performance of such 
head office services, in accordance with the provisions of the Management Agreement and 
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provision of such other facilities as may be required for the purpose of fulfilling the Manager’s 
duties; 

4) perform the duties of keeping accounts and records of banking activities of the Corporation and 
the investments; 

5) prepare and file all tax and securities law filings required to be filed in connection with the activity 
of the Corporation and the investments and determine tax instalments payable, if any; 

6) deal with and reply to all correspondence and other communications addressed to the 
Corporation ore relating to the activity of the Corporation and the investments; 

7) maintain and permit any duly authorized representative of the Corporation to inspect documents 
or records kept in possession of the Manager in connection with the activity of the Corporation 
and the investments; 

8) satisfy and maintain all such requirements, consents and approvals as are needed to comply with 
privacy legislation throughout Canada, such that each of the Manager, the Corporation, the 
auditors and accountants of the Corporation, shall have a right to review the credit files and 
appropriate consents as to the release of any personal or confidential information, which 
consents will comply with all applicable privacy legislation; 

9) maintain all of the books, records, materials or otherwise, created or arising in connection with the 
provision of the management services under the Management Agreement, for and on behalf of 
the Corporation, subject to appropriate systems designed to ensure the continuation of the 
management activities provided for; 

10) ensure that the maintenance of all books, records, and the receipt and disbursement of any 
information by or on behalf of the Corporation meets privacy, security and confidentiality 
standards which are in compliance with all privacy legislation, and is in compliance with the laws, 
statutes, regulations and guidelines governing the Corporation, and making available for audit 
and inspection all such books, records and materials, to the Corporation; 

11) be responsible for all capital markets activities, including all activities in relation to the offering of 
securities of the Corporation in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Corporation’s 
offering documents (whether under prospectus or otherwise) and Articles of the Corporation and 
by-laws and the laws of all relevant and applicable jurisdictions; 

12) actively and regularly evaluate the Portfolio in the context of the investment objectives and for 
compliance with the Portfolio Restrictions and the investment restrictions and monitor regularly on 
an ongoing basis the Corporation’s compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements, 
and with the requirements under the Tax Act to qualify as a “mortgage investment corporation” 
thereunder; 

13) negotiate contractual arrangements with third-party providers of services to the Corporation 
including, but not limited to, registrars, transfer agents, auditors and printers, and appoint, 
supervise and remove such third-party service providers and any replacements upon such terms 
as the Manager shall think fit; 

14) manage and administer the payment to be made by the Corporation to its providers of goods and 
services; 

15) instruct and supervise legal counsel in the drafting, execution and registration of valid and 
enforceable mortgage security for each loan; 

16) recommend to the Board the amount of distributions to be made by the Corporation to holders of 
Offered Shares, if necessary; and 
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17) do all such acts (including such advising and management services wit respect to the Portfolio), 
take all such proceedings, execute all such documents and exercise al such rights and privileges, 
although not specifically mentioned here, as the Manager may deem necessary or ancillary to 
administer the Corporation and its affairs, and to carry out the purposes of the Corporation in 
order for the Corporation to seek to achieve its investment objectives or as the Corporation may 
from time to time reasonably request. 

Fees  

As remuneration for its services to be rendered under the Management Agreement, the Corporation shall 
pay to the Manager a fee equal to 1% per annum of the Aggregate Funded and Committed Assets of the 
Corporation, calculated daily, aggregated and paid monthly in arrears, plus applicable taxes. In 
connection with each mortgage funded by the Corporation, the Corporation acknowledges that the 
Manager shall negotiate a Lender Fee, being a mortgage origination and servicing fee payable by the 
borrower at the time of the negotiation and commitment of a mortgage and renewal fees at the time of 
renewal of any mortgage. The parties acknowledge that Lender Fees are expected to be between 2% - 
5% of the gross value of a mortgage. 

Termination 

The Management Agreement shall be terminated if: (i) the Manager resigns; (ii) the Corporation is wound-
up or substantially all of the investments of the Corporation are sold; (iii) the Manager consents to or 
makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or makes a proposal to creditors under any 
insolvency law, or is declared bankrupt or if a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, custodian or receiver or 
receiver and manager or interim receiver or other officer with similar powers is appointed to administer the 
property of the Manager; (iv) the Manager is convicted of fraud; or (v) the Manager is validly removed 
pursuant to the Management Agreement and the Articles of the Corporation. 

The Corporation or the Manager may terminate the Management Agreement if the other party is in 
material default of its material obligations under the Management Agreement and does not remedy such 
breach within 60 days after written notice of such default is provided by a non-defaulting party. 

Indemnification 

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
Manager and its directors, officers, employees and representatives (each, a “Manager Indemnitee”, and 
collectively, the “Manager Indemnitees”) from and against any loss (other than loss of profits), expense, 
damage or injury suffered or sustained by any of the Indemnitees by reason of any acts, omission or 
alleged acts or omissions arising out of their activities on behalf of the Corporation or in furtherance of the 
interests of the Corporation, including but not limited to any judgment, award, settlement, reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and disbursements and other costs or expenses incurred in connection with the defence 
of any actual or threatened action, proceeding or claim (a “Claim”), provided that the acts, omissions or 
alleged acts or omissions upon which such Claim is based were within the scope of the authority of the 
Manager in accordance with the Management Agreement and were to the result of such Indemnitee’s 
wilful misconduct, bad faith, negligence, breach by the Indemnitee of its standard of care owed under the 
Management Agreement, or breach or default by the Indemnitee of its obligations under the Management 
Agreement. Any such indemnification shall only be from the assets of the Corporation. 

Custodial Agreement  

The Corporation and the Custodian entered into a custodial agreement on August 24, 2018, which is 
summarized below.  

This is a summary only and is subject to the complete terms and conditions of the Custodial 
Agreement. 

General 
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Pursuant to the Custodial Agreement, Computershare Trust Company of Canada was appointed as 
custodian, agent nominee and bailee for and on behalf of the Corporation to hold registered title to 
mortgage loans of the Corporation as agent, nominee and bailee.  

The Custodian will continue to act as custodian and perform its duties and obligations under the Custodial 
Agreement until its resignation or removal and the appointment of a successor Custodian pursuant to the 
Custodial Agreement, it being acknowledged that the Corporation may appoint itself as successor 
Custodian. Pursuant to the Custodial Agreement, the Custodian undertakes to perform such duties and 
only such duties as are specifically set forth in the Custodial Agreement, with the degree of skill, care and 
diligence as would a prudent custodian.  

Ownership of Deposited Property 

The Deposited Property with respect to each mortgage loan of the Corporation and the proceeds thereof, 
are at all times the sole and exclusive property of the Corporation, as the sole beneficial owner thereof.  
Such ownership interest in the Deposited Property entitles the Corporation solely and exclusively to the 
proceeds from the Deposited Property and to the assignment and transfer of such Deposited Property in 
accordance with the Custodial Agreement. 

Fees 

The fees in connection with the services provided by the Custodian are industry standard. 

Limitation of Liability of Custodian 

Pursuant to the Custodial Agreement, neither the Corporation nor any person appointed by the 
Corporation to administer, collect and enforce mortgage loans of the Corporation as servicer (a 
“Servicer”) nor the successors or assigns of any of such person, has or will have any claim, remedy or 
right to proceed against the Custodian in its individual corporate capacity for the payment of any liability 
resulting from any fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or wilful misconduct by any person other than the 
Custodian or those for whom it is in law responsible, of any representation, warranty, covenant or other 
agreement of any nature whatsoever in the Custodial Agreement. The Custodian is not responsible for 
the accuracy or content of any order, request, resolution, certificate, statement, writing, direction, 
instruction, opinion, report, document or other instrument furnished by the Corporation or a Servicer to 
and accepted by the Custodian in good faith, pursuant to the Custodial Agreement. The Custodian will not 
be liable for any error of judgement, or for any act done or omitted by it in good faith, or for any mistake of 
fact or law, or for anything which it may do or omit from doing in connection herewith, except its own 
fraud, wilful misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence 

Indemnity 

Without limiting any protection or indemnity of the Custodian under any other provision of the Custodial 
Agreement, or otherwise at law, the Corporation agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Custodian, its 
directors, officers, employees,  and agents, and all of their respective representatives, heirs, successors 
and assigns (collectively the “Custodian Indemnitees”) from and against any and all liabilities, losses, 
damages, penalties, claims, actions, suits, costs, expenses and disbursements, including reasonable 
legal or adviser fees and disbursements, of whatever kind and nature which may at any time be imposed 
on, incurred by or asserted against the Custodian Indemnitees in connection with the performance of the 
Custodian’s duties and obligations hereunder, other than such liabilities, losses, damages, penalties, 
claims, actions, suits, costs, expenses and disbursements arising by reason of the gross negligence, bad 
faith, wilful misconduct or fraud of the Custodian. 

Termination 

The Custodian will continue to act as custodian and perform its duties and obligations under the Custodial 
Agreement until its resignation or removal and the appointment of a successor custodian pursuant to the 
Custodial Agreement, it being acknowledged that the Corporation may appoint itself as successor 
custodian. 
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The Custodian may resign at any time after giving not less than 60 days prior written notice to the 
Corporation. No resignation of the Custodian is effective until the appointment by the Corporation of, and 
acceptance of such appointment by, a successor custodian and the transfer of all Deposited Property to 
such successor custodian. Until such appointment, acceptance and transfer of all Deposited Property, the 
Custodian continues to have all of its obligations and responsibilities under this Custodial Agreement; 
provided, however, that the Corporation will use reasonable and commercial efforts to promptly appoint a 
successor custodian as soon as possible and in no event will the Custodian be obliged to continue as 
custodian under the Custodial Agreement for more than 180 days next following the giving of such written 
notice of resignation. 

The Custodian may be removed at any time by notice in writing given by the Corporation to the Custodian 
if, at any time, the Custodian no longer satisfies all of the requirements of status and legal compliance as 
set out in the Custodial Agreement or is declared bankrupt or insolvent or enters into liquidation, whether 
compulsory or voluntary, and not being a voluntary liquidation for the purposes of amalgamation or 
reconstruction, or if the assets of the Custodian otherwise become liable to seizure or confiscation by any 
public or governmental authority, or for any other reason and otherwise upon 30 days’ written notice. No 
decision to remove a Custodian under the Custodial Agreement becomes effective until the appointment 
by the Corporation of, and acceptance of such appointment by, a successor custodian in the place of the 
Custodian to be removed. 

Item 3: Interests of Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders 

3.1 Compensation and Securities Held 

The following table sets out information about each director, officer and each person who, directly or 
indirectly, beneficially owns or controls 10% or more of any class of voting securities of the Corporation (a 
“Principal Holder”):  

Name and 
municipality of 
principal residence 

Positions held (e.g., director, officer, 
promoter and/or principal holder) and the 
date of obtaining that position 

Compensation paid by 
issuer or related party in 
the most recently 
completed financial year 
and the compensation 
anticipated to be paid in 
the current financial year 

Number, type and 
percentage of 
securities of the 
issuer held after 
completion of the 
Offering(2) 

Sergiy Shchavyelyev 

Toronto, ON 

Non-Independent director, President and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation 
and Manger since January 18, 2018; 
Secretary of the Corporation and Manager 
since October 16, 2019 

$0 / $0(1) 25 Voting Shares 
(25.0% of Voting 
Shares) 

Roman Raskin 

Toronto, ON 

Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation 
since March 1, 2019; Chief Financial Officer 
of the Manager since October 16, 2019 

$0 / $25,000 Nil 

Sergiy Przhebelskyy 

Toronto, ON 

Non-Independent director of the Corporation, 
and Chief Operating Officer of the Manager 
since October 16, 2019 

$0 / $0 Nil 

Mark Simone 

Toronto, ON 

Vice President of the Corporation and 
Manager since January 1, 2020 

$0 / $0 Nil 

Arthur Smelyansky 

Toronto, ON 

Chief Portfolio Officer of the Corporation and 
the Manager since January 1, 2020 

$0 / $0 Nil 

Robert C. Kay 

Toronto, ON 

Executive Vice President of the Corporation 
since January 7, 2020; director since 
January 30, 2018; and Principal Holder since 
January 8, 2020 

$2,500 per Board meeting 
and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

25 Voting Shares 
(25.0% of Voting 
Shares) 

Mark Korol Independent director of the Corporation since $2,500 per Board meeting Nil 
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Name and 
municipality of 
principal residence 

Positions held (e.g., director, officer, 
promoter and/or principal holder) and the 
date of obtaining that position 

Compensation paid by 
issuer or related party in 
the most recently 
completed financial year 
and the compensation 
anticipated to be paid in 
the current financial year 

Number, type and 
percentage of 
securities of the 
issuer held after 
completion of the 
Offering(2) 

Toronto, ON October 17, 2019 and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

Eric Klein 

Toronto, ON 

Independent director since March 1, 2019 $2,500 per Board meeting 
and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

Nil 

Willie Handler 

Toronto, ON 

Independent director since January 1, 2020 $2,500 per Board meeting 
and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

Nil 

Donald Hathaway Independent director since February 12, 
2020 

$2,500 per Board meeting 
and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

Nil 

Stephen Clarke Vice President of the Corporation since 
September 1, 2020 

Independent director from February 12, 2020 
to September 1, 2020 

$2,500 per Board meeting 
and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

Nil 

Ungad Chadda Independent director since February 12, 
2020 

$2,500 per Board meeting 
and reimbursement of 
costs associated with 
additional tasks 

Nil 

Yuliya Yashku 

Richmond Hill, ON 

Principal Holder since October 16, 2019 $0 / $0 25 Voting Shares 
(25.0% of Voting 
Shares) 

Igor Demitchev 

Toronto, ON 

Principal Holder since January 18, 2018 $0 / $0 25 Voting Shares 
(25.0% of Voting 
Shares) 

Notes: 

(1) The Manager will receive the Management Fee and Lender Fees generated by the Corporation. Subject to the Conflicts 
Policy, the Corporation will pay for all reasonable and verifiable expenses that the Corporation incurs or the Manager 
incurs on behalf of the Corporation in connection with the operation and management of the Corporation, including but not 
limited to, statement fees, early pre-payment, discharge fees, bonus fees, inspection fees and all other fees which could 
be included in the commitment upon the origination of the mortgage loan, as well as all remuneration of the directors of 
the Corporation. See Item “2.2 Our Business – Management Fees and Operating Expenses”. 

(2) No Voting Shares or Series A Preferred Shares will be offered under the Offering. The directors and officers and other 
principal holders of the Corporation may acquire Offered Shares as part of the Offering; however, the amount of Offered 
Shares that any director or officer or principal holders may acquire is not known as of the date of this Offering 
Memorandum. 
 

3.2 Management Experience 

The following table discloses the principal occupations of the directors and officers of the Corporation and 
the Manager over the past five years.  

Name Principal occupation and related experience 

Sergiy Shchavyelyev Director, President, Chief Executive Officer and Secretary of the Corporation, 
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Name Principal occupation and related experience 

 Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Manager; Principal Broker of 
Equityline Financial 

Mr. Shchavyelyev is the CEO and Founder of the Corporation, a publicly traded 
company on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. Mr. Shchavyelyev graduated from 
Harvard Business School in Financial Accounting and holds a Masters Degree in 
Law from Mechnikov National University. Mr. Shchavyelyev currently manages 
over $80 million between funds and development projects. Mr. Shchavyelyev is a 
real estate developer and mortgage broker, with extensive lending and financial 
experience in real estate assets. Mr. Shchavyelyev has a track record of closing 
and redeveloping multi-million dollar transactions in the real estate industry. He 
owns, in part, a family operated real estate brokerage referred to herein as 
Equityline Financial. Mr. Shchavyelyev is also a member of the advisory 
committee of PCMA Canada (Private Capital Markets Association of Canada). 

Mr. Shchavyelyev has been an active real estate broker since 2006 and 
mortgage broker since 2008. Prior to working as a real estate broker and re-
developer, Mr. Shchavyelyev worked in a small claims court and land registry 
office as a paralegal for two and a half years. He joined his family real estate 
business where he was involved in residential and commercial developments, 
custom built dwellings, apartment buildings and multi-million dollar commercial 
real estate projects. As at the date hereof, Mr. Shchavyelyev has completed over 
$600 million in real estate transactions. 

Robert C. Kay Executive Vice President and Non-Independent Director of the Corporation 

Mr. Kay is a seasoned Corporate Director and Business Advisor. He combines 
business and legal skills with extensive experience in international commerce to 
develop and assess complex strategies with governments and multinational 
companies. Mr. Kay has served as a Corporate Director in both privately held 
and publicly listed companies, serving on Governance, Audit, and Strategy 
Committees. 

Mr. Kay is currently Chairman, Advisory Board of Migao Group; Corporate 
Director of the Corporation, Baycrest Geriatric Health Care & Research Centre 
for Aging and the Brain, and the Royal Canadian Military Institute. 

Notable governance roles have included: Chairman-Canadian Commercial 
Corporation; Vice Chairman & Lead Director-Migao Corporation; Chairman-
Migao Special Committee for Going Private; Chairman-Swiss/Canadian 
Chamber of Commerce; Director in Residence-Institute of Corporate Directors; 
Board Director-Changfeng Energy Inc; Board Director-American Chamber of 
Commerce (Ontario Council). Mr. Kay was a teaching Board Member in the 
Integrative Thinking Practicum of the MBA Degree Program at the University of 
Toronto. He is a former Deputy Judge of the Superior Court of Justice of Ontario 
SCC branch. Earlier in his career, Mr. Kay served as Personal Assistant to the 
Deputy Prime Minister of Canada. Mr. Kay is Chairman of the Baycrest Board 
Committee on Clinical Strategy, and Chairman of the Royal Canadian Military 
Institute Audit Committee. Mr. Kay is also a Member of the American Judges 
Association, and the Institute of Corporate Directors. 

Ungad Chadda Independent Director of the Corporation 

Mr. Chadda was Senior Vice President of TMX Group, parent company of 
Toronto Stock Exchange and Enterprise Head of Corporate Strategy, 
Development and External Affairs. He was responsible for building and 
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Name Principal occupation and related experience 

maintaining the TMX Group investor base as well as supporting its public interest 
mandate and strategies to grow as a company. Mr. Chadda joined TMX Group in 
1997. Since then, Mr. Chadda has held progressively senior roles, including: 
Director of Listings, TSX Venture Exchange; Chief Operating Officer, TSX 
Venture Exchange; Vice President, Business Development, Toronto Stock 
Exchange and TSX Venture Exchange, Senior Vice President, Toronto Stock 
Exchange and President, Capital Formation. 

Mr. Chadda is a Chartered Accountant and received his designation in 1996 
while practicing with Ernst and Young LLP. He is a former member of the 
Corporate Cabinet for the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Foundation 
(CAMH), Chair of the World Federation of Exchanges (WFE) SME Advisory 
Board and a former member of the Toronto Financial Services Alliance (TFSA) 
board. 

Donald Hathaway Independent Director of the Corporation 

Mr. Hathaway has spent over forty years executing leadership roles in diverse 
business, academic and government settings. He has been a business CEO, a 
senior partner in two major international consultancies and a corporate director 
on multiple boards while accumulating expertise in strategy, finance, risk 
management, marketing and corporate governance. Some of Mr. Hathaway’s 
previous experience included: Director at SLM Logistics (TSX-V: SEL); Chair at 
Atlantis Systems Corp (TSX-AIQ); Chair at Neotel International (TSX – NIT); 
Director at American Railway Systems, (NASDQ – OTC).  

Currently Mr. Hathaway has the following directorships: Director at First 
Resource Management Group; Chair at IRC for Knowledge First Financial with 8 
billion in AUM; Chair at IRC for Harvest Portfolios Group with approaching 1 
billion AUM; Chair at MetaFLO technologies. Two of them are registered 
investment funds (per National Instrument 81-107). 

As a serial entrepreneur, Mr. Hathaway is often on the board of emerging 
companies and he has worked with the boards of many of Canada’s largest 
corporations on strategic, organizational, financial and risk issues. Some of those 
roles were: MBET Advisory Council, University of Waterloo; Chair; Member - 
University of Waterloo Advisory Council; Board of Governors, York University; 
Free Trade Policy Advisory Council, Ontario; Canadian Employment and 
Immigration Advisory Council; United Way of Greater Toronto, Government 
Relations; Senior Partner at Ernst & Young in 1991-1992 and currently is a 
Director at Stratford Chefs School. 

Mr. Hathaway has strong competencies in board operations, the board-
management interface and standing committees of the board, particularly audit, 
risk, compensation and governance. He has extensive experience with corporate 
re-structuring, mergers and acquisitions, regulatory compliance and initial public 
offerings. 

Mr. Hathaway has written two books on corporate governance, published in 2008 
and 2010, and he appears frequently as a speaker or panelist on governance, 
risk and financial issues. He studied electrical engineering, mathematics and 
holds MBA Degree from York University. 

Mark Korol, CPA, CFE, 
CFA, ABV, ICD.D 

Independent Director of the Corporation 

Mr. Korol has over 20 years’ experience as a Chief Financial Officer in a variety 
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Name Principal occupation and related experience 

of industries, including seven years of public company experience at Zenon 
Environmental and CDI Education Corp. He has spent the last two years at the 
Arturos Group, an international vertically integrated hospitality business with 
2,000 employees. Prior to Arturos Group, Mr. Korol spent 12 years with the Xela 
Group of Companies, a diversified multinational private company with 5,000 
employees concentrated in the agricultural and hospitality industries. Mr. Korol 
has held various financial positions over his career including as a Research 
Analyst with National Bank Financial in Toronto, Ontario. Mr. Korol obtained his 
Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Windsor and a B.A. in Economics 
and Kinesiology from the University of Western Ontario. He is a Chartered 
Financial Analyst (CFA) and a Certified Public Accountant (CPA). Mr. Korol is 
also a Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE) and Accredited Business Valuator (ABV). 
He holds the Institute of Corporate Directors designation (ICD.D) and has been a 
Board member of both private and public companies with international 
operations. 

Eric Klein, CPA, ICD, 
CBV, CA 

Independent Director of the Corporation, Chair of Audit Committee 

Mr. Klein is currently President of Klein Valuation Services Inc., a firm that 
focuses on business strategy, complex mergers, acquisitions, divestitures and 
financings for mid-sized Canadian corporations. With more than 30 years of 
experience, he focuses on providing results-driven corporate finance advisory 
services for mid-market Canadian companies. Recently, Mr. Klein was a senior 
executive with a Canadian public financial institution. Prior to that Mr. Klein was 
the founder and Managing Director of the Corporate Finance, Valuations & 
Transaction practice of Farber Financial Group. Mr. Klein is a graduate of McGill 
University and a graduate Diploma in Public Accounting and holds designations 
as a Chartered Public Accountant and Chartered Business Valuator. Currently 
he is a Director and Audit Committee Chair of INV Metals Inc. (TSX:INV) and a 
Director and Board Chairman of Braingrid Corporation (CSE:BGRD). 

Willie Handler Independent Director of the Corporation 

Mr. Handler has 28 years of experience in the insurance sector with 20 years 
working on insurance regulatory policy with the Financial Services Commission 
of Ontario and 8 years operating his own consulting business. He has provided 
strategic advice to a wide range of clients who dealing with an evolving 
regulatory environment. He holds a Bachelor of Science from the University of 
Toronto, a Master in Health Administration from the Fox School of Business at 
Temple University and a Master in Public Administration from the Schulich 
School of Business at York University.  

Stephen Clarke Vice President of the Corporation 

Mr. Clarke is an executive leader with over 30 years’ experience in the marketing 
and sales areas of the wealth management and financial services sectors. 

Mr. Clarke has significant experience in different regulatory environments 
including the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC), 
the Mutual Fund Dealers Association (MFDA), the Financial Services Regulatory 
Authority (FSRA) and Private Capital Markets (Issuers and Exempt Market 
Dealers). Mr. Clarke has worked in both the product (asset manager, issuer) and 
distribution side of the wealth management industry. He has a unique ability to 
structure and promote a wide range of innovative products through multiple 
channels to a diverse investor audience. He holds an Honours Bachelor of 
Commerce and a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from McMaster 
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Name Principal occupation and related experience 

University. 

Roman Raskin Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation and Manager 

Mr. Raskin is the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation. Mr. Raskin is also 
the Manager, Financial Services of Velev Capital, with over 15 years of 
experience servicing local and international clients. 

Mr. Raskin is the founder and principal of Raskin & Associates Chartered 
Professional Accountants, an accounting firm located in Toronto providing 
accounting and assurance, taxation, and business advisory services. Prior to 
Raskin and Associates, Mr. Raskin held various accounting, audit and advisory 
roles at Crowe Soberman LLP, Williams & Partners LLP, G7G Partnership LLP 
and Sloan Partners. He is a Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada who 
takes pride in his work and offers personal commitment, strategy and unique 
foresight. Mr. Raskin’s desire for continuous learning, an entrepreneurial spirit 
and a passion for others has heavily contributed to the firm’s strong foundation 
and has helped the Corporation build a strong management and board of 
directors. 

Arthur Smelyansky, 
CIM, DMS, PFP 

Chief Portfolio Officer of the Corporation and Manager 

Mr. Smelyansky is the Chief Portfolio Officer of the Corporation and the 
Manager. He currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Portfolio 
Manger at Maccabi Capital Management LLC and is a Portfolio Manager, Hedge 
Fund Trader and Co-Founder of Maccabi Equity Income Fund. Mr. Smelyansky 
is a Canadian Securities Institute certified Personal Financial Planner, Chartered 
Investment Manager and Derivatives Market Specialist. 

Mr. Smelyansky was the Senior Analyst and Trader at Bonello Holdings Inc., 
located in Toronto, Canada, from September 2012 to January 2018. During his 
tenure at Bonello Holding, the company improved investment returns from 6% to 
9.71%. Mr. Smelyansky’s responsibilities ranged from credit analysis and 
research for the entire portfolio to the direct management of a book of assets 
worth almost 40 million. Mr. Smelyansky’s specialty is in options trading, and 
using derivatives to preserve capital and lower portfolio volatility. 

Mr. Smelyansky holds the CIM (Chartered Investment Manager), DMS 
(Derivatives Market Specialist) and PFP (Personal Financial Planner) 
designations . He is currently in the process of obtaining the CAIA (Chartered 
Alternative Investment Analyst) designation. 

Sergiy Przhebelskyy Non-Independent Director of the Corporation; Chief Operating Officer of the 
Manager 

Mr. Przhebelskyy is a director and the Chief Operating Officer of the Corporation. 
Mr. Przhebelskyy brings a wealth of banking sector knowledge having spent time 
over seven years in the banking and financial sectors at TD and The National 
Bank of Canada. In 2014, Mr. Przhebelskyy transitioned out of the traditional 
mortgage lending channels to the mortgage broker channel. During this time, Mr. 
Przhebelskyy gained experience and insights into alternative mortgage lending 
practices including private mortgage financing. He has completed more than 
$200 million in residential mortgage transactions over his career as a mortgage 
specialist. His ability to effectively source deals that best met his client’s needs at 
competitive rates won him high praise. At the Corporation, Mr. Przhebelskyy is 
involved in daily operations of underwriting, deal compliance, administration, and 
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Name Principal occupation and related experience 

office management. He has an excellent knowledge of real estate sector, 
appraisals reports, mortgage structuring and funding processes. 

Mark Simone Vice President of the Corporation and Manager 

Mr. Simone is a business executive with extensive C-Suite experience in the 
development and management of businesses in the insurance, finance, and 
medical sectors. 

He was the President of Medipac International Insurance, Canada’s largest 
retailer of long-term travel medical insurance, the Executive and Managing 
Director of the Canadian Snowbird Association, one of Canada’s largest lifestyle 
affinity groups, the President of Ontario Health Clinics, serving over fifty 
thousand patients and, most recently, the Vice President of Strategic Relations 
with Pinnacle Wealth Brokers, Canada’s largest Exempt Market Dealer. 

Mr. Simone has developed successful sales and marketing programs throughout 
his career and has personally founded and managed largescale consumer and 
trade shows. He has a passion and talent for developing strategic relationships 
and maintaining mutual paths to success for all stakeholders. 

 
3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

No director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation or the Manager has in the last 10 years: 
(i) been subject to any penalties, sanctions or cease trade orders; (ii) been a director, executive officer or 
control person of an issuer that has been subject to any penalties, sanctions or cease trade orders while 
such director, executive officer or control person was a director, executive officer or control person of 
such issuer; (iii) made any declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, proposal under 
any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 
appointment of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets; or (iv) been a director, executive 
officer or control person of an issuer that has made any declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment 
in bankruptcy, proposal under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or appointment of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets while 
such director, executive officer or control person was a director, executive officer or control person of 
such issuer. 

3.4 Loans 

As of September 30, 2020, there were debentures outstanding in the amount of $5,740,000 to the 
directors, management, promoters or principal holders of the Corporation or the Manager. See the 
financial statements under Item 12 “Financial Statements” for a summary of the material terms of the 
outstanding debentures. 
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Item 4: Capital Structure 

4.1 Share Capital 

Description 
of security 

Number 
authorized 
to be 
issued 

Price per 
security 

Number 
outstanding 
as at May 1, 
2021 

Number 
Outstanding 
after the 
target 
maximum 
Offering of 
Series A 
Preferred 
Shares(1) 

Number 
Outstanding 
after the 
maximum 
Offering of 
Series B 
Preferred 
Shares 

Number 
Outstanding 
after the target 
maximum 
Offering of 
Series F 
Preferred 
Shares(1) 

Number 
Outstanding 
after the 
minimum 
Offering of 
Series H 
Non-Voting 
Shares 

Number 
Outstanding 
after the 
maximum 
Offering of 
Series H Non-
Voting Shares 

Non-Voting 
Shares – 
Series H 

Unlimited $10.00 Nil N/A N/A N/A 100,000 1,000,000(1) 

Preferred 
Shares – 
Series A 

Unlimited US$2.00 2,683,000 7,683,400 2,683,400 2,683,400 2,683,400 2,683,400 

Preferred 
Shares – 
Series B 

Unlimited $10.00 Nil N/A 4,000,000 N/A N/A N/A 

Preferred 
Shares – 
Series F 

Unlimited $10.00 Nil N/A N/A 4,000,000 N/A N/A 

Voting 
Shares 

Unlimited $1.00 100 100 100 100 100 100 

Notes: 

(1) The Corporation is targeting an offering of US$10,000,000 of Series A Preferred Shares and an offering of $40,000,000 of Series F 
Preferred Shares but may raise more or less than such target amounts. 

 

4.2 Long Term Debt Securities 

Description of 
Long Term Debt 

Interest Rate Repayment Terms Amount outstanding 
as at May 1, 2021 

Unsecured 
debentures 

8% 
See the financial statements under Item 12 
“Financial Statements” for a summary of the 
material terms of the outstanding debenture 

$7,700,000 

 

4.3 Prior Sales 

Date of issuance Type of security 
issued 

Number of 
securities issued 

Price per security Total funds received 

January 18, 2019 
Series A Preferred 
Shares 

2,683,400 US$2.00 US$5,366,800.00(1) 

March 16, 2019 
Unsecured 
debentures 

200,000 $10.00 $2,000,000(2) 

March 23, 2020 
Unsecured 
debentures(3) 

370,000 $10.00 $3,700,000 

May 15, 2020 
Unsecured 
debentures(3) 

100,000 $10.00 $1,000,000 

 

Note: 
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(1) On January 18, 2019, the Corporation completed an offering of 2,683,400 Series A Preferred Shares at US$2.00 per share for aggregate 
gross proceeds of US$5,366,800.00 pursuant to a prospectus dated November 21, 2018. The Series A Preferred Shares are currently 
listed on the JSE. 

(2) Repaid during the six months ended June 30, 2020. 

(3) See the financial statements under Item 12 “Financial Statements” for a summary of the material terms of the outstanding debentures. 

 

4.4 Redemption History 

There have been no redemption requests since inception of the Corporation. 

Item 5: Securities Offered 

5.1 Terms of Securities 

This is a summary only and is subject to the complete Articles of the Corporation attached as 
Appendix A.  To the extent that there is any inconsistency between this summary and the Articles 
of the Corporation, the provisions of the Articles of the Corporation shall prevail.  

Series A Preferred Shares 

Purchase Price Each Series A Preferred Share shall be issued at a purchase price equal to 
US$2.00 per share. 

Priority The Series A Preferred Shares shall, with respect to the payment of dividends 
and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
rank on a parity with the Preferred Shares of every other series, including the 
Series A Preferred Shares, and with respect to the distribution of assets be 
entitled to a preferred distribution and priority over the Voting Shares, the Non-
Voting Shares and over any other shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the 
Preferred Shares in respect of dividends.  

Voting Rights The holders of Series A Preferred Shares will not be entitled to notice of or to 
attend, and will not be entitled to vote at, any meeting of shareholders, unless 
and until the Corporation shall have failed to fully pay an aggregate of three (3) 
monthly dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares in accordance with the 
terms of the Series A Preferred Shares, whether or not consecutive and whether 
or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of 
the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. 
Accordingly, such voting rights shall be applicable once there is accrued and 
unpaid an aggregate of $0.04 per share. In the event of such non-payment, and 
for only so long as any such dividends remain in arrears, the holders of the 
Series A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of 
shareholders of the Corporation and to attend thereat. The holders of the Series 
A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to vote together with all of the Voting Shares 
of the Corporation on the basis of one vote in respect of each Series A Preferred 
Share held by each such holder, until all such arrears of such dividends shall 
have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and until the 
Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends on the Series 
A Preferred Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not 
consecutive and whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or 
not there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment 
of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again 
and so on from time to time. The holders of Series A Preferred Shares shall be 
entitled to vote separately as a class on any resolution to wind-up, dissolve or 
liquidate the Corporation and as set out below under “Amendments and 
Modifications”. 
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Dividends Priority: The Series A Preferred Shares rank senior to the Voting Shares, the 
Non-Voting Shares and any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking 
junior to the Preferred Shares and rank on a parity with every other series of 
Preferred Shares as to dividends. 

General: Holders of the Series A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, 
and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, 
out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of 
dividends, fixed, cumulative, preferential monthly cash dividends in an amount 
equal to an annual rate of 8% based on the purchase price of the Series A 
Preferred Shares, payable, with respect to each Series A Preferred Share 
Dividend Period, on the 15th day of each of the months of each year (the “Series 
A Dividend Payment Date”) in respect of such Series A Preferred Share 
Dividend Period. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares shall accrue daily 
from and including the date of issue of such shares. 

Initial Dividend and 
Dividend for Other 
than a Full Dividend 
Period 

The holders of Series A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series A Preferred Share 
Dividend Period or any period which is less than a full Series A Preferred Share 
Dividend Period, as follows: 

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of 
the initial issue of the Series A Preferred Shares to but excluding the first 
day of the next Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period in an amount 
per Series A Preferred Share equal to US$0.16 multiplied by a fraction, 
the numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and 
including the date of the initial issue of the Series A Preferred Shares to 
but excluding the first day of the next Series A Preferred Share Dividend 
Period and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series A Preferred 
Share: 

1) which is issued or redeemed during any Series A Preferred 
Share Dividend Period; 

2) where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the 
holders of the Series B Preferred Shares pursuant to Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series A Preferred Shares – Liquidation, 
Dissolution or Winding-Up” with an effective date during any 
Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period; or 

3) in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series 
A Preferred Share Dividend Period that such share has been 
outstanding is less than a full Series A Preferred Share Dividend 
Period (other than the period referred to in paragraph (i) above) 

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable 
in respect of the applicable full Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period is 
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in 
such Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period that such share has been 
outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the effective date for the 
distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, as 
applicable) and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such 
Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period. 
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Cumulative Payment 
of Dividends 

If on any Series A Dividend Payment Date, the dividends payable in respect of 
the Series A Preferred Share Dividend Period ending in the calendar month in 
which such Series A Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of 
the Series A Preferred Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid 
part thereof, shall be paid (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by 
the Corporation) on a subsequent date or dates determined by the Board on 
which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the 
payment of such dividends. 

Other Dividends Holders of Series A Preferred Shares have a right, after payment to them of their 
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of 
the Non-Voting Shares and, if necessary, the Voting Shares, to participate pari 
passu with the holders of the Non-Voting Shares and, if necessary, the Voting 
Shares in any further payment of dividends. 

Liquidation, 
Dissolution or 
Winding-Up 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or 
other distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the 
purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, subject to the 
prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of 
shares of the Corporation ranking senior to the Series A Preferred Shares, the 
holders of the Series A Preferred Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with the 
Preferred Shares of every other series and (b) senior to the Voting Shares and 
the shares of any other class ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series 
A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the Series A 
Preferred Share Redemption Price per Series A Preferred Share, together with 
an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether declared or not, 
up to but excluding the date fixed for payment or distribution (less any tax 
required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation), before any amount is 
paid or any assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of any shares 
of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to the Series A Preferred Shares. 
Upon payment to the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares of the amounts so 
payable to them, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any further 
distribution of the assets of the Corporation. 

Redemption by 
Shareholder 

Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemed at any time following the date that 
is 36 months following the date of initial issuance of the Series A Preferred 
Shares (the “Series A Shareholder Redemption Start Date”) at the Series A 
Preferred Share Redemption Price (less any tax required to be deducted or 
withheld by the Corporation and less any costs associated with such 
redemption). The Corporation shall not be required to accept notices of 
redemption for Series A Preferred Shares representing more than 10% of the 
number of Series A Preferred Shares outstanding at the beginning of the 
applicable Series A Redemption Period (the “Series A Threshold”). A “Series 
A Redemption Period” is each of the periods from January 1 to June 30 and 
from July 1 to December 31 of any calendar year after the Series A 
Shareholder Redemption Start Date (provided that if the first Series A 
Redemption Period is less than 3 months long, the first Series A Redemption 
Period shall begin on the Series A Shareholder Redemption Start Date and end 
on the last day of what would be the next Series A Redemption Period). This 
restriction means that if, between January 1 and June 30 of a calendar year, 
redemption notices are received for 10% of outstanding Series A Preferred 
Shares calculated as of January 1, subject to pro ration, no further redemption 
notices are required to be accepted in that period. Likewise, if between July 1 
and December 31 of a calendar year, redemption notices are received for 10% 
of outstanding Series A Preferred Shares calculated as of July 1, subject to pro 
ration, no further redemption notices are required to be accepted in that period. 
In the event that the number of Series A Preferred Shares tendered for 
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redemption during a Series A Redemption Period exceeds the Series A 
Threshold and the board of directors of the Corporation determines not to 
redeem Series A Preferred Shares in excess of the Series A Threshold, the 
Corporation shall redeem such Series A Preferred Shares tendered for 
redemption and not withdrawn or revoked, on a pro rata basis, and all such 
Series A Preferred Shares tendered in excess of the Series A Threshold shall 
be returned to the shareholder and no further notices of redemption shall be 
permitted or accepted in such Series A Redemption Period. 

Suspension of 
Redemptions 

The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Series A Preferred Shares for 
any period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager 
determines that conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the 
Portfolio or which impair the ability of the Manager to determine the value of 
assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The suspension may apply to all 
requests for redemption for Series A Preferred Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all 
requests received while the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series A Preferred 
Shares who have tendered their Series A Preferred Shares for redemption in 
such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager. All such holders of Series A Preferred Shares shall have and shall be 
advised that they have the right to withdraw such Series B Preferred Shares 
surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on the 
first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist 
provided that no other condition under which a suspension is authorized then 
exists. To the extent not inconsistent with the rules and regulations promulgated 
by any governmental body having jurisdiction over the Corporation, any 
declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the Manager shall be 
conclusive. 

Redemption by 
Corporation 

The term of the Series A Preferred Shares is sixty (60) months. On the 
Termination Date, the Series A Preferred Shares will be redeemed by the 
Corporation. The Series A Preferred Shares shall not be redeemable by the 
Corporation prior to the date that is 24 months following the initial issuance of 
the Series A Preferred Shares (the “Series A Corporation Redemption Start 
Date”). On and after the Series A Corporation Redemption Start Date, the 
Corporation may redeem all or any number of the outstanding Series A 
Preferred Shares, at its option, by the payment in cash of an amount equal to 
the Series A Preferred Share Redemption Price (less any tax required to be 
deducted or withheld by the Corporation). Where applicable, if less than all of 
the outstanding Series A Preferred Shares are at any time to be redeemed, the 
particular shares to be redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis 
(disregarding fractions) or, if the Series A Preferred Shares are at such time 
listed on a stock exchange, with the consent of any applicable stock exchange, 
in such other manner as the Board may in its sole discretion determine by 
resolution. 

Repurchase by 
Corporation 

The Corporation may, at any time after the Series A Corporation Redemption 
Start Date, purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all or any number of the 
Series A Preferred Shares outstanding from time to time: (a) by private 
agreement; (b) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for 
tenders addressed to all holders of Series A Preferred Shares; or (c) in the open 
market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on 
a recognized stock exchange if the Series A Shares are listed on a recognized 
stock exchange, and the Corporation shall provide the requisite notice thereof in 
accordance with the rules of the stock exchange on which the Series A Preferred 
Shares are listed. 
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Restrictions on 
Ownership 

No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted to hold at any time, directly or 
indirectly, together with Related Persons, more than 25% of any class or series 
of the issued shares of the Corporation. In the event that (i) the exercise by any 
holder of shares of a redemption right associated with the shares, or (ii) as 
determined by the Board in its sole discretion, any other transaction affecting the 
shares (each a “Triggering Transaction”), if completed, would cause any 
holder(s) of shares (each an “Automatic Repurchase Shareholder”), together 
with Related Persons, to hold more than 25% of any series of the issued shares 
of the Corporation, that portion of the shares held by each Automatic 
Repurchase Shareholder which constitutes in excess of 24.9% of the issued 
shares of any series (the “Repurchased Shares”) will, simultaneously with the 
completion of a Triggering Transaction, automatically be repurchased and 
cancelled by the Corporation (an “Automatic Repurchase”) without any further 
action by the Corporation or the Automatic Repurchase Shareholder. The 
purchase price for any Repurchased Shares will be equal to the Series A 
Preferred Share Redemption Price, less the applicable series redemption charge 
(if any) and any costs associated with the redemption on the date of the 
Triggering Transaction. The proceeds of any Automatic Repurchase will be 
remitted to each applicable Automatic Repurchase Shareholder in accordance 
with customary practice of the Corporation in connection with monthly 
redemptions. 

Amendments and 
Modifications 

Amendments to the terms of the Series A Preferred Shares must be approved by 
the holders of Series A Preferred Shares in accordance with applicable laws and 
the terms of the Series A Preferred Shares. The requisite approval for an 
amendment is the approval of ¾ of the votes cast by the holders of the Series A 
Preferred Shares, at a meeting called to consider the matter, or a written 
resolution from the holders of Series A Preferred Shares representing ¾ of the 
votes attached to all such shares. The Series A Preferred Shares carry one vote 
per share when entitled to vote. 

Series B Preferred Shares  

Purchase Price Each Series B Preferred Share shall be issued at a purchase price equal to 
$10.00 per share (the “Series B Preferred Share Purchase Price”). 

Priority The Series B Preferred Shares shall, with respect to the payment of dividends 
and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
rank on a parity with the Preferred Shares of every other series, including the 
Series A Preferred Shares, and with respect to the distribution of assets be 
entitled to a preferred distribution and priority over the Voting Shares, the Non-
Voting Shares and over any other shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the 
Preferred Shares in respect of dividends.  

Voting Rights The holders of Series B Preferred Shares will not be entitled to notice of or to 
attend, and will not be entitled to vote at, any meeting of shareholders, unless 
and until the Corporation shall have failed to fully pay an aggregate of three (3) 
monthly dividends on the Series B Preferred Shares in accordance with the 
terms of the Series B Preferred Shares, whether or not consecutive and whether 
or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of 
the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. 
Accordingly, such voting rights shall be applicable once there is accrued and 
unpaid an aggregate of $0.20 per share. In the event of such non-payment, and 
for only so long as any such dividends remain in arrears, the holders of the 
Series B Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of 
shareholders of the Corporation and to attend thereat. The holders of the Series 
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B Preferred Shares shall be entitled to vote together with all of the Voting Shares 
of the Corporation on the basis of one vote in respect of each Series B Preferred 
Share held by each such holder, until all such arrears of such dividends shall 
have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and until the 
Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends on the Series 
B Preferred Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not 
consecutive and whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or 
not there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment 
of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again 
and so on from time to time. The holders of Series B Preferred Shares shall be 
entitled to vote separately as a class on any resolution to wind-up, dissolve or 
liquidate the Corporation and as set out below under “Amendments and 
Modifications”. 

Dividends Priority: The Series B Preferred Shares rank senior to the Voting Shares, the 
Non-Voting Shares and any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking 
junior to the Preferred Shares and rank on a parity with every other series of 
Preferred Shares as to dividends. 

General: Holders of the Series B Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, 
and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, 
out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of 
dividends, fixed, cumulative, preferential monthly minimum cash dividends in an 
amount equal to $0.0666667 per Series B Share (being an annual rate equal to 
$0.80 or 8%) payable, with respect to each Series B Preferred Share Dividend 
Period, on the 15th day of each of the months of each year (the “Series B 
Dividend Payment Date”) in respect of such Series B Preferred Share Dividend 
Period. Dividends on the Series B Preferred Shares shall accrue daily from and 
including the date of issue of such shares. 

Initial Dividend and 
Dividend for Other 
than a Full Dividend 
Period 

The holders of Series B Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series B Preferred Share 
Dividend Period or any period which is less than a full Series B Preferred Share 
Dividend Period, as follows: 

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of 
the initial issue of the Series B Preferred Shares to but excluding the first 
day of the next Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period in an amount 
per Series B Preferred Share equal to C$0.80 multiplied by a fraction, 
the numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and 
including the date of the initial issue of the Series B Preferred Shares to 
but excluding the first day of the next Series B Preferred Share Dividend 
Period and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series B Preferred 
Share: 

1) which is issued or redeemed during any Series B Preferred 
Share Dividend Period; 

2) where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the 
holders of the Series B Preferred Shares pursuant to Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – Liquidation, 
Dissolution or Winding-Up” with an effective date during any 
Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period; or 
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3) in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series 
B Preferred Share Dividend Period that such share has been 
outstanding is less than a full Series B Preferred Share Dividend 
Period (other than the period referred to in paragraph (i) above) 

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable 
in respect of the applicable full Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period is 
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in 
such Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period that such share has been 
outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the effective date for the 
distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, as 
applicable) and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such 
Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period. 

Cumulative Payment 
of Dividends 

If on any Series B Dividend Payment Date, the dividends payable in respect of 
the Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period ending in the calendar month in 
which such Series B Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of 
the Series B Preferred Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid 
part thereof, shall be paid (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by 
the Corporation) on a subsequent date or dates determined by the Board on 
which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the 
payment of such dividends. 

Target Return 
Dividends 

The holders of Series B Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the Corporation 
shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, additional monthly, 
cash dividends (the “Series B Additional Return Dividends”) in an amount 
targeted to result in a return, based on the Series B Preferred Share Purchase 
Price, when combined with the Series B Monthly Dividends, of between 8% and 
10%, payable (if declared), with respect to each Series B Preferred Share 
Dividend Period, on the Series B Dividend Payment Date in respect of such 
Series B Preferred Share Dividend Period. Series B Additional Return Dividends 
are not guaranteed and shall not accrue and shall be paid in Canadian dollars. 
No payment of a Series B Additional Return Dividends shall result in the payment 
of additional dividends to any other series of Preferred Shares, except as may be 
provided for in the terms of such series of Preferred Shares. 

Other Dividends Holders of Series B Preferred Shares have a right, after payment to them of their 
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of 
the Non-Voting Shares, to participate pari passu with the holders of the Voting 
Shares in any further payment of dividends. 

Liquidation, 
Dissolution or 
Winding-Up 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or 
other distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the 
purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, subject to the 
prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of 
shares of the Corporation ranking senior to the Series B Preferred Shares, the 
holders of the Series B Preferred Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with the 
Preferred Shares of every other series and (b) senior to the Voting Shares and 
the shares of any other class ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series 
B Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the Series B 
Preferred Share Redemption Price per Series B Preferred Share, together with 
an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether declared or not, 
up to but excluding the date fixed for payment or distribution (less any tax 
required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation), before any amount is 
paid or any assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of any shares 
of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to the Series B Preferred Shares. 
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Upon payment to the holders of the Series B Preferred Shares of the amounts so 
payable to them, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any further 
distribution of the assets of the Corporation. 

Redemption by 
Shareholder 

Subject to the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit, the Series B 
Preferred Shares may be redeemed by a holder thereof at any time following the 
date of issuance at a redemption price per Series B Preferred Share equal to 
93% of the Series B Preferred Share Purchase Price if redeemed within 6 
months from the date of issuance, and at a redemption price per Series B 
Preferred Share equal to: 

(i) 93% of the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price if redeemed 
within 12 months from the date of issuance; 

(ii) 96% of the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price if redeemed on 
or after 12 months from the date of issuance but within 24 months from 
the date of issuance; 

(iii) 98% of the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price if redeemed on 
or after 24 months from the date of issuance but within 36 months from 
the date of issuance; and 

(iv) 100% of the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price if redeemed on 
or after 36 months from the date of issuance, 

subject in all cases to a redemption fee of no more than $150 for administrative 
purposes and any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation.  

The redemption right must be exercised by (i) delivering a notice of redemption, 
in the form specified by the Corporation, and (ii) surrendering the certificates for 
the Series B Preferred Shares to the transfer agent for the Series B Preferred 
Shares or at such other place as shall be specified by the Corporation from time 
to time. Payment for Series B Preferred Shares tendered for redemption prior to 
the Series B Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall be made on 
the Series B Monthly Redemption Payment Date following the applicable Series 
B Monthly Redemption Date. From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, 
the Series B Preferred Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled 
to dividends or distributions or to any participation in the assets of the 
Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their 
other rights as shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive 
payment of the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price for each Series B 
Preferred Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid dividends up to the 
Series B Monthly Redemption Date. Series B Preferred Shares which have been 
surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be 
outstanding until, but not after, the close of business on the Series B Monthly 
Redemption Date. 

Cash Limit on 
Redemptions by 
Shareholder 

In accordance with the Articles of the Corporation, the entitlement of a 
shareholder to receive cash upon the redemption of such holder’s Series B 
Preferred Shares is subject to limitations, including where: 

(a) the total amount payable by the Corporation for the Series B Preferred 
Shares tendered for redemption in the same calendar month exceeds the greater 
of $500,000 and 3% of the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series B 
Preferred Shares determined at the beginning of such calendar month (the 
“Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit”); provided that the directors of 
the Corporation may, in their absolute discretion, waive such limitation in respect 
of all shares tendered for redemption in any period. To the extent the 
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Corporation has received notices of redemption where the aggregate number of 
Series B Preferred Shares (including previously submitted notices of redemption 
that have not been satisfied due to the Series B Preferred Share Redemption 
Limit being applied in a previous month (the “Cutback Redemption Requests”)) 
would exceed the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit, the Corporation 
shall redeem only such aggregate number of Series B Preferred Shares equal to 
the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit. The Manager, on behalf of the 
Corporation, shall administer the foregoing and any cutbacks on a proportionate 
basis with respect to the aggregate number of Series B Preferred Shares 
represented by redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions thereof) 
which are not honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series B Monthly 
Redemption Date with the Corporation redeeming the Cutback Redemption 
Requests from the oldest to the newest before redeeming any Series B Preferred 
Shares for the current month, subject in all cases to the Corporation’s right to 
suspend redemptions and the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Limit 
described herein; 

(b) the redemption of the Series B Preferred Shares validly tendered for 
redemption would result in a return of capital or a distribution otherwise out of the 
assets of the Corporation to the holder of Series B Preferred Shares, unless all 
liabilities of the Corporation have been paid or there are sufficient assets of the 
Corporation to pay them; 

(c) in the Board of Directors’ opinion (in their absolute discretion), the 
Corporation has insufficient liquid assets to fund such redemptions or that the 
liquidation of assets at such time would be to the detriment of or adversely affect 
the remaining shareholders or the Corporation generally; or 

(d) if the redemption by the Corporation of all Series B Preferred Shares 
surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary to applicable law, the 
Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series B Preferred 
Shares (rounded to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then 
permitted to redeem selected on a pro rata basis from each holder of Series B 
Preferred Shares surrendered for redemption according to the number of Series 
B Preferred Shares surrendered for redemption by each such holder.  

Suspension of 
Redemptions 

The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Series B Preferred Shares for 
any period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager 
determines that conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the 
Portfolio or which impair the ability of the Manager to determine the value of 
assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The suspension may apply to all 
requests for redemption for Series B Preferred Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all 
requests received while the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series B Preferred 
Shares who have tendered their Series B Preferred Shares for redemption in 
such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager. All such holders of Series B Preferred Shares shall have and shall be 
advised that they have the right to withdraw such Series B Preferred Shares 
surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on the 
first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist 
provided that no other condition under which a suspension is authorized then 
exists. To the extent not inconsistent with the rules and regulations promulgated 
by any governmental body having jurisdiction over the Corporation, any 
declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the Manager shall be 
conclusive. 

Redemption by The Series B Preferred Shares shall not be redeemable by the Corporation prior 



- 55 - 

 

Corporation to the date that is 6 months following the initial issuance of the Series B 
Preferred Shares (“Series B Corporation Redemption Start Date”). On and 
after the Series B Corporation Redemption Start Date, the Corporation may, on 
30 days’ notice to the holder of Series B Preferred Shares, redeem all or any 
number of outstanding Series B Preferred Shares, at its option, by the payment 
in cash, on the 30th day following the delivery of the notice of redemption by the 
Corporation, of an amount equal to the Series B Preferred Share Redemption 
Price tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation. Where 
applicable, if less than all of the outstanding Series B Preferred Shares are at 
any time to be redeemed, the particular shares to be redeemed shall be selected 
on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) or, if the Series B Preferred Shares 
are at such time listed on a stock exchange, with the consent of any applicable 
stock exchange, in such other manner as the Board may in its sole discretion 
determine by resolution. 

Repurchase by 
Corporation 

The Corporation may, at any time after the Series B Corporation Redemption 
Start Date, purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all or any number of the 
Series B Preferred Shares outstanding from time to time: (a) by private 
agreement; (b) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for 
tenders addressed to all holders of Series B Preferred Shares; or (c) in the open 
market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on 
a recognized stock exchange if the Series B Shares are listed on a recognized 
stock exchange, and the Corporation shall provide the requisite notice thereof in 
accordance with the rules of the stock exchange on which the Series B Preferred 
Shares are listed. 

Restrictions on 
Ownership 

No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted to hold at any time, directly or 
indirectly, together with Related Persons, more than 25% of any class or series 
of the issued shares of the Corporation. In the event that a Triggering 
Transaction, if completed, would cause any Automatic Repurchase Shareholder, 
together with Related Persons, to hold more than 25% of any series of the issued 
shares of the Corporation, that portion of the shares held by each Automatic 
Repurchase Shareholder which constitutes in excess of 24.9% of the 
Repurchased Shares will, simultaneously with the completion of a Triggering 
Transaction, automatically be repurchased and cancelled by the Corporation 
without any further action by the Corporation or the Automatic Repurchase 
Shareholder. The purchase price for any Repurchased Shares will be equal to 
the Series B Preferred Share Redemption Price less the applicable series 
redemption charge (if any) and any costs associated with the redemption on the 
date of the Triggering Transaction. The proceeds of any Automatic Repurchase 
will be remitted to each applicable Automatic Repurchase Shareholder in 
accordance with customary practice of the Corporation in connection with 
monthly redemptions. 

Limits on 
Subscriptions 

In the event that any person wants to subscribe for Series B Preferred Shares in 
an amount that exceeds 25% of the issued and outstanding Series B Preferred 
Shares, the subscription may be completed to the amount of 25% of the Series B 
Preferred Shares but the balance will be structured in a manner compliant with 
section 130.1 of the Tax Act as a subscription for a separate class or series or as 
a debt instrument, compliant with the conditions of s. 130.1 of the Tax Act, 
reflecting similar rights and benefits as the holding of the intended Series B 
Preferred Shares, as agreed between the holder of Series B Preferred Shares 
and the Corporation. The share subscription will be in accordance with the terms 
of this Offering and the negotiated debt issue will be on the basis of terms 
substantially similar as to rights and return to those of the Series B Preferred 
Shares under this Offering. The amount that constitutes 25% of the issued Series 
B Preferred Shares will, as of the initial closing and for a period of time 
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thereafter, depend on the aggregate number and amounts of other subscriptions 
and therefore may be substantially less than the amount that is subscribed for. 
Series B Preferred Shares may not be converted into another class or series of 
shares. Holders of Series B Preferred Shares wishing to switch classes or series 
when permissible will need to redeem their Series B Preferred Shares (subject to 
restrictions thereon) and subscribe for the other class or series. 

Amendments and 
Modifications 

Amendments to the terms of the Series B Preferred Shares must be approved by 
the holders of Series B Preferred Shares in accordance with applicable laws and 
the terms of the Series B Preferred Shares. The requisite approval for an 
amendment is the approval of ¾ of the votes cast by the holders of the Series B 
Preferred Shares, at a meeting called to consider the matter, or a written 
resolution from the holders of Series B Preferred Shares representing ¾ of the 
votes attached to all such shares. The Series B Preferred Shares carry one vote 
per share when entitled to vote. 

Series F Preferred Shares 

Purchase Price Each Series F Preferred Share shall be issued at a purchase price equal to 
$10.00 per share (the “Series F Preferred Share Purchase Price”). 

Priority The Series F Preferred Shares shall, with respect to the payment of dividends 
and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
rank on a parity with the Preferred Shares of every other series, including the 
Series A Preferred Shares and the Series F Preferred Shares, and with respect 
to the distribution of assets be entitled to a preferred distribution and priority over 
the Voting Shares, the Non-Voting Shares and over any other shares of the 
Corporation ranking junior to the Preferred Shares in respect of dividends.  

Voting Rights The holders of Series F Preferred Shares will not be entitled to notice of or to 
attend, and will not be entitled to vote at, any meeting of shareholders, unless 
and until the Corporation shall have failed to fully pay an aggregate of three (3) 
monthly dividends on the Series F Preferred Shares in accordance with the 
terms of the Series F Preferred Shares, whether or not consecutive and whether 
or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of 
the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. 
Accordingly, such voting rights shall be applicable once there is accrued and 
unpaid an aggregate of $0.22 per share. In the event of such non-payment, and 
for only so long as any such dividends remain in arrears, the holders of the 
Series F Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of 
shareholders of the Corporation and to attend thereat. The holders of the Series 
F Preferred Shares shall be entitled to vote together with all of the Voting Shares 
of the Corporation on the basis of one vote in respect of each Series F Preferred 
Share held by each such holder, until all such arrears of such dividends shall 
have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and until the 
Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends on the Series F 
Preferred Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not 
consecutive and whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or 
not there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment 
of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again 
and so on from time to time. The holders of Series F Preferred Shares shall be 
entitled to vote separately as a class on any resolution to wind-up, dissolve or 
liquidate the Corporation and as set out below under “Amendments and 
Modifications”. 
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Dividends Priority: The Series F Preferred Shares rank senior to the Voting Shares, the 
Non-Voting Shares and any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking 
junior to the Preferred Shares and rank on a parity with every other series of 
Preferred Shares as to dividends. 

General: Holders of the Series F Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, 
and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, 
out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of 
dividends, fixed, cumulative, preferential monthly minimum cash dividends in an 
amount equal to $0.07083333 per Series F Share (being an annual rate equal to 
$0.85 or 8.5%) payable, with respect to each Series F Preferred Share Dividend 
Period, on the 15th day of each of the months of each year (the “Series F 
Dividend Payment Date”) in respect of such Series F Preferred Share Dividend 
Period. Dividends on the Series F Preferred Shares shall accrue daily from and 
including the date of issue of such shares. 

Initial Dividend and 
Dividend for Other 
than a Full Dividend 
Period 

The holders of Series F Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series F Preferred Share 
Dividend Period or any period which is less than a full Series F Preferred Share 
Dividend Period, as follows: 

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of 
the initial issue of the Series F Preferred Shares to but excluding the first 
day of the next Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period in an amount 
per Series F Preferred Share equal to C$0.85 multiplied by a fraction, 
the numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and 
including the date of the initial issue of the Series F Preferred Shares to 
but excluding the first day of the next Series F Preferred Share Dividend 
Period and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series F Preferred 
Share: 

1) which is issued or redeemed during any Series F Preferred 
Share Dividend Period; 

2) where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the 
holders of the Series F Preferred Shares pursuant to Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series F Preferred Shares – Liquidation, 
Dissolution or Winding-Up” with an effective date during any 
Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period; or 

3) in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series 
F Preferred Share Dividend Period that such share has been 
outstanding is less than a full Series F Preferred Share Dividend 
Period (other than the period referred to in paragraph (i) above) 

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable 
in respect of the applicable full Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period is 
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in 
such Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period that such share has been 
outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the effective date for the 
distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, as 
applicable) and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such 
Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period. 
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Cumulative Payment 
of Dividends 

If on any Series F Dividend Payment Date, the dividends payable in respect of 
the Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period ending in the calendar month in 
which such Series F Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of 
the Series F Preferred Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid 
part thereof, shall be paid (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by 
the Corporation) on a subsequent date or dates determined by the Board on 
which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the 
payment of such dividends. 

Target Return 
Dividends 

The holders of Series F Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
additional monthly, cash dividends (the “Series F Additional Return 
Dividends”) in an amount targeted to result in a return, based on the Series F 
Preferred Share Purchase Price, when combined with the Series F Monthly 
Dividends, of between 8.50% and 10%, payable (if declared), with respect to 
each Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period, on the Series F Dividend 
Payment Date in respect of such Series F Preferred Share Dividend Period. 
Series F Additional Return Dividends are not guaranteed and shall not accrue 
and shall be paid in Canadian dollars. No payment of a Series F Additional 
Return Dividends shall result in the payment of additional dividends to any other 
series of Preferred Shares, except as may be provided for in the terms of such 
series of Preferred Shares. 

Other Dividends Holders of Series F Preferred Shares have a right, after payment to them of their 
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of 
the Non-Voting Shares, to participate pari passu with the holders of the Voting 
Shares in any further payment of dividends. 

Liquidation, 
Dissolution or 
Winding-Up 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or 
other distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the 
purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, subject to the 
prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of 
shares of the Corporation ranking senior to the Series F Preferred Shares, the 
holders of the Series F Preferred Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with the 
Preferred Shares of every other series and (b) senior to the Voting Shares and 
the shares of any other class ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series 
F Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the Series F 
Preferred Share Redemption Price per Series F Preferred Share, together with 
an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether declared or not, 
up to but excluding the date fixed for payment or distribution (less any tax 
required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation), before any amount is 
paid or any assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of any shares 
of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to the Series F Preferred Shares. 
Upon payment to the holders of the Series F Preferred Shares of the amounts so 
payable to them, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any further 
distribution of the assets of the Corporation. 

Redemption by 
Shareholder 

Subject to the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit, the Series F 
Preferred Shares may be redeemed by a holder thereof at any time following the 
date of issuance at a redemption price per Series F Preferred Share equal to the 
Series F Preferred Share Purchase Price.  

The redemption right must be exercised by (i) delivering a notice of redemption, 
in the form specified by the Corporation, and (ii) surrendering the certificates for 
the Series F Preferred Shares to the transfer agent for the Series F Preferred 
Shares or at such other place as shall be specified by the Corporation from time 
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to time. Payment for Series F Preferred Shares tendered for redemption prior to 
the Series F Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall be made on 
the Series F Monthly Redemption Payment Date following the applicable Series 
F Monthly Redemption Date. From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, 
the Series F Preferred Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled 
to dividends or distributions or to any participation in the assets of the 
Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their 
other rights as shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive 
payment of the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Price for each Series F 
Preferred Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid dividends up to the 
Series F Monthly Redemption Date. Series F Preferred Shares which have been 
surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be 
outstanding until, but not after, the close of business on the Series F Monthly 
Redemption Date. 

Cash Limit on 
Redemptions by 
Shareholder 

In accordance with the Articles of the Corporation, the entitlement of a 
shareholder to receive cash upon the redemption of such holder’s Series F 
Preferred Shares is subject to limitations, including where: 

(a) the total amount payable by the Corporation for the Series F Preferred 
Shares tendered for redemption in the same calendar month exceeds the greater 
of $500,000 and 3% of the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series F 
Preferred Shares determined at the beginning of such calendar month (the 
“Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit”); provided that the directors of 
the Corporation may, in their absolute discretion, waive such limitation in respect 
of all shares tendered for redemption in any period. To the extent the 
Corporation has received notices of redemption where the aggregate number of 
Series F Preferred Shares (including previously submitted notices of redemption 
that have not been satisfied due to the Series F Preferred Share Redemption 
Limit being applied in a previous month (the “Series F Cutback Redemption 
Requests”)) would exceed the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit, the 
Corporation shall redeem only such aggregate number of Series F Preferred 
Shares equal to the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Limit. The Manager, 
on behalf of the Corporation, shall administer the foregoing and any cutbacks on 
a proportionate basis with respect to the aggregate number of Series F Preferred 
Shares represented by redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions 
thereof) which are not honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series F 
Monthly Redemption Date with the Corporation redeeming the Series F Cutback 
Redemption Requests from the oldest to the newest before redeeming any 
Series F Preferred Shares for the current month, subject in all cases to the 
Corporation’s right to suspend redemptions and the Series F Preferred Share 
Redemption Limit described herein; 

(b) the redemption of the Series F Preferred Shares validly tendered for 
redemption would result in a return of capital or a distribution otherwise out of the 
assets of the Corporation to the holder of Series F Preferred Shares, unless all 
liabilities of the Corporation have been paid or there are sufficient assets of the 
Corporation to pay them; 

(c) in the Board of Directors’ opinion (in their absolute discretion), the 
Corporation has insufficient liquid assets to fund such redemptions or that the 
liquidation of assets at such time would be to the detriment of or adversely affect 
the remaining shareholders or the Corporation generally; or 

(d) if the redemption by the Corporation of all Series F Preferred Shares 
surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary to applicable law, the 
Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series F Preferred 
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Shares (rounded to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then 
permitted to redeem selected on a pro rata basis from each holder of Series F 
Preferred Shares surrendered for redemption according to the number of Series 
F Preferred Shares surrendered for redemption by each such holder.  

Suspension of 
Redemptions 

The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Series F Preferred Shares for 
any period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager 
determines that conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the 
Portfolio or which impair the ability of the Manager to determine the value of 
assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The suspension may apply to all 
requests for redemption for Series F Preferred Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all 
requests received while the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series F Preferred 
Shares who have tendered their Series F Preferred Shares for redemption in 
such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager. All such holders of Series F Preferred Shares shall have and shall be 
advised that they have the right to withdraw such Series F Preferred Shares 
surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on the 
first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist 
provided that no other condition under which a suspension is authorized then 
exists. To the extent not inconsistent with the rules and regulations promulgated 
by any governmental body having jurisdiction over the Corporation, any 
declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the Manager shall be 
conclusive. 

Redemption by 
Corporation 

The Corporation may, on 30 days’ notice to the holder of Series F Preferred 
Shares, redeem all or any number of outstanding Series F Preferred Shares, at 
its option, by the payment in cash, on the 30th day following the delivery of the 
notice of redemption by the Corporation, of an amount equal to the Series F 
Preferred Share Redemption Price tax required to be deducted or withheld by the 
Corporation. Where applicable, if less than all of the outstanding Series F 
Preferred Shares are at any time to be redeemed, the particular shares to be 
redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) or, if the 
Series F Preferred Shares are at such time listed on a stock exchange, with the 
consent of any applicable stock exchange, in such other manner as the Board 
may in its sole discretion determine by resolution. 

Repurchase by 
Corporation 

The Corporation may purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all or any number 
of the Series F Preferred Shares outstanding from time to time: (a) by private 
agreement; (b) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for 
tenders addressed to all holders of Series F Preferred Shares; or (c) in the open 
market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on 
a recognized stock exchange if the Series F Preferred Shares are listed on a 
recognized stock exchange, and the Corporation shall provide the requisite 
notice thereof in accordance with the rules of the stock exchange on which the 
Series F Preferred Shares are listed. 

Restrictions on 
Ownership 

No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted to hold at any time, directly or 
indirectly, together with Related Persons, more than 25% of any class or series 
of the issued shares of the Corporation. In the event that a Triggering 
Transaction, if completed, would cause any Automatic Repurchase Shareholder, 
together with Related Persons, to hold more than 25% of any series of the issued 
shares of the Corporation, that portion of the shares held by each Automatic 
Repurchase Shareholder which constitutes in excess of 24.9% of the 
Repurchased Shares will, simultaneously with the completion of a Triggering 
Transaction, automatically be repurchased and cancelled by the Corporation 
without any further action by the Corporation or the Automatic Repurchase 
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Shareholder. The purchase price for any Repurchased Shares will be equal to 
the Series F Preferred Share Redemption Price less the applicable series 
redemption charge (if any) and any costs associated with the redemption on the 
date of the Triggering Transaction. The proceeds of any Automatic Repurchase 
will be remitted to each applicable Automatic Repurchase Shareholder in 
accordance with customary practice of the Corporation in connection with 
monthly redemptions. 

Limits on 
Subscriptions 

In the event that any person wants to subscribe for Series F Preferred Shares in 
an amount that exceeds 25% of the issued and outstanding Series F Preferred 
Shares, the subscription may be completed to the amount of 25% of the Series F 
Preferred Shares but the balance will be structured in a manner compliant with 
section 130.1 of the Tax Act as a subscription for a separate class or series or as 
a debt instrument, compliant with the conditions of s. 130.1 of the Tax Act, 
reflecting similar rights and benefits as the holding of the intended Series F 
Preferred Shares, as agreed between the holder of Series F Preferred Shares 
and the Corporation. The share subscription will be in accordance with the terms 
of this Offering and the negotiated debt issue will be on the basis of terms 
substantially similar as to rights and return to those of the Series F Preferred 
Shares under this Offering. The amount that constitutes 25% of the issued Series 
F Preferred Shares will, as of the initial closing and for a period of time thereafter, 
depend on the aggregate number and amounts of other subscriptions and 
therefore may be substantially less than the amount that is subscribed for. Series 
F Preferred Shares may not be converted into another class or series of shares. 
Holders of Series F Preferred Shares wishing to switch classes or series when 
permissible will need to redeem their Series F Preferred Shares (subject to 
restrictions thereon) and subscribe for the other class or series. 

Amendments and 
Modifications 

Amendments to the terms of the Series F Preferred Shares must be approved by 
the holders of Series F Preferred Shares in accordance with applicable laws and 
the terms of the Series F Preferred Shares. The requisite approval for an 
amendment is the approval of ¾ of the votes cast by the holders of the Series F 
Preferred Shares, at a meeting called to consider the matter, or a written 
resolution from the holders of Series F Preferred Shares representing ¾ of the 
votes attached to all such shares. The Series F Preferred Shares carry one vote 
per share when entitled to vote. 

Series H Non-Voting Shares 

Purchase Price Each Series H Non-Voting Share shall be issued at a purchase price equal to 
$10.00 per share (the “Series H Non-Voting Share Purchase Price”). 

Priority No rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to any series of Non-
Voting Share shall confer upon the shares of such series a priority in respect of 
dividends or distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of the 
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation over the shares of any 
other series of Non-Voting Share. The Non-Voting Shares of each series shall, 
with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or return 
of capital in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, rank junior to the Preferred Shares 
of all series, on a parity with the Non-Voting Share of every other series, and with 
respect to the distribution of assets be entitled to a preferred distribution and 
priority over the Voting Shares and over any other shares of the Corporation 
ranking junior to the Non-Voting Shares in respect of dividends. The Corporation 
may pay dividends on the Voting Shares or the Preferred Shares as a class or on 
all of such shares as the directors may determine in their absolute discretion and 
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in accordance with the terms of such shares. 

Voting Rights The holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares will not be entitled to notice of or to 
attend, and will not be entitled to vote at, any meeting of shareholders, unless 
and until the Corporation shall have failed to fully pay an aggregate of three (3) 
monthly dividends on the Series H Non-Voting Shares in accordance with the 
terms of the Series H Non-Voting Shares, whether or not consecutive and 
whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any 
monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. 
Accordingly, such voting rights shall be applicable once there is accrued and 
unpaid an aggregate of $0.20 per share. In the event of such non-payment, and 
for only so long as any such dividends remain in arrears, the holders of the 
Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of 
shareholders of the Corporation and to attend thereat. The holders of the Series 
H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to vote together with all of the Voting 
Shares of the Corporation on the basis of one vote in respect of each Series H 
Non-Voting Share held by each such holder, until all such arrears of such 
dividends shall have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and 
until the Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends on the 
Series H Non-Voting Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not 
consecutive and whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or 
not there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment 
of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again 
and so on from time to time. 

Dividends Priority: The Series H Non-Voting Shares rank senior to the Voting Shares, junior 
to the Preferred Shares and junior to any other class of shares of the Corporation 
ranking junior to the Non-Voting Shares and rank on a parity with every other 
Non-Voting Share of all series as to dividends. 

General: Dividends and other distributions may be paid in respect of the Series H 
Non-Voting Shares at such times, in such amounts and in such currency or 
currencies as may be declared by the Board and as set out in the terms for a 
specific series and whether or not dividends or other distributions have been or 
are being paid on any other series of shares, subject to the rights, privileges, 
restrictions and conditions of the Non-Voting Shares. Such dividends or 
distributions are payable only out of the net assets of the Corporation which are 
referable to that series at the relevant time. 

Minimum Dividend The holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
monthly, fixed, cumulative, minimum cash dividends (the “Series H Monthly 
Dividends”) in an amount equal to $0.0666667 per Series H Non-Voting Share 
(being an annual rate equal to $0.80 or 8%) payable, with respect to each Series 
H Dividend Period, on the 15th day of each of the months of each year (the 
“Series H Dividend Payment Date”) in respect of such Series H Dividend 
Period. Dividends on the Series H Non-Voting Shares shall accrue daily from and 
including the date of issue of such Series H Non-Voting Shares. 

Initial Minimum 
Dividend and 
Minimum Dividend for 
Other Than a Full 
Dividend Period 

The holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series H Dividend Period or 
any period which is less than a full Series H Dividend Period, as follows: 

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of 
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the initial issue of the Series H Non-Voting Shares to but excluding the 
first day of the next Series H Dividend Period in amount per Series H 
Non-Voting Shares equal to $0.0666667 multiplied by a fraction, the 
numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and including 
the date of the initial issue of the Series H Non-Voting Shares to but 
excluding the first day of the next Series H Dividend Period and the 
denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series H Non-
Voting Share: 

1) which is issued or redeemed during any Series H Dividend 
Period; 

2) where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the 
holders of the Series H Non-Voting Shares pursuant to Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series H Non-Voting Shares – 
Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up” with an effective date 
during any Series H Dividend Period; or 

3) in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series 
H Dividend Period that such share has been outstanding is less 
than a full Series H Dividend Period (other than the period 
referred to in paragraph (i) above) 

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable 
in respect of the applicable full Series H Dividend Period is multiplied by a 
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in such Series H 
Dividend Period that such share has been outstanding (excluding the date of 
redemption, the effective date for the distribution of assets or the last day of the 
applicable shorter period, as applicable) and the denominator of which is the 
number of calendar days in such Series H Dividend Period. 

Cumulative Payment 
of Dividends 

If on any Series H Dividend Payment Date, the dividends payable in respect of 
the Series H Dividend Period ending in the calendar month in which such Series 
H Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of the Series H Non-
Voting Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid part thereof, shall 
be paid (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation) on 
a subsequent date or dates determined by the Board on which the Corporation 
shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the payment of such 
dividends. 

Target Return 
Dividends 

The holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of 
moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
additional monthly, cash dividends (the “Series H Additional Return 
Dividends”) in an amount targeted to result in a return, based on the Series H 
Purchase Price, when combined with the Series H Monthly Dividends, of 
between 8% and 10%, payable (if declared), with respect to each Series H 
Dividend Period, on the Series H Dividend Payment Date in respect of such 
Series H Dividend Period. Series H Additional Return Dividends are not 
guaranteed and shall not accrue and shall be paid in Canadian dollars. 

Additional Dividends 
for Tax or Fiscal 
Reasons 

The Board may, for fiscal planning or other tax efficiency reasons, in its 
discretion declare that an additional distribution will be payable to the holders of 
Series H Non-Voting Shares of record on December 31. Each such additional 
distribution may be satisfied by the issuance of additional Series H Non-Voting 
Shares and/or cash and/or other property of the Corporation. Immediately 
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following payment of any such additional distribution in Series H Non-Voting 
Shares, the number of Series H Non-Voting Shares outstanding after the 
distribution will be consolidated such that each shareholder will hold after the 
consolidation the same number of Series H Non-Voting Shares as the 
shareholder held before the additional distribution. In such case, each certificate 
representing one or more Series H Non-Voting Shares prior to the distribution of 
additional Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be deemed to represent the same 
number of Series H Non-Voting Shares after the distribution of additional Series 
H Non-Voting Shares and consolidation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, where 
tax is required to be withheld from a shareholder’s participation in the additional 
distribution, the consolidation will result in such shareholder holding that number 
of Series H Non-Voting Shares equal to (x) the number and Series of Series H 
Non-Voting Shares held by such shareholder prior to the distribution plus the 
number of Series H Non-Voting Shares received by such shareholder in 
connection with the additional distribution (net of any taxes withheld) prior to the 
consolidation multiplied by (y) the fraction obtained by dividing the aggregate 
number of Series H Non-Voting Shares outstanding prior to distribution by the 
aggregate number of Series H Non-Voting Shares that would be outstanding 
following the additional distribution and before the consolidation if no withholding 
were made in respect of any part of the additional distribution payable to any 
shareholder. Any such shareholder will be required to surrender the share 
certificate(s), if any, representing such shareholder’s original Series H Non-
Voting Shares, in exchange for a certificate representing such shareholder’s 
post-consolidation Series H Non-Voting Shares. 

Other Dividends: Holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares have a right, after payment to them of 
their dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the 
holders of the Voting Shares, to participate pari passu with the holders of the 
Voting Shares in any further payment of dividends. 

Liquidation, 
Dissolution or 
Winding- Up 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or 
other distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the 
purpose of winding-up its affairs, the holders of Non-Voting Shares of each 
series shall, in priority to any distribution of the property and assets of the 
Corporation among the holders of the Voting Shares, but subsequent to any 
distribution of the property and assets of the Corporation among the holders of 
the Preferred Shares, be entitled to receive an amount in respect of each such 
share, in cash or in property, equal to the consideration for the issue of Non-
Voting Shares of a particular series subscribed for as determined by the Board. 
Amounts payable pursuant to this section shall be paid solely from the Series Net 
Assets of the relevant series. 

Redemption by 
Shareholder 

Subject to the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit, the Series H Non-
Voting Shares may be redeemed by a holder thereof at any time following the 
date of issuance at a redemption price per Series H Non-Voting Share equal to 
93% of the Series H Non-Voting Share Purchase Price if redeemed within 6 
months from the date of issuance, and at a redemption price per Series H Non-
Voting Share equal to the Series H Non-Voting Share Purchase Price thereafter, 
subject in all cases to a redemption fee of no more than $150 for administrative 
purposes and any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation 
(the “Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Price”). The redemption right 
must be exercised by (i) delivering a notice of redemption, in the form specified 
by the Corporation, and (ii) surrendering the certificates for the Series H Non-
Voting Shares to the transfer agent for the Series H Non-Voting Shares or at 
such other place as shall be specified by the Corporation from time to time. 
Payment for Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for redemption prior to the 
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Series H Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall be made on the 
Series H Monthly Redemption Payment Date following the applicable Series H 
Monthly Redemption Date. From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, the 
Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled to 
distributions or to any participation in the assets of the Corporation and the 
holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their other rights as 
shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive payment of the 
Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Price for each Series H Non-Voting 
Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid distributions up to the Series H 
Monthly Redemption Date. Series H Non-Voting Shares which have been 
surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be 
outstanding until, but not after, the close of business on the Series H Monthly 
Redemption Date.  

Cash Limit on 
Redemptions by 
Shareholder 

In accordance with the Articles of the Corporation, the entitlement of a 
shareholder to receive cash upon the redemption of such holder’s Series H Non-
Voting Shares is subject to limitations, including where: 

(a) the Board has suspended the redemption of any series of Preferred Shares 
or if there are any Preferred Shares of any series that have been tendered for 
redemption but that may not be redeemed due to  any applicable limits on such 
redemptions under the terms of the applicable shares, under the law or as a 
result of a decision or other action of the Board; 

(b) the total amount payable by the Corporation for the Series H Non-Voting 
Shares tendered for redemption in the same calendar month exceeds the greater 
of $500,000 and 3% of the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series H 
Non-Voting Shares determined at the beginning of such calendar month (the 
“Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit”); provided that the directors of 
the Corporation may, in their absolute discretion, waive such limitation in respect 
of all shares tendered for redemption in any period. To the extent the 
Corporation has received notices of redemption where the aggregate number of 
Series H Non-Voting Shares (including the Cutback Redemption Requests) 
would exceed the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit, the Corporation 
shall redeem only such aggregate number of Series H Non-Voting Shares equal 
to the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit. The Manager, on behalf of 
the Corporation, shall administer the foregoing and any cutbacks on a 
proportionate basis with respect to the aggregate number of Series H Non-Voting 
Shares represented by redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions 
thereof) which are not honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series H 
Monthly Redemption Date, subject in all cases to the Corporation’s right to 
suspend redemptions and the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Limit 
described herein; 

(c) the redemption of the Series H Non-Voting Shares validly tendered for 
redemption would result in a return of capital or a distribution otherwise out of the 
assets of the Corporation to the holder of Series H Non-Voting Shares, unless all 
liabilities of the Corporation have been paid or there are sufficient assets of the 
Corporation to pay them; 

(d) in the Board of Directors’ opinion (in their absolute discretion), the 
Corporation has insufficient liquid assets to fund such redemptions or that the 
liquidation of assets at such time would be to the detriment of or adversely affect 
the remaining shareholders or the Corporation generally; or 

(e) if the redemption by the Corporation of all Series H Non-Voting Shares 
surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary to applicable law, the 
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Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series H Non-Voting 
Shares (rounded to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then 
permitted to redeem selected on a pro rata basis from each holder of Series H 
Non-Voting Shares surrendered for redemption according to the number of 
Series H Non-Voting Shares surrendered for redemption by each such holder.  

Suspension of 
Redemptions 

The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Series H Non-Voting Shares for 
any period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager 
determines that conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the 
Portfolio or which impair the ability of the Manager to determine the value of 
assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The suspension may apply to all 
requests for redemption for Series H Non-Voting Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all 
requests received while the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series H Non-
Voting Shares who have tendered their Series H Non-Voting Shares for 
redemption in such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the 
Corporation or the Manager. All such holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares 
shall have and shall be advised that they have the right to withdraw such Series 
H Non-Voting Shares surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall 
terminate in any event on the first day on which the condition giving rise to the 
suspension has ceased to exist provided that no other condition under which a 
suspension is authorized then exists. To the extent not inconsistent with the rules 
and regulations promulgated by any governmental body having jurisdiction over 
the Corporation, any declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the 
Manager shall be conclusive. 

Redemption by 
Corporation 

The Series H Non-Voting Shares shall not be redeemable by the Corporation 
prior to the date that is 6 months following the initial issuance of the Series H 
Non-Voting Shares (“Series H Corporation Redemption Start Date”). On and 
after the Series H Corporation Redemption Start Date, the Corporation may, on 
30 days’ notice to the holder of Series H Non-Voting Shares, redeem all or any 
number of outstanding Series H Non-Voting Shares, at its option, by the payment 
in cash, on the 30th day following the delivery of the notice of redemption by the 
Corporation, of an amount equal to the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption 
Price tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation. Where 
applicable, if less than all of the outstanding Series H Non-Voting Shares are at 
any time to be redeemed, the particular shares to be redeemed shall be selected 
on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) or, if the Series H Non-Voting Shares 
are at such time listed on a stock exchange, with the consent of any applicable 
stock exchange, in such other manner as the Board may in its sole discretion 
determine by resolution. 

Restrictions on 
Ownership 

No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted to hold at any time, directly or 
indirectly, together with Related Persons, more than 25% of any class or series 
of the issued shares of the Corporation. In the event that a Triggering 
Transaction, if completed, would cause any Automatic Repurchase Shareholder, 
together with Related Persons, to hold more than 25% of any series of the issued 
shares of the Corporation, that portion of the shares held by each Automatic 
Repurchase Shareholder which constitutes in excess of 24.9% of the 
Repurchased Shares will, simultaneously with the completion of a Triggering 
Transaction, automatically be repurchased and cancelled by the Corporation 
without any further action by the Corporation or the Automatic Repurchase 
Shareholder. The purchase price for any Repurchased Shares will be equal to 
the Series H Non-Voting Share Redemption Price less the applicable series 
redemption charge (if any) and any costs associated with the redemption on the 
date of the Triggering Transaction. The proceeds of any Automatic Repurchase 
will be remitted to each applicable Automatic Repurchase Shareholder in 
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accordance with customary practice of the Corporation in connection with 
monthly redemptions. 

Limits on 
Subscriptions 

In the event that any person wants to subscribe for Series H Non-Voting Shares 
in an amount that exceeds 25% of the issued and outstanding Series H Non-
Voting Shares, the subscription may be completed to the amount of 25% of the 
Series H Non-Voting Shares but the balance will be structured in a manner 
compliant with section 130.1 of the Tax Act as a subscription for a separate class 
or series or as a debt instrument, compliant with the conditions of s. 130.1 of the 
Tax Act, reflecting similar rights and benefits as the holding of the intended 
Series H Non-Voting Shares, as agreed between the holder of Series H Non-
Voting Shares and the Corporation. The share subscription will be in accordance 
with the terms of this Offering and the negotiated debt issue will be on the basis 
of terms substantially similar as to rights and return to those of the Series H Non-
Voting Shares under this Offering. The amount that constitutes 25% of the issued 
Series H Non-Voting Shares will, as of the initial closing and for a period of time 
thereafter, depend on the aggregate number and amounts of other subscriptions 
and therefore may be substantially less than the amount that is subscribed for. 
Series H Non-Voting Shares may not be converted into another class or series of 
shares. Holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares wishing to switch classes or 
series when permissible will need to redeem their Series H Non-Voting Shares 
(subject to restrictions thereon) and subscribe for the other class or series. 

Interim Debentures  

Purchase Price The Interim Debentures will be issued for a purchase price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount thereof. 

Voting Rights The holders of Interim Debentures will not be entitled to notice of or to attend, 
and will not be entitled to vote at, any meeting of shareholders. 

Interest The principal amount of an Interim Debenture drawn and outstanding from time 
to time shall bear interest both before and after maturity, default and judgment 
from the date hereof to the date of repayment in full at the rate of 8.00% per 
annum calculated and compounded monthly in arrears and payable on the same 
day on a pro rata pari passu basis with the Offered Shares. Interest on overdue 
interest and standby charge shall be calculated and payable at the same rate 
plus 2.00% per annum. Interest is pro rated on a daily basis for any part month.  

Maturity Date The maturity date of the Interim Debentures will be agreed between the 
Subscriber and the Corporation. 

Conversion Rights The Interim Debentures are not convertible into shares of the Corporation. 

Other Terms See the form of Interim Debenture attached as Appendix D. 

 

5.2 Subscription Procedure  

An investor who wishes to subscribe for the Offered Shares, other than the Series F Preferred Shares, 
must: 

1. complete and execute the subscription form to be provided in connection with such subscription, 
including all applicable Schedules thereto; 

2. pay the subscription price by certified cheque or bank draft dated the date of the subscription in 
the amount of the Offered Shares subscribed as set forth in the subscription agreement made 
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payable to either “Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation in trust”. The Corporation will offer 
the Offered Shares at the prices set forth on the face page of this Offering Memorandum; and 

3. complete and execute any other documents deemed necessary by the Manager to comply with 
applicable securities laws, 

and deliver the foregoing to the Manager at 550 Highway 7 Ave E. Suite 338, Richmond Hill, Ontario, L4B 
3Z4, info@equitylinemic.com or such other location which the Manager may specify. If the subscription is 
not completed, all documents and subscription funds will be returned to the subscribers without interest or 
deduction. 

A subscriber will become a Shareholder of the Corporation following the acceptance of a subscription by 
the Manager. If a subscription is withdrawn or is not accepted by the Manager, all documents will be 
returned to the subscriber within thirty (30) days following such withdrawal or rejection without interest or 
deduction. Closings under this Offering may occur from time to time and at any time on such other dates 
as the Manager determines. 

The consideration tendered by each subscriber after signing a subscription agreement will be held in trust 
for a period of two Business Days during which period the subscriber may request a return of the 
tendered consideration by delivering a notice to the Manager not later than midnight on the second 
Business Day after the subscriber signs the subscription agreement. 

The Manager will be responsible for collecting all subscription orders and subscription proceeds from 
subscribers and the Agents. 

A subscriber will be entitled to receive written confirmation from the Manager of the Offered Shares 
subscribed for, provided the subscriber has paid the full subscription price for their Offered Shares. The 
Manager will undertake registrar and transfer agent function in respect of the Offered Shares. 

Subscriptions for the Series F Preferred Shares may be effected through the settlement network operated 
by FundSERV Inc. using the FundSERV code. Orders will be processed by electronic means through 
FundSERV Inc., provided that the eligibility criteria for the Series F Preferred Shares are met.  

Exemptions from Prospectus Requirements. 

This Offering is being made in reliance upon exemptions from the prospectus requirements provided in NI 
45-106. Accordingly, no prospectus has been or will be filed with any securities commission in Canada in 
connection with this Offering. 

Offering Memorandum Exemption 

Section 2.9 of NI 45-106 provides exemptions for the sale of the Offered Shares to Subscribers if the 
subscriber purchases as principal and the Corporation delivers this Offering Memorandum to the 
Subscriber in the required form; and the subscriber signs the Risk Acknowledgment in Form 45-106F4 to 
the subscription agreement to be provided in connection with the sale of the Offered Shares. All 
jurisdictions of Canada where the offering memorandum exemption is available, except British Columbia 
and Newfoundland and Labrador, impose eligibility criteria on persons or companies investing under the 
offering memorandum exemption. In these jurisdictions, if the subscriber’s aggregate subscription price is 
more than $10,000, then the subscriber must be an “eligible investor”. In certain jurisdictions there are 
also limits on the maximum amounts subscribers can buy, as further outlined below. 

An “eligible investor” includes the following investors (among other categories): 

(a) a person whose 

(i) net assets, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual, exceed $400,000, 
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(ii) net income before taxes exceeded $75,000 in each of the two most recent calendar 
years and who reasonably expects to exceed that income level in the current calendar 
year, or 

(iii) net income before taxes, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual exceeded 
$125,000 in each of the two most recent calendar years and who reasonably expects to 
exceed that income level in the current calendar year, 

(b) a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by eligible investors or 
a majority of the directors are eligible investors, 

(c) a partnership of which all of the partners are eligible investors, 

(d) a limited partnership of which the majority of the general partners are eligible investors, 

(e) a trust or estate in which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees or executors are 
eligible investors, 

(f) an accredited investor, 

(g) a person described in section 2.5 of NI 45-106 [Family, friends and business associates], or 

(h) in Manitoba, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island and Yukon, a person that has 
obtained advice regarding the suitability of the investment and if the person is resident in a 
jurisdiction of Canada, that advice has been obtained from an eligibility adviser. 

In addition, in Alberta, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Quebec and Saskatchewan, there is a 
requirement that the acquisition cost of all securities acquired by a subscriber who is an individual under 
the Offering Memorandum exemption in the preceding 12 months does not exceed the following amounts: 

(i) in the case of a purchaser that is not an eligible investor, $10,000; 

(ii) in the case of a purchaser that is an eligible investor, $30,000; 

(iii) in the case of a purchaser that is an eligible investor and that received advice from a 
portfolio manager, investment dealer or exempt market dealer that the investment is 
suitable, $100,000. 

In British Columbia and Newfoundland and Labrador, a subscriber may purchase Offered Shares with a 
total subscription price over $10,000, and there is no requirement that the subscriber be an “eligible 
investor”. 

Accredited Investor Exemption  

Section 2.3 of NI 45-106 allows “accredited investors” to purchase the Offered Shares. The definition of 
“accredited investor” includes (among other categories): 

 an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, beneficially owns financial assets having 
an aggregate realizable value that before taxes, but net of any related liabilities, exceeds 
$1,000,000; 

 an individual whose net income before taxes exceeded $200,000 in each of the two most 
recent calendar years or whose net income before taxes combined with that of a spouse 
exceeded $300,000 in each of those years and who, in either case, reasonably expects 
to exceed that net income level in the current calendar year; 
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 an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net financial assets (which does not 
include real estate) of at least $1,000,000; 

 an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net assets of at least $5,000,000; 
and 

 a registrant acting on behalf of a fully managed account. 

See the Accredited Investor Certificate attached to the subscription agreement for a complete list of the 
categories of “accredited investor”. Each subscriber who purchases as an accredited investor must 
complete and sign the Accredited Investor Certificate attached to the subscription agreement, and if they 
are an individual must sign the Risk Acknowledgment for Individual Accredited Investors in Form 45-
106F9. 

Item 6: Income Tax Consequences and Eligibility for Investment 

6.1 You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income tax consequences 
that apply to you. 

6.2 Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations 

This summary is provided by Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP based on the current provisions of the Tax 
Act, the facts contained in this Offering Memorandum, and current administrative policies and assessing 
practices of the Canada Revenue Agency published in writing prior to the date hereof. This summary 
takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act publicly announced by or on behalf of the 
Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the “Proposed Amendments”) and assumes that 
all Proposed Amendments will be enacted in the form proposed. However, no assurances can be given 
that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted as proposed, or at all. This summary does not otherwise 
take into account or anticipate any changes in law or administrative policy or assessing practice, whether 
by legislative, administrative or judicial decision or action, nor does it take into account tax legislation or 
considerations of any province, territory or foreign jurisdiction, which may differ from those discussed 
herein. 

This summary does not apply to an investor: (i) that is a “specified financial institution” or a “financial 
institution” both as defined in the Tax Act; (ii) an interest in which constitutes a “tax shelter investment” 
within the meaning of the Tax Act; (iii) that reports its Canadian tax results in a “functional currency” 
(which excludes Canadian dollars); or (iv) that has entered into a “derivative forward agreement” or a 
“synthetic disposition arrangement”, both as defined in the Tax Act with respect to the Offered Shares. 
 
This summary is based upon the further assumption that the Corporation qualifies as a MIC at all relevant 
times. The Corporation intends to meet all of the requirements under the Tax Act to qualify as a MIC 
throughout its current taxation year and for all of its future taxation years. If the Corporation were to cease 
to qualify as a MIC at any time, the income tax considerations would be materially different from those 
described below. 

This summary is of a general nature only and is not, and is not intended to be, legal or tax advice 
to any particular prospective purchaser. This summary is not exhaustive of all Canadian federal 
income tax considerations. Accordingly, prospective purchasers of Offered Shares should 
consult their own tax advisors having regard to their own particular circumstances. 

Status of the Corporation 

Classification under Tax Act 

As noted above, this summary assumes that the Corporation will qualify as a MIC at all relevant times (as 
discussed below). The Corporation intends to meet all of the requirements under the Tax Act to qualify as 
a MIC throughout its current taxation year and for all of its further taxation years. A MIC is deemed to be a 



- 71 - 

 

public corporation under the Tax Act. However, the Tax Act effectively treats a corporation that qualifies 
as a MIC as operating as a flow-through entity to the extent it distributes its income and capital gains to its 
shareholders. Accordingly, with respect to such distributions, a shareholder of a MIC is generally put in a 
similar position from an income tax perspective as if the investments made by the MIC had been made 
directly by the shareholder. If the Corporation were not to qualify as a MIC at any time, the income tax 
considerations would be materially different from those described below. 

MIC Requirements 

The following requirements must have been met throughout a taxation year in order for the Corporation to 
qualify as a MIC for that taxation year: 

(1) Canadian Corporation. The Corporation must be a “Canadian corporation” as defined in the Tax 
Act, which generally means a corporation incorporated or resident in Canada. 

(2) Undertaking. The Corporation’s only undertaking must be the investing of funds of the corporation 
and it did not manage or develop any real or immovable property.  

(3) Invested Capital. The cost amount to the Corporation of its property that consists of: (i) debts 
owing to the Corporation that are secured, whether by mortgage, hypothecs or in any other 
manner, on houses (as defined in section 2 of the National Housing Act) or on property included 
within a housing project (as defined in that section as it read on June 16, 1999); and (ii) deposits 
in (a) a bank or other corporation whose deposits are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance 
Corporation or the Regie de l’assurance-deposits du Quebec or (b) a credit union, plus any 
money of the Corporation, must be at least 50% of the cost amount to the Corporation of all of its 
property. 

(4) Prohibited Foreign Investment. None of the property of the Corporation consisted of debts owing 
to the Corporation secured by real or immovable property situated outside Canada, debts owing 
to the Corporation by non-resident persons unless such debts were secured on real or immovable 
property situated in Canada, shares of the capital stock of corporations not resident in Canada, or 
real or immovable property situated outside of Canada or any leasehold interest in such property. 

(5) Shareholder Requirements. The Corporation must have had at least 20 shareholders, except that 
in the Corporation’s first taxation year, this requirement will be met if the Corporation had at least 
20 shareholders on the last day of that taxation year. In addition, no shareholder (together with 
Related Persons, see below) of the Corporation at any time in the year may have owned, directly 
or indirectly, more than 25% of the invested shares of any class of the Corporation. Special rules 
apply for the purposes of counting shareholders that are registered pension plans or deferred 
profit sharing plans. 

(6) Preferred Shareholders. Holders of Preferred Shares of the Corporation must have had the right, 
after payment to them of their preferred dividends and payment of dividends in a like amount per 
share to the holders of the common shares of the Corporation, to participate pari passu (equally) 
with the holders of the common shares in any further payment of dividends. 

(7) 50% Asset Test. The cost amount for tax purposes to the Corporation of its property in the form 
of, or as a combination of, money, debts secured (whether by mortgage, hypothecs, or in any 
other  manner) on certain specified residential properties, and funds on deposit with a bank or 
other corporation who is a member of an whose relevant deposits are insured by the Canada 
Deposit Insurance Corporation or Régie de l’assurance-dépôts du Québec insured institution or 
credit union (such debts and deposits referred to as “Required Property”), must have constituted 
at least 50% of the cost amount to the Corporation of all of its property. 

(8) 25% Asset Test. The cost amount for tax purposes to the Corporation of its property in the form of 
interests in real or immovable property (including leaseholds but excluding real or immovable 
property acquired by foreclosure after default by the mortgagor on a mortgage, hypothec or 
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agreement of sale of real property) did not exceed 25% of the cost amount to the Corporation of 
all of its property. 

(9) Debt to Equity Ratio. Where at any time in the year the cost amount to the Corporation of its 
money and Required Property represented less than two-thirds of the aggregate cost amount to 
the Corporation of all of its property, the Corporation’s liabilities may not exceed three times the 
amount of the cost amount to the Corporation of all its property exceeded its liabilities. Where, 
however, throughout the year the cost amount to the Corporation of its money and Required 
Property represented two-thirds or more of the aggregate cost amount to the Corporation of all of 
its property, the Corporation’s liabilities may not exceed five times the amount of the cost amount 
to the Corporation of all its property exceeded its liabilities. 

With respect to the requirement noted above that no shareholder (together with Related Persons) may 
own more than 25% of the shares of any class of the Corporation, for these purposes “Related Persons” 
include a corporation and the person or persons that control the corporation, a parent corporation and its 
subsidiary corporation(s) and corporations that are part of the same corporate group, and an individual 
and that individual’s spouse, common-law partner or child under 18 years of age. The rules in the Tax Act 
defining “related persons” are complex and holders should consult with their own tax advisors in this 
regard. 

For the purposes of the 50% asset test noted above, the requirement is that the Corporation’s 
investments must comprise the specified minimum amount of debts that are secured by mortgages, 
hypothecs or in any other manner, on “houses” or on property included within a “housing project”, as 
those terms are defined in the National Housing Act (Canada). Generally, a “house” includes all or part of 
a building or moveable structure that is intended for human habitation containing not more than two family 
housing shares, and “housing project” includes all or part of a building or movable structure intended for 
human habitation, any property intended to be converted or developed to provide housing 
accommodation, or property associated with housing accommodation such as parking, public and 
recreational facilities excluding hotels. 

Taxation of the Corporation 

The Corporation will be considered to be a public corporation either on the basis that it qualifies as a MIC 
or on the basis that the Preferred Shares are listed on a recognized stock exchange (which does not 
include the JSE). As a public corporation, the Corporation is subject to tax at the full general corporate 
income tax rates on its taxable income. However, as long as the Corporation is a MIC, special rules in the 
Tax Act apply to the Corporation which generally enable it to deduct in computing its income for a taxation 
year the amount of its income for that taxation year that is distributed to its shareholders. Specifically, the 
Corporation will be entitled to deduct, in computing its income for a taxation year, the total of: 

(a) all taxable dividends, other than capital gains dividends, paid by the Corporation to its 
shareholders during the year (to the extent not deductible in computing the Corporation’s income 
for the previous year) or within 90 days after the end of the year; and 

(b) one-half of all capital gains dividends paid by the Corporation to its shareholders during the 
period commencing 91 days after the commencement of the year and ending 90 days after the 
end of the year. 

The Corporation must elect to have a dividend qualify as a capital gains dividend. The Corporation may 
elect that dividends paid during a 12-month period commencing 91 days after the commencement of a 
taxation year and ending 90 days after the end of the year be capital gains dividends to the extent of the 
Corporation’s capital gains for the year less any applicable capital losses. The election must be made in 
respect of the full amount of a dividend and can only be made if the Corporation qualifies as a MIC 
throughout the taxation year in respect of which the dividend is paid. The payment of capital gains 
dividends will allow the Corporation to flow capital gains it realizes through to its shareholders. 
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The Corporation intends to make distributions to the extent necessary so that it will generally have no 
taxes payable under Part I of the Tax Act and to generally elect to have dividends be capital gains 
dividends to the maximum extent allowable. 

Taxation of Shareholders 

Distributions 

A Shareholder is required to include in its income as interest any amount received by the Shareholder 
from the Corporation as or on account of a taxable dividend (other than capital gains dividends), whether 
paid in cash or reinvested in shares of the Corporation. Accordingly, taxable dividends, except for capital 
gains dividends, received by a Shareholder are taxable in the hands of the Shareholder as interest 
income rather than dividend income. The gross-up and dividend tax credit applicable to taxable dividends 
received by individuals from a taxable Canadian corporation will not apply to dividends paid by the 
Corporation. 

Capital gains dividends received by a Shareholder (whether paid in cash or reinvested in shares of the 
Corporation) are treated as capital gains realized by the Shareholder from a disposition of capital property 
in the year in which the dividend is received. One half (1/2) of the capital gains dividends must be 
included as a “taxable capital gain” in computing the Shareholder’s taxable income. 

Any amount paid by the Corporation to a Shareholder as a return of capital will generally be deemed to 
be a dividend paid by the Corporation and received by the Shareholder. This deemed dividend will be 
treated in the same manner as other dividends received by the Shareholder from the Corporation, and its 
treatment will depend on whether the Corporation elects that the entire dividend be a capital gains 
dividend (to the extent that the Corporation has realized sufficient capital gains, net of any applicable 
capital losses, in the year). A return of capital on the Offered Shares will generally not affect the adjusted 
cost base of a Shareholder’s Offered Shares. 

The amount of a dividend reinvested in additional shares of the Corporation will be the cost of such 
shares and will be averaged with the cost of other shares of the Corporation owned by the holder thereof 
in determining the adjusted cost base of such holder’s shares. 

Dispositions 

A sale or other disposition of an Offered Share by a Shareholder (other than to the Corporation), including 
a deemed disposition, will give rise to a capital gain (or capital loss) to the extent that the proceeds of 
disposition of the Offered Share exceed (or are exceeded by) the Shareholder’s adjusted cost base of 
such Offered Share and any reasonable disposition costs. 

Generally, one-half (1/2) of a capital gain (“taxable capital gain”) realized in the year by a Shareholder on 
the disposition of the Offered Shares will be included in the Shareholder’s income for the year, and one-
half of a capital loss (“allowable capital loss”) realized in the year on such dispositions of Offered Shares 
will be deducted from the Shareholder’s taxable capital gains, if any, realized in such year. Allowable 
capital losses in excess of taxable capital gains for a particular year may generally be carried back three 
years or forward indefinitely and deducted against taxable capital gains realized in such years, subject to 
detailed rules in the Tax Act. 

A Shareholder will be deemed to have disposed of its Offered Shares when that Shareholder assigns or 
sells those Offered Shares; those Offered Shares are the subject of a gift or death; or where a 
Shareholder is a corporation and such corporation is wound up or otherwise terminated. Generally, the 
deemed proceeds of disposition are equal to fair market value of the Offered Shares at that time. 

A Shareholder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable 
to pay an additional refundable tax on certain investment income, including amounts in respect of interest 
and taxable capital gains. Such tax will be eligible for refund when taxable dividends are paid by such 
Shareholder. 
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On a redemption or acquisition of Offered Shares by the Corporation, the Shareholder generally will be 
deemed to have received, and the Corporation will be deemed to have paid, a dividend in an amount 
equal to the amount by which the redemption price exceeds the paid-up capital of the redeemed Offered 
Shares. This deemed dividend will be treated in the same manner as other dividends received by the 
Shareholder from the Corporation, and its treatment will depend on whether the Corporation elects that 
the entire dividend be a capital gains dividend. 

Alternative Minimum Tax 

Taxable capital gains realized by a Shareholder that is an individual, including certain trusts, may give 
rise to alternative minimum tax depending upon the Shareholder’s circumstances. 

6.3 Eligibility for Investment 

If issued on the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Offered Shares would be qualified investments 
under the Tax Act for a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), a registered 
retirement income fund (“RRIF”) , a registered disability savings plan (“RDSP”), a tax-free savings 
account (“TFSA”) and a registered education savings plan (“RESP”) (collectively, “Plans”) or a deferred 
profit sharing plan (“DPSP”), provided that the Corporation qualifies as a MIC throughout the taxation year 
and further provided that at any time in the relevant calendar year, the Corporation does not hold any 
indebtedness, whether by way of mortgage or otherwise, of a person who is an annuitant, a beneficiary, 
an employer or a subscriber under, or a holder of, the Plan or a DPSP, or of any other person who does 
not deal at arm’s length with that person. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Offered Shares are a “prohibited investment” under the Tax Act for a 
Plan that acquires the Offered Shares, the annuitant, holder or subscriber (the “Controlling Individual”) of, 
or under such Plan, as the case may be, will be subject to a penalty tax as set out in the Tax Act. The 
Offered Shares will not be a prohibited investment for a Plan provided the Controlling Individual, (i) deals 
at arm’s length with the Corporation for purposes of the Tax Act, and (ii) does not have a “significant 
interest” (as such term is defined in subsection 207.01(4) of the Tax Act) in the Corporation.  In addition, 
the Offered Shares will not be a “prohibited investment” for a Plan if such shares are “excluded property” 
as defined in the Tax Act for such Plan. 

Not all securities are eligible for investment in a Plan or DPSP. You should consult your professional 
advisers to obtain advice on the eligibility of these securities. 

6.4 Individual Pension Plans 

The Offered Shares may be purchased by a trust governed by an individual pension plan (an “IPP”), 
subject to the investment guidelines of the IPP and subject to restrictions on “connected persons”. No 
legal or tax opinion is provided herein as to the purchase by an IPP and no representation is made as to 
the whether a purchase by an IPP in any specific circumstance may be made. You should consult your 
professional advisers to obtain legal, tax and pension advice on including these securities in an IPP. 

Item 7: Compensation Paid to Sellers and FindersThe Corporation is offering the Offered Shares 
(other than the Series H Non-Voting Shares) under available prospectus exemptions as set out in NI 45-
106 including, but not limited to, the offering memorandum exemption, the accredited investor exemption 
and the family, friends and business associates exemption. The Series H Non-Voting Shares are being 
offered under the family, friends and business associates exemption and accredited investor exemption 
under NI 45-106. 

Offering of Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares 

The Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares offered under this Offering will be 
distributed by one or more selling agents (each being an “Agent”) on a best efforts basis. The 
Corporation will pay a cash fee to the Agents (the “Agents’ Fee”) for the sale of the Series A Preferred 
Shares Series B Preferred Shares of up to 7% of the Aggregate Gross Proceeds. 
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In certain circumstances, the Corporation may reimburse Agents for their due diligence costs in respect of 
sales of the Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares. No trailer fees will be paid in 
connection with the Series A Preferred Shares. In connection with the offering of Series B Preferred 
Shares, starting on the date that is 36 months following the date of issuance of a Series B Preferred 
Share, the Corporation will pay to each Agent (or other registered dealer) a servicing fee equal to 1% of 
the Series B Preferred Share Purchase Price per annum (payable at the end of each fiscal quarter) in 
respect of each such Series B Share that is held by clients of such Agent (or other registered dealer) (the 
“Trailer Fee”), provided that the Series B Preferred Share on which the Trailer Fee is paid has not been 
redeemed at the time payment is to be made. For clarity, the Trailer Fee is payable only in respect of 
Series B Preferred Shares that are held for at least 36 months.  The exact amount of the Trailer Fee will 
be determined by the Manager from time to time. See Item 1.1 “Funds – Offering of Series A Preferred 
Shares” and Item 1.1 “Funds – Offering of Series B Preferred Shares”. 

The Agents will use their best efforts to sell the Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares 
offered hereby, but will not be obligated to purchase any of the Series A Preferred Shares and Series B 
Preferred Shares. The Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares generally are being 
offered for sale in each of the provinces of Canada in reliance on certain exemption(s) from the 
prospectus requirements of Applicable Securities Laws, including but not limited to, the accredited 
investor exemption and the offering memorandum exemption under Sections 2.3 and 2.9 of NI 45-106, 
respectively, in each of the provinces of Canada. Investors will only be permitted to purchase the Series A 
Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares if the purchase qualifies for one of these exemptions. 

Offering of Series F Preferred Shares 

Series F Preferred Shares will be sold through the settlement network operated by FundSERV Inc. Other 
than a FundSERV transaction fee of approximately $12.50 per trade, no other commissions or fees are 
expected to be paid in connection with the sale of Series F Preferred Shares. 

Offering of Series H Non-Voting Shares 

No Agent’s Fee or other consideration will be paid in connection with the sale of the Series H Non-Voting 
Shares. 

The Corporation will pay a Management Fee to the Manager in connection with the Series H Non-Voting 
Shares. See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Management Fees and Operating Expenses”. 

Item 8: Risk Factors 

The purchase of Offered Shares pursuant to the Offering should only be made after consulting with 
independent and qualified investment, legal and tax advisors. There are certain risks inherent in an 
investment in the Offered Shares of the Corporation, including the following factors, which investors 
should carefully consider before investing. Some of the following factors are interrelated and, 
consequently, investors should treat such risk factors as a whole. The following information is a summary 
only of certain risk factors and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction 
with, the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum. These risks and 
uncertainties are not the only ones that could affect the Corporation and additional risks and uncertainties 
not currently known to the Corporation or the Manager, or that they currently deem immaterial, may also 
impair the returns, NAV, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation. If any such risks 
actually occur, the returns, NAV, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation could be 
materially adversely affected and each of the financial performance of the Corporation and the ability of 
the Corporation to make cash distributions could be materially adversely affected. 

The following is a summary only of the risk factors involved in an investment in the Offered Shares. 
Prospective investors should review the risks with their financial, legal and tax advisors. 
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Offered Shares are Not Liquid 

There is currently no market through which the Offered Shares may be sold by purchasers in Canada. 
The Offered Shares are subject to a number of respecting transferability and resale, including a restriction 
on trading imposed by Applicable Securities Laws. Until the restriction on trading expires, you will not be 
able to trade the Offered Shares unless you comply with an exemption from the prospectus and 
registration requirements under securities legislation. 

Unless permitted under securities legislation, no Shareholder can trade the Offered Shares before the 
date that is four months and a day after the date the Corporation becomes a reporting issuer in any 
province or territory of Canada. The Corporation is not a reporting issuer in any province or territory of 
Canada, and therefore the Offered Shares will be subject to an indefinite hold period. The Offered Shares 
may only be transferred under limited exemptions under Applicable Securities Laws. Consequently, 
Shareholders may not be able to sell the Offered Shares readily or at all, and they may not be accepted 
as collateral for a loan. Shareholders should be prepared to hold the Offered Shares indefinitely and 
cannot expect to be able to liquidate their investment even in the case of an emergency. Accordingly, an 
investment in Offered Shares is suitable solely for persons able to make and bear the economic risk of a 
long-term investment. Series A Preferred Shares purchased hereunder may not be resold, including 
on the Jamaica Stock Exchange, except in accordance with exemptions under applicable 
securities laws. 

Redemption Right – Cash Limit on Paying Redemptions 

Redemption rights under the Articles of the Corporation are restricted and provide only a limited 
opportunity for Shareholders to liquidate their investment in the Offered Shares. In accordance with the 
Articles of the Corporation, the entitlement of a Shareholder to receive cash upon the redemption of such 
holder’s Offered Shares is subject to limitations. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A Preferred 
Shares – Redemption by Shareholders”, Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – 
Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholders”,  Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series F Preferred Shares 
– Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholders and Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Non-Voting Shares – 
Cash Limit on Redemptions by Shareholders”. 

No Assurance of Achieving Investment Objectives or Paying Distributions 

There is no assurance that the Corporation will be able to achieve its investment objectives or be able to 
pay distributions at all or at the targeted levels or preserve capital. The funds available for distribution to 
holders of Offered Shares will vary according to, among other things, the interest and principal payments 
received in respect of the mortgage loans comprising the Portfolio. There is no assurance that the 
Portfolio will earn any return or that distributions will be made. The Manager, on behalf of the Corporation, 
may periodically re-evaluate the Corporation’s targeted level of distributions and adjust it higher or lower, 
provided applicable shareholder approval is obtained, which may have a material effect on the price or 
value of the Offered Shares. 

An investment in the Corporation is appropriate only for investors who have the capacity to absorb a loss 
of some or all of their investment and who can withstand the effect of distributions not being paid in any 
period or at all. 

Shareholders Have Limited Voting Rights 

The holders of Offered Shares generally will not be entitled to receive notice of or to attend any meeting 
of shareholders of the Corporation or to vote at any such meeting, except in cases where a fundamental 
change to the Corporation or change to the terms of the applicable class or series of Offered Shares is 
proposed. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series A Preferred Shares – Voting Rights”, Item 5.1 
“Terms of Securities – Series B Preferred Shares – Voting Rights”, Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series 
F Preferred Shares – Voting Rights”  and Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Series H Non-Voting Shares – 
Voting Rights”. The Corporation may but is not required to hold annual meetings of Shareholders or any 
Shareholder meetings on a periodic basis.  
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Changes in Land Values 

The Corporation’s investments in mortgage loans will be secured by real estate, the value of which can 
fluctuate. The value of real estate is affected by general economic conditions, local real estate markets, 
the attractiveness of the property to tenants where applicable, competition from other available properties, 
fluctuations in occupancy rates, operating expenses and other factors. The value of income-producing 
real property may also depend on the credit worthiness and financial stability of the borrowers and/or the 
tenants. Changes in market conditions may decrease the value of the secured property and reduce the 
cash flow from the property, thereby impacting the ability of the borrower to service the debt and/or repay 
the loan based on the property income. In particular, recent disruptions to the credit and financial markets 
in North America, Europe and worldwide and local economic disruptions in areas where the borrowers of 
the mortgage loans are located may adversely affect the value of the real estate on which the mortgage 
loans are secured and the ability of the borrowers to repay the mortgage loans and thereby negatively 
impact the Corporation’s business and the value of the Offered Shares. 

Given the uncertainty in the current economic environment, there is a heightened risk of a decline in the 
value of real property. A decline in value of real property provided as security for a mortgage may cause 
the value of the property to be less than the outstanding principal amount of the mortgage loan held by 
the Corporation, and where applicable, amounts owed to other creditors with prior ranking security. 
Foreclosure by the Corporation or any creditor holding security in priority to the Corporation on any such 
mortgage loan would not provide the Corporation, or the other secured creditors, with proceeds sufficient 
to satisfy the outstanding principal amount of the mortgage loan. 

While independent appraisals are often obtained before the Corporation makes any mortgage 
investments, the appraised values provided therein, even where reported on an “as is” basis, are not 
necessarily reflective of the market value of the underlying real property. The market value of real 
property may fluctuate substantially within a short period at times of economic instability and turmoil. In 
addition, the appraised values reported in independent appraisals may be subject to certain conditions, 
including the completion of rehabilitation, remediation or improvements on the real property providing 
security for the loan. There can be no assurance that these conditions will be satisfied and if, and to the 
extent they are not satisfied, the appraised value may not be achieved. Even if such conditions are 
satisfied, the appraised value may not necessarily reflect the market value of the real property at the time 
the conditions are satisfied. 

Concentration and Composition of the Portfolio 

The Portfolio is primarily invested in residential mortgages although the Corporation also may hold some 
cash and cash equivalents on a transitional basis. As of the date hereof, the Portfolio does not include 
any commercial mortgages or any residential mortgages outside of Ontario. The Portfolio is currently 
invested in the Province of Ontario, Canada. A lack of diversification may result in the Corporation being 
exposed to economic downturns or other events that have an adverse and disproportionate effect on 
particular types of security, industry or geography. Investments in mortgages are relatively illiquid. Such 
illiquidity will tend to limit the Corporation’s ability to vary its Portfolio promptly in response to changing 
economic or investment conditions. 

The Portfolio Restrictions, investment objectives and investment restrictions of the Corporation permit the 
assets of the Corporation to be invested in a broad spectrum of mortgages. In addition, exceptions may 
be made to the Portfolio Restrictions provided they are made by the Manager and provided that certain 
conditions are met. Based on evolving market conditions and the investment history of the Corporation’s 
Portfolio, the Manager may also amend the Portfolio Restrictions in order to maintain the currency and 
relevance of the model on the overall investment approach of the Corporation. Therefore, the composition 
of the Portfolio may vary widely from time to time, subject to the investment objective and investment 
restrictions of the Corporation. The Portfolio will be invested and may from time to time be concentrated 
by location of the properties, type of property, or other factors resulting in the Portfolio being less 
diversified than at other times and as anticipated. As a result, the returns of the Portfolio may change as 
its composition changes. See Item 2.2 “Our Business – Portfolio Restrictions”. 
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Subordinated Loans and Mortgages 

Some of the mortgages in which the Corporation intends to invest may be considered to be higher risk 
than conventional senior debt financing because the Corporation may not have a first-ranking charge on 
the underlying property. When a charge on property is in a position other than first-ranking, it is possible 
for the holder of a senior-ranking charge on the property, if the borrower is in default under the terms of its 
obligations to such holder, to take a number of actions against the borrower in priority to the subordinate 
charge and ultimately against the property to realize on the security given for the loan. Such actions may 
include a foreclosure action, the exercising of a quit claim or an action forcing the property to be sold. A 
foreclosure action or the exercise of a giving-in-payment clause may have the ultimate effect of depriving 
any person having other than a first-ranking charge on the property of the security of the property. If an 
action is taken to sell the property and sufficient proceeds are not realized from such sale to pay off 
creditors who have prior charges on the property, the holder of a subsequent charge may lose its 
investment or part thereof to the extent of such deficiency unless the holder can otherwise recover such 
deficiency from other property owned by the debtor. The Corporation may remedy a default under the 
terms of a prior charge on a property or satisfy the obligation of a borrower towards the holder of a prior 
ranking charge if required to protect the Corporation’s investments. 

No Guarantees 

There can be no assurance that mortgage loans of the Corporation will result in a guaranteed rate of 
return or any return to holders of Offered Shares or that losses will not be suffered on one or more 
mortgage loans. Moreover, at any point in time, the interest rates being charged for mortgages are 
reflective of the general level of interest rates and, as interest rates fluctuate, it is expected that the 
aggregate yield on mortgage investments will also change. 

A mortgage borrower’s obligations to the Corporation or any other person are not guaranteed by the 
Government of Canada, the government of any province or any agency thereof nor are they insured 
under the National Housing Act (Canada). In the event that additional security is given by the borrower or 
a third party or that a private guarantor guarantees the mortgage borrower’s obligations, there is no 
assurance that such additional security or guarantee will be sufficient to make the Corporation whole if 
and when resort is to be had thereto. Further, the Offered Shares are not “deposits” within the meaning of 
the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act (Canada) and are not insured under the provisions of that 
Act or any other legislation. 

Reliance on Borrowers 

After funding a mortgage, although the Corporation may monitor the situation and has its own limited 
insurance policies in place, the Corporation relies upon borrowers to maintain adequate insurance and for 
proper adherence to environmental regulations. 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

The rapid spread of COVID-19 has grown into a worldwide a health crisis and is impacting the world’s 
economies and financial markets on an unprecedented global scale. The spread of COVID-19 has led to 
mass quarantines, supply chain and production disruption, unavailability of personnel, reductions in sales, 
earnings, or productivity, disruptions in or stoppages of nonessential business travel, business 
closures/disruptions, international border closures/restrictions and reduced consumer spending. At 
present almost all economic sectors have been adversely affected by the spread of COVID-19. It is 
difficult to estimate the extent and severity over time that COVID-19 will have on the North American 
economy. All indicators are that the world economy, inclusive of the North American economy, will suffer 
from a severe recession as a result of the economic impact of COVID-19. The COVID-19 Pandemic may 
have the following adverse effects on the business of the Corporation:  
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i. a significant number of mortgagees who the Corporation has funded mortgages may become 
unable to make their payments on a regular basis or at all;  

ii. the Manager may not be able to collect the balance of any principle and interest of defaulted 
mortgages held in the Portfolio;  

iii. the Corporation may not be able to lend money at interest rates in excess of the returns sought;   

iv. the Corporation may not have sufficient cash flow to make regular distributions to its 
securityholders;  

v. the Corporation may not be able to provide distributions equal to any stated return;  

vi. the Corporation may not have sufficient cash reserves to pay cash redemptions to redeeming 
investors; and  

vii. the Corporation may not be able to return to each investors their original investment capital.  

Competition 

The performance of the Corporation depends, in large part, on the Manager’s ability to source or acquire 
mortgage loans at favourable yields. The Manager competes with individuals, corporations and 
institutions for investment opportunities in the financing of real property. Certain of these competitors may 
have greater resources than the Corporation and may therefore operate with greater flexibility. As a 
result, the Manager may not be able to source or acquire sufficient mortgage loans at favourable yields or 
at all. 

Sensitivity to Interest Rates 

It is anticipated that the market price for the Offered Shares and the value of the Portfolio at any given 
time may be affected by the level of interest rates prevailing at such time. The Corporation’s income will 
consist primarily of interest payments on the mortgages comprising the Portfolio. If there is a decline in 
interest rates (as measured by the indices upon which the interest rates of the Corporation’s mortgages 
are based), the Corporation may find it difficult to source or otherwise generate additional mortgages 
bearing rates sufficient to achieve targeted annualized dividends or other distributions on the Offered 
Shares. There can be no assurance that an interest rate environment in which there is a significant 
decline in interest rates would not adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to maintain distributions on the 
Offered Shares at a consistent level. Increasing interest rates may also adversely affect the Corporation’s 
performance and/or the value of the Offered Shares and the Corporation’s Portfolio. 

Due to the term of the mortgages comprising the Portfolio and the inability to accurately predict the extent 
to which the Corporation’s mortgages may be prepaid, it is possible that the Corporation may not be able 
to sufficiently reduce interest rate risk associated with the replacement of such mortgages through new 
investments in mortgages. 

Fluctuations in Dividends 

The funds available for dividends will vary according to, among other things, the value of the Portfolio and 
the interest and fees earned thereon. Fluctuations in the market value of the Portfolio may occur for a 
number of reasons beyond the control of the Manager or the Corporation. 

The Corporation will depend on revenue generated from the Portfolio. There can be no assurance 
regarding the amount of revenue that will be generated by the mortgages comprising the Portfolio. The 
shareholders of the Corporation will be entitled to receive dividends as and when declared from time to 
time by the directors of the Corporation, acting in their sole discretion, out of the assets of the Corporation 
properly available for the payment of dividends. The amount of dividends will depend upon numerous 
factors, including the ability of borrowers to make applicable payments under mortgages, composition of 
the Corporation’s mortgages, availability of mortgage investments, interest rates, unexpected costs, the 
Corporation’s financial performance, debt covenants and obligations under credit facilities, working capital 
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requirements and other factors which may not now be known by or which may be beyond the control of 
the Corporation or the Manager. If the directors of the Corporation, on the advice of the Manager, 
determine that it would be in the best interests of the Corporation, they may reduce or suspend for any 
period or altogether cease indefinitely the distributions to be made to the shareholders. 

Dividends paid to holders of Offered Shares may exceed actual cash available to the Corporation from 
time to time because of items such as debt payment obligations, fluctuations in Portfolio returns and 
redemptions of Offered Shares, if any. This excess cash required to fund dividends may be funded from 
an operating credit facility, to the extent that one is available, or from the capital of the Corporation. 

Availability of Investments 

Because the Corporation relies on the Manager and its Affiliated brokerage, Equityline Financial, to 
source mortgages it invests in, the Corporation is exposed to adverse developments in the business and 
affairs of the Manager and Equityline Financial, to the management and financial strength of each and to 
the ability of each to operate its business profitably. The ability of the Corporation to make investments in 
accordance with its investment objective and investment strategies depends upon the availability of 
suitable investments and the amount of funds available to make such investments. Additionally, the 
Corporation may occasionally hold excess funds to be invested in additional mortgages, which may 
negatively impact returns. 

Financing 

The net proceeds raised by the Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish all of the Corporation’s 
objectives and there is no assurance that alternative financing to pay for such objectives will be available. 
There can be assurance that the Corporation will have access to sufficient capital or access to capital on 
terms favourable to the Corporation for future mortgage portfolio acquisitions. 

Risks Related to Mortgage Extensions and Mortgage Defaults 

The Manager may from time to time deem it appropriate to extend or renew the term of a mortgage past 
its maturity, or to accrue the interest on a mortgage, in order to provide the borrower with increased 
repayment flexibility. The Manager generally will do so if it believes that there is a low risk to the 
Corporation of not being repaid the full principal and interest owing on the mortgage. In these 
circumstances, however, the Corporation is subject to the risk that the principal and/or accrued interest of 
such mortgage may not be repaid in a timely manner or at all, which could impact the cash flows of the 
Corporation during the period in which it is granting this accommodation. Further, in the event that the 
valuation of the asset has fluctuated substantially due to market conditions, there is a risk that the 
Corporation may not recover all or substantially all of the principal and interest owed to the Corporation in 
respect of such mortgage. 

When a mortgage is extended past its maturity, the loan can either be held over on a month-to-month 
basis or renewed for an additional term at the time of its maturity. Notwithstanding any such extension or 
renewal, if the borrower subsequently defaults under any terms of the mortgage, the Manager has the 
ability to exercise its mortgage enforcement remedies in respect of the extended or renewed mortgage. 
Exercising mortgage enforcement remedies is a process that requires a significant amount of time to 
complete, which could adversely impact the cash flows of the Corporation during the period of 
enforcement. In addition, as a result of potential declines in real estate values, there is no assurance that 
the Corporation will be able to recover all or substantially all of the outstanding principal and interest owed 
to the Corporation in respect of such mortgages by exercising its mortgage enforcement remedies. 
Should the Corporation be unable to recover all or substantially all of the principal and interest owed to 
the Corporation in respect of such mortgages, the NAV would be reduced, and the returns, financial 
condition and results of operations of the Corporation could be adversely impacted. 

Renewal of Mortgages Comprising the Portfolio 

There can be no assurances that any of the mortgages comprising the Portfolio can or will be renewed at 
the same interest rates and terms, or in the same amounts as are currently in effect. With respect to each 
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mortgage comprising the Portfolio, it is possible that the mortgagor, the mortgagee or both, will elect to 
not renew. In addition, if the mortgages in the Portfolio are renewed, the principal balance of such 
renewals, the interest rates and the other terms and conditions of such mortgages will be subject to 
negotiation between the mortgagors and the mortgagees at the time of renewal. 

Foreclosure and Related Costs 

One or more borrowers could fail to make payments according to the terms of their loan and the 
Corporation could therefore be forced to exercise its rights as mortgagee. The recovery of a portion of the 
Corporation’s assets may not be possible for an extended period of time during this process and there are 
circumstances where there may be complications in the enforcement of the Corporation’s rights as 
mortgagee. Legal fees and expenses and other costs incurred by the Corporation in enforcing its rights as 
mortgagee against a defaulting borrower are borne by the Corporation. Although these fees, costs and 
expenses are usually recoverable from the borrower directly or through the sale of the mortgaged 
property by power of sale or otherwise, there is no assurance that they will actually be recovered. 

Furthermore, certain significant expenditures, including property taxes, capital repair and replacement 
costs, maintenance costs, mortgage payments, insurance costs and related charges must be made 
through the period of ownership of real property regardless of whether the property is producing income 
or whether mortgage payments are being made. The Corporation may therefore be required to incur 
additional outlays to protect its investment, even if the borrower is not honouring its contractual obligation. 

Conflicts of Interest  

Except as set forth in this Offering Memorandum, there are no existing material conflicts of interest 
between the Corporation and any of its directors and officers. However, certain directors and officers of 
the Corporation are, and may continue to be, directors, officers or shareholders of other entities, including 
the Manager and Equityline Financial, whose operations may, from time to time, be in direct competition 
with those of the Corporation or with entities which may, from time to time, provide financing to, or make 
equity investments in competitors of the Corporation. Subject to the Conflicts Policy and in accordance 
with the OBCA, such directors and officers will be required to disclose all Conflicts of Interest Matters as 
such conflicts arise. If a Conflict of Interest Matter arises at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation or any other Equityline Group Members, any director in a conflict will disclose his interest and 
abstain from voting on such matter. 

Subject to the Conflicts Policy, the Manager, its officers, directors, employees, or shareholders and their 
respective Affiliates and associates are not limited or affected in their ability to carry on other business 
ventures for their own account, or for the account of others, and may be engaged in the development of, 
investment in, or management of businesses that may compete with the business of the Corporation. The 
Corporation has not entered into any non-competition agreements with any of the Manager or its 
directors, officers or employees. Similarly, the Manager does not have any non-competition agreements 
with its respective directors, officers and employees. Accordingly, subject to the terms of the Management 
Agreement and the general fiduciary and statutory duties of directors and officers, any one or more of the 
Manager, and their respective directors, officers and employees, may compete with or otherwise have a 
conflict of interest in carrying out its obligations to or duties for the Corporation, but are subject to the 
Conflicts Policy in all cases and in all respects. 

For example, the Manager may manage or advise with respect to accounts or funds (including separate 
accounts and other funds and pooled investment vehicles) that have investment objectives similar to 
those of the Corporation and may engage in transactions in the same types of investments as the 
Corporation. Such transactions will be executed independently of transactions of the Corporation and 
thus at prices or rates that may be more or less favourable than those obtained by the Corporation.  

The mortgage opportunities will be sourced through the Manager and through Equityline Financial. Each 
has agreed to make mortgage funding opportunities available to the Corporation in priority to other 
funding sources, including related mortgage funds and third parties.  
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The Corporation will rely upon the Manager to manage the business of the Corporation and to provide 
managerial skill. The directors and officers of the Manager may have a conflict of interest in allocating 
their time between the respective businesses and interests of the Manager and the Corporation, and 
other businesses or projects in which they may become involved. 

The directors and officers of the Manager have agreed to devote as much time to the Corporation as is 
required for the effective management of the Corporation. The Manager and its Affiliates, their respective 
directors and officers may, at any time, engage in promoting or managing other entities and their 
investments, subject to the Conflicts Policy. 

The Corporation and its shareholders are dependent in large part upon the experience and good faith of 
the Manager and the directors and officers of the Corporation and the Manager. Certain of the 
Corporation’s directors and officers are also directors, officers or shareholders of the Manager, or 
directors, officers or shareholders of an Affiliate of the Manager and, accordingly, there may be Conflicts 
of Interest Matters if the interests of these companies are inconsistent with those of the Corporation. 
These will all be subject to the Conflicts Policy. Although the Manager is not paid a commission or finders’ 
fee in connection with the issuance of Offered Shares, the Management Fee payable to it pursuant to the 
Management Agreement is based on the size of the Portfolio. The Manager is also entitled to Lender 
Fees from borrowers. Consequently, there may be an economic incentive to the Manager to increase the 
size of the Portfolio, through the issuance of additional Preferred Shares, Non-Voting Shares or 
otherwise, and to turn over the mortgages in the Portfolio more frequently, notwithstanding that 
appropriate mortgage investments may not be available and thus the quality of the mortgages in the 
Portfolio may decrease. A decrease in the quality of the mortgages in the Portfolio may make it more 
difficult for the Corporation to generate the income necessary in order to fund dividends on the Offered 
Shares.  

Conflicts of Interest Matters may also arise because of the fact that the directors and officers of the 
Corporation and Manager are engaged in a wide range of mortgage and other business activities. Certain 
directors and officers of the Corporation are or may also be directors and officers and shareholders of or 
in other mortgage investment corporations which may be in direct competition with the Corporation, 
however, all such matters are subject to the Conflicts Policy. Further, certain directors and officers of the 
Corporation invest in syndicated mortgages and other mortgage products, which such products may be in 
direct competition with the Corporation; however, any such investments are subject to the Conflicts 
Policy. The Manager has established, and intends to establish in the future, other investment vehicles 
which may involve transactions which conflict with the interests of the Corporation; however, the 
establishment of any such investment vehicles is subject to the Conflicts Policy. 

One way the Corporation facilitates the exercise of Independent supervision over management is by 
ensuring that the majority of the Board is composed of directors who are Independent from management 
of the Corporation. The Board of Directors currently has eight directors, five of whom are considered to be 
Independent (Messrs. Klein, Handler, Korol Hathaway and Chadda) of the Corporation’s management. 

The Corporation will not proceed with any Conflict of Interest Matter unless such matter has obtained the 
prior unanimous approval of the Independent directors, in addition to approval of the Board of Directors. 
The Independent directors may review applicable valuations required or conducted from time to time and, 
if it disagrees with such valuation(s) or conclusions it may refer the issue to the auditor of the Corporation 
or such other independent professional as deemed appropriate by the Independent directors in such 
circumstances. The Independent directors may meet, as needed, to monitor and assess the performance 
of the Corporation and other Equityline Group Members relative to the investment objectives 

There is no assurance that any Conflicts of Interest Matters that may arise will be resolved in a manner 
most favorable to shareholders. Persons considering a purchase of Offered Shares pursuant to this 
Offering must rely on the judgment and good faith of the directors, officers and employees of the Manager 
and the Corporation in resolving such Conflicts of Interest Matters as may arise, subject to the Conflicts 
Policy. 
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Non-Arm’s Length Transactions 

Certain transactions contemplated by the Corporation’s structure involve non-arm’s length parties. See 
Item 2.1 “Structure”. As such, certain contractual terms usually contained in documentation that is 
negotiated at arm’s length are not necessarily included in the agreements among the Corporation, the 
Manager and Equityline Financial as those terms would not have the same effect as they would in 
transactions between unrelated parties. In particular, the Management Agreement described in Item 2.2 
“Our Business – The Manager” and Item 2.2 Our “Business – Management Fees and Operating 
Expenses” involve non-arm’s length parties. In addition, as of the date of this Offering Memorandum, 
certain directors and officers of the Corporation are also directors and officers of the Manager and 
Equityline Financial. As such, the applicable directors are not considered Independent. However, the 
Independent directors of the Corporation will not be directors or officers of the Manager or Equityline 
Financial. 

Litigation Risks 

The Corporation may, from time to time, become involved in legal proceedings in the course of its 
business. The costs of litigation and settlement can be substantial and there is no assurance that such 
costs will be recovered in whole or at all. During litigation, the Corporation may not be receiving payments 
of interest on a mortgage loan that is the subject of litigation, thereby impacting cash flows. The 
unfavorable resolution of any legal proceedings could have an adverse effect on the Corporation and its 
financial position and results of operations that could be material. 

Disclosure Obligations 

The Corporation is not a reporting issuer and does not have any continuous disclosure obligations of a 
reporting issuer. As an issuer that uses the offering memorandum exemption, the Corporation will make 
reasonably available to the Shareholders such information as required by Applicable Securities Laws for 
a non-reporting issuer that distributes securities using the “offering memorandum” exemption (including 
audited annual financial statements, annual notices of use of proceeds and notices of certain key events, 
if any, and when applicable). See Item 9 “Reporting Obligations”. 

Securities Regulatory Risks 

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation may be subject to ongoing reviews by the securities 
regulators, who have broad powers to pass, interpret, amend and change the interpretation of securities 
laws from time to time and broad powers to protect the public interest and to impose terms, conditions, 
restrictions or requirements regarding registration under securities laws. Further, the securities regulators 
have the authority to retroactively deny the benefit of an exemption from prospectus or registration 
requirements otherwise provided for in the securities laws where the regulator considers it necessary to 
do so to protect investors or the public interest. 

While the Corporation believes that its position regarding compliance with securities laws is appropriate 
and supportable, it is possible that securities matters may be reviewed and challenged by the securities 
authorities. If such challenge were to succeed, it could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation. 
There can be no assurance that Applicable Securities Laws or the securities regulators’ interpretation 
thereof or the practices of the securities regulators will not be changed or re-interpreted in a manner that 
adversely affects the Corporation.  

Ability to Manage Growth 

The Corporation intends to grow its Portfolio. In order to effectively deploy its capital and monitor its loans 
and investments in the future, the Corporation will need to retain additional personnel and may be 
required to augment, improve or replace existing systems and controls, each of which can divert the 
attention of management from their other responsibilities and present numerous challenges. As a result, 
there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to effectively manage its growth and, if it is 
unable to do so, the Corporation’s mortgages, the Portfolio and the price of the Offered Shares, may be 
materially adversely affected. 
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Speculative Nature of the Offered Shares 

Investment in the Offered Shares is speculative due to the nature of the Corporation’s business and 
involves certain risks. There is no guarantee that an investment in the Offered Shares of the Corporation 
will earn any positive return in the short or long term and investors must be able to bear the risk of a 
complete loss of their investment and have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. 

Qualification as a MIC 

Although the Corporation intends to qualify at all times as a MIC, no assurance can be provided in this 
regard. If for any reason the Corporation does not maintain its qualification as a MIC under the Tax Act, 
dividends paid by the Corporation on the Offered Shares will cease to be deductible by the Corporation in 
computing its income and will no longer be deemed to have been received by holders of Offered Shares 
as bond interest or a capital gain, as the case may be. In such event, as long as the Offered Shares are 
listed on a designated stock exchange, or the Corporation otherwise qualifies as a public corporation for 
purposes of the Tax Act, the rules in the Tax Act regarding the taxation of public corporations and their 
shareholders apply, with the result that the combined corporate and shareholder tax may be significantly 
greater.  

The Corporation intends to monitor major positions held in the Offered Shares in relation to their 
applicable outstanding balances to ensure that no one shareholder of the Corporation exceeds the 25% 
maximum ownership limit set by the Tax Act for the Corporation to maintain its qualification as a MIC. The 
terms of the Offered Shares include certain provisions intended to prevent this condition from being 
violated. 

Reliance on the Manager 

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager will advise the Corporation in a manner consistent 
with the investment objective, the Portfolio Restrictions and the investment restrictions of the Corporation 
and will be responsible for the management and direction of the affairs of the Corporation relating to the 
administration and evaluation of the existing and potential mortgages of the Corporation. Although the 
employees of the Manager who will be primarily responsible for the performance of the respective 
obligations of each such entity owed to the Corporation have extensive experience, there is no certainty 
that such individuals will continue to be employees of the Manager in the future. In addition, the 
Management Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances. There is no assurance that the 
Manager will continue to provide services to the Corporation. 

In addition, there is no certainty that the persons who are currently officers and directors of the Manager 
will continue to act in such capacity. Shareholders will be required to rely on the good faith, expertise and 
judgment of the individuals comprising the management of the Manager from time to time. Shareholders 
do not have the right to direct or influence in any manner the business or affairs of the Manager. 

Personnel 

The Corporation’s success depends in large measure on certain key executive personnel of the 
Corporation, and as a result of the Management Agreement, key executive personnel of the Manager. 
The loss of services of such key personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation. The 
Corporation does not have key person insurance in effect for management of the Corporation. The 
contributions of these individuals to the immediate operations of the Corporation are likely to be of central 
importance. In addition, the competition for qualified personnel in the industry is intense and there can be 
no assurance that it will be able to continue to attract and retain all personnel necessary for the 
development and operation of its business. Investors must rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, 
discretions, integrity and good faith of the directors and management of the Corporation. 

Employee Errors or Misconduct 

There have been a number of highly publicized cases involving fraud or other misconduct by employees 
in the investment industry in recent years and, notwithstanding the measures we intend to take to deter 
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and prevent such activity, there is the risk that employee misconduct could occur. Misconduct by 
employees could include binding us to transactions that exceed authorized limits or present unacceptable 
risks, or concealing from us unauthorized or unsuccessful activities, which in either case, may result in 
unknown and unmanaged risks or losses. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of 
confidential information, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious reputational harm. The 
Corporation is also susceptible to loss as a result of employee error. It is not always possible to deter 
employee misconduct or prevent employee error and the precautions taken to prevent and detect this 
activity may not be effective in all cases, which could materially adversely affect the Corporation. 

Disclosure of Personal Information 

Subscribers are advised that their names and other specified information, including the number and 
aggregate value of the Offered Shares owned: (a) will be disclosed to the relevant Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities and may become available to the public in accordance with the requirements of 
applicable securities and freedom of information laws and the investor consents to the disclosure of such 
information; (b) is being collected indirectly by the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authority 
under the authority granted to it in securities legislation; and (c) is being collected for the purposes of the 
administration and enforcement of the applicable Canadian securities legislation. 

Borrowing and Leverage Risks 

The Corporation may borrow funds using its mortgages as security in order to provide operating flexibility. 
The Corporation may obtain access to a revolving credit facility which would be primarily utilized to fund 
mortgage advances when cash is not otherwise available. Any credit facility may be used by the 
Corporation for other purposes including for the payment of dividends and to fund mortgage loans in a 
manner consistent with the investment objective and investment strategies of the Corporation. The Tax 
Act also imposes restrictions on a MIC’s use of borrowed funds which are listed under Item 6.2 “Certain 
Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – Status of the Corporation – MIC Requirements”, the 
Corporation and the Manager intend to ensure that these restrictions are complied with and that the 
Corporation remains a MIC under the Tax Act. In the event that the Corporation could not meet the 
obligations of such loans pertaining to the payment of interest or the repayment of principal, the 
Corporation could incur substantial costs in order to protect the investments of the Corporation while 
managing the repayment of such a loan facility and/or the Corporation could lose some or all of its assets 
as a result of lenders exercising their rights of foreclosure and sale. 

The Corporation may grant lenders under any credit facility a first priority security interest in the cash and 
securities held by the Corporation and also in all current and future mortgage investments contained in 
the Corporation’s Portfolio. This means that the rights of Shareholders to interest income paid via 
dividends, and to the return of capital via redemption of the Offered Shares or through wind-up and 
dissolution, will be subject to and or subordinate to the right of such lenders to be repaid any amounts 
which may be outstanding under such credit facility (and to the rights of any other creditors of the 
Corporation).  

The interest expense and banking fees incurred in respect of any credit facilities of the Corporation may 
exceed the incremental capital gains/losses and income generated by the incremental investments in 
mortgages made with the credit facility. Accordingly, any event which adversely affects the value of 
mortgages would be magnified to the extent that leverage is employed to purchase such mortgages. In 
addition, the Corporation may not be able to renew any credit facility on acceptable terms or at all. There 
can be no assurance that the borrowing strategy employed by the Corporation will enhance returns. 

Potential Liabilities Associated with the Purchase of Mortgages 

Although the Corporation completes due diligence reviews in respect of any mortgage it intends to 
purchase, there may be liabilities and contingencies that the Corporation did not discover or failed to 
quantify in its due diligence conducted prior to consummation of any mortgage acquisition and 
accordingly, the Corporation may not be indemnified for some or all of these liabilities and contingencies, 
which will negatively affect distributions to holders of Offered Shares. 
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Restrictions on Ownership and Repurchase of Shares 

No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted, together with Related Persons, at any time to hold directly 
or indirectly more than 25% of any class or series of the issued shares of the Corporation. The terms and 
conditions of the Offered Shares provide that the portion of such Offered Shares held by a shareholder, 
together with Related Persons, that exceeds 24.9% of the issued shares of any class or series of shares 
will be repurchased by the Corporation. Such repurchases of shares could be significant and could 
engender similar risks to those that arise in the context of significant redemptions of shares. 

Change in Legislation 

There can be no assurance that certain laws applicable to the Corporation, including Canadian federal 
and provincial tax laws, tax proposals, other governmental policies or regulations and governmental, 
administrative or judicial interpretation thereof, will not change in a manner that will adversely affect the 
Corporation, its business or fundamentally alter the tax consequences to shareholders acquiring, holding 
or disposing of Offered Shares. 

Recently, the Canadian government announced changes in mortgage rules which includes an expansion 
of a mortgage rate stress test to all insured mortgages, new restrictions on when insurance would be 
provided for low-ratio mortgages, new reporting rules for the primary residence capital gains exemption 
and consultants on lender risk sharing. These changes may slow down the real estate market on a 
country wide level and could adversely affect the Corporation’s business. 

Reliance on Assumptions 

The Corporation’s investment objectives and strategy have been formulated based on the Manager’s 
analysis and expectations regarding recent economic developments in Canada, and specifically Ontario. 
Such analysis may be incorrect and such expectations may not be realized, in which case the 
Corporation may not generate sufficient funds to allow the Corporation to pay targeted distributions. 

Environmental Matters 

The Corporation may in the future take possession, through enforcement proceedings, of properties that 
secured defaulted mortgage loans to recover its investment in such mortgage loans. Prior to taking 
possession of properties which secure a mortgage investment, the Manager will assess the potential 
environmental liability associated with such investment and determine whether it is significant, having 
regard to the value of the property. If the Manager subsequently determines to take possession of the 
property, the Corporation could be subject to environmental liabilities in connection with such real 
property, which could exceed the value of the property. As part of the due diligence performed in respect 
of the Corporation’s proposed mortgage investments, the Manager may, although it has not obtained 
such audits in the past, obtain an environmental audit on the underlying real property provided as security 
for a mortgage, when it has determined that an audit is appropriate. However, there can be no assurance 
that any such audit will reveal any or all existing or potential environmental liabilities necessary to 
effectively insulate the Corporation from potential liability for a materially adverse environmental condition 
at any mortgaged property. If hazardous substances are discovered on a property of which the 
Corporation has taken possession, the Corporation may be required to remove such substances and 
clean up the property. The Corporation may also be liable to tenants and other users of neighbouring 
properties and may find it difficult or not possible to resell the property prior to or following such 
remediation. 

No Review of Offering Memorandum by Regulatory Authorities 

Investors will not have the benefit of a prior review of this Offering Memorandum or any other documents 
in relation to the Offering by any regulatory authorities. 

No Independent Counsel for Shareholders 
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Legal counsel that assisted in preparing the documentation in connection with the Offering, including this 
Offering Memorandum, acted as legal counsel for the Corporation. No independent counsel was retained 
on behalf of the Shareholders. There has been no review by independent counsel on behalf of the 
Shareholders of this Offering Memorandum or any other documentation in relation to the Offering. No due 
diligence has been conducted on behalf of Shareholders by counsel. Each prospective investor should 
consult his or her own legal, tax and financial advisors regarding the desirability of purchasing the Offered 
Shares and the suitability of investing in the Corporation.  

Item 9: Reporting Obligations 

9.1 The fiscal year end of the Corporation is December 31. The Corporation will send to Shareholders (or 
make available if sending is not required by applicable laws) within 120 days after the end of each fiscal 
year (or within such shorter time as may be required by applicable securities law): (a) the audited annual 
consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for such fiscal year, together with comparative 
audited financial statements for the preceding fiscal year, any; and (b) so long as required by applicable 
securities laws, a notice of the Corporation disclosing in reasonable detail the use of the aggregate gross 
proceeds raised by the Corporation under Section 2.9 of NI 45-106. The Corporation shall send to Trust 
Unitholders (or make available if sending is not required by applicable laws) a notice of specified events 
under subsection 2.9 of NI 45-106. 

On or before March 31 in each year (or such other date as may be required under applicable law), the 
Corporation will provide to each Shareholder who received distributions from the Corporation in the prior 
calendar year, such information regarding the Corporation as is required by law to be submitted to 
Shareholders for income tax purposes to enable Shareholders to complete their tax returns in respect of 
the prior calendar year. 

On an annual basis, the Independent directors of the Board will prepare and make available to 
Shareholders a report of all Conflict of Interest Matters identified in the year preceding the report, 
including how such Conflict of Interest Matters were addressed and resolved. 

Financial or other information relating to the Corporation and provided to you in the future may not by 
itself be sufficient for you to assess the performance of your investment. 

The Corporation is not a “reporting issuer” or equivalent under the securities legislation of any jurisdiction 
in Canada. Accordingly, other than the disclosure set forth above, the Corporation is not subject to the 
“continuous disclosure” requirements of any securities legislation in Canada and there is no requirement 
that the Corporation make ongoing disclosure of its affairs including, without limitation, the disclosure of 
financial information on a quarterly basis or the disclosure of material changes in the business or affairs of 
the Corporation. The Corporation files information with SEDAR only as required pursuant to Section 2.9 
of NI 45-106, which information is available electronically from SEDAR (www.sedar.com). 

9.2 Information about the Corporation and the Series A Preferred Shares can be found on the JSE at 
https://www.jamstockex.com/tag/equityline-mortgage-investment-corporation/, however, such information 
is not incorporated by reference into or forms part of this Offering Memorandum. 

Item 10: Resale Restrictions 

10.1 General Statement 

For trades in Alberta, British Columbia, Quebec, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova 
Scotia, Ontario, Prince Edward Island, and Saskatchewan, the Offered Shares will be subject to a number 
of resale restrictions, including a restriction on trading. Until the restriction on trading expires, you will not 
be able to trade the Offered Shares unless you comply with an exemption from the prospectus and 
registration requirements under securities legislation. 
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10.2 Restricted Period  

For trades in Alberta, British Columbia, Quebec, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova 
Scotia, Ontario, Prince Edward Island, and Saskatchewan, unless permitted under securities legislation, 
you cannot trade the Offered Shares before the date that is 4 months and a day after the date the 
Corporation becomes a reporting issuer in any province or territory of Canada. 

10.3 Manitoba Resale Restrictions  

For trades in Manitoba, unless permitted under securities legislation, you must not trade the Offered 
Shares without the prior written consent of the regulator in Manitoba unless (a) the Corporation has filed a 
prospectus with the regulator in Manitoba with respect to the Offered Shares purchased hereunder and 
the regulator in Manitoba has issued a receipt for that prospectus, or (b) you have held the Offered 
Shares for at least 12 months. The regulator in Manitoba will consent to the trade if the regulator is of the 
opinion that to do so is not prejudicial to the public interest. 

Item 11: Purchasers’ Rights 

If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For 
information about your rights, you should consult a lawyer. 

Purchasers Under the Offering Memorandum Exemption (Section 2.9 of NI 45-106) 

(1) Two Day Cancellation Right  

You can cancel your agreement to purchase the Offered Shares. To do so, you must send a notice to us 
by midnight on the second Business Day after you sign the agreement to buy the Offered Shares. 

(2) Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation – Purchasers in Alberta, British 
Columbia, Manitoba, Quebec, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia, Ontario, 
Prince Edward Island, and Saskatchewan 

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Corporation to cancel your agreement to buy the Offered Shares, or 

(b) for damages against the Corporation, every director of the Corporation at the date of this 
Offering Memorandum, and every person who signed this Offering Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. 
However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. 
In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the 
securities. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 
You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within the time period provided by the 
securities legislation of your province as further described in Appendix C of this Offering Memorandum. 
You must commence your action for damages within the time period provided by the securities legislation 
of your province as further described in Appendix C of this Offering Memorandum. 

Purchasers Under Exemptions in NI 45-106 Other Than the Offering Memorandum Exemption 

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Corporation to cancel your agreement to buy the Offered Shares, or 

(b) for damages against the Corporation, every director of the Corporation at the date of this 
Offering Memorandum, and every person who signed this Offering Memorandum. 



- 89 - 

 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. 
However, there are various defenses available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. 
In particular, they have a defense if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the 
securities. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 
The rules are described in greater detail in Appendix C of this Offering Memorandum, except with respect 
to the provinces of British Columbia and Quebec wherein no statutory rights will be available to 
purchasers who do not purchase the Offered Shares in reliance of the offering memorandum exemption 
under section 2.9 of NI 45-106. Such purchasers in British Columbia and Quebec shall be entitled to the 
same rights as purchasers in Ontario as described in Appendix C. 

Item 12: Financial Statements 

The financial statements of the Corporation are set out below.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of 
Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation (“the 
Company”), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and 2019 
and the statements of net loss and comprehensive loss, statements of changes in shareholders’ 
deficiency and statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 
2019, and notes to the financial statements, including  a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.   

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Frank Friedman. 

  
Markham, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
February 26, 2021 Licensed Public Accountants 
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Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 
Statements of Financial Position  
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
December 31  2020  2019 

Assets 
Current 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 437,969 $ 193,556 
 Accounts receivable - 28,280

Mortgage investments (Note 4)   11,182,755  7,785,878
 Prepaid expenses  254,413  - 
 Withholding taxes recoverable 7,386  - 

Due from related party (Note 6)   43,354  197,474 

 $ 11,925,877 $ 8,205,188 

Liabilities 
Current 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 121,174 $ 164,732 
 Prepaid mortgage interest  26,596  170,259 
 Withholding taxes payable - 61,492
 Distributions payable  150,686 53,027
 Interest payable  - 10,721

Due to related parties (Note 6)  41,360  - 
Short term debentures (Note 7)    653,926  2,100,000 

 993,742  2,560,231 

Long term debentures (Note 7)  6,020,000  - 
Series A redeemable preferred shares (Note 8) 6,580,875  6,480,844 

 13,594,617  9,041,075 

Shareholders’ Deficiency 
 Share capital (Note 9) 200  200 
 Deficit    (1,668,940)  (836,087) 

 (1,668,740)  (835,887) 

 $11,925,877  $ 8,205,188 

Contingent liability (Note 11) 
COVID-19 (Note 15) 

On behalf of the Board 

  Director   Director

Sergiy Shchavyelyev Sergiy Przhebelskyy
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Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 
Statements of Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
Year ended December 31       2020  2019 

 
Mortgage interest income      $ 1,037,213 $ 752,690 
 
Operating expenses 
 Professional fees        231,678  312,514 
 Advertising and promotion       138,492  56,885 
 Consulting fees        120,126  650 
 Management fees (Note 6)       91,851  81,138 
 Director fees        69,170  73,000 
 General and administrative       32,283  13,235 
 Referral fees        29,000  1,000 
 Provision for mortgage investment losses     20,000  39,000 
 Business taxes, licenses and memberships     19,346  1,695 
 Insurance        11,786  11,826 
 Travel          11,382  14,632 
 Research fees        -  21,000 
 Custodial services        -  19,210 
            775,114  645,785 
 
Income before finance expenses       262,099  106,905 
 
Finance expenses 
 Interest and bank charges       377,925  163,483 
 Realized foreign exchange loss (gain)     33,419  (22,599) 
 Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss     (152,895)  22,889 
 Accretion of transaction costs of short term debentures   8,734  - 
 Accretion of transaction costs of Series A redeemable preferred 
  Shares        252,925  237,973 
 Distributions to shareholders of Series A redeemable preferred 
  shares        574,844  541,192 
            1,094,952  942,938 
 
Net loss and comprehensive loss      $ (832,853) $ (836,033) 
 
Loss per common share (Note 10)      $ (4,164) $ (0.96) 
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Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficiency 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
         Total 
     Share   Shareholders’ 
     Capital  Deficit  Deficiency 
 
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 200 $ (54) $ 146 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  -  (836,033)  (836,033) 
 
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 200 $ (836,087) $ (835,887) 
 
Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 200 $ (836,087) $ (835,887) 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  -  (832,853)  (832,853) 
 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 200 $ (1,668,940) $ (1,668,740) 
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Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 
Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
Year ended December 31       2020  2019 

 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
 
Operating 
 Net loss        $ (832,853) $ (836,033) 
 Accretion of transaction costs  
  of short term debentures       8,734  - 
 Accretion of transaction costs of Series A 
  redeemable preferred shares       252,925  237,973 
 Provision for mortgage investment losses     20,000  39,000 
 Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss     (152,895)  22,889 
            (704,089)  (536,171) 
 Changes in non-cash working capital items 
  Accounts receivable       28,280  (28,280) 
  Prepaid expenses       (254,413)  - 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     (43,558)  164,732 
  Withholding taxes recoverable/payable     (68,878)  61,492 
  Interest payable       (10,721)  10,721 
  Distributions payable       97,659  53,027 
  Prepaid mortgage interest       (143,663)  170,259 
 
            (1,099,383)  (104,220) 
 
Financing 
 Repayment of advances from (to) related parties, net   195,480  (197,474) 
 Net proceeds from issuance of Series A redeemable preferred 
  shares, net of financing costs      -  6,219,982 
 Proceeds from issuance of debentures, net of financing costs   5,215,193  2,600,000 
 Repayment of debentures       (650,000)  (500,000) 
 
            4,760,673  8,122,508 
 
Investing 
 Investments in mortgage investments, net of discharges   (3,416,877)  (7,824,878) 
 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents     244,413  193,410 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     193,556  146 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year    $ 437,969 $ 193,556 
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1. Nature of business 
 
Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation (the "Company") is a mortgage investment corporation 
domiciled in Canada. The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The 
registered office of the Company is Suite 338 - 550 Highway 7 Avenue East, Richmond Hill, Ontario 
L4B 3Z4. The Company was managed by Equityline Service Corporation (“the Manager”). The Series 
A preference shares of the Company are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) under the 
symbol "ELMIC". 
 
The investment objective of the Company is to acquire mortgages and maintain a portfolio of 
mortgages consisting primarily of residential Non-Conventional Mortgages and Alt-A Mortgages that 
generates attractive returns relative to risk in order to permit the Corporation to pay dividends to its 
shareholders. 
 

 
 
2. Basis of presentation 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared by management in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board ("IASB"). 
 
The audited financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2021. 
 
Basis of measurement: 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial 
instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") which are measured at fair value 
at each reporting date. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 
 
Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 
 
In the preparation of these audited financial statements, Equityline Services Corporation (the 
“Manager”) has made judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the 
Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
 
In making estimates, the Manager relies on external information and observable conditions where 
possible, supplemented by internal analysis as required. There are no known trends, commitments, 
events or uncertainties that the Manager believes will materially affect the methodology or 
assumptions utilized in making those estimates and judgments in these statements. The significant 
estimates and judgments used in determining the recorded amount for assets and liabilities in the 
statements are as follows: 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued) 
 
Classification of mortgage investments 
 
Mortgage investments are classified based on the business model for managing assets and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Manager exercises judgment in determining 
both the business model for managing the assets and whether cash flows of the asset comprise 
solely payments of interest. 
 
Provision for impairment 
 
The most significant estimates that the Company is required to make relate to the impairment of the 
investments (Note 4).  These estimates include assumptions regarding local real estate market 
conditions, interest rates and the availability of credit, cost and terms of financing, the impact of 
present or future legislation or regulation, prior encumbrances, adverse changes in the payment 
status of borrowers, and other factors affecting the investments and underlying security of the 
investments.  These assumptions are limited by the availability of reliable comparable data, economic 
uncertainty, ongoing geopolitical concerns, and the uncertainty of predictions concerning future 
events. Accordingly, by their nature, estimates of impairment are subjective and do not necessarily 
result in precise determinations of the actual outcome.  Should the underlying assumptions change, 
the estimated fair value could vary by a material amount. 
 
Classification of investment portfolio - Investment portfolio is classified based on the assessment of 
business model and the cash flow characteristics of the investments.  The Company exercises 
judgement in determining the classification of loans in the investment portfolio into measurement 
categories (Note 3). 
 
Measurement of expected credit loss 
 
The determination of allowance for credit losses takes into account different factors and varies by 
nature of investment. These judgments include changes in circumstances that may cause future 
assessments of credit risk to be materially different form current assessments, which would require 
an increase or decrease in the allowance of credit risk. (Note 4). 
 
Measurement of fair values 
 
The Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses market observable data 
where possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs). 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued) 
 
Measurement of fair values (continued) 
 
The Manager reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party 
information, such as broker quotes or appraisals are used to measure fair values, the Manager will 
assess the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations 
meet the requirements of IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations 
should be classified. 
 
The impact of COVID-19 
 
The Manager exercises judgment in determining the impact the pandemic disease may have to the 
Company. Refer to Note 15 of the financial statements which further describes how the pandemic 
could affect the Company’s operations.  
 

 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The Company considers highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are classified and measured 
at amortized cost. 
 
(b) Mortgage investments 
 
Mortgage investments are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the mortgage investments are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Mortgage investments are assessed 
on each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired only if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
loss events have occurred after its initial recognition that have a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset. The estimation of future cash flows includes assumptions about local 
real estate market conditions, market interest rates, availability and terms of financing, underlying 
value of the security and various other factors. These assumptions are limited by the availability of 
reliable comparable market data, economic uncertainty and the uncertainty of future events. 
Accordingly, by their nature, estimates of impairment are subjective and may not necessarily be 
comparable to the actual outcome. Should the underlying assumptions change, the estimated future 
cash flows could vary materially. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(b) Mortgage investments (continued) 
 
The Company consider evidence of impairment for mortgage investments at both a specific asset 
and collective level. All individually significant mortgage investments are assessed for specific 
impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any 
impairment that has been incurred but is not yet identifiable at an individual mortgage level. Mortgage 
investments that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping 
together mortgage investments with similar risk characteristics. 
 
(c) Mortgage interest income 
 
Interest and other income includes interest earned on the Company's mortgage investments and 
interest earned on cash and cash equivalents. Interest income earned on mortgage and other 
investments is accounted for using the effective interest rate method. 
 
(d) Income taxes 
 
The Company is a mortgage investment corporation ("MIC") pursuant to the Income Tax Act 
(Canada). As such, the Company is entitled to deduct from its taxable income dividends paid to 
shareholders during the year or within 90 days of the end of the year to the extent the dividends were 
not deducted previously.  The Company intends to maintain its status as a MIC and intends to 
distribute sufficient dividends in the year and in future years to ensure that the Company is not subject 
to income taxes.  Accordingly, for financial statement reporting purposes, the tax deductibility of the 
Company's dividends results in the Company being effectively exempt from taxation and no provision 
for current or future income tax is required for the Company. 
 
(e) Foreign currency forward contracts 
 
The Company may enter into foreign currency forward contracts to economically hedge its foreign 
currency risk exposure of its mortgage and other investments that are denominated in foreign 
currencies. The value of forward currency contracts entered into by the Company is recorded as the 
difference between the value of the contract on the reporting period and the value on the date the 
contract originated. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the statement of net income and 
comprehensive income unless the foreign currency contract is designated and effective as a hedging 
instrument under IFRS. The Company has elected to not account for the foreign currency contracts 
as an accounting hedge. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments 
 
Classification & Measurement of Financial Assets 
 
Recognition and initial measurement 
 
The Company on the date of origination or purchase recognizes loans, debt and equity securities, 
deposits and subordinated debentures at the fair value of consideration paid. Regular-way purchases 
and sales of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date. All other financial assets and 
liabilities are initially recognized on the date at which the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
The initial measurement of a financial asset or liability is at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its purchase or issuance. For instruments measured at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement - financial assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into one of the following measurement categories: 
• amortized cost;  
• fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") - debt investment; or  
• FVTPL. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 
• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of interest 

on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
• it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets; and 
• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of interest 

on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The Company has no debt investments measured at FVOCI. 
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement - financial assets (continued) 
 
Financial assets - Business model assessment 
 
The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset 
is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information 
is provided to management. 
 
The information considered includes: 
 
• the objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include 

whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a 
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any 
related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's management; 
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and how those risks are managed; 
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods. The reasons for 

such sales and expectation about future sales activity. 
 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are 
not considered sales for this purpose. 
 
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a 
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets - assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of interest 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money 
and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of 
time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well 
as a profit margin. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of interest, the Company 
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset 
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such 
that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers: 
 

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features; 
• prepayment and extension features; and 
• terms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement - financial assets (continued) 
 
Financial assets - assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of interest 
(continued) 
 
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of interest criterion if the prepayment 
amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of interest on the principal amount outstanding, 
which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. 
 
Subsequent measurement and gains and losses – financial assets 
 
Financial assets classified at FVTPL 
 
Measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest, are recognized in net income 
and comprehensive income. 
 
Financial assets classified at amortized cost 
 
Measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by 
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognized in net income and comprehensive income. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognized in net income and comprehensive income. 
 
Debt investments classified at FVOCI 
 
Measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and 
losses are recognized in Other Comprehensive Income ("OCI"). On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company classified its financial assets into one of the following categories: 
 
Financial Instrument Classification and measurement 
Financial Assets: 
Mortgage loans Amortized cost 
Cash and cash equivalents Amortized cost 
Accounts receivable Amortized cost  
Due from related party Amortized cost 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses - financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as measured at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, it is a derivative or it is 
designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and 
net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The Company classified its financial liabilities into one of the following categories: 
 
Financial Instrument Classification and measurement 
Financial Liabilities: 
Accounts payable Amortized cost 
Debentures Amortized cost 
Series A redeemable preferred shares Amortized cost  
Due to related parties Amortized cost 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets 
measured at amortized cost, unfunded loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The 
Company applies a three-stage approach to measure allowance for credit losses. The Company 
measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12 months of expected losses for performing loans 
if the credit risk at the reporting date has not increased significantly since initial recognition (Stage 1) 
and at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses on performing loans that have experienced a 
significant increase in credit risk since origination (Stage 2) and at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected losses which are credit impaired (Stage 3). 
 
The determination of a significant increase in credit risk takes into account different factors and varies 
by nature of investment. The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due interest payment or maturity date, and borrower 
specific criteria as identified by the Manager. As is typical in shorter duration, structured financing, 
the Manager does not solely believe there has been a significant deterioration in credit risk or an 
asset to be credit impaired if mortgage and other investments to go into overhold position past the 
maturity date for a period greater than 30 days or 90 days, respectively. The Manager actively 
monitors these mortgage and other investments and applies judgment in determining whether there 
has been significant increase in credit risk. The Company considers a financial asset to be credit 
impaired when the borrower is more than 90 days past due and when there is objective evidence that 
there has been a deterioration of credit quality to the extent the Company no longer has reasonable 
assurance as to the timely collection of the full amount of interest or/and when the Company has 
commenced enforcement remedies available to it under its contractual agreements. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
The assessment of significant increase in credit risk requires experienced credit judgment. In 
determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and in calculating the amount 
of expected credit losses, the Manager relies on estimates and exercises judgment regarding matters 
for which the ultimate outcome is unknown. These judgments include changes in circumstances that 
may cause future assessments of credit risk to be materially different from current assessments, 
which could require an increase or decrease in the allowance for credit losses. In cases where a 
borrower experiences financial difficulties, the Company may grant certain concessionary 
modifications to the terms and conditions of a loan. Modifications may include payment deferrals, 
extension of amortization periods, debt consolidation, forbearance and other modifications intended 
to minimize the economic loss and to avoid foreclosure or repossession of collateral. The Company 
determines the appropriate remediation strategy based on the individual borrower. If the Company 
determines that a modification results in expiry of cash flows, the original asset is derecognized while 
a new asset is recognized based on the new contractual terms. Significant increase in credit risk is 
assessed relative to the risk of default on the date of modification. If the Company determines that a 
modification does not result in derecognition, significant increase in credit risk is assessed based on 
the risk of default at initial recognition of the original asset. Expected cash flows arising from the 
modified contractual terms are considered when calculating the ECL for the modified asset. For loans 
that were modified while having a lifetime ECL, the loans can revert to having 12-month ECL after a 
period of performance and improvement in the borrower's financial condition. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at 
the effective interest rate of the financial asset. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all 
possible default event over the expected life of a financial instrument. 12-months ECLs are the portion 
of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date 
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months. The maximum period 
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is 
exposed to credit risk. 
 
When determining the expected credit loss provision, the Company considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. The Manager 
consider past events, current market conditions and reasonable forward-looking supportable 
information about future economic conditions. In assessing information about possible future 
economic conditions, the Manager utilized multiple economic scenarios including a base case, which 
represents the most probable outcome and is consistent with our view of the portfolio. In considering 
the lifetime of a loan, the contractual period of the loan, including prepayment, extension and other 
options is generally used. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Measurement of ECLs (continued) 
 
The calculation of expected credit losses includes the explicit incorporation of forecasts of future 
economic conditions. In determining expected credit losses, the Manager has considered key 
macroeconomic variables that are relevant to each investment type. Key economic variables include 
unemployment rate, housing price index and interest rates. The estimation of future cash flows also 
includes assumptions about local real estate market conditions, availability and terms of financing, 
underlying value of the security and various other factors. These assumptions are limited by the 
availability of reliable comparable market data, economic uncertainty and the uncertainty of future 
events. Accordingly, by their nature, estimates of impairment are subjective and may not necessarily 
be comparable to the actual outcome. Should the underlying assumptions change, the estimated 
future cash flows could vary. The forecast is developed internally by the Manager. The Manager 
exercises experienced credit judgment to incorporate multiple economic forecasts which are 
probability-weighted in the determination of the final expected credit loss. The allowance is sensitive 
to changes in both economic forecast and the probability- weight assigned to each forecast scenario. 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
Allowances for Stage 3 are recorded for individually identified impaired loans to reduce their carrying 
value to the expected recoverable amount. The Manager reviews the loans on an ongoing basis to 
assess whether any loans carried at amortized cost should be classified as credit impaired and 
whether an allowance or write-off should be recorded. The review of individually significant problem 
loans is conducted at least quarterly by the Manager, who assesses the ultimate collectability and 
estimated recoveries for a specific loan based on all events and conditions that are relevant to the 
loan. To determine the amount the Manager expects to recover from an individually significant 
impaired loan, the Manager uses the value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the loan’s 
original effective interest rate. The determination of estimated future cash flows of a collateralized 
impaired loan reflects the expected realization of the underlying security, net of expected costs and 
any amounts legally required to be paid to the borrower. 
 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for financial asset measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of the asset. 
 
Write-offs 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable 
expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirely or a portion thereof. However, financial assets 
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Company's procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(g) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction 
in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or 
in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in such transferred 
financial assets that does not qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Company is 
recognized as a separate asset or liability. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less 
any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other 
comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers mortgage investments recognized on its 
statement of financial position, but retains either all, substantially all, or a portion of the risks and 
rewards of the transferred mortgage investments. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are 
retained, then the transferred mortgage or loan investments are not derecognized. In transactions in 
which the Company neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Company continues to recognize the 
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to 
changes in the value of the transferred asset. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 
 
(h) Adoption of new accounting standards  
 
The Company has not adopted any new accounting standards that had a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
Future accounting policy changes  
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, standards 
and amendments to existing standards, and interpretations have been published by the IASB. None 
of these standards or amendments to existing standards have been adopted early by the Company.  
 
Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period 
beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. New standards, amendments and 
interpretations not adopted in the current year have not been disclosed as they are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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4. Mortgage investments 
  
        2020  Number   2019  Number  
 
Residential     $ 9,169,982  28 $ 7,602,748  38 
Commercial      1,981,500  3  150,000  1 
        11,151,482  31  7,752,748  39 
Accrued interest receivable (net of  
 servicing fees)     90,273    72,130 
        11,241,755    7,824,878 
Allowance for loan losses   (59,000)    (39,000) 
       $ 11,182,755   $ 7,785,878 
 
        2020  %  2019  % 
 
Interest in first mortgages  $ 3,684,123  33% $ 927,613  5% 
Interest in non-first mortgages   7,557,632  67%  6,897,265  95% 
        11,241,755  100%  7,824,878  100% 
Allowance for loan losses   (59,000)    (39,000) 
       $ 11,182,755   $ 7,785,878 
 
The following table presents the gross carrying amounts of mortgage investments subject to IFRS 9 
impairment requirements. 
 
Allowance for credit losses 
 
Allowance on performing loans 
 
The mortgage investments are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
objective evidence of expected credit losses. The ECL model requires the recognition of credit losses 
based on 12 months of expected losses for performing loans (Stage 1) and the recognition of lifetime 
expected losses on performing loans that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since 
origination (Stage 2). As at December 31, 2020, a provision for expected credit losses on the 
mortgage investments was recorded of $59,000 (2019 - $39,000). 
 
Allowance on impaired loans 
 
Allowance for impaired loans (Stage 3) are recorded for individually identified impaired loans to 
reduce their carrying value to the expected recoverable amount.  As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
there were no impaired mortgage investments.  
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4. Mortgage investments (continued) 
 
Loans are broken down into the different stages as follows: 
 
        Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 
 
Residential 
Gross mortgage investments  $ 9,242,802 $ - $ - $ 9,242,802 
Allowance for loan losses   (48,509)  -  -  (48,509) 
Mortgage investment, net of  
 allowance      9,194,293  -  -  9,194,293 
 
Commercial 
Gross mortgage investments   1,998,953  -  -  1,998,953 
Allowance for loan losses   (10,491)  -  -  (10,491) 
Mortgage investment, net of  
 allowance      1,988,462  -  -  1,988,462 
 
Total mortgage loans  $ 11,182,755 $ - $ - $ 11,182,755 
 
The Company uses the following internal risk ratings for credit risk purposes: 
 
Low Risk: Mortgage investments that exceed the credit risk profile standard of the Company with a 
below average probability of default. Yields on these investments are expected to trend lower than 
the Company’s average portfolio. 
 
Medium-Low: Mortgage investments that are typical for the Company’s risk appetite, credit 
standards and retain a below average probability of default. These mortgage and loan investments 
are expected to have average yields and would represent a significant percentage of the overall 
portfolio. 
 
Medium-High: Mortgage investments within the Company’s risk appetite and credit standards with 
an average probability of default. These investments typically carry attractive risk- return yield 
premiums. 
 
High Risk: Mortgage investments within the Company’s risk appetite and credit standards that have 
an additional element of credit risk that could result in an above average probability of default. These 
mortgage and loan investments carry a yield premium in return for their incremental credit risk. These 
mortgage and loan investments are expected to represent a small percentage of the overall portfolio. 
 
Default: Mortgage investments that are 90 days past due and when there is objective evidence that 
there has been a deterioration of credit quality to the extent the Company no longer has reasonable 
assurance as to the timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest and/or when the 
Company has commenced enforcement remedies available to it under its contractual agreements. 
 
All Mortgage investments held at December 31, 2020 are classified as Medium-low risk. 
 
The mortgage loans bear interest at the weighted average rate of 11.22% (2019- 11.63%).  
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5. Management fees 
 
The Manager is responsible for day-to-day operations including administration of the Company’s 
mortgage portfolio. Pursuant to the management agreement, the Manager is entitled to 1% per 
annum of the gross mortgage investments of the Company, calculated and paid monthly in arrears. 
 
Gross mortgage investments are defined as the total mortgage investments of the Company less 
unearned revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred management 
fees of $91,202 (2019 - $81,138). 
 

 
6. Related party transactions and balances 
 
Due from related party 
            2020  2019 
 
Equityline Services Corp. (the Manager)    $ 43,354 $ 197,474 
 
Due to related parties 
            2020  2019 
 
VeleV Capital CP Inc. (GP Inc.)      $ 30,153 $ - 
Equityline Financial Corp.       11,207  - 
           $ 41,360 $ - 
 
The amount receivable from the Manager is non-interest bearing, and due on demand.  The Manager 
is related to the Company by virtue of common ownership and management.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, included in due from related party is $10,608 (2019 - $121,625) of cash 
held in trust by the Manager. The Manager provides mortgage servicing and administration services 
to the Company.  The balance relates to mortgage funding holdbacks and prepaid mortgage interest 
received from various borrowers. 
 
The amount payable to GP Inc. and Equityline Financial Corp. are non-interest bearing and due on 
demand. GP Inc. and Equityline Financial Corp. are related to the Company by virtue of common 
ownership and management.  
 
During the year, the Company issued debentures for $4,670,000 to GP Inc. with a maturity date of 
January 3, 2023. On August 20, 2020, GP Inc. assigned $940,000 of the debentures to Equityline 
Capital Limited. Equityline Capital Limited is related to the Company by virtue of common ownership 
and management. The Company repaid $650,000 of the debentures issued to GP Inc. during the 
year. Refer to Note 7 which further describes the terms and conditions of the debentures.  
 
During 2019, the Company issued two debentures for $1,500,000 and $1,000,000 to Bonello 
Holdings Limited each with a maturity date of September 11, 2019. On October 8, 2019, the Company 
repaid $500,000 of the $1,000,000 debenture issued to Bonello Holdings Limited. Bonello Holdings 
Limited is related to the Company by way of common ownership and management.  
 
On December 1, 2019, Bonello Holdings Limited assigned the outstanding balances of the 
debentures to Velev Capital Inc., a company under control. 
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6. Related party transactions and balances (continued) 
 
During 2019, Equityline Financial Corp. charged the Company $99,211 for management services 
provided to list the Series A Preference shares on the Jamaican Stock Exchange. This charge has 
been included in financing costs of the redeemable preferred shares (Note 8).  
 
During the year, the Company paid management fees of $91,851 (2019 - $81,138) to the Manager. 
 
These related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the 
exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related 
parties. 
 

 
7. Debentures 
 
Short term debentures are comprised of as follows: 
            2020  2019 
Issued 
  Due December 2, 2021 carrying interest rate of 8%  $ 250,000 $ - 
  Due on December 17, 2021, carrying interest rate of 8%    400,000  - 
  Due on demand, carrying interest rate of 8% (Note 6)   -  1,500,000 
  Due on demand, carrying interest rate of 8% (Note 6)     500,000 
  Due on demand, carrying interest rate of 9%     100,000  100,000 
            750,000  2,100,000 
  Less: transaction costs       (104,808)  - 
            645,192  2,100,000 
  Accretion of transaction costs       8,734  - 
  Short term debentures, end of period    $ 653,926 $ 2,100,000 
 
Long term debentures are comprised of as follows: 
            2020  2019 
Issued 
  Due January 3, 2023, carrying interest rate of 8% (Note 6)  $ 5,080,000 $ - 
  Due August 20, 2022, carrying interest rate of 8% (Note 6)   940,000  - 
  Debentures, end of period      $ 6,020,000 $ - 
 
Total debentures        $ 6,673,926 $ 2,100,000 
 
On January 3, 2020, the Company established a revolving debenture facility of $8,000,000 with VeleV 
Capital GP Inc. As at December 31, 2020, the balance of the facility was $5,080,000.  
 
On August 20, 2020, VeleV Capital GP Inc. assigned $940,000 of long term debentures to Equityline 
Capital Limited (Jamaica) due August 20, 2022. 
 
During the year, the Company issued short term debentures for proceeds of $650,000 with maturity 
dates ranging from December 2, 2021 to December 17, 2021.  
  



Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

22 

7. Debentures (continued) 
 
During 2019, the Company issued convertible debentures at the option of the Company for proceeds 
of $2,600,000, with maturity dates ranging from September 11, 2019 to December 20, 2019. The 
convertible debentures were convertible for 1 Series C non-voting shares for every $1 outstanding. 
On initial measurement of the convertible debentures, management determined the underlying 
debentures were equity instruments and measured at its carrying value of $2,600,000. On July 11, 
2019, the terms of the convertible debentures were amended to remove the conversion right. 
Thereafter, the debentures are repayable in cash on maturity.  
 
The short term and long term debentures are secured by a general security agreement constituting 
a charge on all of the assets of the Company ranking equal with the holders of the Series A 
redeemable preferred shares. 
 
Interest costs of $376,785 (2019- $160,992) related to the debentures are recorded in financing costs 
using the effective interest rate method.  
 

 
8. Series A redeemable preferred shares 
 
Series A Redeemable Preferred Shares 
        2020   2019  
        Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount 
Shares outstanding at the 
 beginning of the year   2,683,400 $ 6,980,538  - $ - 
Issuance of Series A preferred 
 shares      -  -  2,683,400  6,936,800 
Foreign currency revaluation   -  (152,895)  -  43,738 
Less: transaction costs   -  _(737,667)  -  (737,667) 
        2,683,400  6,089,976  2,683,400  6,242,871 
Accretion of transaction costs   -  490,899  -  237,973 
        2,683,400 $ 6,580,875  2,683,400 $ 6,480,844 
 
On January 18, 2019, the Company completed a public offering of 2,683,400 Series A redeemable 
preferred shares for a total of net proceeds of $6,480,844. 
 
There is an unlimited number of Series A redeemable preferred shares available for issue. The 
shares are non-voting and redeemable at $2.00 USD per share.  
 
Distributions to shareholders of Series A redeemable preferred shares 
 
The Company intends to pay dividends to holders of Series A preferred shares monthly within 15 
days following the end of each month. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company 
declared dividends of $574,844 (2019 - $541,192), or $0.21 CAD ($0.16 USD) (2019 - $0.20 CAD 
($0.16 USD)) per Series A preferred share. 
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9. Share capital  
 
Authorized: 
 Unlimited as to number 
 
 Voting common shares 
 

Series A preferred shares, non-voting, redeemable by the Company after 24 months and 
retractable by the holder after 36 months at $2.00 USD per share with a right to a monthly 
dividend of $0.01333 USD ($0.16 USD annually). 
 
Series B preferred shares, non-voting, redeemable and retractable at $10.00 per share with a 
right to an annual cumulative dividend of 8.0% paid monthly.  
 
Series H non-voting shares, redeemable and retractable at $10.00 per share with a right to an 
annual cumulative dividend of 8.0% paid monthly. 

 
            2020  2019 
 
Issued 
 200 voting common shares      $ 200 $ 200 
 
During the year, the Company issued articles of amendment whereby the Series B were newly 
authorized for issuance and Series C and F were cancelled. 
 

 
10. Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing total net income and comprehensive income by 
the weighted average number of common shares during the period. 
 
The debentures issued at March 11, 2019 were convertible at the option of the Company and 
therefore were considered an equity instrument. This convertible feature was removed on July 11, 
2019. The convertible feature allowed the Company to convert the debentures into non-voting 
common shares having the same attributes as the voting common shares that are issued. In 2019, 
the basic earnings per share calculation includes the issued voting common shares and the effect of 
the debentures being classified as an equity instrument until July 11, 2019. In 2020, the basic 
earnings per share calculation only includes the voting common shares.   
 
The following table shows the computation of per share amounts: 
            2020  2019 
 
Net loss and comprehensive loss      $ (832,853) $ (836,033) 
 
Weighted average number of common shares - basic    200  869,241 
 
Loss per common share – basic       (4,164)  (0.96) 
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11. Contingent liability 
 
In the ordinary course of business activities, the Company may be contingently liable for litigation and 
claims arising from investing in mortgage investments and other investments. Where required, 
management records adequate provisions in the accounts. 
 
Although it is not possible to accurately estimate the extent of potential costs and losses, if any, 
management believes that the ultimate resolution of such contingencies would not have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position. 
 
Currently, there are no contingent liabilities or litigations. 
 

 
12. Financial instruments 
 
The Company is exposed to the symptoms and effects of global economic conditions and other 
factors that could adversely affect its business, financial condition and operating results. Many of 
these risk factors are beyond the Company's direct control. The Manager and Board of Directors play 
an active role in monitoring the Company's key risks and in determining the policies that are best 
suited to manage these risks. There has been no change in the process since the previous year. 
 
The Company's business activities, including its use of financial instruments, exposes the Company 
to various risks, the most significant of which are market rate risk (interest rate risk and currency risk), 
credit risk, and liquidity risk. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a borrower may be unable to honour its debt commitments as a result of a 
negative change in market conditions that could result in a loss to the Company. The Company 
mitigates this risk by the following: 
 

i. adhering to the investment restrictions and operating policies included in the asset allocation 
model (subject to certain duly approved exceptions); 

ii. ensuring all new mortgage investments are approved by the investment committee before 
funding; and 

iii. actively monitoring the mortgage investments and initiating recovery procedures, in a timely 
manner, where required. 

 
The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk at December 31, 2020 is its mortgage investments of 
$11,182,755 (2019 - $7,785,878). However, the exposure to risk is mitigated by security against the 
assets of the borrowers. 
 
The Company has recourse under these mortgages and in the event of default by the borrower; in 
which case, the Company would have a claim against the underlying collateral. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations 
as they become due. This risk arises in normal operations from fluctuations in cash flow as a result 
of the timing of mortgage investment advances and repayments and the need for working capital. 
Management routinely forecasts future cash flow sources and requirements to ensure cash is 
efficiently utilized. 
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12. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2019: 
     Carrying  Contractual  Within 
2020    values  cash flows  a year  1 to 3 years  3 to 5 years 
 
Accounts payable and accrued  
 liabilities $ 121,174 $ 121,174 $ 121,174 $ - $ - 
Distributions payable  150,686  150,686  150,686  -  - 
Due to related parties  41,360  41,360  41,360  -  - 
Prepaid mortgage interest  26,596  26,596  26,596  -  - 
Short term debentures  653,926  750,000  750,000  -  - 
Debentures  6,020,000  6,020,000  -  6,020,000  - 
Series A redeemable  
 preferred shares  6,580,875  6,827,643  -  -  6,827,643 
    $ 13,594,617 $ 13,937,459 $ 1,089,816 $ 6,020,000 $ 6,827,643 
 
     Carrying  Contractual  Within 
2019    values  cash flows  a year  1 to 3 years  3 to 5 years 
 
Accounts payable and accrued  
 liabilities $ 164,732 $ 164,732 $ 164,732 $ - $ - 
Withholding tax payable  61,492  61,492  61,492  -  - 
Distributions payable  53,027  53,027  53,027  -  - 
Interest payable  10,721  10,721  10,721  -  - 
Prepaid mortgage interest  170,259  170,259  170,259  -  - 
Debentures  2,100,000  2,100,000  2,100,000  -  - 
Series A redeemable 
 preferred shares  6,480,844  6,980,538  -  -  6,980,538 
    $ 9,041,075 $ 9,540,769 $ 2,560,231 $ - $ 6,980,538 
 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is exposed to currency risk primarily from 
other investments that are denominated in a currency other than the Canadian dollar. The Company 
does not use foreign currency forwards to hedge the principal balance of future earnings and cash 
flows caused by movements in foreign exchange rates. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has the following assets and liabilities denominated in US 
dollars: 
            2020  2019 
 
Cash and cash equivalents      $ 154,363 $ 29,911 
Distributions payable        150,686  53,027 
Series A redeemable preferred shares     6,580,875  6,480,844 
 
           $ 6,885,924 $ 6,563,782 
 
  



Equityline Mortgage Investment Corporation 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

26 

12. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial assets or financial 
liabilities with fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company manages its 
sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations by managing the fixed rate composition of its investment 
portfolio.  
 
The Company’s amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, prepaid mortgage 
interest have no exposure to interest rate risk due to their short-term nature. Cash and cash 
equivalents carry a variable rate of interest and are subject to minimal interest rate risk and the 
debentures have no exposure to interest rate risk due to their fixed interest rate.  
 
Interest income risk  
 
The Company’s mortgage loans consist of short term loans that are generally repaid by the borrowers 
in under 12 months. The reinvestment of the funds received from such repayments is invested at 
current market interest rates. As such, the weighted average interest rate applicable to the investment 
portfolio changes with time. This creates an ongoing risk that the weighted average interest rate on 
the investment portfolio will decrease, which will have a negative impact on the Company’s mortgage 
interest income.  
 
Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant 
market risk and other price risks arising from these financial instruments. 
 

 
13. Fair value of financial instruments 
 
a) Mortgage investments 
 
There is no quoted price in an active market for the mortgage investments. The Manager makes its 
determination of fair value based on its assessment of the current lending market for mortgages. 
Typically, the fair value of these mortgage investments approximate their carrying values given the 
amounts consist of short-term loans.  
 
b) Other financial assets and liabilities 
 
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, due from related parties, accounts 
payable, prepaid mortgage interest, debentures and redeemable preferred shares approximate their 
carrying amounts due to their short-term maturities or bear interest and dividend at market rates. 
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14. Capital risk management 
 
The Company manages its capital structure in order to support ongoing operations while focusing on 
its primary objectives of preserving shareholder capital and generating a stable monthly cash 
dividend to shareholders. The Company defines its capital structure to include common shares and 
debentures. 
 
The Company reviews its capital structure on an ongoing basis and adjusts its capital structure in 
response to mortgage investment opportunities, the availability of capital and anticipated changes in 
general economic conditions. 
 
The Company's investment restrictions and asset allocation model incorporate various restrictions 
and investment parameters to manage the risk profile of the mortgage investments. There have been 
no changes in the process over the previous year. 
 
At December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with its investment restrictions. 
 

 
15. COVID-19  
 
The spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around the globe. In many 
countries, including Canada, businesses are being forced to cease or limit operations for long or 
indefinite periods of time. Global stock markets have also experienced great volatility and a significant 
weakening. Governments and central banks have responded with monetary and fiscal interventions 
to stabilize economic conditions. 
 
The Company continues to operate at a functional capacity in a virtual manner. 
 
The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the effectiveness of government and 
central bank responses, remains unclear at this time. It is not possible to reliably estimate the duration 
and severity of these consequences, as well as their impact on the financial position and results of 
the Company for future periods. 
 

 
16. Events after the statement of financial position date 
 
The following significant non-adjusting event has occurred between the reporting date and the date 
of authorization.  
 
The Company issued debentures in January and February 2021 for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$610,000. 
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APPENDIX A 
ARTICLES OF THE CORPORATION – TERMS OF OFFERED SHARES 

PREFERRED SHARES 

1. Issuable in Series 

The Preferred Shares may be issued from time to time in one or more series composed of such number of 
shares and with such preferred, deferred or other special rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached 
thereto as shall be fixed from time to time before issuance by any resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of 
the share of any series which may be passed by the directors of the Corporation and confirmed and declared by 
articles of amendment including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 

(a) The rate, amount or method of calculation of any dividends, and whether such rate, amount or 
method of calculation shall be subject to change or adjustment in the future, the currency or 
currencies of payment, the date or dates and place or places of payment thereof and the date or 
dates from which such dividends shall accrue; 

(b) Any rights of redemption or purchase and the redemption or purchase prices and terms and 
conditions of any such rights; 

(c) Any rights of retraction vested in the holders of Preferred Shares of such series and the prices and 
terms and conditions of any such rights; 

(d) Any right upon dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Corporation; 

(e) Any voting rights; and 

(f) Any other provisions attaching to any such series of Preferred Shares. 

2. Priority 

No rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to any series of Preferred Shares shall confer upon 
the shares of such series a priority in respect of dividends or distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of 
the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation over the shares of any other series of Preferred Shares. 
The Preferred Shares of each series shall, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or 
return of capital in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, rank on a parity with the Preferred Shares of every other series, and with respect to the distribution of 
assets be entitled to a preferred distribution and priority over the Voting Common Shares, the Non-Voting Common 
Shares and over any other shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Preferred Shares in respect of dividends. 
The Corporation may pay dividends on the Voting and/or the Non-Voting Common Shares as a class or on all of 
such shares as the directors may determine in their absolute discretion and in accordance with the terms of the 
Shares. 

3. Notices and Voting Rights 

Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that may be attached to a particular series of 
Preferred Shares by the directors of the Corporation, the holders of the Preferred Shares shall not, as such, be 
entitled to receive notice of or to attend any meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation and shall not be entitled 
to vote at any such meetings (except where holders of a specified class or series of shares are entitled to vote 
separately as a class or series as provided by law). Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that 
may be attached to a particular series of Preferred Shares by the directors of the Corporation, the holders of the 
Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to vote separately as a class or series upon a proposal to amend the articles of 
the Corporation to: 

(a) Increase or decrease any maximum number of authorized shares of such class or series, or 
increase any maximum number of authorized shares of a class or series having rights or 
privileges equal or superior to the shares of such class or series; or 

(b) Effect an exchange, reclassification or cancellation of the shares of such class or series; or 



 

 

(c) Create a new class or series of shares equal or superior to the shares of such class or series. 

Notwithstanding the above restrictions, conditions or prohibitions on the right to vote, the holders of the 
Preferred Shares shall be entitled to notice of all meetings of shareholders called for the purpose of authorizing the 
dissolution of the Corporation or the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the 
Corporation other than in the ordinary course of business of the Corporation under subsection 184(3) of the Act, as 
such subsection may be amended from time to time. 

4. Additional Dividends for Tax and Fiscal Reasons 

Notwithstanding any other provision respecting dividends on the Preferred Shares, the Board may, for fiscal 
planning or other tax efficiency reasons, in its discretion, declare that an additional distribution will be payable to the 
holders of a series of Preferred Shares of record on December 31. Each such additional distribution may be satisfied 
by the issuance of additional Preferred Shares of such series, or cash or other property of the Corporation, or any 
combination thereof. Immediately following payment of any such additional distribution in Preferred Shares, the 
number of Preferred Shares of each applicable series outstanding after the distribution will be consolidated such that 
each shareholder will hold after the consolidation the same number and series of Preferred Shares as the 
shareholder held before the additional distribution. In such case, each certificate representing one or more Preferred 
Shares prior to the distribution of additional Preferred Shares shall be deemed to represent the same number and 
series of Preferred Shares after the distribution of additional Preferred Shares and consolidation. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, where tax is required to be withheld from a shareholder’s participation in the additional Distribution, the 
consolidation will result in such shareholder holding that number of Preferred Shares equal to (x) the number and 
series of Preferred Shares held by such shareholder prior to the Distribution plus the number and series of Preferred 
Shares received by such shareholder in connection with the additional Distribution (net of any taxes withheld) prior to 
the consolidation multiplied by (y) the fraction obtained by dividing the aggregate number of Preferred Shares of the 
applicable series outstanding prior to distribution by the aggregate number of Preferred Shares of the applicable 
series that would be outstanding following the additional Distribution and before the consolidation if no withholding 
were made in respect of any part of the additional Distribution payable to any shareholder. Any such shareholder will 
be required to surrender the share certificate(s), if any, representing such shareholder’s original Preferred Shares, in 
exchange for a certificate representing such shareholder’s post-consolidation Preferred Shares. 

5. Dividend Priority 

The Preferred Shares shall, with respect to the payment of dividends, rank prior to the Voting Common 
Shares and Non-Voting Shares and to the shares of any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the 
Preferred Shares, and no dividends shall at any time be declared or paid or set apart for payment on the Voting 
Common Shares, the Non-Voting Shares or shares of any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to 
the Preferred Shares unless at the date of such declaration, payment or setting apart for payment, as the case may 
be, all cumulative dividends up to and including the dividend payment for the last completed period for which such 
cumulative dividends shall be payable shall have been declared and paid or set apart for payment in respect of each 
series of cumulative Preferred Shares then issued and outstanding and all declared and unpaid non-cumulative 
dividends shall have been paid or set apart for payment in respect of each series of non-cumulative Preferred Shares 
then issued and outstanding. 

6. Liquidation 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of 
the Corporation among shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, the holders of the Preferred Shares 
shall, before any amount shall be paid to or any property or assets of the Corporation distributed among the holders 
of the Voting Common Shares or Non-Voting Shares any other shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the 
Preferred Shares, be entitled to receive an amount equal to the consideration received by the Corporation upon the 
issuance of such shares together with, in the case of cumulative preferred shares, all unpaid cumulative dividends 
(which, for such purpose, shall be calculated as if such cumulative dividends were accruing from day to day for the 
period from the expiration of the last period for which cumulative dividends have been paid, up to and including the 
date of distribution) and, in the case of non-cumulative preferred shares, all declared and unpaid non-cumulative 
dividends, but shall not be entitled to share any further in the distribution of the property or assets of the Corporation. 

7. Creation of Shares Senior to the Preferred Shares 

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Articles of the Corporation, the Corporation shall not create any 
class of shares that are superior to or equal to the Preferred Shares. 



 

 

PREFERRED SHARES – SERIES A 

1. First Series 

The first series of Preferred Shares of the Corporation shall consist of an unlimited number of Preferred 
which shall be designated as Series A Preferred Shares (hereinafter referred to as the “Series A Shares”) and which, 
in addition to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Preferred Shares as a class, shall have 
attached thereto the following rights, privileges, restrictions and condition. 

2. Issue Price 

The consideration for which each Series A Share shall be issued is US$2.00 and, upon payment of such 
consideration, each such share shall be issued as fully paid and non-assessable. 

3. Dividends 

(a) Priority. The Series A Shares rank senior to the Voting Common Shares, the Non-Voting Common 
Shares and any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Preferred Shares 
and rank on a parity with every other series of Preferred Shares as to dividends. 

(b) Payment of Dividends. The holders of Series A Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, monthly, fixed, cumulative, 
preferential cash dividends (the “Series A Monthly Dividends”) in an amount equal to 
US$0.0133333 per Series A Share (being an annual rate equal to US$0.16) payable, with respect 
to each Series A Dividend Period, on the Series A Dividend Payment Date in respect of such 
Dividend Period. Dividends on the Series A Shares shall accrue daily from and including the date of 
issue of such shares. 

(c) Initial Dividend and Dividend for Other than a Full Dividend Period. The holders of Series A Shares 
shall be entitled to receive, and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the 
Board out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, 
cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series A Dividend period or any period which 
is less than a full Series A Dividend Period, as follows: 

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of the initial issue of 
the Series A Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series A Dividend Period in 
amount per Series A Share equal to US$0.16 multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number of calendar days from and including the date of the initial issue of the 
Series A Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series A Dividend Period and the 
denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series A Share: 

A. which is issued or redeemed during any Series A Dividend Period; 
 

B. where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of the Series A 
Shares pursuant to subsection E9 with an effective date during any Dividend 
Period; or 
 

C. in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series A Dividend 
Period that such share has been outstanding is less than a full Series A Dividend 
Period (other than the period referred to in subsection E3(c)(i)), 

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable in respect 
of the applicable full Series A Dividend Period is multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number of calendar days in such Series A Dividend Period that such share 
has been outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the effective date for the 
distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, as applicable) and 



 

 

the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such Series A Dividend 
Period. 

(d) Payment Procedure. The Corporation shall pay the dividends declared on the Series A Shares on 
the relevant Series A Dividend Payment Date (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by 
the Corporation) by electronic funds transfer or by cheque(s) drawn on a chartered bank, 
commercial bank or trust company and payable in lawful money of the United States at any branch 
of such bank or trust company or in such other manner, not contrary to applicable law, as the 
Corporation shall reasonably determine. The delivery or mailing of any cheque to a holder of Series 
A Shares (in the manner provided for herein) or the electronic transfer of funds to an account 
specified by such holder shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation's obligation to 
pay the dividends to such holder to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of 
any tax required to be and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation from the related 
dividends as aforesaid and remitted to the proper taxing authority), unless such cheque is not 
honoured when presented for payment. Subject to applicable law, dividends which are represented 
by a cheque which has not been presented to the Corporation's banker for payment or that 
otherwise remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which they were declared to 
be payable may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes. 

(e) Cumulative Payment of Dividends. If on any Series A Dividend Payment Date, the dividends 
payable in respect of the Series A Dividend Period ending in the calendar month in which such 
Series A Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of the Series A Shares then 
outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid part thereof, shall be paid (less any tax required to be 
deducted or withheld by the Corporation) on a subsequent date or dates determined by the Board 
on which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the payment of such 
dividends. The holder of Series A Shares shall not be entitled to any dividends other than or in 
excess of the cumulative preferential cash dividends herein provided for. 

(f) Other Dividends. Holders of Series A Shares have a right, after payment to them of their preferred 
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of the Non-Voting 
Shares and, if necessary, the Voting Shares, to participate pari passu with the holders of the Non-
Voting Shares and, if necessary, the Voting Shares in any further payment of dividends. 

4. Voting Rights 

(a) Except as otherwise required by law or in the conditions attaching to the Preferred Shares as a 
class, the holders of Series A Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, attend at, or vote at 
any meeting of shareholders of the Corporation, unless and until the Corporation shall have failed 
to pay three (3) monthly dividends on the Series A Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, 
whether or not consecutive and whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not 
there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. In 
the event of such non-payment, and for only so long as any such three (3) monthly dividends 
remain in arrears, the holders of the Series A Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all 
meetings of shareholders of the Corporation and to attend thereat (other than a separate meeting 
of the holders of another series or class of shares), and at any such meetings which they shall be 
entitled to attend, except when the vote of the holders of shares of any other class or series is to be 
taken separately and as a class or series, shall be entitled to vote together with all of the voting 
shares of the Corporation on the basis of one vote in respect of each Series A Share held by each 
such holder, until all such arrears of such dividends shall have been paid, whereupon such rights 
shall cease unless and until the Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends 
on the Series A Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not consecutive and 
whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends, in which event such voting rights 
shall become effective again and so on from time to time. 

(b) The holders of Series A Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class on any resolution to 
wind-up, dissolve or liquidate the Corporation. 



 

 

5. Redemption by Corporation 

(a) Corporation’s Redemption Rights. The Series A Shares shall not be redeemable by the 
Corporation prior to the date that is 24 months following the initial issuance of the Series A Shares 
(the “Series A Corporation Redemption Start Date”). On and after the Series A Redemption 
Start Date, the Corporation may redeem all or any number of the outstanding Series A Shares, at 
its option, by the payment in cash of an amount equal to the Series A Redemption Price tax 
required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation). Where applicable, if less than all of the 
outstanding Series A Shares are at any time to be redeemed, the particular shares to be 
redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) or, if the Series A Shares 
are at such time listed on a stock exchange, with the consent of any applicable stock exchange, in 
such other manner as the Board may in its sole discretion determine by resolution. 

(b) Termination Date Redemption. The Series A Shares shall be redeemed on the Termination Date. 

(c) Payment of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall on the Series A Redemption Date pay or 
cause to be paid to the holders of the Series A Shares so called for redemption the Series A 
Redemption Price therefor on presentation and delivery at the principal transfer office of the 
Transfer Agent or such other place or places designated in the notice of redemption, of the 
certificate or certificates representing the Series A Shares so called for redemption. Such payment 
shall be made by electronic funds transfer to an account specified by such holder or by cheque 
drawn on a Canadian chartered bank or trust company in the amount of the Series A Redemption 
Price and such electronic transfer of funds or the delivery or mailing of such cheque (in the manner 
provided for herein) shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation's obligation to pay the 
Series A Redemption Price owed to the holders of Series A Shares so called for redemption to the 
extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of any tax required to be and in fact 
deducted or withheld by the Corporation as aforesaid and remitted to the proper taxing authority) 
unless such cheque is not honoured when presented for payment. From and after the Series A 
Redemption Date, the holders of Series A Shares called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to 
dividends or to exercise any of the rights of holders of Series A Shares in respect of such shares 
except the right to receive the Series A Redemption Price, provided that if payment of such Series 
A Redemption Price is not duly made in accordance with the provisions hereof, then the rights of 
such holders shall remain unimpaired. If less than all the Series A Shares represented by any 
certificate shall be redeemed, a new certificate for the balance shall be issued without cost to the 
holder. Subject to applicable law, redemption monies which remain unclaimed for a period of six 
years from the Series A Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its 
own purposes. 

(d) Deposit of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall have the right, at any time after mailing a 
notice of redemption, to deposit the aggregate Series A Redemption Price for the Series A Shares 
thereby called for redemption, or such part thereof as at the time of deposit has not been claimed 
by the holders entitled thereto, in a special account with a Canadian chartered bank or trust 
company named in the notice of redemption in trust for the holders of such shares, and upon such 
deposit being made or upon the Series A Redemption Date, whichever is the later, the Series A 
Shares in respect of which such deposit shall have been made shall be deemed to be redeemed 
on the Series A Redemption Date and the rights of each holder thereof shall be limited to 
receiving, without interest, the holder's proportionate part (after taking into account any amounts 
required to be deducted or withheld on account of tax in respect of such holder) of the Series A 
Redemption Price so deposited upon presentation and surrender of the certificate or certificates 
representing the Series A Shares so redeemed. Any interest on any such deposit shall belong to 
the Corporation. Subject to applicable law, redemption monies which remain unclaimed for a 
period of six years from the Series A Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by the 
Corporation for its own purposes. 

(e) Declaration of Dividends in Respect of Shares to be Redeemed. If a dividend is declared by the 
Board in respect of any Series A Dividend Period during which the Series A Shares are 
redeemed, notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 5(a), no electronic funds transfer or 
cheque shall be made or issued in payment of such dividend; rather, the amount of such dividend 
declared shall be considered to be an accrued and unpaid dividend for purposes of subsection 
5(a). 



 

 

6. Redemption by the Shareholder 

(a) Shareholder Redemption Rights. Subject to the provisions herein, beginning on the date that 36 
months following the issuance of the Series A Shares (the “Series A Shareholder Redemption 
Start Date”), each holder of Series A Shares shall be entitled, subject to and upon compliance with 
the provisions hereof, to require the Corporation to redeem all or any part of the Series A Shares 
registered in the name of the holder at the Series A Redemption Price for each Series A Share 
redeemed. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on or before the Series A Shareholder 
Redemption Date in respect of Series A Shares tendered for redemption shall also be paid on or 
before the Series A Redemption Date. Each holder of Series A Shares who elects to redeem all or 
any Series A Shares registered in the name of that holder must deliver a notice of redemption, in 
the form specified by the Corporation, to the transfer agent for the Series A Shares or at such other 
place as shall be specified by the Corporation from time to time. 

(b) Payment of Redemption Price. Payment for Series A Shares tendered for redemption shall be 
made on the 120th day following receipt of the notice and redemption by the Corporation (the 
“Series A Shareholder Redemption Date”). From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, the 
Series A Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled to dividends or Distributions or 
to any participation in the assets of the Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to 
exercise any of their other rights as shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive 
payment of the Series A Redemption Price for each Series A Share redeemed and any accrued but 
unpaid Distributions up to the Series A Redemption Date. Series A Shares which have been 
surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding until, but not 
after, the close of business on the Redemption Date. 

(c) Limits on Redemption Rights. The Corporation will not accept for redemption in any single Series A 
Redemption Period Series A Shares representing more than 10% of the number of Series A 
Shares outstanding at the beginning of such Series A Redemption Period. In the event that the 
number of Series A Shares tendered for redemption in respect of Series A Redemption Period, 
exceeds the limit set forth above, the Corporation will redeem such Series A Shares tendered for 
redemption on a pro rata basis. Notwithstanding the foregoing limitations on redemption, the 
directors of the Corporation may, in their sole discretion, waive the limitation in respect of all Series 
A Shares tendered in respect of any one or more Series A Redemption Period. If the redemption by 
the Corporation of all Series A Shares surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary 
to applicable law, the Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series A Shares 
(rounded to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then permitted to redeem selected 
on a pro rata basis from each holder of Series A Shares surrendered for redemption according to 
the number of Series A Shares surrendered for redemption by each such holder. Any Series A 
Shares that are not redeemed as aforesaid shall be returned to the holder thereof. 

(d) Suspension of Redemptions. The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Shares for any 
period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager determines that 
conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the Portfolio or which impair the 
ability of the Manager to determine the value of assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The 
suspension may apply to all requests for redemption of Series A Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all requests received while 
the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series A Shares who have tendered their Series A Shares 
for redemption in such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager and that the redemption will be effected following the termination of the suspension. All 
such holders of Shares shall have and shall be advised that they have the right to withdraw such 
shares surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on the first day on 
which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist provided that no other 
condition under which a suspension is authorized then exists. To the extent not inconsistent with 
the rules and regulations promulgated by any governmental body having jurisdiction over the 
Corporation, any declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the Manager shall be 
conclusive. 

(e) Liability of Directors. If the directors of the Corporation have acted in good faith in making any of 
the determinations referred to above as to the number of Shares that the Corporation is permitted 
at any time to redeem, the Corporation shall have no liability in the event that any such 
determination proves to be inaccurate. 



 

 

(f) Irrevocable Election. Subject to this Section E6, the election of any holder to present and surrender 
any Series A Share for redemption shall be irrevocable upon the receipt by or on behalf of the 
Corporation of the documentation and instruments required by the Corporation in connection 
therewith. 

7. Purchase for Cancellation 

Subject to the Act and any applicable laws), the Corporation may at any time after the Series A Redemption 
Start Date purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all or any number of the Series A Shares outstanding from time to 
time: 

(a) in the open market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on a 
recognized stock exchange, provided that if the Series A Shares are listed on the JSE, such 
repurchase shall be by uninterruptible put-through and the Corporation shall provide the requisite 
notice thereof in accordance with Rule 413 of the Rules of the JSE and shall publish details of the 
same in a national newspaper in Jamaica; 

(b) by private agreement; or 

(c) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for tenders addressed to all holders 
of Series A Shares in accordance with Rule 403 of the Rules of the JSE Rule 403 of the Rules of 
the JSE. 

at the lowest price or prices at which, in the opinion of the Board, such shares are obtainable provided that 
in the case of (b) or (c) the price paid is not less than the Series A Redemption Price exclusive of stamp 
duty, commission and other expenses of purchase 

8. Notice of Repurchase or Redemption 

Notice of any redemption of Series A Shares pursuant to Section 5 at a date other than the Termination 
Date shall be given to each holder of Series A Shares to be redeemed by the Corporation at least 30 and not more 
than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Any notice of redemption of Series A Shares by the Corporation 
shall be validly and effectively given on the date on which it is sent to each holder of Series A Shares to be redeemed 
in the manner provided for in subsection (a). Such notice shall set out: 

(a) the date on which the redemption is to take place; 

(b) unless all the Series A Shares held by the holder to whom it is addressed are to be redeemed, the 
number of Series A Shares so held which are to be redeemed; and 

(c) the Series A Redemption Price. 

9. Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of 
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
subject to the prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of shares of the 
Corporation ranking senior to the Series A Shares, the holders of the Series A Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with 
the Preferred Shares of every other series and (b) senior to the Voting Shares and the shares of any other class 
ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series A Shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to US$2.00 
per Series A Share, together with an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether declared or not, up 
to but excluding the date fixed for payment or distribution (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the 
Corporation), before any amount is paid or any assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of any shares 
of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to the Series A Shares. Upon payment to the holders of the Series A 
Shares of the amounts so payable to them, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any further distribution of the 
assets of the Corporation. 

10. Modification 

The designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Series A Shares as a series 
may be repealed, deleted, varied, modified, amended or amplified from time to time only with the approval of the 



 

 

holders of the Series A Shares given in accordance with the Act and subsection El 1 and with any required approvals 
of any stock exchange on which the Series A Shares may be listed. 

11. Approval of Holders of Series A Shares 

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, any approval of the holders of the Series A Shares with 
respect to any matters requiring the consent of such holders may be given in such manner as may 
then be required by law, subject to a minimum requirement that such approval be given by a 
resolution signed by 3/4 such holders or passed by the affirmative vote of at least 3/4 of the votes 
cast by the holders who voted in respect of that resolution at a meeting of the holders duly called 
for that purpose and at which the holders of 10% of the outstanding Series A Shares are present in 
person or represented by proxy. If at any such meeting the holder(s) of 33% of the outstanding 
Series A Shares are not present in person or represented by proxy within one-half hour after the 
time appointed for such meeting, then the meeting shall be adjourned to such date not less than 15 
days thereafter and to such time and place as may be designated by the chairman of such meeting, 
and not less than 10 days' written notice shall be given of such adjourned meeting. At such 
adjourned meeting the holders(s) of Series A Shares present in person or represented by proxy 
shall form the necessary quorum and may transact the business for which the meeting was 
originally called and a resolution passed thereat by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the 
votes cast at such meeting shall constitute the approval of the holders of the Series A Shares. At 
any meeting of holders of Series A Shares as a series, each such holder shall be entitled to one 
vote in respect of each share held. 

(b) The proxy rules applicable to, the formalities to be observed in respect of the giving notice of, and 
the formalities to be observed in respect of the conduct of, any meeting or any adjourned meeting 
of holders of the Series A Shares shall be those required by law, as may from time to time be 
supplemented by the by-laws of the Corporation. On every poll taken at every meeting of holders of 
Series A Shares as a series, each holder entitled to vote thereat shall have one vote in respect of 
each Series A Share held. 

12. Communication with Holders 

(a) Any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation herein 
provided for shall be sufficiently given, sent or made if delivered or if sent by first class unregistered 
mail, postage prepaid, to the holders of the Series A Shares at their respective addresses 
appearing on the records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the Transfer Agent, 
or, in the case of joint holders, to the address of the holder whose name appears first on the 
records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the Transfer Agent as one of such joint 
holders, or, in the event of the address of any of such holders not so appearing, then at the last 
address of such holder known to the Corporation. Accidental failure to give such notice, invitation 
for tenders or other communication to one or more holders of the Series A Shares shall not affect 
the validity of the notices, invitations for tenders or other communications properly given or any 
action taken pursuant to such notice, invitation for tender or other communication but, upon such 
failure being discovered, the notice, invitation for tenders or other communication, as the case may 
be, shall be sent forthwith to such holder or holders. 

(b) If any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation given to a 
holder of Series A Shares pursuant to this subsection is returned on three consecutive occasions 
because the holder cannot be found, the Corporation shall not be required to give or mail any 
further notices, cheques, invitations for tenders or other communications to such shareholder until 
the holder informs the Corporation in writing of such holder's new address. 

(c) If the Board determines that mail service is or is threatened to be interrupted at the time when the 
Corporation is required or elects to give any notice hereunder by mail, or is required to send any 
cheque or any share certificate to a holder, whether in connection with the redemption of such 
share or otherwise, the Corporation may, notwithstanding the provisions hereof: 

(i) give such notice by publication thereof once in a newspaper having national circulation in 
Jamaica and such notice shall be deemed to have been validly given on the day next 
succeeding its publication; and 



 

 

(ii) fulfill the requirement to send such cheque or such share certificate by arranging for the 
delivery thereof to such holder by the Transfer Agent at its principal offices, and such 
cheque and/or share certificate shall be deemed to have been sent on the date on which 
notice of such arrangement shall have been given as provided in (a) above, provided that 
as soon as the Board determines that mail service is no longer interrupted or threatened 
to be interrupted, such cheque or share certificate, if not theretofore delivered to such 
holder, shall be sent by mail as herein provided. 

13. Interpretation 

 As used in respect of the Series A Share terms: 

(a) “Series A Dividend Payment Dates” means in respect of the dividends payable on the Series A 
Shares shall be the 15th day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately following 
Business Day) of each of the months of each year up to the Termination Date. 

(b) “Series A Dividend Payment Period” means the period from and including the initial issue date of 
the Series A Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the month in which the 
Series A Preferred Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next succeeding period that is 
from and including the last day of such month, to but excluding the last day of the next succeeding 
month. 

(c) “Series A Corporation Redemption Date” means the date on which redemption is to take place. 

(d) “Series A Corporation Redemption Start Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 5(a). 

(e) “Series A Shareholder Redemption Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 6(b). 

(f) “Series A Shareholder Redemption Start Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 6(a). 

(g) “Series A Redemption Period” means each of the periods from January 1 to June 30 and from 
July 1 to December 31 of any calendar year after the Series A Shareholder Redemption Start Date 
(provided that if the first Series A Redemption Period is less than 3 months long, the first Series A 
Redemption Period shall begin on the Series A Shareholder Redemption Start Date and end on the 
last day of what would be the next Series A Redemption Period. 

(h) “Series A Redemption Price” means US$2.00 per Series A Share. 

(i) “Termination Date” means the last Business Day of the 601h full month after the initial issuance 
date of the Series A Shares. 

 

PREFERRED SHARES – SERIES B 

1. Second Series 

 The second series of Preferred Shares of the Corporation shall consist of an unlimited number of Preferred 
Shares, which shall be designated as “Series B Shares” (hereinafter referred to as the “Series B Shares”) and which, 
in addition to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Preferred Shares as a class, shall have 
attached thereto the following rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions. 

2. Interpretation 

(a) For the purposes of these rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions of the Series B Shares, the 
following terms have the following meanings: 

“Applicable Securities Laws” means the securities laws, regulations and rules in each province 
and territory of Canada and the requirements, rules and policies of the Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities that are then applicable to the Corporation in the circumstances. 



 

 

“Business Day” means any day on which Schedule I banks are open for business in the City of 
Toronto. 

(b) Unless otherwise defined herein, terms which are defined in the Act or in Applicable Securities 
Laws are used herein with the same meaning. 
 

(c) Any reference to a statute, regulation, rule or regulatory policy hereunder shall be deemed to be a 
reference to such statute, regulation, rule or regulatory policy as amended, re-enacted or replaced 
from time to time and references to specific parts, paragraphs and sections thereof shall include all 
amendments, re-enactments or replacements. 

3. Issue Price 

The consideration for which each Series B Share shall be issued is C$10.00 and, upon payment of such 
consideration, each such share shall be issued as fully paid and non-assessable. 

4. Dividends 

(a) Priority. The Series B Shares rank senior to the Voting Common Shares, the Non-Voting Shares 
and any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Preferred Shares and rank on 
a parity with every other series of Preferred Shares as to dividends.  

(b) Payment of Minimum Dividends. The holders of Series B Shares shall be entitled to receive, and 
the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, monthly, fixed, cumulative, 
preferential, cash dividends (the “Series B Monthly Dividends”) in an amount equal to 
C$0.0666667 per Series B Share (being an annual rate equal to C$0.80) payable, with respect to 
each Series B Dividend Payment Period, on the Series B Dividend Payment Date in respect of 
such Series B Dividend Payment Period.  Dividends on the Series B Shares shall accrue daily from 
and including the date of issue of such shares.   

(c) Initial Dividend and Dividend for Other than a Full Dividend Payment Period.  The holders of Series 
B Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when 
declared by the Board out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of 
dividends, cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series B Dividend Payment Period 
or any period which is less than a full Series B Dividend Payment Period, as follows:  

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of the initial issue of 
the Series B Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series B Dividend Payment 
Period in an amount per Series B Share equal to C$0.80 multiplied by a fraction, the 
numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and including the date of the 
initial issue of the Series B Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series B 
Dividend Payment Period and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series B Share:  

A. which is issued or redeemed during any Series B Dividend Payment Period;  
 

B. where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of the Series B 
Shares pursuant to Section 10 of these terms with an effective date during any 
Series B Dividend Payment Period; or  
 

C. in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series B Dividend 
Payment Period that such share has been outstanding is less than a full Series B 
Dividend Payment Period (other than the period referred to in Section 4(c)(i) of 
these terms).  

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable in respect 
of the applicable full Series B Dividend Payment Period is multiplied by a fraction, the 



 

 

numerator of which is the number of calendar days in such Series B Dividend Payment 
Period that such share has been outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the 
effective date for the distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, 
as applicable) and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such 
Series B Dividend Payment Period.  

(d) Payment Procedure. The Corporation shall pay the dividends declared on the Series B Shares on 
the relevant Series B Dividend Payment Date (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by 
the Corporation) by electronic funds transfer or by cheque(s) drawn on a chartered bank, 
commercial bank or trust company and payable in lawful money of the United States at any branch 
of such bank or trust company or in such other manner, not contrary to applicable law, as the 
Corporation shall reasonably determine. The delivery or mailing of any cheque to a holder of Series 
B Shares (in the manner provided for herein) or the electronic transfer of funds to an account 
specified by such holder shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation’s obligation to 
pay the dividends to such holder to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of 
any tax required to be and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation from the related 
dividends as aforesaid and remitted to the proper taxing authority), unless such cheque is not 
honoured when presented for payment. Subject to applicable law, dividends which are represented 
by a cheque which has not been presented to the Corporation’s banker for payment or that 
otherwise remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which they were declared to 
be payable may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(e) Cumulative Payment of Dividends. If on any Series B Dividend Payment Date, the Series B 
Monthly Dividends payable in respect of the Series B Dividend Payment Period ending in the 
calendar month in which such Series B Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of 
the Series B Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid part thereof, shall be paid 
(less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation) on a subsequent date or 
dates determined by the Board on which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly 
applicable to the payment of such dividends.   

(f) Target Return Dividends. The holders of Series B Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, additional monthly, cash dividends 
(the “Series B Additional Return Dividends”) in an amount targeted to result in a return, based 
on the Series B Purchase Price, when combined with the Series B Monthly Dividends, of between 
8% and 10%, payable (if declared), with respect to each Series B Dividend Period, on the Series B 
Dividend Payment Date in respect of such Series B Dividend Period. Series B Additional Return 
Dividends are not guaranteed and shall not accrue and shall be paid in Canadian dollars. No 
payment of a Series B Additional Return Dividends shall result in the payment of additional 
dividends to any other series of Preferred Shares, except as may be provided for in the terms of 
such series of Preferred Shares. 

(g) Other Dividends. Holders of Series B Shares have a right, after payment to them of their preferred 
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of the Voting Shares, 
to participate pari passu with the holders of the Voting Shares in any further payment of dividends.  

5. Voting Rights 

(a) Except as otherwise required by law or in the conditions attaching to the Preferred Shares as a 
class, the holders of Series B Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, attend at, or vote at 
any meeting of shareholders of the Corporation, unless and until the Corporation shall have failed 
to pay in full an aggregate of three (3) full Series B Monthly Dividends on the Series B Shares in 
accordance with the terms hereof (being an aggregate of $0.20), whether or not consecutive and 
whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. In the event of such non-
payment, and for only so long as any such three (3) monthly dividends remain in arrears, the 
holders of the Series B Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders of 
the Corporation and to attend thereat (other than a separate meeting of the holders of another 
series or class of shares), and at any such meetings which they shall be entitled to attend, except 
when the vote of the holders of shares of any other class or series is to be taken separately and as 
a class or series, shall be entitled to vote together with all of the voting shares of the Corporation on 



 

 

the basis of one vote in respect of each Series B Share held by each such holder, until all such 
arrears of such dividends shall have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and until 
the Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends on the Series B Shares in 
accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not consecutive and whether or not such dividends 
were declared and whether or not there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to 
the payment of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again and 
so on from time to time.  

(b) The holders of Series B Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class on any resolution to 
wind-up, dissolve or liquidate the Corporation. 

6. Redemption by Corporation 

(a) Corporation’s Redemption Rights. The Series B Shares shall not be redeemable by the Corporation 
prior to the date that is 6 months following the initial issuance of the Series B Shares (the “Series B 
Corporation Redemption Start Date”). On and after the Series B Corporation Redemption Start 
Date, the Corporation may, on 30 days’ notice, redeem all or any number of the outstanding Series 
B Shares, at its option, by the payment in cash, on the 30th day following delivery of the notice (the 
“Series B Corporation Redemption Date”), of an amount equal to the Series B Redemption Price 
(less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation). Where applicable, if less 
than all of the outstanding Series B Shares are at any time to be redeemed, the particular shares to 
be redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) or, if the Series B 
Shares are at such time listed on a stock exchange, with the consent of any applicable stock 
exchange, in such other manner as the Board may in its sole discretion determine by resolution.  

(b) Payment of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall on the Series B Corporation Redemption 
Date pay or cause to be paid to the holders of the Series B Shares so called for redemption the 
Series B Redemption Price therefor on presentation and delivery at the principal transfer office of 
the transfer agent for the Series B Shares or such other place or places designated in the notice of 
redemption, of the certificate or certificates representing the Series B Shares so called for 
redemption. Such payment shall be made by electronic funds transfer to an account specified by 
such holder or by cheque drawn on a Canadian chartered bank or trust company in the amount of 
the Series B Redemption Price and such electronic transfer of funds or the delivery or mailing of 
such cheque (in the manner provided for herein) shall be a full and complete discharge of the 
Corporation’s obligation to pay the Series B Redemption Price owed to the holders of Series B 
Shares so called for redemption to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of 
any tax required to be and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation as aforesaid and 
remitted to the proper taxing authority) unless such cheque is not honoured when presented for 
payment. From and after the Series B Corporation Redemption Date, the holders of Series B 
Shares called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to dividends or to exercise any of the rights 
of holders of Series B Shares in respect of such shares except the right to receive the Series B 
Redemption Price, provided that if payment of such Series B Redemption Price is not duly made in 
accordance with the provisions hereof, then the rights of such holders shall remain unimpaired. If 
less than all the Series B Shares represented by any certificate shall be redeemed, a new 
certificate for the balance shall be issued without cost to the holder. Subject to applicable law, 
redemption monies which remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the Series B Corporation 
Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(c) Deposit of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall have the right, at any time after mailing a 
notice of redemption, to deposit the aggregate Series B Redemption Price for the Series B Shares 
thereby called for redemption, or such part thereof as at the time of deposit has not been claimed 
by the holders entitled thereto, in a special account with a Canadian chartered bank or trust 
company named in the notice of redemption in trust for the holders of such shares, and upon such 
deposit being made or upon the Series B Corporation Redemption Date, whichever is the later, the 
Series B Shares in respect of which such deposit shall have been made shall be deemed to be 
redeemed on the Series B Corporation Redemption Date and the rights of each holder thereof shall 
be limited to receiving, without interest, the holder’s proportionate part (after taking into account any 
amounts required to be deducted or withheld on account of tax in respect of such holder or withheld 
in respect of redemption fees) of the Series B Redemption Price so deposited upon presentation 
and surrender of the certificate or certificates representing the Series B Shares so redeemed. Any 
interest on any such deposit shall belong to the Corporation. Subject to applicable law, redemption 



 

 

monies which remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the Series B Corporation 
Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(d) Dividends in Respect of Shares to be Redeemed. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on 
or before the Series B Corporation Redemption Date in respect of Series B Shares called for 
redemption shall also be paid on or before the Series B Corporation Redemption Date.  If a 
dividend is declared by the Board in respect of any Series B Dividend Payment Period during which 
the Series B Shares are redeemed, notwithstanding the provisions hereof, no electronic funds 
transfer or cheque shall be made or issued in payment of such dividend; rather, the amount of such 
dividend declared shall be considered to be an accrued and unpaid dividend for purposes of these 
terms.  

7. Redemption by the Shareholder 

(a) Shareholder Redemption Rights. Subject to the provisions hereof, each holder of Series B Shares 
shall be entitled, subject to and upon compliance with the provisions hereof, to require the 
Corporation to redeem all or any part of the Series B Shares registered in the name of the holder. 
Series B Shares tendered for redemption prior to the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption 
Notice Deadline for a month shall redeemed on the following Series B Monthly Shareholder 
Redemption Date at a redemption price for each Series B Share redeemed equal to: 

(i) 93% of the Series B Redemption Price if redeemed within 12 months from the date of 
issuance; 

(ii) 96% of the Series B Redemption Price if redeemed on or after 12 months from the date of 
issuance but within 24 months from the date of issuance; 

(iii) 98% of the Series B Redemption Price if redeemed on or after 24 months from the date of 
issuance but within 36 months from the date of issuance; and 

(iv) 100% of the Series B Redemption Price if redeemed on or after 36 months from the date of 
issuance. 

(b) Limits on Shareholder Redemption Rights. The redemption rights set out in Section 7(a) above are 
subject to the following limits: 

(i) the total amount payable by the Corporation for the Series B Shares tendered for 
redemption in the same calendar month may not exceed the greater of $500,000 and 3% of 
the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series B Shares determined at the beginning 
of such calendar month (the “Redemption Limit”); provided that the directors of the 
Corporation may, in their absolute discretion, waive such limitation in respect of all shares 
tendered for redemption in any period. To the extent the Corporation has received notices 
of redemption where the aggregate number of Series B Shares would exceed the 
Redemption Limit, the Corporation shall redeem only such number of Series B Shares as to 
require the redemption of an aggregate number of Series B Shares in respect of 
redemptions equal to the Redemption Limit. The Corporation shall administer the foregoing 
and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with respect to the aggregate number of Series 
B Shares represented by redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions thereof) 
which are not honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series B Monthly 
Shareholder Redemption Date, subject in all cases to the Corporation’s right to suspend 
redemptions and the Redemption Limit described herein; 

(ii) the redemption of the Series B Shares validly tendered for redemption may not result in a 
return of capital or a distribution otherwise out of the assets of the Corporation to the holder 
of Series B Shares, unless all liabilities of the Corporation have been paid or there are 
sufficient assets of the Corporation to pay them; 

(iii) redemptions will be restricted if, in the Board’s opinion (in their absolute discretion), the 
Corporation has insufficient liquid assets to fund such redemptions or the liquidation of 



 

 

assets at such time would be to the detriment of or adversely affect the remaining 
shareholders or the Corporation generally; or 

(iv) redemptions will be restricted if the redemption by the Corporation of all Series B Shares 
surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary to applicable law, in which 
case the Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series B Shares (rounded 
to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then permitted to redeem selected on 
a pro rata basis from each holder of Series B Shares surrendered for redemption according 
to the number of Series B Shares surrendered for redemption by each such holder.  

(c) Dividends. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on or before the Series B Monthly 
Shareholder Redemption Date in respect of Series B Shares tendered for redemption shall also be 
paid on or before the Series B Redemption Date. Each holder of Series B Shares who elects to 
redeem all or any Series B Shares registered in the name of that holder must deliver a notice of 
redemption, in the form specified by the Corporation, to the transfer agent for the Series B Shares 
or at such other place as shall be specified by the Corporation from time to time. From and after 
receipt of a notice of redemption, the Series B Preferred Shares tendered for redemption shall 
cease to be entitled to dividends or distributions or to any participation in the assets of the 
Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their other rights as 
shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive payment of the Series B Preferred 
Share Redemption Price for each Series B Preferred Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid 
dividends up to the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. Series B Preferred Shares 
which have been surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding 
until, but not after, the close of business on the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. 

(d) Payment of Redemption Price. Payment for Series B Shares tendered for redemption prior to the 
Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall be made on the 
Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Payment Date following the applicable Series B 
Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, the 
Series B Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled to Distributions or to any 
participation in the assets of the Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to 
exercise any of their other rights as shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive 
payment of the Series B Redemption Price for each Series B Share redeemed and any accrued but 
unpaid Distributions up to the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. Series B Shares 
which have been surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding 
until, but not after, the close of business on the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. A 
redemption for no more than $150 per redemption request may be deducted by the Corporation. 

(e) Suspension of Redemptions. The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Shares for any 
period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager determines that 
conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the Portfolio or which impair the 
ability of the Manager to determine the value of assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The 
suspension may apply to all requests for redemption of Series B Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all requests received while 
the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series B Shares who have tendered their Series B Shares 
for redemption in such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager and that the redemption will be effected following the termination of the suspension. All 
such holders of Series B Shares shall have and shall be advised that they have the right to 
withdraw such shares surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on 
the first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist provided that 
no other condition under which a suspension is authorized then exists. To the extent not 
inconsistent with the rules and regulations promulgated by any governmental body having 
jurisdiction over the Corporation, any declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the 
Manager shall be conclusive.   

(f) Liability of Directors. If the directors of the Corporation have acted in good faith in making any of 
the determinations referred to above as to the number of Series B Shares that the Corporation is 
permitted at any time to redeem, the Corporation shall have no liability in the event that any such 
determination proves to be inaccurate. 



 

 

(g) Irrevocable Election. Subject to this Section 7, the election of any holder to present and surrender 
any Series B Share for redemption shall be irrevocable upon the receipt by or on behalf of the 
Corporation of the documentation and instruments required by the Corporation in connection 
therewith. 

8. Purchase for Cancellation 

Subject to the Act and any applicable laws, the Corporation may at any time after the Series B Corporation 
Redemption Start Date purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all or any number of the Series B Shares outstanding 
from time to time: 

(a) in the open market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on a 
recognized stock exchange; 

(b) by private agreement; or  

(c) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for tenders addressed to all holders 
of Series B Shares.   

at the lowest price or prices at which, in the opinion of the Board, such shares are obtainable provided that in the 
case of (b) or (c) above the price paid is not less than the Series B Redemption Price, exclusive of stamp duty, 
commission and other expenses of purchase. 

9. Notice of Repurchase or Redemption 

Any notice of redemption of Series B Shares by the Corporation shall be validly and effectively given on the 
date on which it is sent to each holder of Series B Shares to be redeemed. Such notice shall set out:  

(a) the date on which the redemption is to take place;  

(b) unless all the Series B Shares held by the holder to whom it is addressed are to be redeemed, the 
number of Series B Shares so held which are to be redeemed; and  

(c) the Series B Redemption Price.  

10. Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up 

 In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of 
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
subject to the prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of shares of the 
Corporation ranking senior to the Series B Shares, the holders of the Series B Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with 
the Preferred Shares of every other series and (b) senior to the Voting Shares and the shares of any other class 
ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series B Shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the Series 
B Redemption Price per Series B Share, together with an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether 
declared or not, up to but excluding the date fixed for payment or distribution (less any tax required to be deducted or 
withheld by the Corporation), before any amount is paid or any assets of the Corporation are distributed to the 
holders of any shares of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to the Series B Shares. Upon payment to the 
holders of the Series B Shares of the amounts so payable to them, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any 
further distribution of the assets of the Corporation. 

11. Modification of Terms of Series B Shares 

The designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Series B Shares as a series 
(but for certainty, not the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions  of the Preferred Shares as a class) may be 
repealed, deleted, varied, modified, amended or amplified from time to time only with the approval of the holders of 
the Series B Shares given in accordance with the Act and Section 12 of these terms and with any required approvals 
of any stock exchange on which the Series B Shares may be listed. 

12. Approval of Holders of Series B Shares 



 

 

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, any approval of the holders of the Series B Shares with 
respect to any matters requiring the consent of such holders may be given in such manner as may 
then be required by law, subject to a minimum requirement that such approval be given by a 
resolution signed by 3/4 of such holders or passed by the affirmative vote of at least 3/4 of the 
votes cast by the holders who voted in respect of that resolution at a meeting of the holders duly 
called for that purpose and at which the holders of 10% of the outstanding Series B Shares are 
present in person or represented by proxy. If at any such meeting the holder(s) of 10% of the 
outstanding Series B Shares are not present in person or represented by proxy within one-half hour 
after the time appointed for such meeting, then the meeting shall be adjourned to such date not 
less than 15 days thereafter and to such time and place as may be designated by the chairman of 
such meeting, and not less than 10 days’ written notice shall be given of such adjourned meeting. 
At such adjourned meeting the holders(s) of Series B Shares present in person or represented by 
proxy shall form the necessary quorum and may transact the business for which the meeting was 
originally called and a resolution passed thereat by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the 
votes cast at such meeting shall constitute the approval of the holders of the Series B Shares.  

(b) At any meeting of holders of Series B Shares as a series or at a meeting of the holders of the 
Preferred Shares as a class, each such holder shall be entitled to one vote in respect of each 
Series B Share held.  

(c) The proxy rules applicable to, the formalities to be observed in respect of the giving notice of, and 
the formalities to be observed in respect of the conduct of, any meeting or any adjourned meeting 
of holders of the Series B Shares shall be those required by law, as may from time to time be 
supplemented by the by-laws of the Corporation. 

13. Communication with Holders 

(a) Any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation herein 
provided for shall be sufficiently given, sent or made if delivered or if sent by first class unregistered 
mail, postage prepaid, to the holders of the Series B Shares at their respective addresses 
appearing on the records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the transfer agent in 
the Series B Shares, or, in the case of joint holders, to the address of the holder whose name 
appears first on the records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the transfer agent 
as one of such joint holders, or, in the event of the address of any of such holders not so 
appearing, then at the last address of such holder known to the Corporation. Accidental failure to 
give such notice, invitation for tenders or other communication to one or more holders of the Series 
B Shares shall not affect the validity of the notices, invitations for tenders or other communications 
properly given or any action taken pursuant to such notice, invitation for tender or other 
communication but, upon such failure being discovered, the notice, invitation for tenders or other 
communication, as the case may be, shall be sent forthwith to such holder or holders.  

(b) If any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation given to a 
holder of Series B Shares pursuant to this subsection is returned on three consecutive occasions 
because the holder cannot be found, the Corporation shall not be required to give or mail any 
further notices, cheques, invitations for tenders or other communications to such shareholder until 
the holder informs the Corporation in writing of such holder’s new address.  

(c) If the Board determines that mail service is or is threatened to be interrupted at the time when the 
Corporation is required or elects to give any notice hereunder by mail, or is required to send any 
cheque or any share certificate to a holder, whether in connection with the redemption of such 
share or otherwise, the Corporation may, notwithstanding the provisions hereof:  

(i) give such notice by publication thereof once in a newspaper having national circulation in 
Canada and such notice shall be deemed to have been validly given on the day next 
succeeding its publication; and  

(ii) fulfill the requirement to send such cheque or such share certificate by arranging for the 
delivery thereof to such holder by the transfer agent for the Series B Shares at its principal 
offices, and such cheque and/or share certificate shall be deemed to have been sent on 
the date on which notice of such arrangement shall have been given as provided in (a) 
above, provided that as soon as the Board determines that mail service is no longer 



 

 

interrupted or threatened to be interrupted, such cheque or share certificate, if not 
theretofore delivered to such holder, shall be sent by mail as herein provided.  

14. Interpretation 

(a) As used in respect of the Series B Share terms: 

(i) “Series B Corporation Redemption Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 6(a) of 
these terms. 

(ii) “Series B Corporation Redemption Start Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 
6(a) of these terms. 

(iii) “Series B Dividend Payment Dates” means in respect of the dividends payable on the 
Series B Shares shall be the 15th day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the 
immediately following Business Day) of each of the months of each year. 

(iv) “Series B Dividend Payment Period” means the period from and including the initial 
issue date of the Series B Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the 
month in which the Series B Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next 
succeeding period that is from and including the last day of such month, to but excluding 
the last day of the next succeeding month. 

(v) “Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date” means the last Business Day of a 
calendar month. 

(vi) “Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Notice Deadline” means 4:00 p.m. 
(Toronto time) on the 30th day preceding the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption 
Date.  

(vii) “Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Payment Date” means the 30th day 
following the Series B Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. 

(viii) “Series B Redemption Price” means C$10.00 per Series B Share. 

 

PREFERRED SHARES – SERIES F 

1. Second Series 

 The third series of Preferred Shares of the Corporation shall consist of an unlimited number of Preferred 
Shares, which shall be designated as “Series F Shares” (hereinafter referred to as the “Series F Shares”) and which, 
in addition to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Preferred Shares as a class, shall have 
attached thereto the following rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions. 

2. Interpretation 

(a) For the purposes of these rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions of the Series F Shares, the 
following terms have the following meanings: 

“Applicable Securities Laws” means the securities laws, regulations and rules in each province 
and territory of Canada and the requirements, rules and policies of the Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities that are then applicable to the Corporation in the circumstances. 

“Business Day” means any day on which Schedule I banks are open for business in the City of 
Toronto. 



 

 

(b) Unless otherwise defined herein, terms which are defined in the Act or in Applicable Securities 
Laws are used herein with the same meaning. 
 

(c) Any reference to a statute, regulation, rule or regulatory policy hereunder shall be deemed to be a 
reference to such statute, regulation, rule or regulatory policy as amended, re-enacted or replaced 
from time to time and references to specific parts, paragraphs and sections thereof shall include all 
amendments, re-enactments or replacements. 

3. Issue Price 

The consideration for which each Series F Share shall be issued is C$10.00 and, upon payment of such 
consideration, each such share shall be issued as fully paid and non-assessable. 

4. Dividends 

(a) Priority. The Series F Shares rank senior to the Voting Common Shares, the Non-Voting Shares 
and any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Preferred Shares and rank on 
a parity with every other series of Preferred Shares as to dividends.  

(b) Payment of Minimum Dividends. The holders of Series F Shares shall be entitled to receive, and 
the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, monthly, fixed, cumulative, 
preferential, cash dividends (the “Series F Monthly Dividends”) in an amount equal to 
C$0.07083333 per Series F Share (being an annual rate equal to C$0.85) payable, with respect to 
each Series F Dividend Payment Period, on the Series F Dividend Payment Date in respect of such 
Series F Dividend Payment Period.  Dividends on the Series F Shares shall accrue daily from and 
including the date of issue of such shares.   

(c) Initial Dividend and Dividend for Other than a Full Dividend Payment Period.  The holders of Series 
F Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when 
declared by the Board out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of 
dividends, cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series F Dividend Payment Period 
or any period which is less than a full Series F Dividend Payment Period, as follows:  

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of the initial issue of 
the Series F Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series F Dividend Payment 
Period in an amount per Series F Share equal to C$0.85 multiplied by a fraction, the 
numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and including the date of the 
initial issue of the Series F Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series F 
Dividend Payment Period and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series F Share:  

A. which is issued or redeemed during any Series F Dividend Payment Period;  
 

B. where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of the Series F 
Shares pursuant to Section 10 of these terms with an effective date during any 
Series F Dividend Payment Period; or  
 

C. in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series F Dividend 
Payment Period that such share has been outstanding is less than a full Series 
FB Dividend Payment Period (other than the period referred to in Section 4(c)(i) 
of these terms).  

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable in respect 
of the applicable full Series F Dividend Payment Period is multiplied by a fraction, the 
numerator of which is the number of calendar days in such Series F Dividend Payment 
Period that such share has been outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the 
effective date for the distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, 



 

 

as applicable) and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such 
Series F Dividend Payment Period.  

(d) Payment Procedure. The Corporation shall pay the dividends declared on the Series F Shares on 
the relevant Series F Dividend Payment Date (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by 
the Corporation) by electronic funds transfer or by cheque(s) drawn on a chartered bank, 
commercial bank or trust company and payable in lawful money of the United States at any branch 
of such bank or trust company or in such other manner, not contrary to applicable law, as the 
Corporation shall reasonably determine. The delivery or mailing of any cheque to a holder of Series 
F Shares (in the manner provided for herein) or the electronic transfer of funds to an account 
specified by such holder shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation’s obligation to 
pay the dividends to such holder to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of 
any tax required to be and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation from the related 
dividends as aforesaid and remitted to the proper taxing authority), unless such cheque is not 
honoured when presented for payment. Subject to applicable law, dividends which are represented 
by a cheque which has not been presented to the Corporation’s banker for payment or that 
otherwise remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which they were declared to 
be payable may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(e) Cumulative Payment of Dividends. If on any Series F Dividend Payment Date, the Series F Monthly 
Dividends payable in respect of the Series F Dividend Payment Period ending in the calendar 
month in which such Series F Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of the Series 
F Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid part thereof, shall be paid (less any tax 
required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation) on a subsequent date or dates determined 
by the Board on which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the 
payment of such dividends.   

(f) Target Return Dividends. The holders of Series F Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the 
Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, additional monthly, cash dividends 
(the “Series F Additional Return Dividends”) in an amount targeted to result in a return, based on 
the Series F Purchase Price, when combined with the Series F Monthly Dividends, of between 
8.50% and 10%, payable (if declared), with respect to each Series F Dividend Period, on the Series 
F Dividend Payment Date in respect of such Series F Dividend Period. Series F Additional Return 
Dividends are not guaranteed and shall not accrue and shall be paid in Canadian dollars. No 
payment of a Series F Additional Return Dividends shall result in the payment of additional 
dividends to any other series of Preferred Shares, except as may be provided for in the terms of 
such series of Preferred Shares. 

(g) Other Dividends. Holders of Series F Shares have a right, after payment to them of their preferred 
dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of the Voting Shares, 
to participate pari passu with the holders of the Voting Shares in any further payment of dividends.  

5. Voting Rights 

(a) Except as otherwise required by law or in the conditions attaching to the Preferred Shares as a 
class, the holders of Series F Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, attend at, or vote at 
any meeting of shareholders of the Corporation, unless and until the Corporation shall have failed 
to pay in full an aggregate of three (3) full Series F Monthly Dividends on the Series F Shares in 
accordance with the terms hereof (being an aggregate of $0.22), whether or not consecutive and 
whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. In the event of such non-
payment, and for only so long as any such three (3) monthly dividends remain in arrears, the 
holders of the Series F Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders of 
the Corporation and to attend thereat (other than a separate meeting of the holders of another 
series or class of shares), and at any such meetings which they shall be entitled to attend, except 
when the vote of the holders of shares of any other class or series is to be taken separately and as 
a class or series, shall be entitled to vote together with all of the voting shares of the Corporation on 
the basis of one vote in respect of each Series F Share held by each such holder, until all such 
arrears of such dividends shall have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and until 
the Corporation shall again fail to pay the three (3) monthly dividends on the Series F Shares in 



 

 

accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not consecutive and whether or not such dividends 
were declared and whether or not there are any monies of the Corporation properly applicable to 
the payment of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again and 
so on from time to time.  

(b) The holders of Series F Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class on any resolution to 
wind-up, dissolve or liquidate the Corporation. 

6. Redemption by Corporation 

(a) Corporation’s Redemption Rights. The Corporation may, on 30 days’ notice, redeem all or any 
number of the outstanding Series F Shares, at its option, by the payment in cash, on the 30th day 
following delivery of the notice (the “Series F Corporation Redemption Date”), of an amount 
equal to the Series F Redemption Price (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the 
Corporation). Where applicable, if less than all of the outstanding Series F Shares are at any time 
to be redeemed, the particular shares to be redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis 
(disregarding fractions) or, if the Series F Shares are at such time listed on a stock exchange, with 
the consent of any applicable stock exchange, in such other manner as the Board may in its sole 
discretion determine by resolution.  

(c) Payment of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall on the Series F Corporation Redemption 
Date pay or cause to be paid to the holders of the Series F Shares so called for redemption the 
Series F Redemption Price therefor on presentation and delivery at the principal transfer office of 
the transfer agent for the Series F Shares or such other place or places designated in the notice of 
redemption, of the certificate or certificates representing the Series F Shares so called for 
redemption. Such payment shall be made by electronic funds transfer to an account specified by 
such holder or by cheque drawn on a Canadian chartered bank or trust company in the amount of 
the Series F Redemption Price and such electronic transfer of funds or the delivery or mailing of 
such cheque (in the manner provided for herein) shall be a full and complete discharge of the 
Corporation’s obligation to pay the Series F Redemption Price owed to the holders of Series F 
Shares so called for redemption to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of 
any tax required to be and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation as aforesaid and 
remitted to the proper taxing authority) unless such cheque is not honoured when presented for 
payment. From and after the Series F Corporation Redemption Date, the holders of Series F 
Shares called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to dividends or to exercise any of the rights 
of holders of Series F Shares in respect of such shares except the right to receive the Series F 
Redemption Price, provided that if payment of such Series F Redemption Price is not duly made in 
accordance with the provisions hereof, then the rights of such holders shall remain unimpaired. If 
less than all the Series F Shares represented by any certificate shall be redeemed, a new 
certificate for the balance shall be issued without cost to the holder. Subject to applicable law, 
redemption monies which remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the Series F Corporation 
Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(d) Deposit of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall have the right, at any time after mailing a 
notice of redemption, to deposit the aggregate Series F Redemption Price for the Series F Shares 
thereby called for redemption, or such part thereof as at the time of deposit has not been claimed 
by the holders entitled thereto, in a special account with a Canadian chartered bank or trust 
company named in the notice of redemption in trust for the holders of such shares, and upon such 
deposit being made or upon the Series F Corporation Redemption Date, whichever is the later, the 
Series F Shares in respect of which such deposit shall have been made shall be deemed to be 
redeemed on the Series F Corporation Redemption Date and the rights of each holder thereof shall 
be limited to receiving, without interest, the holder’s proportionate part (after taking into account any 
amounts required to be deducted or withheld on account of tax in respect of such holder or withheld 
in respect of redemption fees) of the Series F Redemption Price so deposited upon presentation 
and surrender of the certificate or certificates representing the Series F Shares so redeemed. Any 
interest on any such deposit shall belong to the Corporation. Subject to applicable law, redemption 
monies which remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the Series F Corporation 
Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(e) Dividends in Respect of Shares to be Redeemed. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on 
or before the Series F Corporation Redemption Date in respect of Series F Shares called for 



 

 

redemption shall also be paid on or before the Series F Corporation Redemption Date.  If a 
dividend is declared by the Board in respect of any Series F Dividend Payment Period during which 
the Series F Shares are redeemed, notwithstanding the provisions hereof, no electronic funds 
transfer or cheque shall be made or issued in payment of such dividend; rather, the amount of such 
dividend declared shall be considered to be an accrued and unpaid dividend for purposes of these 
terms.  

7. Redemption by the Shareholder 

(a) Shareholder Redemption Rights. Subject to the provisions hereof, each holder of Series F Shares 
shall be entitled, subject to and upon compliance with the provisions hereof, to require the 
Corporation to redeem all or any part of the Series F Shares registered in the name of the holder. 
Series F Shares tendered for redemption prior to the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption 
Notice Deadline for a month shall be redeemed on the following Series F Monthly Shareholder 
Redemption Date at a redemption price for each Series F Share redeemed equal to the Series F 
Redemption Price 

(b) Limits on Shareholder Redemption Rights. The redemption rights set out in Section 7(a) above are 
subject to the following limits: 

(i) the total amount payable by the Corporation for the Series F Shares tendered for 
redemption in the same calendar month may not exceed the greater of $500,000 and 3% of 
the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series F Shares determined at the beginning 
of such calendar month (the “Redemption Limit”); provided that the directors of the 
Corporation may, in their absolute discretion, waive such limitation in respect of all shares 
tendered for redemption in any period. To the extent the Corporation has received notices 
of redemption where the aggregate number of Series F Shares would exceed the 
Redemption Limit, the Corporation shall redeem only such number of Series F Shares as to 
require the redemption of an aggregate number of Series F Shares in respect of 
redemptions equal to the Redemption Limit. The Corporation shall administer the foregoing 
and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with respect to the aggregate number of Series 
F Shares represented by redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or portions thereof) 
which are not honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series F Monthly 
Shareholder Redemption Date, subject in all cases to the Corporation’s right to suspend 
redemptions and the Redemption Limit described herein; 

(i) the redemption of the Series F Shares validly tendered for redemption may not result in a 
return of capital or a distribution otherwise out of the assets of the Corporation to the holder 
of Series F Shares, unless all liabilities of the Corporation have been paid or there are 
sufficient assets of the Corporation to pay them; 

(ii) redemptions will be restricted if, in the Board’s opinion (in their absolute discretion), the 
Corporation has insufficient liquid assets to fund such redemptions or the liquidation of 
assets at such time would be to the detriment of or adversely affect the remaining 
shareholders or the Corporation generally; or 

(iii) redemptions will be restricted if the redemption by the Corporation of all Series F Shares 
surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary to applicable law, in which 
case the Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series F Shares (rounded 
to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then permitted to redeem selected on 
a pro rata basis from each holder of Series F Shares surrendered for redemption according 
to the number of Series F Shares surrendered for redemption by each such holder.  

(c) Dividends. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on or before the Series F Monthly 
Shareholder Redemption Date in respect of Series F Shares tendered for redemption shall also be 
paid on or before the Series F Redemption Date. Each holder of Series F Shares who elects to 
redeem all or any Series F Shares registered in the name of that holder must deliver a notice of 
redemption, in the form specified by the Corporation, to the transfer agent for the Series F Shares 
or at such other place as shall be specified by the Corporation from time to time. From and after 
receipt of a notice of redemption, the Series F Preferred Shares tendered for redemption shall 
cease to be entitled to dividends or distributions or to any participation in the assets of the 



 

 

Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their other rights as 
shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive payment of the Series F Preferred 
Share Redemption Price for each Series F Preferred Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid 
dividends up to the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. Series F Preferred Shares 
which have been surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding 
until, but not after, the close of business on the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. 

(d) Payment of Redemption Price. Payment for Series F Shares tendered for redemption prior to the 
Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall be made on the 
Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Payment Date following the applicable Series F Monthly 
Shareholder Redemption Date. From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, the Series F 
Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled to Distributions or to any participation in 
the assets of the Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their 
other rights as shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive payment of the Series 
F Redemption Price for each Series F Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid Distributions 
up to the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. Series F Shares which have been 
surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding until, but not 
after, the close of business on the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. A redemption 
for no more than $150 per redemption request may be deducted by the Corporation. 

(e) Suspension of Redemptions. The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Shares for any 
period not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager determines that 
conditions exist which render impractical the sale of assets in the Portfolio or which impair the 
ability of the Manager to determine the value of assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The 
suspension may apply to all requests for redemption of Series F Shares received prior to the 
suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all requests received while 
the suspension is in effect. Holders of Series F Shares who have tendered their Series F Shares for 
redemption in such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager and that the redemption will be effected following the termination of the suspension. All 
such holders of Series F Shares shall have and shall be advised that they have the right to 
withdraw such shares surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on 
the first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist provided that 
no other condition under which a suspension is authorized then exists. To the extent not 
inconsistent with the rules and regulations promulgated by any governmental body having 
jurisdiction over the Corporation, any declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the 
Manager shall be conclusive.   

(f) Liability of Directors. If the directors of the Corporation have acted in good faith in making any of 
the determinations referred to above as to the number of Series F Shares that the Corporation is 
permitted at any time to redeem, the Corporation shall have no liability in the event that any such 
determination proves to be inaccurate. 

(g) Irrevocable Election. Subject to this Section 7, the election of any holder to present and surrender 
any Series F Share for redemption shall be irrevocable upon the receipt by or on behalf of the 
Corporation of the documentation and instruments required by the Corporation in connection 
therewith. 

8. Purchase for Cancellation 

Subject to the Act and any applicable laws, the Corporation may purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all 
or any number of the Series B Shares outstanding from time to time: 

(a) in the open market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on a 
recognized stock exchange; 

(b) by private agreement; or  

(c) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for tenders addressed to all holders 
of Series F Shares.   



 

 

at the lowest price or prices at which, in the opinion of the Board, such shares are obtainable provided that in the 
case of (b) or (c) above the price paid is not less than the Series F Redemption Price, exclusive of stamp duty, 
commission and other expenses of purchase. 

9. Notice of Repurchase or Redemption 

Any notice of redemption of Series F Shares by the Corporation shall be validly and effectively given on the 
date on which it is sent to each holder of Series F Shares to be redeemed. Such notice shall set out:  

(a) the date on which the redemption is to take place;  

(b) unless all the Series F Shares held by the holder to whom it is addressed are to be redeemed, the 
number of Series F Shares so held which are to be redeemed; and  

(c) the Series F Redemption Price.  

10. Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up 

 In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of 
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
subject to the prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of shares of the 
Corporation ranking senior to the Series F Shares, the holders of the Series F Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with 
the Preferred Shares of every other series and (b) senior to the Voting Shares and the shares of any other class 
ranking junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series F Shares shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the Series 
F Redemption Price per Series F Share, together with an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether 
declared or not, up to but excluding the date fixed for payment or distribution (less any tax required to be deducted or 
withheld by the Corporation), before any amount is paid or any assets of the Corporation are distributed to the 
holders of any shares of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to the Series F Shares. Upon payment to the 
holders of the Series F Shares of the amounts so payable to them, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any 
further distribution of the assets of the Corporation. 

11. Modification of Terms of Series F Shares 

The designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Series F Shares as a series 
(but for certainty, not the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions  of the Preferred Shares as a class) may be 
repealed, deleted, varied, modified, amended or amplified from time to time only with the approval of the holders of 
the Series F Shares given in accordance with the Act and Section 12 of these terms and with any required approvals 
of any stock exchange on which the Series F Shares may be listed. 

12. Approval of Holders of Series F Shares 

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, any approval of the holders of the Series F Shares with 
respect to any matters requiring the consent of such holders may be given in such manner as may 
then be required by law, subject to a minimum requirement that such approval be given by a 
resolution signed by 3/4 of such holders or passed by the affirmative vote of at least 3/4 of the 
votes cast by the holders who voted in respect of that resolution at a meeting of the holders duly 
called for that purpose and at which the holders of 10% of the outstanding Series F Shares are 
present in person or represented by proxy. If at any such meeting the holder(s) of 10% of the 
outstanding Series F Shares are not present in person or represented by proxy within one-half hour 
after the time appointed for such meeting, then the meeting shall be adjourned to such date not 
less than 15 days thereafter and to such time and place as may be designated by the chairman of 
such meeting, and not less than 10 days’ written notice shall be given of such adjourned meeting. 
At such adjourned meeting the holders(s) of Series F Shares present in person or represented by 
proxy shall form the necessary quorum and may transact the business for which the meeting was 
originally called and a resolution passed thereat by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the 
votes cast at such meeting shall constitute the approval of the holders of the Series F Shares.  

(b) At any meeting of holders of Series F Shares as a series or at a meeting of the holders of the 
Preferred Shares as a class, each such holder shall be entitled to one vote in respect of each 
Series F Share held.  



 

 

(c) The proxy rules applicable to, the formalities to be observed in respect of the giving notice of, and 
the formalities to be observed in respect of the conduct of, any meeting or any adjourned meeting 
of holders of the Series F Shares shall be those required by law, as may from time to time be 
supplemented by the by-laws of the Corporation. 

13. Communication with Holders 

(a) Any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation herein 
provided for shall be sufficiently given, sent or made if delivered or if sent by first class unregistered 
mail, postage prepaid, to the holders of the Series F Shares at their respective addresses 
appearing on the records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the transfer agent in 
the Series F Shares, or, in the case of joint holders, to the address of the holder whose name 
appears first on the records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the transfer agent 
as one of such joint holders, or, in the event of the address of any of such holders not so 
appearing, then at the last address of such holder known to the Corporation. Accidental failure to 
give such notice, invitation for tenders or other communication to one or more holders of the Series 
F Shares shall not affect the validity of the notices, invitations for tenders or other communications 
properly given or any action taken pursuant to such notice, invitation for tender or other 
communication but, upon such failure being discovered, the notice, invitation for tenders or other 
communication, as the case may be, shall be sent forthwith to such holder or holders.  

(b) If any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation given to a 
holder of Series F Shares pursuant to this subsection is returned on three consecutive occasions 
because the holder cannot be found, the Corporation shall not be required to give or mail any 
further notices, cheques, invitations for tenders or other communications to such shareholder until 
the holder informs the Corporation in writing of such holder’s new address.  

(c) If the Board determines that mail service is or is threatened to be interrupted at the time when the 
Corporation is required or elects to give any notice hereunder by mail, or is required to send any 
cheque or any share certificate to a holder, whether in connection with the redemption of such 
share or otherwise, the Corporation may, notwithstanding the provisions hereof:  

(i) give such notice by publication thereof once in a newspaper having national circulation in 
Canada and such notice shall be deemed to have been validly given on the day next 
succeeding its publication; and  

(ii) fulfill the requirement to send such cheque or such share certificate by arranging for the 
delivery thereof to such holder by the transfer agent for the Series F Shares at its principal 
offices, and such cheque and/or share certificate shall be deemed to have been sent on 
the date on which notice of such arrangement shall have been given as provided in (a) 
above, provided that as soon as the Board determines that mail service is no longer 
interrupted or threatened to be interrupted, such cheque or share certificate, if not 
theretofore delivered to such holder, shall be sent by mail as herein provided.  

14. Interpretation 

(a) As used in respect of the Series F Share terms: 

(i) “Series F Corporation Redemption Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 6(a) of 
these terms. 

(ii) “Series F Dividend Payment Dates” means in respect of the dividends payable on the 
Series F Shares shall be the 15th day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the 
immediately following Business Day) of each of the months of each year. 

(iii) “Series F Dividend Payment Period” means the period from and including the initial 
issue date of the Series F Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the 
month in which the Series F Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next 
succeeding period that is from and including the last day of such month, to but excluding 
the last day of the next succeeding month. 



 

 

(iv) “Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date” means the last Business Day of a 
calendar month. 

(v) “Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Notice Deadline” means 4:00 p.m. 
(Toronto time) on the 30th day preceding the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption 
Date.  

(vi) “Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Payment Date” means the 30th day 
following the Series F Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. 

(vii) “Series F Redemption Price” means C$10.00 per Series F Share. 

 

NON-VOTING SHARES 

1. Interpretation 

(a) Notwithstanding Part A hereof, for the purposes of this Part C: 

“Applicable Securities Laws” means the securities laws, regulations and rules in each province 
and territory of Canada and the requirements, rules and policies of the Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities that are then applicable to the Corporation in the circumstances. 

“Business Day” means, if not otherwise specified in the terms of a specific Series, any day on 
which Schedule I banks are open for business in the City of Toronto. 

(b) Unless otherwise defined herein, terms which are defined in the Act or in Applicable Securities 
Laws are used herein with the same meaning. 

(c) Any reference to a statute, regulation, rule or regulatory policy hereunder shall be deemed to be a 
reference to such statute, regulation, rule or regulatory policy as amended, re-enacted or replaced 
from time to time and references to specific parts, paragraphs and sections thereof shall include all 
amendments, re-enactments or replacements. 

2. Non-Voting Shares are Preferred Shares 

Notwithstanding anything else herein, the Non-Voting Shares are not common shares and shall be 
considered preferred shares, provided they shall rank for all purposes junior to the Preferred Shares.  Any reference 
to Non-Voting Common Shares shall be read as a reference to Non-Voting Shares. 

3. Issuable in Series 

The Non-Voting Shares may be issued from time to time in one or more series composed of such number of 
shares and with such preferred, deferred or other special rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached 
thereto as shall be fixed from time to time before issuance by any resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of 
the share of any series which may be passed by the directors of the Corporation and confirmed and declared by 
articles of amendment including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 

(i) the rate, amount or method of calculation of any dividends, and whether such rate, amount or 
method of calculation shall be subject to change or adjustment in the future, the currency or 
currencies of payment, the date or dates and place or places of payment thereof and the date or 
dates from which such dividends shall accrue; 

(ii) any rights of redemption or purchase and the redemption or purchase prices and terms and 
conditions of any such rights; 

(iii) any rights of retraction vested in the holders of Non-Voting Shares of such series and the prices 
and terms and conditions of any such rights; 

(iv) any right upon dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Corporation; 

(v) any voting rights; and 



 

 

(vi) any other provisions attaching to any such series of Non-Voting Shares. 

4. Priority 

 No rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to any series of Non-Voting Share shall confer upon 
the shares of such series a priority in respect of dividends or distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of 
the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation over the shares of any other series of Non-Voting Share. 
The Non-Voting Shares of each series shall, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or 
return of capital in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, rank junior to the Preferred Shares of all series, on a parity with the Non-Voting Share of every other 
series, and with respect to the distribution of assets be entitled to a preferred distribution and priority over the Voting 
Common Shares and over any other shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Non-Voting Shares in respect of 
dividends. The Corporation may pay dividends on the Voting Common Shares or the Preferred Shares as a class or 
on all of such shares as the directors may determine in their absolute discretion and in accordance with the terms of 
such shares.  

5. Notices and Voting Rights 

 Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that may be attached to a particular series of 
Non-Voting Shares, the holders of the Non-Voting Shares shall not, as such, be entitled to receive notice of or to 
attend any meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation and shall not be entitled to vote at any such meetings 
(except where holders of a specified class or series of shares are entitled to vote separately as a class or series as 
provided by law). Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that may be attached to a particular 
series of Non-Voting Shares, the holders of the Non-Voting Shares shall not be entitled to vote separately as a class 
or series upon a proposal to amend the articles of the Corporation to: 

(a) increase or decrease any maximum number of authorized shares of such class or series, or 
increase any maximum number of authorized shares of a class or series having rights or privileges 
equal or superior to the shares of such class or series; or 

(d) effect an exchange, reclassification or cancellation of the shares of such class or series; or 

(e) create a new class or series of shares equal or superior to the shares of such class or series. 

 Notwithstanding the above restrictions, conditions or prohibitions on the right to vote, the holders of the Non-
Voting Shares shall be entitled to notice of all meetings of shareholders called for the purpose of authorizing the 
dissolution of the Corporation or the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the 
Corporation other than in the ordinary course of business of the Corporation under subsection 184(3) of the Act, as 
such subsection may be amended from time to time. 

6. Additional Dividends for Tax and Fiscal Reasons 

Notwithstanding any other provision respecting dividends on the Non-Voting Shares, the Board may, for 
fiscal planning or other tax efficiency reasons, in its discretion, declare that an additional distribution will be payable to 
the holders of a series of Non-Voting Shares of record on December 31. Each such additional distribution may be 
satisfied by the issuance of additional Non-Voting Shares of such series, or cash or other property of the Corporation, 
or any combination thereof. Immediately following payment of any such additional distribution in Non-Voting Shares, 
the number of Non-Voting Shares of each applicable series outstanding after the distribution will be consolidated 
such that each shareholder will hold after the consolidation the same number and series of Non-Voting Shares as the 
shareholder held before the additional distribution. In such case, each certificate representing one or more Non-
Voting Shares prior to the distribution of additional Non-Voting Shares shall be deemed to represent the same 
number and series of Non-Voting Shares after the distribution of additional Non-Voting Shares and consolidation. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, where tax is required to be withheld from a shareholder’s participation in the additional 
Distribution, the consolidation will result in such shareholder holding that number of Non-Voting Shares equal to (x) 
the number and series of Non-Voting Shares held by such shareholder prior to the Distribution plus the number and 
series of Non-Voting Shares received by such shareholder in connection with the additional Distribution (net of any 
taxes withheld) prior to the consolidation multiplied by (y) the fraction obtained by dividing the aggregate number of 
Non-Voting Shares of the applicable series outstanding prior to distribution by the aggregate number of Non-Voting 
Shares of the applicable series that would be outstanding following the additional Distribution and before the 
consolidation if no withholding were made in respect of any part of the additional Distribution payable to any 
shareholder. Any such shareholder will be required to surrender the share certificate(s), if any, representing such 
shareholder’s original Non-Voting Shares, in exchange for a certificate representing such shareholder’s post-
consolidation Non-Voting Shares.  



 

 

7. Dividend Priority 

The Non-Voting Shares shall, with respect to the payment of dividends, rank prior to the Voting Common 
Shares and to shares of any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Non-Voting Shares, and 
shall rank junior to the Preferred Shares, and no dividends shall at any time be declared or paid or set apart for 
payment on the common shares or shares of any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Non-
Voting Shares unless at the date of such declaration, payment or setting apart for payment, as the case may be, all 
cumulative dividends up to and including the dividend payment for the last completed period for which such 
cumulative dividends shall be payable shall have been declared and paid or set apart for payment in respect of each 
series of cumulative Non-Voting Shares then issued and outstanding and all declared and unpaid non-cumulative 
dividends shall have been paid or set apart for payment in respect of each series of non-cumulative Non-Voting 
Shares then issued and outstanding.  

8. Liquidation 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of 
the Corporation among shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, the holders of the Non-Voting Shares 
shall, before  any amount shall be paid to or any property or assets of the Corporation distributed among the holders 
of the Voting Common Shares any other shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Non-Voting Shares, be 
entitled to receive an amount equal to the consideration received by the Corporation upon the issuance of such 
shares together with, in the case of cumulative Non-Voting Shares, all unpaid cumulative dividends (which, for such 
purpose, shall be calculated as if such cumulative dividends were accruing from day to day for the period from the 
expiration of the last period for which cumulative dividends have been paid, up to and including the date of 
distribution) and, in the case of non-cumulative Non-Voting Shares, all declared and unpaid non-cumulative 
dividends, but shall not be entitled to share any further in the distribution of the property or assets of the Corporation. 

 

SERIES H NON-VOTING SHARES 

1. Initial Series 

Non-Voting Shares of an initial series are hereby authorized to be issued on the terms set out in this Part 
C.2, being designated as “Series H Non-Voting Shares” or “Series H Shares”. The Series H Non-Voting Shares are 
issuable in an unlimited number and shall have attached thereto the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set 
forth in this Part C.2.  

2. Issuance of Series H Non-Voting Shares 

The consideration for which each Series H Share shall be issued is C$10.00 (the “Series H Purchase Price”) and, 
upon payment of such consideration, each such share shall be issued as fully paid and non-assessable. 

3. Dividends 

(a) Priority. The Series H Non-Voting Shares rank senior to the Voting Common Shares, junior to the 
Preferred Shares and junior to any other class of shares of the Corporation ranking junior to the Non-
Voting Shares and rank on a parity with every other series of the Non-Voting Shares as to dividends.   

(b) Payment of Minimum Dividends. The holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to 
receive, and the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys 
of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, monthly, fixed, cumulative, 
preferential, cash dividends (the “Series H Monthly Dividends”) in an amount equal to C$0.0666667 
per Series H Non-Voting Share (being an annual rate equal to C$0.80) payable, with respect to each 
Series H Dividend Payment Period, on the Series H Dividend Payment Date in respect of such Series 
H Dividend Payment Period. Dividends on the Series H Non-Voting Shares shall accrue daily from 
and including the date of issue of such Series H Non-Voting Shares.  

(c) General. Subject to the payment of the Series H Monthly Dividends, dividends and other Distributions 
may be paid in respect of the Series H Non-Voting Shares at such times, in such additional amounts, 
and in such currency or currencies as may be declared by the Board. 

(d) Initial Minimum Dividend and Minimum Dividend for Other than a Full Dividend Payment Period.  The 
holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive, and the Corporation shall pay 



 

 

thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board out of moneys of the Corporation properly applicable 
to the payment of dividends, cumulative, preferential cash dividends for the initial Series H Dividend 
Payment Period or any period which is less than a full Series H Dividend Payment Period, as follows:  

(i) an initial dividend in respect of the period from and including the date of the initial issue of the 
Series H Non-Voting Shares to but excluding the first day of the next Series H Dividend 
Payment Period in an amount per Series H Non-Voting Shares equal to C$0.80 multiplied by a 
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days from and including the date of 
the initial issue of the Series H Non-Voting Shares to but excluding the first day of the next 
Series H Dividend Payment Period and the denominator of which is 365; and 

(ii) a dividend in an amount per share with respect to any Series H Non-Voting Share: 

(1) which is issued or redeemed during any Series H Dividend Payment Period;  

(2) where the assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of the Series H Non-
Voting Shares pursuant to Section 9 of this Part C.2 with an effective date during any 
Series H Dividend Payment Period; or  

(3) in any other circumstance where the number of days in a Series H Dividend Payment 
Period that such share has been outstanding is less than a full Series H Dividend 
Payment Period (other than the period referred to in Section 3(d)(i) of this Part), 

equal to the amount obtained when the amount of the monthly dividend payable in respect of 
the applicable full Series H Dividend Payment Period is multiplied by a fraction, the numerator 
of which is the number of calendar days in such Series H Dividend Payment Period that such 
share has been outstanding (excluding the date of redemption, the effective date for the 
distribution of assets or the last day of the applicable shorter period, as applicable) and the 
denominator of which is the number of calendar days in such Series H Dividend Payment 
Period.  

(e) Payment Procedure. The Corporation shall pay the dividends declared on the Series H Non-Voting 
Shares on the relevant Series H Dividend Payment Date (less any tax required to be deducted or 
withheld by the Corporation) by electronic funds transfer or by cheque(s) drawn on a chartered bank, 
commercial bank or trust company and payable in lawful money of the United States at any branch of 
such bank or trust company or in such other manner, not contrary to applicable law, as the 
Corporation shall reasonably determine. The delivery or mailing of any cheque to a holder of Series H 
Non-Voting Shares (in the manner provided for herein) or the electronic transfer of funds to an 
account specified by such holder shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation’s 
obligation to pay the dividends to such holder to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the 
amount of any tax required to be and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation from the related 
dividends as aforesaid and remitted to the proper taxing authority), unless such cheque is not 
honoured when presented for payment. Subject to applicable law, dividends which are represented 
by a cheque which has not been presented to the Corporation’s banker for payment or that otherwise 
remain unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which they were declared to be payable 
may be reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(f) Cumulative Payment of Dividends. If on any Series H Dividend Payment Date, the Series H Monthly 
Dividends payable in respect of the Series H Dividend Payment Period ending in the calendar month 
in which such Series H Dividend Payment Date occurs are not paid in full on all of the Series H Non-
Voting Shares then outstanding, such dividends, or the unpaid part thereof, shall be paid (less any tax 
required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation) on a subsequent date or dates determined by 
the Board on which the Corporation shall have sufficient monies properly applicable to the payment of 
such dividends.  

(g) Target Return Dividends. The holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive, and 
the Corporation shall pay thereon, if, as and when declared by the Board, out of moneys of the 
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, additional monthly, cash dividends (the 
“Series H Additional Return Dividends”) in an amount targeted to result in a return, based on the 
Series H Purchase Price, when combined with the Series H Monthly Dividends, of between 8% and 
10%, payable (if declared), with respect to each Series H Dividend Period, on the Series H Dividend 
Payment Date in respect of such Series H Dividend Period. Series H Additional Return Dividends are 
not guaranteed and shall not accrue and shall be paid in Canadian dollars. 



 

 

(h) Other Dividends. Holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares have a right, after payment to them of their 
preferred dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of the Voting 
Shares, to participate pari passu with the holders of the Voting Shares in any further payment of 
dividends. 

4. Voting Rights 

Except as otherwise required by law or in the conditions attaching to the Preferred Shares as a class, the 
holders of Series H Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, attend at, or vote at any meeting of shareholders 
of the Corporation, unless and until the Corporation shall have failed to pay in full an aggregate of three (3) full Series 
H Monthly Dividends on the Series H Shares in accordance with the terms hereof (being an aggregate of $0.20), 
whether or not consecutive and whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any 
monies of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of such dividends. In the event of such non-payment, 
and for only so long as any such three (3) monthly dividends remain in arrears, the holders of the Series H Shares 
shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders of the Corporation and to attend thereat (other than 
a separate meeting of the holders of another series or class of shares), and at any such meetings which they shall be 
entitled to attend, except when the vote of the holders of shares of any other class or series is to be taken separately 
and as a class or series, shall be entitled to vote together with all of the voting shares of the Corporation on the basis 
of one vote in respect of each Series H Share held by each such holder, until all such arrears of such dividends shall 
have been paid, whereupon such rights shall cease unless and until the Corporation shall again fail to pay the three 
(3) monthly dividends on the Series H Shares in accordance with the terms hereof, whether or not consecutive and 
whether or not such dividends were declared and whether or not there are any monies of the Corporation properly 
applicable to the payment of such dividends, in which event such voting rights shall become effective again and so on 
from time to time. 

5. Redemption by Corporation 

(a) Corporation’s Redemption Rights. The Series H Shares shall not be redeemable by the Corporation 
prior to the date that is 6 months following the initial issuance of the Series H Shares (the “Series H 
Corporation Redemption Start Date”). On and after the Series H Corporation Redemption Start 
Date, the Corporation may, on 30 days’ notice, redeem all or any number of the outstanding Series H 
Shares, at its option, by the payment in cash, on the 30th day following delivery of the notice (the 
“Series H Corporation Redemption Date”), of an amount equal to the Series H Redemption Price 
(less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation). Where applicable, if less than 
all of the outstanding Series H Shares are at any time to be redeemed, the particular shares to be 
redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) or, if the Series H Shares are 
at such time listed on a stock exchange, with the consent of any applicable stock exchange, in such 
other manner as the Board may in its sole discretion determine by resolution.  

(b) Payment of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall on the Series H Corporation Redemption Date 
pay or cause to be paid to the holders of the Series H Shares so called for redemption the Series H 
Redemption Price therefor on presentation and delivery at the principal transfer office of the transfer 
agent for the Series H Shares or such other place or places designated in the notice of redemption, of 
the certificate or certificates representing the Series H Shares so called for redemption. Such 
payment shall be made by electronic funds transfer to an account specified by such holder or by 
cheque drawn on a Canadian chartered bank or trust company in the amount of the Series H 
Redemption Price and such electronic transfer of funds or the delivery or mailing of such cheque (in 
the manner provided for herein) shall be a full and complete discharge of the Corporation’s obligation 
to pay the Series H Redemption Price owed to the holders of Series H Shares so called for 
redemption to the extent of the sum represented thereby (plus the amount of any tax required to be 
and in fact deducted or withheld by the Corporation as aforesaid and remitted to the proper taxing 
authority) unless such cheque is not honoured when presented for payment. From and after the 
Series H Corporation Redemption Date, the holders of Series H Shares called for redemption shall 
cease to be entitled to dividends or to exercise any of the rights of holders of Series H Shares in 
respect of such shares except the right to receive the Series H Redemption Price, provided that if 
payment of such Series H Redemption Price is not duly made in accordance with the provisions 
hereof, then the rights of such holders shall remain unimpaired. If less than all the Series H Shares 
represented by any certificate shall be redeemed, a new certificate for the balance shall be issued 
without cost to the holder. Subject to applicable law, redemption monies which remain unclaimed for 
a period of six years from the Series H Corporation Redemption Date may be reclaimed and used by 
the Corporation for its own purposes.  



 

 

(c) Deposit of Redemption Price. The Corporation shall have the right, at any time after mailing a notice 
of redemption, to deposit the aggregate Series H Redemption Price for the Series H Shares thereby 
called for redemption, or such part thereof as at the time of deposit has not been claimed by the 
holders entitled thereto, in a special account with a Canadian chartered bank or trust company named 
in the notice of redemption in trust for the holders of such shares, and upon such deposit being made 
or upon the Series H Corporation Redemption Date, whichever is the later, the Series H Shares in 
respect of which such deposit shall have been made shall be deemed to be redeemed on the Series 
H Corporation Redemption Date and the rights of each holder thereof shall be limited to receiving, 
without interest, the holder’s proportionate part (after taking into account any amounts required to be 
deducted or withheld on account of tax in respect of such holder or withheld in respect of redemption 
fees) of the Series H Redemption Price so deposited upon presentation and surrender of the 
certificate or certificates representing the Series H Shares so redeemed. Any interest on any such 
deposit shall belong to the Corporation. Subject to applicable law, redemption monies which remain 
unclaimed for a period of six years from the Series H Corporation Redemption Date may be 
reclaimed and used by the Corporation for its own purposes.  

(d) Dividends in Respect of Shares to be Redeemed. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on 
or before the Series H Corporation Redemption Date in respect of Series H Shares called for 
redemption shall also be paid on or before the Series H Corporation Redemption Date.  If a dividend 
is declared by the Board in respect of any Series H Dividend Payment Period during which the Series 
H Shares are redeemed, notwithstanding the provisions of these terms, no electronic funds transfer 
or cheque shall be made or issued in payment of such dividend; rather, the amount of such dividend 
declared shall be considered to be an accrued and unpaid dividend for purposes of these terms.  

6. Redemption by the Shareholder 

(a) Shareholder Redemption Rights. Subject to the provisions hereof, each holder of Series H Non-
Voting Shares shall be entitled, subject to and upon compliance with the provisions hereof, to require 
the Corporation to redeem all or any part of the Series H Non-Voting Shares registered in the name of 
the holder. Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for redemption prior to the Series H Monthly 
Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall redeemed on the following Series H Monthly 
Shareholder Redemption Date at a redemption price equal to 93% of the Series H Redemption Price, 
if redeemed within 6 months from the date of issuance, and at a redemption price equal to the Series 
H Redemption Price at any time thereafter for each Series H Non-Voting Share redeemed, subject to 
the following limits: 

(i) no Series H Shares may be redeemed if the Board has suspended the redemption of any 
series of Preferred Shares or if there are any Preferred Shares of any series that have been 
tendered for redemption but that may not be redeemed due to  any applicable limits on such 
redemptions under the terms of the applicable shares, under the law or as a result of a 
decision or other action of the Board; 

(ii) the total amount payable by the Corporation for the Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for 
redemption in the same calendar month may not exceed the greater of $500,000 and 3% of 
the total capital of the issued and outstanding Series H Non-Voting Shares determined at the 
beginning of such calendar month (the “Redemption Limit”); provided that the directors of the 
Corporation may, in their absolute discretion, waive such limitation in respect of all shares 
tendered for redemption in any period. To the extent the Corporation has received notices of 
redemption where the aggregate number of Series H Non-Voting Shares would exceed the 
Redemption Limit, the Corporation shall redeem only such number of Series H Non-Voting 
Shares as to require the redemption of an aggregate number of Series H Non-Voting Shares in 
respect of redemptions equal to the Redemption Limit. The Corporation shall administer the 
foregoing and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with respect to the aggregate number of 
Series H Non-Voting Shares represented by redemption notices. Any redemption notices (or 
portions thereof) which are not honoured shall be honoured at the next following Series H Non-
Voting Shareholder Redemption Date, subject in all cases to the Corporation’s right to suspend 
redemptions and the Redemption Limit described herein; 

(iii) the redemption of the Series H Non-Voting Shares validly tendered for redemption may not 
result in a return of capital or a distribution otherwise out of the assets of the Corporation to the 
holder of Series H Non-Voting Shares, unless all liabilities of the Corporation have been paid 
or there are sufficient assets of the Corporation to pay them; 



 

 

(iv) redemptions will be restricted if, in the Board’s opinion (in their absolute discretion), the 
Corporation has insufficient liquid assets to fund such redemptions or the liquidation of assets 
at such time would be to the detriment of or adversely affect the remaining shareholders or the 
Corporation generally; or 

(v) redemptions will be restricted if the redemption by the Corporation of all Series H Non-Voting 
Shares surrendered for redemption in any period would be contrary to applicable law, in which 
case the Corporation shall redeem only the maximum number of Series H Non-Voting Shares 
(rounded to the next lower multiple of 1,000 shares) which it is then permitted to redeem 
selected on a pro rata basis from each holder of Series H Non-Voting Shares surrendered for 
redemption according to the number of Series H Non-Voting Shares surrendered for 
redemption by each such holder.  

(b) Dividends. Any declared but unpaid Distributions payable on or before the Series H Non-Voting 
Shareholder Redemption Date in respect of Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for redemption 
shall also be paid on or before the Non-Voting Redemption Date. Each holder of Series H Non-Voting 
Shares who elects to redeem all or any Series H Non-Voting Shares registered in the name of that 
holder must deliver a notice of redemption, in the form specified by the Corporation, to the transfer 
agent for the Series H Non-Voting Shares or at such other place as shall be specified by the 
Corporation from time to time. From and after receipt of a notice of redemption, the Series H Non-
Voting Shares tendered for redemption shall cease to be entitled to dividends or distributions or to 
any participation in the assets of the Corporation and the holders thereof shall not be entitled to 
exercise any of their other rights as shareholders in respect thereof other than the right to receive 
payment of the Series H Redemption Price for each Series H Share redeemed and any accrued but 
unpaid dividends up to the Series H Shareholder Redemption Date. Series H Shares which have 
been surrendered to the Corporation for redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding until, but not 
after, the close of business on the Series H Shareholder Redemption Date. 

(c) Payment of Series H Redemption Price. Payment for Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for 
redemption prior to the Monthly Redemption Notice Deadline for a month shall be made on the 
Monthly Redemption Payment Date following the applicable Monthly Redemption Date. From and 
after receipt of a notice of redemption, the Series H Non-Voting Shares tendered for redemption shall 
cease to be entitled to Distributions or to any participation in the assets of the Corporation and the 
holders thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of their other rights as shareholders in respect 
thereof other than the right to receive payment of the Series H Redemption Price for each Series H 
Non-Voting Share redeemed and any accrued but unpaid Distributions up to the Series H 
Redemption Date. Series H Non-Voting Shares which have been surrendered to the Corporation for 
redemption shall be deemed to be outstanding until, but not after, the close of business on the Series 
H Redemption Date. A redemption for no more than $150 per redemption request may be deducted 
by the Corporation. 

(d) Suspension of Redemptions. The Corporation may suspend the redemption of Shares for any period 
not exceeding 120 days during which the Corporation or the Manager determines that conditions exist 
which render impractical the sale of assets in the Portfolio or which impair the ability of the Manager 
to determine the value of assets of the Corporation or the Portfolio. The suspension may apply to all 
requests for redemption of Series H Non-Voting Shares received prior to the suspension but as to 
which payment has not been made, as well as to all requests received while the suspension is in 
effect. Holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares who have tendered their Series H Non-Voting Shares 
for redemption in such circumstances shall be notified of the suspension by the Corporation or the 
Manager and that the redemption will be effected following the termination of the suspension. All such 
holders of Series H Non-Voting Shares shall have and shall be advised that they have the right to 
withdraw such shares surrendered for redemption. The suspension shall terminate in any event on 
the first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has ceased to exist provided that no 
other condition under which a suspension is authorized then exists. To the extent not inconsistent 
with the rules and regulations promulgated by any governmental body having jurisdiction over the 
Corporation, any declaration of suspension made by the Corporation or the Manager shall be 
conclusive.   

(e) Liability of Directors. If the directors of the Corporation have acted in good faith in making any of the 
determinations referred to above as to the number of Series H Shares that the Corporation is 
permitted at any time to redeem, the Corporation shall have no liability in the event that any such 
determination proves to be inaccurate. 



 

 

(f) Irrevocable Election. Subject to this Section 6, the election of any holder to present and surrender any 
Series H Share for redemption shall be irrevocable upon the receipt by or on behalf of the 
Corporation of the documentation and instruments required by the Corporation in connection 
therewith. 

7. Purchase for Cancellation 

Subject to the Act and any applicable laws, the Corporation may at any time after the Series H Corporation 
Redemption Start Date purchase (if obtainable) for cancellation all or any number of the Series H Shares outstanding 
from time to time: 

(a) in the open market through or from an investment dealer or any firm holding membership on a 
recognized stock exchange; 

(b) by private agreement; or  

(c) pursuant to tender offer by the Corporation upon an invitation for tenders addressed to all holders of 
Series H Shares.   

at the lowest price or prices at which, in the opinion of the Board, such shares are obtainable provided that in the 
case of (b) or (c) above the price paid is not less than the Series H Redemption Price, exclusive of stamp duty, 
commission and other expenses of purchase. 

8. Notice of Repurchase or Redemption 

Any notice of redemption of Series H Shares by the Corporation shall be validly and effectively given on the 
date on which it is sent to each holder of Series H Shares to be redeemed. Such notice shall set out:  

(a) the date on which the redemption is to take place;  

(b) unless all the Series H Shares held by the holder to whom it is addressed are to be redeemed, the 
number of Series H Shares so held which are to be redeemed; and  

(c) the Series H Redemption Price.  

9. Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up 

 In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of 
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
subject to the prior satisfaction of the claims of all creditors of the Corporation and of holders of shares of the 
Corporation ranking senior to the Series H Shares, the holders of the Series H Shares shall rank (a) on a parity with 
the Non-Voting Shares of every other series, (b) senior to the Voting Common Shares and the shares of any other 
class ranking junior to the Non-Voting Shares, and (c) junior to the Preferred Shares. The Series H Shares shall be 
entitled to receive an amount equal to the Series H Redemption Price per Series H Share, together with an amount 
equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends, whether declared or not, up to but excluding the date fixed for payment or 
distribution (less any tax required to be deducted or withheld by the Corporation), before any amount is paid or any 
assets of the Corporation are distributed to the holders of any shares of the Corporation ranking junior as to capital to 
the Series H Shares. Upon payment to the holders of the Series H Shares of the amounts so payable to them, such 
holders shall not be entitled to share in any further distribution of the assets of the Corporation. 

10. Modification of Terms of Series H Shares 

The designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Series H Shares as a series 
(but for certainty, not the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions  of the Non-Voting Shares as a class) may be 
repealed, deleted, varied, modified, amended or amplified from time to time only with the approval of the holders of 
the Series H Shares given in accordance with the Act and Section 12 of these terms and with any required approvals 
of any stock exchange on which the Series H Shares may be listed. 

11. Approval of Holders of Series H Shares 

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, any approval of the holders of the Series H Shares with respect 
to any matters requiring the consent of such holders may be given in such manner as may then be 
required by law, subject to a minimum requirement that such approval be given by a resolution signed 



 

 

by 3/4 of such holders or passed by the affirmative vote of at least 3/4 of the votes cast by the holders 
who voted in respect of that resolution at a meeting of the holders duly called for that purpose and at 
which the holders of 10% of the outstanding Series H Shares are present in person or represented by 
proxy. If at any such meeting the holder(s) of 10% of the outstanding Series H Shares are not present 
in person or represented by proxy within one-half hour after the time appointed for such meeting, then 
the meeting shall be adjourned to such date not less than 15 days thereafter and to such time and 
place as may be designated by the chairman of such meeting, and not less than 10 days’ written 
notice shall be given of such adjourned meeting. At such adjourned meeting the holders(s) of Series 
H Shares present in person or represented by proxy shall form the necessary quorum and may 
transact the business for which the meeting was originally called and a resolution passed thereat by 
the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the votes cast at such meeting shall constitute the 
approval of the holders of the Series H Shares.  

(b) At any meeting of holders of Series H Shares as a series or at a meeting of the holders of the 
Preferred Shares as a class, each such holder shall be entitled to one vote in respect of each Series 
H Share held.  

(c) The proxy rules applicable to, the formalities to be observed in respect of the giving notice of, and the 
formalities to be observed in respect of the conduct of, any meeting or any adjourned meeting of 
holders of the Series H Shares shall be those required by law, as may from time to time be 
supplemented by the by-laws of the Corporation. 

12. Communication with Holders 

(a) Any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation herein 
provided for shall be sufficiently given, sent or made if delivered or if sent by first class unregistered 
mail, postage prepaid, to the holders of the Series H Shares at their respective addresses appearing 
on the records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the transfer agent in the Series H 
Shares, or, in the case of joint holders, to the address of the holder whose name appears first on the 
records of the Corporation maintained by the Corporation or the transfer agent as one of such joint 
holders, or, in the event of the address of any of such holders not so appearing, then at the last 
address of such holder known to the Corporation. Accidental failure to give such notice, invitation for 
tenders or other communication to one or more holders of the Series H Shares shall not affect the 
validity of the notices, invitations for tenders or other communications properly given or any action 
taken pursuant to such notice, invitation for tender or other communication but, upon such failure 
being discovered, the notice, invitation for tenders or other communication, as the case may be, shall 
be sent forthwith to such holder or holders.  

(b) If any notice, cheque, invitation for tenders or other communication from the Corporation given to a 
holder of Series H Shares pursuant to this subsection is returned on three consecutive occasions 
because the holder cannot be found, the Corporation shall not be required to give or mail any further 
notices, cheques, invitations for tenders or other communications to such shareholder until the holder 
informs the Corporation in writing of such holder’s new address.  

(c) If the Board determines that mail service is or is threatened to be interrupted at the time when the 
Corporation is required or elects to give any notice hereunder by mail, or is required to send any 
cheque or any share certificate to a holder, whether in connection with the redemption of such share 
or otherwise, the Corporation may, notwithstanding the provisions hereof:  

(i) give such notice by publication thereof once in a newspaper having national circulation in 
Canada and such notice shall be deemed to have been validly given on the day next 
succeeding its publication; and  

(ii) fulfill the requirement to send such cheque or such share certificate by arranging for the 
delivery thereof to such holder by the transfer agent for the Series H Shares at its principal 
offices, and such cheque and/or share certificate shall be deemed to have been sent on the 
date on which notice of such arrangement shall have been given as provided in (a) above, 
provided that as soon as the Board determines that mail service is no longer interrupted or 
threatened to be interrupted, such cheque or share certificate, if not theretofore delivered to 
such holder, shall be sent by mail as herein provided.  

 



 

 

13. Interpretation 

As used in respect of the Series H Share terms: 

(i) “Series H Corporation Redemption Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 5(a) of these 
terms. 

(ii) “Series H Corporation Redemption Start Date” has the meaning give to it in Section 5(a) of 
these terms. 

(iii) “Series H Dividend Payment Dates” means in respect of the dividends payable on the Series 
H Shares shall be the 15th day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately 
following Business Day) of each of the months of each year. 

(iv) “Series H Dividend Payment Period” means the period from and including the initial issue 
date of the Series H Shares to but excluding the last day of the month following the month in 
which the Series H Shares are initially issued, and thereafter, the next succeeding period that 
is from and including the last day of such month, to but excluding the last day of the next 
succeeding month. 

(v) “Series H Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date” means the last Business Day of a 
calendar month. 

(vi) “Series H Monthly Shareholder Redemption Notice Deadline” means 4:00 p.m. (Toronto 
time) on the 30th day preceding the Series H Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date.  

(vii) “Series H Monthly Shareholder Redemption Payment Date” means the 30th day following 
the Series H Monthly Shareholder Redemption Date. 

(viii) “Series H Redemption Price” means C$10.00 per Series H Share. 

 

RESTRICTIONS ON OWNERSHIP OF SHARES 

No shareholder of the Corporation is permitted to hold at any time, directly or indirectly, together with 
Related Persons, more than 25% of any class or series of the issued shares of the Corporation. 

In the event that any transaction affecting the Shares (each a "Triggering Transaction"), if completed, 
would cause any holder(s) of a class of shares (each an "Automatic Repurchase Shareholder"), together with 
Related Persons, to hold more than 25% of any class or series of the issued shares of the Corporation, that portion 
of the shares held by each Automatic Repurchase Shareholder which constitutes in excess of 24.9% of the issued 
shares of any class or series of shares (the "Repurchased Shares") will, simultaneously with the completion of a 
Triggering Transaction, automatically be repurchased and cancelled by the Corporation (as "Automatic 
Repurchase") without any further action by the Corporation or the Automatic Repurchase Shareholder. The 
purchase price for any Repurchased Shares will be equal to the applicable redemption price on the date of the 
Triggering Transaction. The proceeds of any Automatic Repurchase will be remitted to each applicable Automatic 
Shareholder as may be determined by the Board. 
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See attached. 
  



Mort ID Principal Rate Term Appraised Value Prior Charges Principal LTV
92 $69,000.00 11.990% 12 $880,000.00 $635,000.00 80.00%
97 $270,000.00 10.990% 6 $2,690,000.00 $1,870,000.00 79.55%
104 $150,000.00 12.990% 8 $2,470,000.00 $1,783,000.00 78.26%
109 $1,300,000.00 11.000% 6 $1,980,000.00 $0.00 65.66%
110 $220,000.00 10.000% 12 $975,000.00 $515,000.00 75.38%
111 $120,000.00 10.990% 12 $1,180,000.00 $752,000.00 73.90%
112 $160,000.00 12.490% 12 $610,000.00 $310,000.00 77.05%
114 $1,200,000.00 11.990% 6 $11,100,000.00 $6,385,000.00 68.33%
123 $850,000.00 11.000% 8 $2,050,000.00 $680,000.00 74.63%
125 $500,000.00 11.500% 10 $2,050,000.00 $940,000.00 70.24%
128 $150,000.00 10.990% 12 $461,000.00 $209,000.00 77.87%
130 $110,000.00 11.990% 8 $585,000.00 $358,000.00 80.00%
135 $285,000.00 10.990% 8 $750,000.00 $293,000.00 77.07%
141 $75,000.00 11.990% 12 $520,000.00 $328,000.00 77.50%
143 $597,750.00 10.000% 6 $797,000.00 $0.00 75.00%
144 $170,000.00 11.990% 8 $512,300.00 $185,000.00 69.30%
147 $650,000.00 9.990% 6 $1,350,000.00 $0.00 48.15%
149 $100,000.00 11.000% 6 $576,600.00 $360,000.00 79.78%
150 $90,000.00 12.000% 12 $750,000.00 $510,000.00 80.00%
154 $390,000.00 12.000% 12 $865,000.00 $300,000.00 79.77%
155 $375,000.00 9.990% 7 $517,300.00 $0.00 72.49%
161 $210,000.00 9.990% 3 $1,400,000.00 $700,000.00 65.00%
163 $46,500.00 10.990% 12 $930,000.00 $697,500.00 80.00%
164 $133,000.00 10.990% 12 $1,010,000.00 $675,000.00 80.00%
170 $340,000.00 11.490% 12 $3,990,000.00 $2,850,000.00 79.95%
172 $200,000.00 11.990% 7 $2,950,000.00 $1,925,000.00 72.03%
175 $500,000.00 10.000% 6 $1,300,000.00 $0.00 38.46%
177 $539,000.00 9.890% 4 $770,000.00 $0.00 70.00%
179 $52,232.00 11.500% 12 $815,000.00 $575,317.00 77.00%
180 $197,500.00 10.990% 12 $505,000.00 $202,500.00 79.21%
181 $1,250,000.00 12.490% 12 $10,132,000.00 $6,360,000.00 75.11%
182 $140,000.00 11.500% 12 $700,000.00 $385,000.00 75.00%
187 $78,000.00 12.000% 12 $320,000.00 $152,000.00 71.88%
188 $160,000.00 10.000% 3 $1,000,000.00 $530,000.00 69.00%
189 $250,000.00 12.000% 3 $19,000,000.00 $14,300,000.00 76.58%
190 $340,000.00 11.000% 2 $1,650,000.00 $719,000.00 64.18%
193 $110,000.00 11.250% 12 $636,000.00 $254,000.00 57.23%
195 $200,000.00 11.990% 5 $19,606,000.00 $15,440,000.00 79.77%
196 $192,500.00 11.000% 12 $300,000.00 $0.00 64.17%

$12,770,482.00 11.255% 9 $100,683,200.00 $62,178,317.00 74.44%

Total Balance % % Principal LTV Total Balance Months till Maturity % Principal LTV Total Balance
$9,154,377.15 75.81% 18.95% 71% < 81% $6,898,982.00 4 months (4,577,035.11)% 71% < 81% $6,898,982.00
$1,621,500.00 13.43% 15.61% 61% < 71% $4,403,349.17 3 months (3,769,953.17)% 61% < 71% $4,403,349.17
$1,300,000.00 10.77% 12.63% 41% < 51% $650,000.00 11 months (3,050,962.10)% 41% < 51% $650,000.00

12.15% 51% < 61% $110,000.00 2 months (2,933,463.56)% 51% < 61% $110,000.00
11.18% 31% < 41% $13,545.98 2 month (2,699,966.46)% 31% < 41% $13,545.98
10.77% < 1% $0.00 -1 month (2,599,967.70)% < 1% $0.00
5.51% >= 81% $0.00 10 months (1,330,447.47)% >= 81% $0.00
3.97% 1% < 11% $0.00 9 months (959,988.08)% 1% < 11% $0.00
2.90% 11% < 21% $0.00 5 months (699,991.30)% 11% < 21% $0.00
2.50% 21% < 31% $0.00 12 months (604,992.49)% 21% < 31% $0.00
2.24% -9 months (539,993.29)%
0.62% 9 months (149,998.14)%
0.57% -3 months (137,998.29)%
0.39% 22 months (92,998.84)%
0.02% 1 month (3,698.29)%

Principal Balance % of Total 
$69,000.00 0.5714%

$1,300,000.00

$270,000.00 2.2359%
$150,000.00 1.2421%

10.7653%
$220,000.00 1.8218%

$160,000.00 1.3250%
$120,000.00

$1,200,000.00

0.9937%

9.9372%
$850,000.00 7.0388%
$500,000.00 4.1405%
$150,000.00 1.2421%

0.9109%
$285,000.00 2.3601%
$110,000.00

$75,000.00 0.6211%
$597,750.00 4.9500%
$170,000.00 1.4078%
$650,000.00 5.3826%
$100,000.00 0.8281%

0.7453%
3.2296%

$90,000.00

$375,000.00
$390,000.00

3.1054%

$133,000.00

$1,849.17 0.0153%
$46,500.00 0.3851%

1.1014%
$340,000.00 2.8155%

0.1122%
$200,000.00

$539,000.00

1.6562%
$13,545.98

4.4634%
$52,232.00 0.4325%

$197,500.00 1.6355%

1.1593%
$1,250,000.00

$78,000.00

10.3512%
$140,000.00

0.6459%
$160,000.00 1.3250%

$340,000.00 2.8155%
$250,000.00

$110,000.00

2.0702%

0.9109%
$200,000.00 1.6562%
$192,500.00 1.5941%

Totals: 39 $12,075,877.15

Mortgag
Geographic Mortgage Type Total Balance Property Type Months till Maturity Total Balance
Toronto Residential $5,950,831.17 n/a 4 months $2,288,545.98

Residential Plus Commercial $3,482,500.00 Residential 3 months $1,885,000.00
Residential $2,103,545.98 Multiple Family 11 months $1,525,500.00
Commercial $539,000.00 2 months $1,466,750.00

1 month $1,350,000.00
-1 month $1,300,000.00
10 months $665,232.00
9 months $480,000.00

$46,500.00

5 months $350,000.00
12 months $302,500.00
-9 months $270,000.00

Total Balance
$-2,288,508.08
$-1,884,968.78

0 month $1,849.17

8 months $75,000.00
-3 months $69,000.00
21 months

$-1,299,978.47
$-665,220.98
$-479,992.05

$-1,525,474.73
$-1,466,725.71
$-1,349,977.64

$-1,849.14

Detailed Mortgage Balances List
As of the beginning of  06-Jan-2021
Open/Active loans exluding loans with zero principal and interest

$-74,998.76
$-68,998.86
$-46,499.23

$-349,994.20
$-302,494.99
$-269,995.53



 

 

APPENDIX C 
Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation 

 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers of securities 
pursuant to an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) with certain statutory rights of 
action for damages or rescission, in addition to any other rights they may have at law, where the offering 
memorandum or any amendment thereto contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state 
a material fact that is required to be stated or is necessary to make any statement contained therein not 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made (a “Misrepresentation”). These rights, or 
notice with respect thereto, must be exercised or delivered, as the case may be, by purchasers within the 
tie limits prescribed and are subject to the defences and limitations contained under the applicable 
securities legislation. 

The following summaries are subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation 
applicable in each of the provinces and territories of Canada and the regulations, rules and policy 
statements thereunder. Purchasers should refer to the securities legislation applicable in their province or 
territory along with the regulations, rules and policy statements thereunder for the complete text of these 
provisions or should consult with their legal advisor. The statutory rights of action described herein are in 
addition to and without derogation from any other right or remedy that purchasers may have at law. 

Alberta 

Section 204 of the Securities Act (Alberta) provides that if an offering memorandum contains a 
Misrepresentation, an investor who purchases a security offered by the offering memorandum is deemed 
to have relied on the representation, if it was a Misrepresentation at the time of the purchase, and has a 
right of action (a) for damages against (i) the issuer, (ii) every director of the issuer at the date of the 
offering memorandum, and (iii) every person or company who signed the offering memorandum, and (b) 
for rescission against the issuer, provided that: 

(a) if the investor elects to exercise its right of rescission, it shall cease to have a right of 
action for damages against the person or company referred to above; 

(b) no person or company referred to above will be liable if it proves that the investor had 
knowledge of the Misrepresentation; 

(c) no person or company (other than the issuer) referred to above will be liable if it proves 
that the offering memorandum was sent to the investor without the person’s or company’s 
knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its being sent, the person or 
company promptly gave reasonable notice to the issuer that it was sent without the 
knowledge and consent of the person or company; 

(d) no person or company (other than the issuer) referred to above will be liable if it proves 
that the person or company, on becoming aware of the Misrepresentation in the offering 
memorandum, withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the offering memorandum 
and gave reasonable notice to the issuer of the withdrawal and the reason for it; 

(e) no person or company (other than the issuer) referred to above will be liable if, with 
respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on the authority of 
an expert or purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement 
of an expert, the person or company proves that the person or company did not have any 
reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that: 

(i) there had been a Misrepresentation; or 

(ii) the relevant part of the offering memorandum 

(A) did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or 



 

 

(B) was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement 
of the expert; 

(f) the person or company (other than the issuer) will not be liable if with respect to any part 
of the offering memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and 
not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an 
expert, unless the person or company 

(i) did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a 
belief that there had been no Misrepresentation, or 

(ii) believed there had been a Misrepresentation; 

(g) in no case shall the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Shares were 
offered under the offering memorandum; and 

(h) the defendant will not be liable for all or any part of the damages that the defendant 
proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the 
Misrepresentation; 

Section 211 of the Securities Act (Alberta) provides that no action may be commenced to enforce 
these rights more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days from the day of the transaction that gave 
rise to the cause of action, or 

(b) in the case of any action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of 

(i) 180 days from the day that the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise 
to the cause of action, or 

(ii) 3 years from the day of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

The foregoing summary is subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation referred 
to above and the rules, regulations and other instruments thereunder, and reference is made to the 
complete text of such provisions. Such provisions may contain limitations and statutory defences on 
which the issuer may rely. 

British Columbia 

Section 132.1 of the Securities Act (British Columbia) provides that where an offering 
memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum), which is required to be delivered to a purchaser of a 
security under section 2.9 of NI 45-106, contains a Misrepresentation, an investor who purchases a 
security offered by the offering memorandum is deemed to have relied on the Misrepresentation if it was 
a Misrepresentation at the time of purchase, and has a right of action for damages against: 

(a) the issuer; 

(b) every director of the issuer at the date of the offering memorandum; and 

(c) every person who signed the offering memorandum. 

The investor may elect to exercise a right of rescission against the issuer, in which case the 
investor has no right of action for damages against the issuer. 

Such rights of rescission and damages are subject to certain limitations including the following: 

(a) a person will not be liable if the person proves that the investor had knowledge of the 
Misrepresentation; 

(b) a person, other than the issuer, will not be liable if the person proves that: 



 

 

(i) the offering memorandum was delivered to investors without the person’s 
knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person 
gave written notice to the issuer that it was delivered without the person’s 
knowledge or consent; 

(ii) on becoming aware of any Misrepresentation in the offering memorandum, the 
person withdrew the person’s consent to the offering memorandum and gave 
written notice to the issuer of the withdrawal and the reason for it; or 

(iii) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum purporting to be made on 
the authority of an expert, or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an 
opinion or a statement of an expert, the person had no reasonable grounds to 
believe and did not believe that there had been a Misrepresentation, or the 
relevant part of the offering memorandum did not fairly represent the report, 
opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, 
the report, opinion or statement of the expert. 

(c) a person, other than the issuer, will not be liable if the person proves that any part of the 
offering memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a 
copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert, unless the 
person failed to conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a 
belief that there had been no Misrepresentation, or believed that there had been a 
Misrepresentation; 

(d) in an action for damages, the defendant is not liable for all or any part of the damages 
that the defendant proves does not represent the depreciation in value of securities 
resulting from the Misrepresentation; 

(e) a person is not liable for a Misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the person 
proves that 

(i) the offering memorandum containing the forward-looking information contained, 
proximate to that information, reasonable cautionary language identifying the 
forward-looking information as such, and identifying material factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection 
in the forward-looking information, and a statement of the material factors or 
assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or 
projection set out in the forward-looking information; and 

(ii) the person had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the 
forecasts and projections set out in the forward-looking information. 

Section 140 of the Securities Act (British Columbia) provides that an action to enforce a civil 
remedy must not be commenced: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, more than 180 days after the date of the 
transaction that gave rise to the cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of an action other than for rescission, more than the earlier of: 

(i) 180 days after the investor first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

Manitoba 

In Manitoba, the Securities Act (Manitoba) provides a statutory right of action for damages or 
rescission to investors resident in Manitoba in circumstances where this Offering Memorandum or an 



 

 

amendment hereto contains a Misrepresentation, which rights are similar, but not identical, to the rights 
available to Ontario investors. 

The rights of action for damages or rescission discussed above are in addition to, and without 
derogation from, any other right or remedy which investors may have at law. 

New Brunswick 

Section 150 of the Securities Act (New Brunswick) provides that where an offering memorandum 
(such as this Offering Memorandum) contains a Misrepresentation, a purchaser who purchases securities 
shall be deemed to have relied on the Misrepresentation if it was a Misrepresentation at the time of 
purchase and: 

(a) the purchaser has a right of action for damages against 

(i) the issuer, 

(ii) the selling security holder on whose behalf the distribution was made; 

(iii) every person who was a director of the issuer at the date of the offering 
memorandum; 

(iv) every person who signed the offering memorandum, or 

(b) if the purchaser purchased the securities from a person referred to in subparagraph (a)(i) 
or (ii) above, the purchaser may elect to exercise a right of rescission against the person 
referred to in that subparagraph, in which case the purchaser shall have no right of action 
for damages against the person. 

This statutory right of action is available to New Brunswick purchasers whether or not such 
purchaser relied on the Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the issuer 
and the selling security holder(s). One such defence is that no person will be liable for a 
Misrepresentation if such person proves that the purchaser purchased the securities with knowledge of 
the Misrepresentation. Moreover, in an action for damages, the amount recoverable will not exceed the 
price at which the securities were offered under the offering memorandum and any defendant will not be 
liable for all or any part of the damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in 
value of the security as a result of the Misrepresentation. 

If the purchaser intends to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, such purchaser must 
do so within strict time limitations. The purchaser must commence an action for rescission within 180 
days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. The purchaser must 
commence its action for damages within the earlier of: 

(a) one year after the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of 
action; or 

(b) six years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

Newfoundland and Labrador and Prince Edward Island 

In Newfoundland and Labrador, the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador) and in Prince 
Edward Island, the Securities Act (PEI) provide a statutory right of action for damages or rescission to 
purchasers resident in Newfoundland and Prince Edward Island, respectively, in circumstances where an 
offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) or an amendment hereto contains a 
Misrepresentation, which rights are similar, but not identical, to the rights available to Ontario purchasers. 

Nova Scotia 

The right of action for damages or rescission described herein is conferred by section 138 of the 
Securities Act (Nova Scotia). Section 138 of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia) provides, in relevant part, 
that in the event that an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum), together with any 



 

 

amendment thereto, or any advertising or sales literature (as defined in the Securities Act (Nova Scotia)) 
contains a Misrepresentation, the purchaser will be deemed to have relied upon such Misrepresentation if 
it was a Misrepresentation at the time of purchase and has, subject to certain limitations and defences, a 
statutory right of action for damages against the issuer and, subject to certain additional defences, every 
director of the issuer at the date of the offering memorandum and every person who signed the offering 
memorandum or, alternatively, while still the owner of the securities purchased by the purchaser, may 
elect instead to exercise a statutory right of rescission against the issuer, in which case the purchaser 
shall have no right of action for damages against the issuer, directors of the issuer or persons who have 
signed the offering memorandum, provided that, among other limitations: 

(a) no action shall be commenced to enforce the right of action for rescission or damages by 
a purchaser resident in Nova Scotia later than 120 days after the date on which the initial 
payment was made for the securities; 

(b) no person will be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the securities with 
knowledge of the Misrepresentation; 

(c) in the case of an action for damages, no person will be liable for all or any portion of the 
damages that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a 
result of the Misrepresentation relied upon; and 

(d) in no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the 
securities were offered to the purchaser. 

In addition, a person or company, other than the issuer, will not be liable if that person or 
company proves that: 

(a) the offering memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum was sent or 
delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent and 
that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person or company gave reasonable general 
notice that it was delivered without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent; 

(b) after delivery of the offering memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum 
and before the purchase of the securities by the purchaser, on becoming aware of any 
Misrepresentation in the offering memorandum or amendment to the offering 
memorandum the person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to the 
offering memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum, and gave reasonable 
general notice of the withdrawal and the reason for it; or 

(c) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum or amendment to the offering 
memorandum purporting (i) to be made on the authority of an expert, or (ii) to be a copy 
of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert, the person or 
company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that (A) there had 
been a Misrepresentation, or (B) the relevant part of the offering memorandum or 
amendment to offering memorandum did not fairly represent the report, opinion or 
statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or 
statement of the expert. 

Further, no person or company, other than the issuer, will be liable with respect to any part of the 
offering memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum not purporting (a) to be made on the 
authority of an expert, or (b) to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an 
expert, unless the person or company: (i) failed to conduct a reasonable investigation to provide 
reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no Misrepresentation, or (ii) believed that there had 
been a Misrepresentation. 

If a Misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference into, or deemed 
incorporated by reference into, the offering memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum, 
the Misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in the offering memorandum or an amendment to the 
offering memorandum. 



 

 

Ontario 

Section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides that every investor of Shares pursuant to 
an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) shall have a statutory right of action for 
damages or rescission against the issuer in the event that the offering memorandum contains a 
Misrepresentation. An investor who purchases Shares offered by the offering memorandum during the 
period of distribution has, without regard to whether the investor relied upon the Misrepresentation, a right 
of action for damages or, alternatively, while still the owner of the Shares, for rescission against the issuer 
provided that: 

(a) if the investor exercises its right of rescission, it shall cease to have a right of action for 
damages as against the issuer; 

(b) the issuer will not be liable if they prove that the investor purchased the Shares with 
knowledge of the Misrepresentation; 

(c) the issuer will not be liable for all or any portion of damages that it proves do not 
represent the depreciation in value of the Shares as a result of the Misrepresentation 
relied upon; and 

(d) in no case shall the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Shares were 
offered. 

Section 138 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides that no action shall be commenced to enforce 
these rights more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave 
rise to the cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of an action for damages, the earlier of: 

(i) 180 days after the date that the investor first had knowledge of the facts giving 
rise to the cause of action; or 

(ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

This Offering Memorandum is also being delivered to Ontario investors in reliance on the 
exemption from the prospectus requirements contained under section 2.3 of NI 45-106 (the “accredited 
investor exemption”). The rights referred to in section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) do not apply 
in respect of an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) delivered to a prospective 
investor in connection with a distribution made in reliance on the accredited investor exemption if the 
prospective investor is: 

(a) a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank (each as defined in NI 45-106) 

(b) the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business 
Development Bank of Canada Act (Canada); or 

(c) a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b), if the person owns all of 
the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be 
owned by directors of that subsidiary. 

Quebec 

If this Offering Memorandum, together with any amendment to it, is delivered to an investor resident in 
Quebec and contains a misrepresentation that was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase, the 
investor will be deemed to have relied upon the misrepresentation and will have a statutory right of action 
against the issuer, the officers and directors of the issuer or any dealer under contract with the issuer for 
damages or for rescission or revision of the price. 

This right of action is subject to the following limitations: 



 

 

(a) the right of action for rescission or revision of the price must be exercised within three years of 
the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action; or, in the case of any action other 
than an action for rescission or revision of the purchase price, the earlier of: (i) three years after 
the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action unless the delay in 
knowledge is caused by the negligence of the plaintiff, or (ii) five years after the Offering 
Memorandum is filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers; 

(b) no person or company will be liable if it proves that the investor acquired the Offered Shares with 
knowledge of the misrepresentation; 

(c) in the case of an action for damages, the officers or directors of the issuer or the dealer under 
contract with the issuer will not be liable if they acted with prudence and diligence; and 

(d) a defendant may defeat an action based on a misrepresentation in forward-looking information by 
proving that 

i. the document containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate to that 
information, 

(A) reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as 
such, and identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking 
information; and 

(B) a statement of the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a 
conclusion or making a forecast or projection; and 

ii. the defendant had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the 
forecasts or projections set out in the forward-looking information. 

Saskatchewan 

Section 138 of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan), as amended (the “Saskatchewan Act”) 
provides that where an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) or any amendment to 
it is sent or delivered to an investor and it contains a Misrepresentation (as defined in the Saskatchewan 
Act), an investor who purchases an Offered Share covered by the offering memorandum or any 
amendment to it is deemed to have relied upon that Misrepresentation, if it was a Misrepresentation at the 
time of purchase, and has a right of action for rescission against the issuer or has a right of action for 
damages against: 

(a) the issuer; 

(b) every promoter and director of the issuer at the time the offering memorandum or any 
amendment to it was sent or delivered; 

(c) every person or company whose consent has been filed respecting the offering, but only 
with respect to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them; 

(d) every person who or company that, in addition to the persons or companies mentioned in 
(a) to (c) above, signed the offering memorandum or the amendment to the offering 
memorandum; and 

(e) every person who or company that sells Shares on behalf of the issuer under the offering 
memorandum or amendment to the offering memorandum. 

Such rights of rescission and damages are subject to certain limitations including the following: 

(a) if the investor elects to exercise its right of rescission against the issuer it shall have no 
right of action for damages against that party; 



 

 

(b) in an action for damages, a defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the 
damages that he, she or it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the 
Shares resulting from the Misrepresentation relied on; 

(c) no person or company, other than the issuer, will be liable for any part of the offering 
memorandum or any amendment to it not purporting to be made on the authority of an 
expert and not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or 
statement of an expert, unless the person or company failed to conduct a reasonable 
investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no 
Misrepresentation or believed that there had been a Misrepresentation; 

(d) in no case shall the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Shares were 
offered; and 

(e) no person or company is liable in an action for rescission or damages if that person or 
company proves that the investor purchased the Shares with knowledge of the 
Misrepresentation. 

In addition, no person or company, other than the issuer, will be liable if the person or company 
proves that: 

(a) the offering memorandum or any amendment to it was sent or delivered without the 
person’s or company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of it being 
sent or delivered, that person or company gave reasonable general notice that it was so 
sent or delivered; or 

(b) with respect to any part of the offering memorandum or any amendment to it purporting to 
be made on the authority of an expert, or purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a 
report, an opinion or a statement of an expert, that person or company had no 
reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that there had been a 
Misrepresentation, the part of the offering memorandum or any amendment to it did not 
fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or 
an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert. 

Not all defences upon which we or others may rely are described herein. Please refer to the full 
text of the Saskatchewan Act for a complete listing. 

Similar rights of action for damages and rescission are provided in section 138.1 of the 
Saskatchewan Act in respect of a Misrepresentation in advertising and sales literature disseminated in 
connection with an offering of Shares. 

Section 138.2 of the Saskatchewan Act also provides that where an individual makes a verbal 
statement to a prospective investor that contains a Misrepresentation relating to the Shares purchased 
and the verbal statement is made either before or contemporaneously with the purchase of the Shares, 
the investor is deemed to have relied on the Misrepresentation, if it was a Misrepresentation at the time of 
purchase, and has a right of action for damages against the individual who made the verbal statement. 

Section 141(1) of the Saskatchewan Act provides an investor with the right to void the purchase 
agreement and to recover all money and other consideration paid by the investor for the Shares if the 
Shares are sold in contravention of the Saskatchewan Act, the regulations to the Saskatchewan Act or a 
decision of the Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission. 

Section 141(2) of the Saskatchewan Act also provides a right of action for rescission or damages 
to an investor of Shares to whom an offering memorandum or any amendment to it was not sent or 
delivered prior to or at the same time as the investor enters into an agreement to purchase the Shares, as 
required by Section 80.1 of the Saskatchewan Act. 

The rights of action for damages or rescission under the Saskatchewan Act are in addition to and 
do not derogate from any other right which an investor may have at law. 



 

 

Section 147 of the Saskatchewan Act provides that no action shall be commenced to enforce any 
of the foregoing rights more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave 
rise to the cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of any other action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of: 

(i) one year after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause 
of action; or 

(ii) six years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

The Saskatchewan Act also provides an investor who has received an amended offering 
memorandum delivered in accordance with subsection 80.1(3) of the Saskatchewan Act has a right to 
withdraw from the agreement to purchase the Shares by delivering a notice to the person who or 
company that is selling the Shares, indicating the investor’s intention not to be bound by the purchase 
agreement, provided such notice is delivered by the investor within two business days of receiving the 
amended offering memorandum. 

General 

The foregoing summary is subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation referred 
to above and the rules, regulations and other instruments thereunder, and reference is made to the 
complete text of such provisions. Such provisions may contain limitations and statutory defences on 
which the Corporation may rely. 

The statutory rights of action discussed above are in addition to, and without derogation from, any 
other right or remedy which investors may have at law. 

  



 

 

APPENDIX D 
Form of Interim Debenture 

See attached. 
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1 

DEBENTURE 

Principal Amount:  Issue Date:            , 2021. 

ARTICLE 1 
PRINCIPAL, INTEREST, PAYMENT 

1.1 Principal Amount and Advance 

 For value received, EQUITYLINE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT CORPORATION (the 
“Corporation”), shall pay to the order of  (the “Lender”) the amount of    (), or such lower amount as 
shall be outstanding the “Commitment”) plus all accrued interest thereon in accordance with this 
Debenture on the Maturity Date, or such earlier date as the Obligations shall become due and payable 
hereunder, at the office of the Lender. The Commitment is made on a revolving basis and may be 
advanced and repaid during the term hereof. 

1.2 Interest 

(a) Subject to Section 1.3, the principal amount of this Debenture drawn and outstanding from 
time to time shall bear interest both before and after maturity, default and judgment from the date hereof 
to the date of repayment in full at the rate of 8% (the “Rate”) per annum calculated and compounded 
monthly in arrears and payable on the same day on a pro rata pari passu basis with the Shares.  

(b) Interest on overdue interest and standby charge shall be calculated and payable at the same 
rate plus 2% per annum. Interest is pro rated on a daily basis for any part month. 

1.3 Prepayment  

The Loan may be prepaid to the Lender at any time. If prepaid the amount prepaid will remain 
committed and available for re-advance.  

1.4 Repayments and Cancellation of Commitment  

Subject to the terms of any subscription agreement directing that the principal hereof be applied 
to a subscription for Shares, the Corporation shall satisfy the obligations on the Maturity Date by the 
Corporation paying the principal amount (or the balance thereof) together with any accrued and unpaid 
interest and expenses of the Lender of this Debenture to the Lender by certified cheque, bank draft or 
wire transfer in immediately available funds. 

ARTICLE 2 
INTERPRETATION 

2.1 Defined Terms 

As used herein the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

(a) “Advance” means the advance of the Loan by the Lender. 

(b) “Affiliate” means, in respect of any corporation, any Person which, directly or indirectly, 
controls or is controlled by or is under common control with the corporation; and for the 
purpose of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms 
“controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the power to direct, or cause to 
be directed, the management and policies of a corporation whether through the 
ownership of Voting Shares or by contract or otherwise. 
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(c) “Applicable Law” means, in respect of any Person, property, transaction or event, all 
applicable laws, statutes, rules, by‒laws and regulations, and all applicable official 
directives, orders, judgments and decrees of Governmental Bodies. 

(d) “Business Day” means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or a day on which 
chartered banks are closed for business in Toronto, Ontario. 

(e) “Commitment” shall have the meaning in section 1.1. 

(f) “Debenture” means this Debenture together with the schedules and exhibits hereto, as 
they may be amended from time to time. 

(g) “Corporation” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 1.1. 

(h) “Default” means any event which, but for the lapse of time, giving of notice or both, would 
constitute an Event of Default. 

(i) “Event of Default” has the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 5.1. 

(j) “Governmental Body” means any government, parliament, legislature, or any regulatory 
authority, agency, commission or board of any government, parliament or legislature, or 
any court or any other law, regulation or rule-making entity (including any central bank, 
fiscal or monetary authority or authority regulating banks), having or purporting to have 
jurisdiction on behalf of any applicable government, parliament or legislature or any 
Person exercising or entitled to exercise administrative, regulatory or taxing authority 
under the authority of any of the foregoing. 

(k) “Initial Term” means the 6 month period from Advance to Maturity Date. 

(l) “Instrument” means this Debenture or any other agreement or instrument (whether now 
existing, presently arising or created in future) delivered by or on behalf of the 
Corporation to the Lender in respect of the Obligations. 

(m) “Lender” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 1.1. 

(n) “Loan” means the drawn amount of the Commitment which constitute on draw the debt 
obligations described in this Debenture. 

(o) “Material Authorization” means, with respect to any Person, any approval, permit, 
licence or similar authorization (including any trademark, trade name or patent) from, and 
any filing or registration with, any Governmental Body or other Person required by such 
Person to own its property and assets or to carry on its business as presently carried on 
by it or as contemplated hereunder to be carried on by it in each jurisdiction in which it 
does so or is contemplated to do so or where the failure to have such approval, permit, 
licence, authorization, filing or registration would have a material adverse effect upon its 
business, financial condition or prospects or upon its ability to perform its obligations 
under any of the Instruments. 

(p) “Maturity Date” shall mean the earlier of: 

(i) ; and 
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(ii) the date of the MIC Qualification Repayment Notice (as defined in the 
Subscription Agreement). 

(q)  “Obligations” means all obligations and liabilities now or at any time and from time to 
time hereafter owing or payable by the Corporation to the Lender under or in connection 
with the Instruments. 

(r) “Order” means any order, notice, direction, report, recommendation or decision rendered 
by any Governmental Body. 

(s) “Person” means a natural person, partnership, corporation, joint stock company, trust, 
unincorporated association, joint venture or other entity or governmental entity, and 
pronouns have a similarly extended meaning. 

(t) “Rate” means the rate of interest described in Section 1.2. 

(u) “Shares” means the Series B Preferred Shares or the Series H Non-Voting Shares in the 
capital of the Corporation.  

(v) “Subscription Agreement” means the subscription agreement between the Corporation 
and the Lender with respect to a subscription for Shares dated , 2021. 

(w)  “Taxes” means all taxes of any kind or nature whatsoever imposed by any 
Governmental Body including, without limitation, income taxes, sales or value‒added 
taxes, levies, stamp taxes, royalties, duties, and all fees, deductions, and withholdings 
imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed, together with penalties, fines, additions 
to tax and interest thereon. 

2.2 Interpretation 

(a) “This Debenture”, “hereto”, “hereby”, “hereunder”, “herein”, and similar expressions 
refer to the whole of this Debenture and not to any particular Article, Section, paragraph, 
clause, subdivision or other portion hereof. 

(b) The expression “Arm’s Length” has the meaning ascribed to such term in the Income 
Tax Act (Canada). 

(c) All references herein to the Income Tax Act (Canada) shall refer to such act and the 
regulations thereunder as the same may be amended or replaced from time to time. 

(d) Words importing the singular number only include the plural and vice versa and words 
importing gender shall include all genders. 

(e) All financial or accounting determinations, reports and statements provided for in this 
Debenture shall be made or prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles applied in a consistent manner. 

(f) The division of this Debenture into Articles and Sections and the insertion of headings are 
for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of 
this Debenture. 

(g) References to sums of money herein are to Canadian dollars. 
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(h) Time is of the essence hereof. 

(i) Where the word “including” or “includes” is used in this Debenture, it means “including 
(or includes) without limitation”. 

(j) Wherever in this Debenture reference is made to generally accepted accounting 
principles, such reference shall be deemed to mean the generally accepted accounting 
principles from time to time approved by the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, or any successor institute, applicable as at the date on which a given 
calculation is made or required to be made in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

2.3 Governing Law 

This Debenture shall be governed by and interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of 
the Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein. 

ARTICLE 3 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE CORPORATION 

 

3.1 Representations and Warranties 

The Corporation represents and warrants to the Lender as follows: 

(a) Incorporation and Status. It is duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of 
Ontario and has the corporate power and capacity to own its properties and assets and to 
carry on its business as presently carried on by it or as contemplated hereunder to be 
carried on by it and holds all Material Authorizations. 

(b) Power and Capacity. It has the corporate power and capacity to enter into this 
Debenture and each Instrument to which it is a party and to do all acts and things as are 
required or contemplated hereunder or thereunder to be done, observed and performed 
by it.  

(c) Due Authorization. It has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the 
execution, delivery and performance of this Debenture and each Instrument to which it is 
a party. 

(d) No Contravention. The execution and delivery of this Debenture and the other 
Instruments to which it is a party and the performance by it of its obligations hereunder or 
thereunder (i) does not and will not contravene, breach or result in any default under its 
articles, by‒laws, constating documents or other organizational documents, or under any 
lease, agreement or other legally binding instrument, license, permit or Applicable Law to 
which it is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets may be bound, and (ii)  
will not result in or permit the acceleration of the maturity of any indebtedness, liability or 
obligation of it under any lease, agreement or other legally binding instrument of or 
affecting it. 

(e) No Consents Required. No authorization, consent or approval of, or filing with or notice 
to, any Person (including any Governmental Body) is required in connection with the 
execution, delivery or performance of this Debenture by it or any other Instrument by it. 
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(f) Enforceability. Each of this Debenture and the other Instruments to which it is a party 
constitutes, or upon execution and delivery will constitute, a valid and binding obligation 
of it enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency and other Applicable Laws of general application limiting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights generally and to the fact that equitable remedies, including specific 
performance, are discretionary and may not be ordered in respect of certain defaults. 

(g) Permits. It has all licences, permits, approvals and franchises that it requires, or is 
required to have, to own its properties and assets and to carry on its business as 
presently conducted. All such licences, permits, approvals and franchises are in good 
standing and no actions, proceedings, investigations or other steps of any kind are in 
process, pending or, to the knowledge of the Corporation, threatened or which might 
result in any such licence, permit, approval or franchise being terminated, revoked, 
withdrawn, suspended or otherwise made unavailable to the it for any period of time. It is 
conducting its business in compliance with all Applicable Laws. 

(h) No Litigation. There is no court, administrative, regulatory or similar proceeding 
(whether civil, quasi‒criminal, or criminal), arbitration or other dispute settlement 
procedure, investigation or enquiry by any Governmental Body, or any similar matter or 
proceeding (collectively “proceedings”) against or involving it (whether in progress or, to 
the knowledge of the Corporation, threatened) which, if determined adversely to it, would 
materially adversely affect its business, property, financial condition or prospects or its 
ability to perform any of the provisions of this Debenture or any other Instrument to which 
it is a party or which purports to affect the legality, validity and enforceability of this 
Debenture or any other Instrument to which it is a party; no event has occurred which 
might give rise to any proceedings and there is no judgment decree, injunction, rule, 
award or order of any Governmental Body outstanding against it which has or may have 
a material adverse effect on its business, property, financial condition or prospects. 

(i) Solvency. It has not committed an act of bankruptcy, proposed a compromise or 
arrangement to its creditors’ generally, had any petition for a receiving order in 
bankruptcy filed against it, taken any proceeding to have itself declared bankrupt or 
wound‒up or taken any proceeding to have a Receiver appointed over it or any part of its 
assets. 

3.2 Survival of Representations and Warranties 

The Corporation covenants that the representations and warranties made by it in this ARTICLE 3 
shall be true and correct on each day that this Debenture remains in force and effect, with the same effect 
as if such representations and warranties had been made and given on and as of such day, 
notwithstanding any investigation made at any time by or on behalf of the Lender or its counsel; except 
that if any such representation and warranty is specifically given as of the date hereof or in respect of a 
particular date or particular period of time and relates only to such date or period of time, then such 
representation and warranty shall continue to be given as at such date or for such period of time. 

ARTICLE 4 
COVENANTS OF THE CORPORATION 

4.1 General Covenants 

So long as this Debenture remains outstanding, the Corporation covenants and agrees as 
follows: 
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(a) To Comply with Obligations and Maintain Corporate Existence. The Corporation 
shall:  

(i) pay or cause to be paid all Obligations falling due hereunder on the dates and in 
the manner specified herein and comply with its obligations hereunder and the 
other Instruments to which it is a party; 

(ii) maintain its corporate existence; 

(iii) diligently preserve all its rights, licences, powers, privileges, franchises and 
goodwill; 

(iv) observe and perform all of its obligations and comply with all conditions under 
leases, licences and other agreements to which it is a party; 

(v) keep proper books of account with correct entries of all transactions in relation to 
its business; 

(vi) observe and conform to all valid requirements of Applicable Law and of any 
Governmental Body relative to carrying on by the Corporation of its business; 

(vii) promptly notify the Lender in writing of any proposed change of name of the 
Corporation or of its chief place of business;  

(viii) pay all Taxes levied, assessed or imposed upon it or its property as and when 
the same become due and payable save and except where it contests in good 
faith the validity thereof by proper legal proceedings and for which provision for 
payment and security adequate in the reasonable opinion of the Lender has been 
made; 

(ix) advise the Lender forthwith upon becoming aware of any Default or Event of 
Default hereunder with detailed particulars thereof and deliver to the Lender upon 
request a certificate in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender signed by a 
senior officer certifying that no Default or Event of Default has occurred or, if 
such is not the case, specifying all Default or Events of Default and their nature 
and status; 

(x) collect all accounts receivable in the ordinary course of business; 

(xi) promptly cure or cause to be cured any defects in the execution or delivery of 
any Instrument to which it is a party and any defects in the validity or 
enforceability of any security hereunder and at its expense duly execute and 
deliver or cause to be duly executed and delivered all documents as the Lender 
may consider necessary or desirable for such purposes; 

(xii) at its cost and expense, upon the request of the Lender, duly execute and 
deliver, or cause to be duly executed and delivered, to the Lender such 
documents and do or cause to be done such acts as may be necessary or 
desirable in the reasonable opinion of the Lender to carry out the purposes of this 
Debenture; 

(xiii) effect such registrations as may be required by the Lender from time to time to 
protect the security interest granted hereunder; and 
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(xiv) execute and deliver such security, documents, instruments or agreements 
following the date hereof as may be necessary or desirable in the reasonable 
opinion of the Lender.  

(b) Deliver Information. The Corporation shall deliver to the Lender within 120 days of the 
financial year end of the Corporation, one copy of the annual audited financial statements 
for the Corporation, including the balance sheet and statements of income, retained 
earnings and changes in financial position, together with all supporting schedules. Such 
financial statements shall be accompanied by the report of the auditors of the 
Corporation. 

ARTICLE 5 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

5.1 Events of Default 

The occurrence of any of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this 
Debenture: 

(a) If default occurs in payment when due of any principal amount payable under this 
Debenture. 

(b) If default occurs in payment when due of any interest, fees or other amounts payable 
under this Debenture. 

(c) If default occurs in payment or performance of any other Obligation (whether arising 
herein or otherwise) and remains unremedied for a period of 30 days after the receipt by 
the Corporation of notice of such default. 

(d) If default occurs in performance of any other covenant of the Corporation in favour of the 
Lender under this Debenture and remains unremedied for a period of 30 days after the 
receipt by the Corporation of notice of such default. 

(e) If an event of default occurs in payment or performance of any obligation in favour of any 
Person from whom the Corporation has borrowed money which would entitle the holder 
to accelerate repayment of the borrowed money, and such default is not waived in writing 
within 30 days of the occurrence of such default. 

(f) If the Corporation commits an act of bankruptcy or becomes insolvent within the meaning 
of any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation applicable to it or a petition or other process 
for the bankruptcy of the Corporation is filed or instituted and remains undismissed or 
unstayed for a period of 30 days or any of the relief sought in such proceeding (including 
the entry of an order for relief against it or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
custodian or other similar official for it or any substantial part of its property) shall occur.  

(g) If any act, matter or thing is done toward, or any action or proceeding is launched or 
taken to terminate the corporate existence of the Corporation, whether by winding‒up, 
surrender of charter or otherwise. 

(h) If the Corporation ceases to carry on its business or makes or proposes to make any sale 
of its assets in bulk or any sale of its assets out of the usual course of its business. 

(i) If any proposal is made or any petition is filed by or against the Corporation under any 
law having for its purpose the extension of time for payment, composition or compromise 
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of the liabilities of such Corporation or other reorganization or arrangement respecting its 
liabilities or if the Corporation gives notice of its intention to make or file any such 
proposal or petition including an application to any court to stay or suspend any 
proceedings of creditors pending the making or filing of any such proposal or petition. 

(j) If any receiver, administrator or manager of the property, assets or undertaking of the 
Corporation or a substantial part thereof is appointed pursuant to the terms of any trust 
deed, trust indenture, debenture or similar instrument or by or under any judgment or 
order of any court. 

(k) If any balance sheet or other financial statement provided by the Corporation to the 
Lender pursuant to the provisions hereof is false or misleading in any material respect. 

(l) If any judgment or order for the payment of money in excess of $500,000 shall be 
rendered against the Corporation and either (i) enforcement proceedings shall have been 
commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or order, or (ii) there shall be any period 
of 60 consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment or order, by 
reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, shall not be in effect. 

(m) If any action is taken or power or right be exercised by any Governmental Body which 
may have a material adverse affect on the Corporation, or as to each its business or 
operations, its properties or its prospects. 

(n) If any representation or warranty made by the Corporation herein or in any other 
Instrument to which it is a party or in any certificate, statement or report furnished in 
connection herewith is found to be false or incorrect in any way so as to make it 
materially misleading when made or when deemed to have been made.  

5.2 Consequences of an Event of Default 

Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, at the option of the Lender, all Obligations and all 
monies secured hereby shall become forthwith due and payable. 

ARTICLE 6 
GENERAL 

6.1 Waiver 

No act or omission by the Lender in any manner whatever shall extend to or be taken to affect 
any provision hereof or any subsequent breach or default or the rights resulting therefrom save only 
express waiver in writing. A waiver of default shall not extend to, or be taken in any manner whatsoever to 
affect the rights of the Lender with respect to, any subsequent default, whether similar or not. 

6.2 No Merger or Novation 

Neither the taking of any judgment nor the exercise of any power of seizure or sale shall operate 
to extinguish the liability of the Corporation to pay the moneys hereby secured nor shall the same operate 
as a merger of any covenant herein contained or of any other Obligation, nor shall the acceptance of any 
payment or other security constitute or create any novation. 

6.3 Power of Attorney 

The Corporation , for valuable consideration for and after the occurrence of an Event of Default, 
irrevocably appoints the Lender and its officers from time to time or any of them to be the attorneys of the 
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Corporation in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation to execute such deeds, transfers, 
conveyances, assignments, assurances and things and generally to use the name of the Corporation  as 
may be necessary or incidental to the exercise of all or any of the powers hereby conferred on the 
Lender. 

6.4 Notices 

Any notice, direction, request, delivery or other communication to be given under this Debenture 
shall be in writing and given by delivering it or sending it by facsimile or other similar form of recorded 
communication addressed: 

(a) to the Lender at:  

Attention:  

E-Mail:  

(b) to the Corporation at: Equityline Mortgage Investment Corp. 

Attention: Sergiy Shchavyelyev 

E-Mail: sergiy@equitylinefinancial.com 

Any such communication shall be deemed to have been validly and effectively given (i) if 
personally delivered, on the date of such delivery if such date is a Business Day and such delivery was 
made prior to 4:00 p.m. (Toronto time) and otherwise on the next Business Day, or (ii) if transmitted by 
facsimile or similar means of recorded communication on the Business Day following the date of 
transmission. Either party may change its address for service from time to time by notice given in 
accordance with the foregoing and any subsequent notice shall be sent to such Party at its changed 
address 

6.5 Invalidity of any Provisions 

Any provision of this Debenture or any provisions of the security contemplated hereunder which is 
prohibited by the laws of any jurisdiction shall, is to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 
prohibition without invalidating the remaining terms and provisions hereof or thereof and no such invalidity 
shall affect the obligation of the Corporation to repay the Obligations. 

6.6 Indemnification 

The Corporation agrees to indemnify the Lender from and against any and all liabilities, 
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of 
any kind or nature whatsoever (except by reason of the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the 
Lender or any of its employees) which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Lender 
and arising by reason of any action (including any action referred to herein) or inaction or omission to do 
an act legally required of the Corporation.  

6.7 Successors, Assigns and Participation, etc. 

Neither the Corporation nor the Lender shall assign or transfer all or any part of its rights or 
obligations hereunder or under any other Instrument to which it is a party without the prior written consent 
of the other party. 
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6.8 Expenses 

All reasonable legal and accounting expenses incurred by the Lender and the Corporation and its 
shareholders and employees, in connection with the transactions contemplated herein shall be paid by 
the Corporation. 

6.9 Amendments 

This Debenture may only be amended by a written agreement signed by each of the parties 
hereto. 

6.10 Counterparts 

This Debenture may be executed in separate counterparts (including by facsimile), each of which 
when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of such counterparts shall 
together constitute one and the same instrument. Any party may execute this Debenture by facsimile 
signature.  

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE HAS INTENTIONALLY BEEN LEFT BLANK  



 

  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Debenture.  

 

   EQUITYLINE MORTGAGE INVESTMENT 
CORPORATION 
  

By:  
Authorized Signing Officer 
Sergiy Shchavyelyev 
Date: 

 

 
By:  

Authorized Signing Officer 
Name: 
Date: 
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